

Technology transfer in europe

Citation for published version (APA):

Es-Sadki, N. (2023). Technology transfer in europe: An economic analysis of formal technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms. [Doctoral Thesis, Maastricht University]. Maastricht University. https://doi.org/10.26481/dis.20230713ne

Document status and date: Published: 01/01/2023

DOI: 10.26481/dis.20230713ne

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Please check the document version of this publication:

 A submitted manuscript is the version of the article upon submission and before peer-review. There can be important differences between the submitted version and the official published version of record. People interested in the research are advised to contact the author for the final version of the publication, or visit the DOI to the publisher's website.

• The final author version and the galley proof are versions of the publication after peer review.

 The final published version features the final layout of the paper including the volume, issue and page numbers.

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these riahts.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal.

If the publication is distributed under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license above, please follow below link for the End User Agreement:

www.umlib.nl/taverne-license

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us at:

repository@maastrichtuniversity.nl

providing details and we will investigate your claim.

Technology Transfer in Europe

An economic analysis of formal technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms

Nordine Es-Sadki

© Nordine Es-Sadki, 2023

ISBN 978 90 8666 560 0

Published by Boekenplan, Maastricht | boekenplan.nl

Cover design: Boekenplan, Maastricht

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the written permission from the author.

Technology Transfer in Europe

An economic analysis of formal technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms

DISSERTATION

to obtain the degree of Doctor at the Maastricht University, on the authority of the Rector Magnificus, Prof. dr. Pamela Habibović in accordance with the decision of the Board of Deans, to be defended in public on Thursday 13 July 2023, at 10.00 hours

by

Nordine Es-Sadki

Supervisor:

Prof. Dr. Bart Verspagen

Co-supervisor:

Dr. René Wintjes

Assessment Committee:

Prof. Dr. Pierre Mohnen (Chair) Prof. Dr. René Belderbos Prof. Dr. Isabel-Maria Bodas-Freitas, Grenoble Ecole de Management, France Dr. Lorena Rivera Leon, World Intellectual Property Organisation, Switzerland

Summary

The aim of this thesis is to contribute to a better understanding of formal technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms in Europe. It analyses the interactions between these actors at different levels, the country, the region and the organisational level. The thesis furthermore analyses internal and external factors influencing the technology transfer activities of these actors. The thesis consists of five main chapters that draw on survey results that have been conducted to collect information on the technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms. These activities have often been referred to as either knowledge transfer or technology transfer. However as discussed in Chapter 1 knowledge transfer is a broader and more encompassing concept compared to technology transfer. This thesis refers to both knowledge transfer and technology transfer but focusses on activities which are in some way recorded at universities, research institutes or firms, and often involve some form of intellectual property. The surveys which resulted in the data used in this thesis were part of larger studies on knowledge and technology transfer and funded by either the European Commission or the Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research. In general, the audience of these studies were policymakers with the aim to collect and monitor technology transfer activities and provide recommendations based on quantitative and qualitative data that was collected as part of these studies. This thesis, drawing on quantitative survey results, extends this work by conducting economic analysis aiming to contribute to the academic literature in this field to better guide policy on formal technology transfer in Europe.

Several studies have looked at the relationship of universities with their surrounding regions. Far fewer studies have examined how the national and regional environment influence the knowledge and technology transfer performance of universities and public research institutes. Chapter 2 analyses these issues and contributes to our understanding of the importance of the regional environment and other spatial levels for technology transfer. Chapter 2 examines how the national and regional economic structure as well as the institutional set-up of technology transfer influences the technology

transfer activities of universities and public research institutes. It analyses four classical technology or knowledge transfer outcomes: the number of patent applications, the number of research agreements, the number of license agreements and the number of start-ups. It recommends taking a multilevel perspective by controlling for hierarchical features when analysing the regional and national influence, to understand the role of the region and country on technology transfer outcomes. The results, drawing on data from a survey of more than 250 European institutions show that country differences are related to differences in the institutional set-up of technology transfer and to the (regional) economic environment which suggests multilevel analyses to properly take these interactions into account. Chapter 3 follows the recommendation of using a multilevel analysis, nesting university-level data (level 1) into regional-level data (level 2) into countrylevel ones (level 3). Universities in the same region and in the same country are likely more similar or related to each other in comparison to those selected randomly. Multilevel modelling accounts for these interdependencies by capturing residuals at different levels.

In the regional context, two key factors can influence knowledge transfer. First, the level of regional demand from firms for knowledge produced by universities located in the same region, and secondly the supply from universities of knowledge with potential commercial applications. Chapter 3 investigates these issues by continuing with the regional focus by examining the location of the university, quality-controlled competition and supply and demand factors on the technology transfer outcomes of universities. This chapter evaluates several aspects of the regional environment on the technology transfer outcomes of universities that have received little attention in the literature: the effect of regional employment in knowledge intensive services (KIS), quality weighted competition from other universities in the same region as the focal university, location in a metropolitan region, and interaction effects between the quality of the focal university and the quality of competition. Three types of commercialisation outcomes are examined: the number of research agreements, where the type of research is usually led by business partners; the number of start-ups, which are knowledge-led by university academics, and the number of licenses and

license income. Licensing can be due to a mix of partner-led and knowledgeled research activities. The results using survey data for up to 292 universities in Europe show that competition from quality-weighted universities in the same region as the focal university decreases the number of research and licensing agreements, although the highest-ranked 13.4% of universities benefit from the regional co-location of other high quality universities for licensing.

A major characteristic of innovation diffusion is the ease of exchange of information and knowledge amongst countries, individuals, as well as organisations. The market for technology in which patents are traded or licensed, is however not very transparent and has been suffering from asymmetries of information and capacity barriers. Chapter 4 focusses on the business sector and examines the role of SMEs when operating on technology licensing markets and intends to improve the understanding of the factors affecting the licensing out, and licensing-in activities of SMEs. Chapter 4 examines the barriers faced by SMEs when operating on technology licensing markets and intends to improve our understanding of the factors affecting these barriers. Drawing on survey results of 332 SMEs this chapter shows that SMEs observe barriers differently after controlling for those with experience and without. The barriers are mostly observed with organisational costs and strategic related barriers where those with licensing-out experience are less likely to give a high importance to such barriers. From the licensing-in perspective the results show that those looking for licensing-in opportunities are less likely concerned with the quality of the technology compared to those with actual experience. Given the importance of policies promoting the increased diffusion of knowledge this chapter indicates the need to address barriers related to this policy objective. Future research could for instance explore if framework, organisational barriers, and negotiation barriers can be mitigated by assisting, in particularly SMEs without experience, with designing, drafting, and negotiating contractual agreements. Barriers in relation to the quality and development stage of the technology can be addressed through increased proof of concept funding and lowering the threshold criteria for such initiatives.

Thorough analysis on how technology is transferred amongst enterprises and from the public research sector to enterprises is of key importance to innovation policy. Chapter 5 analyses the determinants of technology transfer success. The chapter develops a conceptual framework to examine, using structural equation modelling, the importance of understanding the value of technology and the ability to identify the right partner on technology transfer successfulness. The chapter contributes to the literature by showing that the measure for the ability to identify licensees contributes to the successfulness of technology licensing but that the measure of better understanding the value of the technology has a negative relationship with technology licensing successfulness. Willingness to engage in technology transfer is confirmed in the model to have a positive relationship with licensing success. These results have implications for policies aiming to improve knowledge diffusion and open innovation as on the one hand removing asymmetric information to address market thickness can improve successful technology licensing. On the other hand, Chapter 5 shows that the value of the technology as perceived by their holders, i.e. SMEs, universities and other research institutes, reduces successfulness of technology licensing. This suggests that more valuable technology is not easily transferred.

Chapter 6 addresses several gaps in the academic literature on the influence of university policies on the knowledge transfer performance of KTOs. Using survey data for 247 European universities and 40 public research organisations, the chapter investigates the influence of institutional policies on four outcomes of transfer performance (R&D agreements with companies, patent applications, license agreements, and start-ups established). The analysis shows that the influence of policies to establish clear rules, improve transparency, and provide financial or non-financial incentives vary by outcome. The results suggest that universities and research institutes should carefully consider what rules their transfer policies include and what they publish, as the effects will vary between transfer performance measures. For instance, an institution that aims to increase its licence agreements should ensure that it is clear who owns the IP of R&D conducted at the institution. Furthermore, the institution should have written rules or protocols for licensing activities. However, the chapter also recommends keeping some flexibility when it comes to negotiating license contracts with outside parties. An institution that focuses on entrepreneurship and aims to create more startups should also clarify IP ownership, but at the same time avoid crushing entrepreneurial initiative by too much bureaucracy, i.e. regulations, restrictions and requirements which complicate the start-up process and demand time and resources which early entrepreneurs may lack.

Finally, Chapter 7 concludes this research with a reflection on the joint contribution of the chapters followed by a discussion on the limitations of this thesis. Chapter 7 ends with a general discussion on technology transfer by putting it in a broader perspective and presenting possible directions for future research.

Acknowledgements

There are several people I would like to thank for their support during the writing of this thesis. First, I want to thank my supervisors Prof. Dr. Bart Verspagen and Dr. René Wintjes for providing comments and suggestions when I needed advice and being critical when I needed to improve parts of my thesis. I would also like to thank the members of the assessment committee: Prof. Dr. Pierre Mohnen, Prof. Dr. René Belderbos, Prof. Dr. Isabel-Maria Bodas-Freitas, and Dr. Lorena Rivera Leon. Your insightful comments and constructive feedback have helped me to improve the final version of my thesis.

I want to thank all the co-workers at UNU-MERIT whom I have worked with since I started in 2011. In particular I want to express my gratitude to both Anthony Arundel and Hugo Hollanders. Thanks to the both of you for giving me the opportunity to start working at UNU-MERIT and having the confidence in me to grow. I consider you both as my mentors and role models and greatly appreciate all the guidance you have provided over the past years. You both have been extremely helpful in advancing my career at UNU-MERIT and grow as a researcher, something for which I will forever be grateful. Anthony Arundel is also the co-author of several chapters of this thesis, your contribution and support has been instrumental for this thesis.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Franz Barjak, co-author of several chapters. This dissertation started with contract research conducted together with you and Anthony Arundel. You suggested to write articles using the results of the Knowledge Transfer Study. I thank you for the opportunity to work with you. Your contribution to this thesis has been fundamental.

This thesis has furthermore benefited from a wider researcher's community whom I have met at conferences, project meetings, workshops, and other occasions. Thank you for your insights, comments and suggestions which have helped me improve the different chapters of my thesis.

Most importantly I want to thank my wife Esma. Without the encouragement and support from you none of this would have been possible. Lastly, I want to thank my parents and my family for their support throughout my life.

Table of Contents

Summary	v
Acknowledgements	x
Table of Contents	xi
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Background	2
1.2 University-industry technology transfer	4
1.3 Aim of this thesis	6
References	9
Chapter 2 Influences of the regional and national economic environment	on
the technology transfer performance of academic institutions in Europe	14
1. Introduction	15
2. Research on knowledge transfer performance	17
2.1 Characteristics of the KTO and the institution	17
2.2 Regional characteristics	17
2.3 National influences	22
3. Methodology	23
3.1 Data collection	23
3.2 Variables	24
3.3 Analytical methods	31
4. Results	31
4.1 R&D agreements with companies	31
4.2 Patent applications	35
4.3 Licence agreements	37
4.4 Start-ups established	39
5. Discussion and Conclusions	41
5.1 Country results	41
5.2 Results for regional characteristics	42
5.3 Conclusions	45
Appendix	49
References	52
Chapter 3 The Influence of Regional Supply, Demand and Competition	
Factors on the Knowledge Transfer Outcomes of Universities	57

1. Introduction	58
2. Regional supply and demand	60
3. Methodology	66
3.1 Data sources	66
3.2 Dependent Variables	69
3.3 Independent variables	70
3.4 Control variables	73
3.5 Analytical Methods	76
4. Results and discussion	79
5. Conclusions	
Appendix	92
References	95
Chapter 4 Barriers faced by SMEs when operating on technology	licensing
markets	
1. Introduction	
2. Literature on barriers to licensing technology	
3. Methodology	
4. Importance of barriers to technology licensing	115
5. Explaining the different barriers to technology licensing	
5.1 Barriers to licensing-out technology	
5.2 Barriers to licensing-in technology	
6. Discussion and conclusion	
References	
Chapter 5 The role of technology value and finding the right parts	ner on
licensing success	139
1. Introduction	
2. Literature on finding the right partner and determining the v	alue of the
technology	
2.1 The importance of the ability to identify licensees for licen	nsing 144
2.2 Methods to better understand the potential value of techr	145 nology
2.3 Hypothesis	146
3. Methodology	148
3.1 Data	148
3.2 Statistical analysis	149

3.3 Structural model	154
4. Discussion and conclusion	159
4.1 Findings and contribution	159
4.2 Implications	160
4.3 Limitations	161
Appendix	163
References	170
Chapter 6 The effectiveness of institutional policies on technology trans-	fer
outcomes	177
1. Introduction	178
2. Research on knowledge transfer performance	179
2.1 Characteristics of the KTO	180
2.2 Institutional characteristics	180
2.3 Institutional policies	181
2.4 Main focus of this research	183
3. Methodology	184
3.1 Data collection	184
3.2 Variables	184
3.3 Analytical methods	187
4. Descriptive results	189
5. Regression results	192
5.1 Research agreements	192
5.2 Number of patent applications	194
5.3 Number of licenses	196
5.4 Number of start-ups established	198
5.5 Does policy drive performance or vice versa?	200
6. Discussion and Conclusions	202
6.1 Codifying and publishing IP and transfer policies	202
6.2 Providing financial and non-financial incentives to faculty and	staff
	204
6.3 Limitations	207
Appendix	209
References	210
Chapter 7 Conclusions	216

7.1 Concluding summary	216
7.2 Limitations	220
7.3 General discussion	221
References	233
Appendix	240
Survey questionnaire - Chapter 2, 3 and 6	240
European Knowledge Transfer Indicators Survey (EKTIS)	240
Technology Transfer Survey questionnaire - Chapter 4 and 5	246
Impact paragraph	254
Biography	256
UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series	

Chapter 1 Introduction

Economic development has typically involved increased production of not only goods and services but also of knowledge and technology. Technological change is widely accepted as essential for improving wellbeing and the standards of living. Research has shown that there is an increasing appreciation that in the long term the ability to generate and manage technological change is decisive in determining competitiveness and capacity to grow (Link and Siegel 2003, Haque 1995, Freeman 1982). As part of this technological change process, knowledge flows between and amongst different actors in society such as businesses, universities and research institutes. Knowledge can be produced, mediated, reproduced, acquired, and transformed, in and between forms through these different actors and channels. In the literature, including policy documents, this is referred to as knowledge transfer or technology transfer. These terms are often used interchangeably. However, knowledge transfer is a broader and more encompassing concept compared to technology transfer. Technology is for instance not the only field of knowledge for which transfer is considered important for technological advancements through commercialised products and services. The classic channels of knowledge transfer include publishing, teaching, conferencing and graduating. Knowledge flows can furthermore include social, cultural, and personal characteristics. These forms of knowledge transfer do not require intellectual property protection. In contrast, technology transfer often involves some sort of intellectual property protection. This technology transfer has gained increasing interest from policy. Technology transfer forms include patenting, licensing, spinouts or start-ups, consultancy and collaborative research and often is intended to lead to commercial beneficial results. This latter form is the focus of this thesis.

1.1 Background

Technology transfer can be conceptualised as a process that includes various stages and requires investment of time and effort by the transferee to access, learn, understand, adapt and use the technology. Technology transfer can take place through different channels, including market (or commercial) and non-market (non-commercial) ones. It may also be contractually based or not. The concept is therefore by its nature very broad, which can easily lead to confusion in discussing the issue of technology (and knowledge) transfer. In practical terms technology transfer most often consists of the transfer of components of technology from one actor to another. A wide variety of components can be transferred such as plants, machinery and equipment, production processes, software, manuals, publications, blueprints, patents and many more. For all possible technology transfer channels and directions, government policymakers have intervened to establish national or regional initiatives aimed at promoting technology transfer (Geuna and Rossi 2011; Grimaldi et al. 2011). Simultaneously, governments have implemented policies to increase domestic investment in building national science, technology and innovation (STI) capacity, at the firm level and at government bodies (Geuna and Rossi 2011).

In most cases formal agreements are involved in technology transfer transactions. These agreements are contracts typically entered into between two parties, by which one party (licensor) authorises another (licensee) to use its technology to produce goods and services. In general, the term "technology transfer agreement" refers to an agreement which licenses the use of patents, know-how, software copyrights or other types of intellectual property rights for the purposes of producing goods or services. Licensing is the most well-known form of technology transfer whereby an inventor allows another party to use the technology for commercial benefits in return for a fee.

Academics and policymakers framed these technology transfer activities as part of the push towards open and collaborative innovation (Lichtenthaler 2008; Chessborough 2017), where positive spillovers are welfare-enhancing (Blomström and Sjöholm 1999), and therefore promoted by public policy. However, such agreements can also have welfare-reducing effects such as reductions of competition and it can impede developing countries (Müller and Schnitzer 2006; Choi 2001). In such agreements, smaller entities typically have a weaker position compared to larger counterparts, and this often results in the imposition of unwanted market inefficiencies such as contractual terms which allocate the risk on the weaker party (see also Chapter 4). However, such practices are not exclusively found in the field of technology transfer. These practices nevertheless become even more detrimental to societal welfare when they affect the transfer of intellectual property protected technologies that enhance standards of living (Link and Scott 2019).

Such practices may conflict with the traditional role of publicly funded research of advancing knowledge to benefit society. These issues are echoed in many studies that critique academic technology transfer dating back to the early 90s (Rosenberg and Nelson 1994). The argument then was that academic involvement might create unnecessary transaction costs by patenting knowledge that would otherwise flow freely to industry by traditional knowledge transfer channels such as publishing. Indeed, several studies have looked at the patenting activities of universities and the potential trade-off between publishing and patenting as the publication of a paper might, for example, limit the patentability of the same results and vice versa (Breschi 2008). Empirical work has however frequently found the relationship between patenting and publishing to be complementary and positive (e.g., Breschi et al. 2008; Meyer 2006; Crespi et al. 2011). One explanation is nonexclusivity between publishing and patenting because most research can lead to both publications and patents (Agrawal and Henderson 2002). Another explanation is that the prestige from publishing might serve as an indication of good research (Fabrizio and Di Minin 2008) that can lead to potential collaborations with industry and can stimulate both publishing and patenting (Fisch et al. 2015).

1.2 University-industry technology transfer

Universities serve the public interest by providing graduates with the opportunity to meet the needs of industry and businesses, and by contributing to the progress of science by conducting research. Research has shown that scientific research generated at universities and research institutes plays an important role in knowledge-economies (Fleming et al. 2019; Poege et al. 2019). The knowledge developed by universities and research institutes drives scientific and technological progress and spills over to the broader economy and society (Hausman, 2021; Stephan, 2015). Their current role has increasingly added interactions with industry, and with the society more generally often referred to as the third mission, next to the traditional missions of teaching and research (Kapetaniou and Lee 2017). This new role of universities has attracted considerable attention from scholars and policymakers (Hsu et al. 2015; Trune and Goslin 1998). Universities may address various objectives through these third mission activities, such as providing services to faculty, enhancing innovation and the practical use of research results, generating additional income streams, fostering local economic development, complying with national and institutional policies, and promoting public value (Bozeman et al. 2015).

In most developed countries, the business sector accounts for most investments in R&D, however the public sector accounts for a significant share of all R&D investments (Soete et al. 2020). Almost all R&D in the public sector is conducted either by government research institutes or by universities, such as general universities, technical universities, academic hospitals, government or non-profit research institutes, or research parks or incubators affiliated with these public organisations. Most of the R&D performed by universities is either basic research or humanities research with few short-term commercial applications. However, there are numerous examples of public research that led to commercial value. This includes a wide range of commercial applications, including, health applications, aerospace computerisation, energy, and new materials. Processes leading to these results often require legal and technical expertise. To encourage and support these commercialisation activities many universities and research institutes have established Technology Transfer Offices (TTOs)¹ that can provide professional advice to assess the patentability of inventions, interact with firms, and provide licensing expertise. Although some universities have had TTOs for decades, the majority of European TTOs were established after 2000 (Arundel et al. 2013). Many started as industry liaison offices and developed services for university or research personnel to encourage commercialisation of research results. Over time, many of these TTOs employed specialised staff and developed services for assessing disclosed inventions, patenting, licensing, and developing and funding spin-offs and other start-ups, but also for actively approaching firms for contract-based arrangements (projects and transfer deals). Bayh-Dole type legislation, allowing public research to be commercialized, has been implemented in many countries (Mowery 2005), including in Europe. With the Lisbon-Agenda in 2002, universities were stimulated to exercise an intellectual property policy, focusing on patenting and licensing, and the number of TTOs grew (Audretsch, et al. 2012, Cosh and Hughes 2010).

Several studies examined technology transfer activities, including university–industry interactions, and have determined that technology flows through multiple channels. Technology transfer studies often comprise the exchange of codified academic research results in the form of publications, licensing and patents (e.g., Agrawal and Henderson 2002; Landry et al. 2006; Lach and Schankerman 2008). Other frequently cited proxies for university– industry cooperation are basic and applied R&D projects, meetings and conferences, student, graduate and researcher mobility, consultancy and training, joint supervision of final degree theses and informal contacts (Rynes et al. 2001; Cohen et al. 2002; Valentine 2002; Landry et al. 2006; D'Este and Patel 2007; Bekkers and Freitas 2008; Wright et al. 2008). Moreover, academic

¹ These offices are also called Knowledge Transfer Offices (KTOs), Research Office, Research Commercialisation, Valorisation Office etc.. These offices can be part of a university or research institute. They can also be a separate business responsible for the technology transfer activities of a university or research institute. Some or all of the patenting, licensing, or other technology transfer activities of a university or research institute can fall under the responsibilities of such an office or business.

start-ups/spin-offs are becoming increasingly important as a transfer channel (Di Gregorio and Shane 2003; Landry et al. 2006; Guenther and Wagner 2008).

These science-industry interactions can also take place without the direct involvement of the university or research institute. For instance, Freitas et al. (2013) brought to light that personal contractual agreements between firms and individual academics amount to at least 50% of university–industry cooperation. Furthermore, D'Este and Patel (2007) found that informal relationships between businesspeople and academics are relevant aspects of university–industry interaction and, in many cases, underlie the establishment of more formal collaboration. Nevertheless, in many cases and particularly for formal transactions, these activities are handled by designated technology transfer offices set up by universities or research institutes.

The amount and quality of technology that is transferred either from universities to industry or from industry to industry is difficult to measure and value is not created directly (Bozeman 2015 and 2000). This is particularly true for informal channels or for methods that leave few traces, such as hiring or the use of publicly available knowledge by researchers in firms. In contrast, it is easier to measure formal transfer methods that leave traces in legal documents, such as licenses, patents, and research agreements, although it is still difficult to determine if the transferred knowledge has resulted in commercially viable goods and services. Nevertheless, technology transfer offices at universities and research institutes monitor their technology transfer activities which has led to an increasing interest of policy and academic researchers to monitor technology transfer activities of publicly funded universities and research institutes.

1.3 Aim of this thesis

The aim of this thesis is to contribute to a better understanding of formal technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms in Europe. It analyses the interactions between these actors at different levels, the country, the region and the organisational level. Furthermore, the thesis analyses internal and external factors influencing the technology transfer

activities of these actors. This thesis draws on surveys that have been conducted to collect information on formal technology transfer activities. These surveys were part of larger studies on knowledge and technology transfer and funded by either the European Commission or the Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research. In general, the audience of these studies were policymakers with the aim to collect and monitor technology transfer activities and provide recommendations based on quantitative and qualitative data that was collected as part of these studies. This thesis, drawing on quantitative survey results, extends this work by conducting economic analysis aiming to contribute to the academic literature in this field. The thesis aims to achieve this by conducting quantitative economic analysis of national, regional and sectoral differences in technology transfer activities across Europe. Moreover, the thesis contributes to the existing academic literature by investigating the challenges faced by universities, research institutes and firms when engaging in technology transfer to better guide policy on formal technology transfer in Europe.

The thesis consists of five main chapters. Several studies have looked at the relationship of universities with their surrounding regions. Far fewer studies have examined how the national and regional environment influence the knowledge and technology transfer (KTT) performance of universities and public research institutes. Chapter 2 examines how the national and regional economic structure as well as the institutional set-up of technology transfer influences the technology transfer performance of universities and public research institutes. It recommends a need to take a multilevel perspective and control for institutional features when analysing the regional and national influence on technology transfer outcomes. In the regional context, two key factors can influence knowledge transfer, the level of regional demand from firms for knowledge produced by universities located in the same region, and the supply from universities of knowledge with potential commercial applications. Chapter 3 examines these issues by using multilevel analysis, nesting university-level data (level 1) into regional-level data (level 2) into country-level data (level 3). Universities in the same region and in the same country are likely more similar or related to each other in comparison to those selected randomly. Multilevel modelling accounts for these

interdependencies by capturing residuals at different levels. Chapter 3 adds on Chapter 2 by focussing on the competition effect of other universities in the same region to examine the location of the university, their qualitycontrolled competition and supply and demand factors and their influence on the technology transfer outcomes of universities.

A major characteristic of innovation diffusion is the ease of exchange of information and knowledge amongst countries, individuals, as well as organisations. The market for technology in which patents are traded or licensed, is however not very transparent and has been suffering from asymmetries of information and capacity barriers. Chapter 4 turns to the business sector by analysing the barriers faced by SMEs when operating on technology licensing markets and intends to improve the understanding of the factors affecting these barriers such as SME size, sector of activity, patenting activity and experience with licensing.

Thorough analysis on how technology is transferred amongst enterprises and from the public research sector to enterprises is of key importance to innovation policy. Chapter 5 aims to improve the understanding the role practices and methods used to assess the licensing value of technology and the ability to find licensees has on licensing success. Chapter 5 draws on data of SMEs, universities and research institutes resulting from the same survey data that was used in Chapter 4. Chapter 5 develops a conceptual framework to examine, using structural equation modelling, the importance of the value of the technology and the ability to identify the right partner on technology transfer successfulness.

Chapter 6 addresses several research gaps in the academic literature on the influence of university policies on the knowledge transfer performance of KTOs. Using survey data for 247 European universities and 40 public research organisations, the research investigates institutional policies on four outcomes of transfer performance (R&D agreements with companies, patent applications, license agreements, and start-ups established). The chapter examines the implementation of clear rules, transparency, and financial and non-financial incentives on university technology transfer.

The research is concluded in Chapter 7 with an elaborate reflection on the chapters' combined contribution in the concluding summary section. This is followed by a discussion on the limitations of this thesis. Chapter 7 ends with a general discussion on technology transfer by putting it in a broader perspective and presents possible directions for future research.

Chapters 2 and 6 draw on survey results that were part of a study funded by the European Commission, Directorate General for Research and Innovation (DG RTD), under contract RTD/DirC/C2/2010/SI2.569045. Chapters 4 and 5 draw on survey results of a study funded by the same directorate under contract RTD/PP-02821-2015. Lastly Chapter 3 draws on survey results that were part of a study funded by the Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research. Support from DG RTD of the European Commission and the Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research is gratefully acknowledged. The survey measurement tools used as part of these studies together with additional information on the data collection exercise is provided in the appendix at the end of this thesis.

References

Agrawal, A. K., and Henderson, R. (2002). Putting patents in context: Exploring knowledge transfer from MIT. *Management Science*, 48, 44–60.

Arundel, A., Es-Sadki, N., Barjak, F., Perrett, P., Samuel, O., and Lilischkis, S. (2013). Knowledge Transfer Study 2010 – 2012. Final Report to the European Commission, DG Research and Innovation.

Audretsch, D. B., Hülsbeck, M., and Lehmann, E. E. (2012). Regional competitiveness, university spillovers, and entrepreneurial activity. *Small business economics*, *39*(3), 587-601.

Arrow, K. J. (2015). Economic welfare and the allocation of resources for invention (pp. 609-626). Princeton University Press.

Bekkers, R., and Freitas, I. M. B. (2008). Analysing knowledge transfer channels between universities and industry: To what degree do sectors also matter?. *Research policy*, *37*(10), 1837-1853.

Blomström, M., and Sjöholm, F. (1999). Technology transfer and spillovers: Does local participation with multinationals matter?. *European economic review*, 43(4-6), 915-923.

Bozeman, B. (2000). Technology transfer and public policy: a review of research and theory. *Research policy*, *29*(4-5), 627-655.

Bozeman, B., Rimes, H., and Youtie, J. (2015). The evolving state-of-the-art in technology transfer research: Revisiting the contingent effectiveness model. *Research Policy*, *44*(1), 34-49.

Breschi, S., Lissoni, F., and Montobbio, F. (2008). University patenting and scientific productivity: a quantitative study of Italian academic inventors. *European Management Review*, *5*(2), 91-109.

Chesbrough, H. (2017). The future of open innovation: The future of open innovation is more extensive, more collaborative, and more engaged with a wider variety of participants. *Research-Technology Management*, 60(1), 35-38.

Choi, J. P. (2002). A Dynamic Analysis of Licensing: The "Boomerang" Effect and Grant-Back Clauses. *International Economic Review*, 43(3), 803-829.

Cohen, W. M., Nelson, R. R., and Walsh, J. P. (2002). Links and impacts: the influence of public research on industrial R&D. *Management science*, *48*(1), 1-23.

Cosh, A., and Hughes, A. (2010). Never mind the quality feel the width: University–industry links and government financial support for innovation in small high-technology businesses in the UK and the USA. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *35*(1), 66-91.

Crespi, G., D'Este, P., Fontana, R., and Geuna, A. (2011). The impact of academic patenting on university research and its transfer. *Research policy*, *40*(1), 55-68.

D'Este, P., and Patel, P. (2007). University–industry linkages in the UK: What are the factors underlying the variety of interactions with industry?. *Research policy*, *36*(9), 1295-1313.

Di Gregorio, D., and Shane, S. (2003). Why do some universities generate more start-ups than others?. *Research policy*, *32*(2), 209-227.

Fabrizio, K. R., and Di Minin, A. (2008). Commercializing the laboratory: Faculty patenting and the open science environment. *Research policy*, *37*(5), 914-931.

Fisch, C., Hassel, T., Sandner, P., and Block, J. (2015). University patenting: A comparison of 300 leading universities worldwide. *Journal of Technology Transfer*.

Fleming, L., Greene, H., Li, G., Marx, M., & Yao, D. (2019). Government-funded research increasingly fuels innovation. Science, 364(6446), 1139-1141.

Freeman, C., 1982. The Economics of Industrial Innovation. Pinter, London.

Freitas, I. M. B., Marques, R. A., and e Silva, E. M. D. P. (2013). University– industry collaboration and innovation in emergent and mature industries in new industrialized countries. Research Policy, 42(2), 443-453.

Geuna, A., and Rossi, F. (2011). Changes to university IPR regulations in Europe and the impact on academic patenting. *Research Policy*, 40(8), 1068-1076.

Grimaldi, R., Kenney, M., Siegel, D. S., and Wright, M. (2011). 30 years after Bayh–Dole: Reassessing academic entrepreneurship. *Research policy*, 40(8), 1045-1057.

Guenther, J., and Wagner, K. (2008). Getting out of the ivory tower-new perspectives on the entrepreneurial university. *European Journal of International Management*, 2(4), 400-417.

Hausman, N. (2022). University innovation and local economic growth. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 104(4), 718-735.

Hsu, D. W., Shen, Y. C., Yuan, B. J., and Chou, C. J. (2015). Toward successful commercialization of university technology: Performance drivers of university technology transfer in Taiwan. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *92*, 25-39.

I. Haque, Trade, Technology and Competitiveness, World Bank, Washington D.C., 1995.

Kamien, M. I. (1992). Patent licensing. *Handbook of game theory with economic applications*, 1, 331-354.

Kapetaniou, C., and Lee, S. H. (2017). A framework for assessing the performance of universities: The case of Cyprus. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *123*, 169-180.

Lach, S., and Schankerman, M. (2008). Incentives and invention in universities. *The RAND Journal of Economics*, *39*(2), 403-433.

Landry, R., Amara, N., and Rherrad, I. (2006). Why are some university researchers more likely to create spin-offs than others? Evidence from Canadian universities. *Research Policy*, *35*(10), 1599-1615.

Lichtenthaler, U. (2008). Open innovation in practice: an analysis of strategic approaches to technology transactions. IEEE transactions on engineering management, 55(1), 148-157.

Link, A. N., and Scott, J. T. (2019). The economic benefits of technology transfer from US federal laboratories. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 44(5), 1416-1426.

Link, A. N., and Siegel, D. (2003). *Technological change and economic performance*. Routledge.

Meyer, M. (2006). Are patenting scientists the better scholars? *Research Policy*, 35, 1646–1662.

Müller, T., and Schnitzer, M. (2006). Technology transfer and spillovers in international joint ventures. *Journal of International Economics*, 68(2), 456-468.

Mowery, D. C., and Sampat, B. N. (2005). The Bayh-Dole Act of 1980 and university-industry technology transfer: A model for other OECD governments? *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 30(1–2), 115–127.

Poege, F., Harhoff, D., Gaessler, F., & Baruffaldi, S. (2019). Science quality and the value of inventions. Science advances, 5(12), eaay7323.

Rosenberg, N., and Nelson, R. R. (1994). American universities and technical advance in industry. *Research policy*, *23*(3), 323-348.

Rynes, S. L., Bartunek, J. M., and Daft, R. L. (2001). Across the great divide: Knowledge creation and transfer between practitioners and academics. *Academy of management Journal*, *44*(2), 340-355.

Soete, L., Verspagen, B., and Ziesemer, T. H. (2020). Economic impact of public R&D: an international perspective. *Industrial and Corporate Change*.

Stephan, P. (2015). How economics shapes science. Harvard University Press.

Trune, D. R., and Goslin, L. N. (1998). University technology transfer programs: A profit/loss analysis. *Technological forecasting and social change*, *57*(3), 197-204.

Valentine, EMM (2002). A theoretical review of co-operative relationships between firms and universities. *Science and public policy*, 29 (1), 37-46.

Wright, M., Clarysse, B., Lockett, A., and Knockaert, M. (2008). Mid-range universities' linkages with industry: Knowledge types and the role of intermediaries. *Research policy*, *37*(8), 1205-1223.

Chapter 2 Influences of the regional and national economic environment on the technology transfer performance of academic institutions in Europe

Abstract: Several studies have looked at the relationship of universities with their surrounding regions. Far fewer studies have examined how the national and regional environment influence the knowledge and technology transfer activities of universities and public research institutes. This chapter² analyses these issues and contributes to our understanding of the importance of the regional environment and other spatial levels for technology transfer. The chapter examines internal and external factors that influence university technology transfer such as region size, economic structure, per capita income, technology intensity, and R&D intensity. The role these factors play on four different technology transfer measures is examined empirically. We find that: 1) Country differences are related to differences in the institutional set-up of technology transfer and to the (regional) economic environment. 2) Institutions in a country usually excel in one performance measure which we take as a supporting argument for the development of transfer strategies. 3) Having manufacturing companies and a large share of governmental R&D expenditure in the region matter more than the technology intensity and R&D intensity of the regional economy. The latter result is counterintuitive and indicates that further research is needed to understand better where the clients of university technologies actually come from.

² This chapter is published in University Evolution, Entrepreneurial Activity and Regional Competitiveness (pp. 207-234), 2016). Springer, Cham. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17713-7 10</u>. The chapter is written together with Franz Barjak of the School of Business, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Northwestern Switzerland (FHNW). Some additional analysis has been conducted after the publication. This has led to some changes in the text as compared to the publication.

1. Introduction

The amount of literature on the relationship of universities with their surrounding regions is sizeable and swiftly growing. Most theorizing and empirical research conducted by innovation economists, regional scientists and economic geographers has focused on the impact of universities on regional economies (for a review see Drucker and Goldstein 2007). Uyarra (2010) distinguishes five different roles which are ascribed to universities in this work: 1) knowledge factory, 2) relational university, 3) entrepreneurial university, 4) systemic university, and 5) engaged university. We have learned a lot from this body of research, for instance on the localised nature of knowledge spill overs from universities, the attractiveness of top universities and their star scientists to business enterprises, the multiple channels of interaction between academia and business, the importance of academic entrepreneurship, the role of universities in regional innovation systems and many other issues. However, this research has also been described as too much based on evidence from universities in Anglo-Saxon countries and to some extent ignoring the complexity and diversity of universities and their limited ability of collective action (Uyarra 2010).

A lot less work has looked at this relationship from the university perspective investigating the question: How does the socio-economic environment shape the abilities of universities to deliver their services of higher education, research and engagement with society? Research has mostly focused on the regional engagement and technology transfer part of this wider question and generally found an advantage for universities in wealthier and more technology-intensive regions. For instance, a recent study on Spanish universities looked at the effects of the regional stock of knowledge in the business sector (measured as accumulated R&D expenses per firm) on universities' licence agreements and spin-offs (González-Pernía, Kuechle, and Peña-Legazkue 2013). Though it did not find any significant effects for the variables of interest, regional dummy variables still raised the explanatory power of the estimations which led the authors to conclude: "This means that there are other regional characteristics, beyond the two that we used in our tests [...], which can be useful to understand the behaviour

and capacity of regions for technology transfer" (González-Pernía, et al. 2013, p. 14). Analysing data for universities from the UK, Chapple and her coauthors found strong influences for region-level variables, concluding that agglomeration effects might act upon the commercialisation of research (Chapple, Lockett, Siegel, and Wright 2005).

Of note, we do not want to suggest with this, that the regional environment is the most important let alone the only influence on transfer performance that is related to geography. To the contrary, we find a lot of truth in suggestions of a multilevel determination of university excellence – no matter whether in regard to teaching, research or transfer – and warnings of a too narrow focus of policies which try to raise the prominence of universities in regional innovation systems (Fromhold-Eisebith and Werker 2013; Power and Malmberg 2008). For this reason we find it highly desirable to keep an open eye on the role of other spatial levels as well, from local to national and even international.

This chapter analyses these issues and contributes to our understanding of the importance of the regional environment and other spatial levels for technology transfer. Thanks to a sufficiently large multinational dataset that we put together in 2011 and 2012 on behalf of the European Commission, we could include control variables for countries in regressions on transfer performance measures and discover interaction effects with institutional characteristics (of the universities and their transfer offices). The estimations use a wider set of regional socio-economic characteristics than previous studies and assess their relationship to knowledge transfer performance. For the latter we use four measures: two that are closer to research (the number of research agreements and patent applications) and two that are closer to the market (the number of license agreements and start-ups established).

We first give a short overview of the relevant literature, then describe the sample and data collection methods, present key results and close with a discussion and conclusions.

2. Research on knowledge transfer performance

Previous studies have evaluated the effect of a large number of factors that can affect knowledge transfer performance of universities and other public research organisations, including the characteristics and practices of the knowledge transfer office (KTO), the characteristics and policies of the affiliated institution, and of particular interest to this chapter the characteristics of the external environment.

2.1 Characteristics of the KTO and the institution

The establishment and design of a KTO, an office for knowledge and technology transfer, is often an institutional decision taken by the administration of the university or public research institute. Once established, many KTOs are able to make independent decisions in the area of IP management and knowledge transfer. This ability, combined with its age and experience, number and qualifications of its staff, degree of autonomy from the institution, organizational structure and degree of centralization of services can influence knowledge transfer performance (for reasons of brevity we omit references to the relevant literature, a review can be found in chapter 5).

Several institutional characteristics and policies can influence performance as well; previous work points to ownership (public-private), size, the existence of science departments or a medical faculty, research excellence and business orientation, institutional by-laws and policies for instance with regard to IP protection and management, licensing and the distribution of commercialization revenues (for supporting evidence see again Barjak, et al. 2014).

2.2 Regional characteristics

Several studies on the transfer performance of universities controlled for the regional market environment for university technologies. Mainly four issues have been investigated in this context (see also for an overview Table 1).³

³ We abstract from a few other variables which also have been tested in individual studies, such as social capital (correlates positively with university spin-off numbers in Fini, Grimaldi, Santoni,

1) Technology intensity of the regional economy. Being located in a technology-intensive region has positive effects on the demand for technology from regional companies and a more entrepreneurial climate is to be expected. Moreover, hubs as defined as geographic concentration of patenting by firms in a specialized technical field facilitate the flow of academic science into industrial technologies (Bikard and Marx 2020). Empirical studies for US universities using the Milken Institute Tech-Pole Index indeed found positive effects of being located in a high-tech region on the numbers of licences (Friedman and Silberman 2003) and on licensing income (Belenzon and Schankerman 2009; Friedman and Silberman 2003; Lach and Schankerman 2008). The results for start-ups are inconclusive (Friedman and Silberman 2003; O'Shea, Allen, Chevalier, and Roche 2005). In addition, studies using other indicators for technology intensity could not reproduce this finding: the densities of high technology organisations and high technology employment have not been found to relate to the licences executed by a university in the AUTM survey (Sine, Shane, and Di Gregorio 2003). The number of patents held by regional firms does not contribute to explaining invention disclosures to German KTOs (Hülsbeck, et al. 2013); neither does the number of regional patent applications have an effect on licences in Europe and the US (Conti and Gaule 2011) - however there is a weak positive correlation with licence income (ibid.).

2) Research intensity of the regional economy. According to Link and Siegel (2005; 2003) industrial R&D in the state has a positive effect on the licensing productivity of universities. This finding could also be confirmed for UK universities using regional R&D intensity (Chapple, et al. 2005). A European multi-country study found no links between regional business R&D spending (BERD) and patent applications and contract research, but a positive correlation with the number of start-ups (Van Looy et al. 2011). The accumulated R&D expenses per firm in Spanish regions did not contribute to explaining licence agreements or spin-offs of regional universities in the study cited already above (González-Pernía, et al. 2013). Algieri et al. (2013)

[&]amp; Sobrero 2011) or industry concentration (the lower the concentration the higher the number of invention disclosures to German universities in Hülsbeck, Lehmann, & Starnecker 2013).

found a positive coefficient for R&D staff at regional level with regard to university start-up numbers.

However, not only private sector R&D seems to matter, but also public sector activities, though it is not fully clear how. In studies with data for Italian universities, both, negative effects (Fini, et al. 2011) as well as positive effects (Algieri, et al. 2013) of regional governmental R&D expenses on university spin-off numbers have been found. Sine and his co-authors suggest that competition might explain the reduction of the number of licences executed by universities which are close to other licensing universities (Sine, et al. 2003).

3) Regional income. Previous studies tend to find that different regional income measures are unrelated to transfer performance. With data from a large scale survey of German professors at higher education institutions, Dornbusch, Kroll, and Schricke (2012) find a U-shaped influence of regional income (GDP per capita) on the frequency of professors' consultancy activities, but not on their involvement in R&D co-operations with local partners. They explain this with other factors than regional income that supposedly drive R&D co-operation. In the UK data set of Chapple et al. (2005) the regional GDP index raises the technical efficiency of KTOs with regard to licence income, but not with regard to the number of licences. In their estimations of licensing productivity of US universities, Link, Siegel and Atwater found that the average annual output growth in the state was not significantly related to productivity (2005; 2003). Hülsbeck, Lehmann, and Starnecker (2013) do not find a relationship between GDP per capita in German regions and invention disclosures at universities.

4) Venture Capital related activities. Local venture capital activity does not correlate with higher start-up rates in the US (Di Gregorio and Shane 2003). Along the same lines, an analysis based on Spanish RedOTRI data does not show a link between regional VC per firm and university spin-offs or university licence agreements (González-Pernía, et al. 2013). However, in a study with US AUTM data and an additional survey, the total operating costs of TTOs over total net licensing revenues are lower, the more VC is available within a 100 miles distance (Warren, Hanke, and Trotzer 2008). Taking Netval

data from Italy Fini et al. (2011) show that the regional financial development index, measured as the probability that a household is shut off from the credit market, is positively related to the number of university spin-offs.

Dependent	t Independent concepts (regional level)			
variables (KTO level)	Technology intensity	Research in the private sector	Overall output	Venture capital
# invention disclosures	/ Germany (Hülsbeck, Lehmann, and Starnecker 2013)		/ Germany (Hülsbeck et al. 2013)	
#patent application	5	/ Europe (Van Looy et al. 2011)		
# R&D agreements		/ Europe (Van Looy et al. 2011)	/ Germany (Dornbusch, Kroll, and Schricke 2012) ^a	
# start-ups	+ US (Friedman and Silberman 2003)	+ Europe (Van Looy et al. 2011)		/ US (Di Gregorio and Shane 2003)
	– US (O'Shea, Allen, Chevalier, and Roche 2005)	+ Italy (Algieri, Aquino, and Succurro 2013) / Spain (González-		/ Spain (González- Pernía et al. 2013) + Italy (Fini, Grimaldi, Santoni,
		Pernía, Kuechle, and Peña-Legazkue 2013)	1	and Sobrero 2011)
# licences	+ US (Friedman and Silberman 2003) - US (Sine, Shane, and Di Gregorio 2003) / Europe and US (Conti and Gaule	+ US (Link and Siegel 2005; Siegel, Waldman, and Link 2003) + UK (Chapple, Lockett, Siegel, and Wright 2005)	/ UK (Chapple et al. 2005) / US (Link and Siegel 2005; Siegel et al. 2003) ^b	/ Spain (González- Pernía et al. 2013)

Table 1. Overview of findings on regional level variables and transferperformance

Dependent variables (KTO level)	Independent concepts (regional level)			
	Technology intensity	Research in the private sector	Overall output	Venture capital
licensing	+ US (Belenzon and	/ US (Siegel et al.	+ UK (Chapple et al.	+ US (Warren,
income	Schankerman 2009;	2003)	2005)	Hanke, and Trotzer
	Friedman and Silberman 2003; Lach and Schankerman 2008) + Europe and US (Conti and Gaule 2011)	+ US (Link and Siegel 2005) / UK (Chapple et al. 2005) / Spain (González- Pernía et al. 2013)	/ US (Link and Siegel 2005; Siegel et al. 2003) ^b	2008)

+ significant positive relationship, – significant negative relationship, / no significant relationship

a However, the study obtained a positive coefficient for consultancy activities.

b Average annual real output growth in the university's state.
2.3 National influences

Rather few empirical studies have investigated the mechanisms through which the national research and innovation system determines universities' abilities to commercialize knowledge (the innovation system literature frequently takes the opposite perspective and focuses on the contributions of universities and other elements of the system to corporate innovation activities).

The key issue of concern has been the ownership of academic intellectual property for which most European countries have a national default rule, except for Sweden and Italy. In most cases it is the employer (university or research institute) who owns the research. In Sweden and Italy however, researchers own the rights to their research as long as they have not agreed otherwise. This is referred to as the 'professors' privilege' regulation (Lissoni et al. 2013). Thus, in most other countries the employer owns the IP, however enforcement of the law varies by country and research and funding institutions may issue specific rules, or in some instances researchers by-pass the law (Geuna and Rossi 2011; Lissoni, Llerena, McKelvey, and Sanditov 2008). Research has shown that national IP regulations influence different formal channels of knowledge and technology transfer, such as research collaboration (Valentin and Jensen 2007) or licences (Conti and Gaule 2011).

Conti and Gaulé (2011) included several institutional characteristics, a control variable for regional technology demand and country dummies in their estimations on licensing performance of European and US universities. In 12 out of the 15 European countries universities had lower licence income than their US counterparts; only Denmark, Belgium and Switzerland had (insignificant) positive coefficients, i.e. slightly higher licence income; in the latter two countries universities even had a significantly higher number of licences than in the US.

3. Methodology

3.1 Data collection

Data on universities and public research institutes were collected through two separate surveys that were piloted in 2011 and repeated in 2012. Each survey pair referred to the preceding year (2010 and 2011). The European Knowledge Transfer Indicator Survey (EKTIS) collected data on the characteristics of KTOs, a few characteristics of the affiliated university or public research institute, who owns the intellectual property for discoveries, and data on technology transfer outcomes for 2010 and 2011. A copy of the survey questionnaire can be found in the appendix.

The survey focused on the leading research-intensive universities and research institutes in 39 countries including 27 EU member states and 12 countries associated to the European Framework Programmes for research, development, and innovation. The sample was weighted by each country's share of total European Government and Higher Education R&D expenditures (GOVERD), with data collected for approximately 500 universities and research institutes combined. The response rate for the EKTIS survey was 57.0% in 2011 and 55.9% in 2012. The second survey used a sub-sample of EKTIS respondents to collect information on institutional and national policies for knowledge transfer and attained a response rate of 50.0% in 2011 and 39.8% in 2012. Full details on the survey methodology plus copies of the two questionnaires are provided by Arundel et al. (2013).

The two sets of survey data were then linked to construct a cross-sectional database that includes data on the predictor variables for each university or research institute for one year. The number of cases for analysis is increased by including respondents for at least one of the two surveys. If a respondent replied to both surveys, the results for the most recent year (2011) are used. Since economic conditions, research funding and knowledge transfer policies in Europe did not change notably between 2010 and 2011, any biases due to combining years should be minor. Since it is a pooled cross-sectional data, country dummies are used to capture any clustering by subgroups that may exist between countries. This method is referred to in the literature as the

dummy variable model (Steenbergen and Jones 2002). The country dummies absorb the unique variation among the different countries included in our data. The inclusion of the country dummies can capture the unobserved heterogeneity between the different countries beyond any country effects accounted for in the predictor variables such as ownership of IP. The linked dataset includes 170 cases for which 2011 data are available and 118 cases for which only 2010 data are available.

Regional-level data was then added to each institution taking data for NUTS2 regions of the classification of territorial units in Europe. In total, 316 NUTS2 regions, each having a population between 800'000 and 3 million inhabitants, have been assigned in the 27 EU Member States⁴, the four EFTA countries Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway, and Switzerland, and the five acceding and candidate countries Montenegro, Croatia, Macedonia, Serbia and Turkey (as of January 1st, 2013) (Eurostat 2013). The NUTS classification does not cover Albania, Bosnia-Herzegovina and Israel and consistent regional data could not be included which led to the exclusion of six universities from the analysis.

3.2 Variables

Dependent variables. We examine the correlation between the regional socio-economic environment, a set of control variables for countries and institutional characteristics and four dependent variables: the number of patent applications plus three variables that measure the potential for transferring commercially valuable knowledge from universities or public research institutes to private firms, i.e. the number of research agreements with firms, the number of licenses, and the number of start-ups established (see Table 2). Most studies, in particular those from the USA, focus on licences, licence income and/or start-ups (see Table 1 above). Although a patent is not required for technology transfer, the number of patent applications is included in the output variables because of previous research showing a strong link for European universities between licensing and

⁴ EU Member States here refers to the status in 2012, i.e. including the UK and excluding Croatia.

patented inventions (Arundel and Bordoy 2009). Research agreements can be further from commercialisation than licensing or start-ups, but they can also involve solving specific problems with existing products or processes. In addition, patent applications and R&D agreements have rather been neglected in previous work (see Table 1 above). Of importance to note is that the survey questionnaire is not always fully completed by a respondent and often includes item non-responses. This explains the different number of observations for each technology transfer type in Table 2 and similarly in subsequent results.

Table 2. Key performance indicators for universities and public researchinstitutes

				Standard	Percent
	\mathbb{N}^1	Mean	Median	deviation	zero ²
Universities					
Patent applications	230	14.4	6.0	24.1	18.7
Licenses executed	201	11.4	4.0	21.5	24.4
Start-ups formed	215	5.2	2.0	14.6	33.0
R&D agreements with companies	162	173.2	69.0	261.3	4.3
Research institutes					
Patent applications	37	13.6	6.0	21.8	10.8
Licenses executed	36	13.2	3.0	28.5	25.0
Start-ups formed	37	1.3	1.0	1.2	35.1
R&D agreements with companies	30	237.1	30.0	905.1	0.0

Number of KTOs reporting results for each performance measure (including zero outcomes).
 Percent reporting 'zero' for each outcome. For example, 18.4% of 228 universities reported zero patent applications in 2010 and/or 2011.

Source: MERIT, European Knowledge Transfer Indicator Survey 2011 and 2012.

Independent variables. The control variables cover the key influences on transfer performance as assessed in the literature. Two KTO variables include the number of employees (KTO_SIZE) and its age and squared age to account for nonlinear effects of age (KTO_AGE, KTO_AGE2, see Table 3). The three institutional variables include the number of researchers NUMB_RES (research output is expected to be closely correlated with this variable), if the institution has a hospital (HOSP), coded as 1 when present and 0 otherwise, and the type of institution, coded as 1 when a university and 0 if a public research institute (UNIVERSITY). The variable for the presence of a hospital is included to capture activity in health sciences while the type of institution is an important factor in the use of licensing and start-ups. The full data set shows that the former is more common in public research institutes and the latter is more common in universities. We also include a control variable for ownership status (OWNERSHIP), coded as 1 when the institution or companies own the IP and 0 if the inventor or other parties own the IP. We furthermore include a set of country dummies for the eleven most frequent countries in the data set, to control for latent national specificities of the academic system and framework for knowledge and technology transfer.⁵ These eleven countries contribute more than 80% of the observations, the remaining 20% of observations are contributed by 21 other European countries. Additional analysis was conducted to examine unobserved heterogeneity by including dummy variables for NUTS2 regions.

⁵ These covers (number of observations in brackets): Germany (64), the UK (42), France (26), Spain (27), Italy (21), Switzerland (12), Ireland (10), Sweden (9), Austria (8), the Netherlands (8), and Denmark (8).

	Universitie	s		Resea	rch in	stitutes
Characteristics of the KTO and institution	N	Yes	Percent	: N	Yes	Percent
HOSP: Institution has a hospital	247	50	20.1%	39	0	0.0%
OWNERSHIP: IP is owned by institution or companies (Inventor or other=0)	245	131	53.5%	39	29	74.4%
Country dummies	Ν	Yes	Percent	N	Yes	Percent
AT: Austria	249	8	3.2%	39	0	0.0%
DE: Germany	249	49	19.7%	39	15	38.5%
DK: Denmark	249	6	2.4%	39	2	5.1%
FR: France	249	21	8.4%	39	5	12.8%
IE: Ireland	249	10	4.0%	39	0	0.0%
IT: Italy	249	18	7.2%	39	3	7.7%
NL: The Netherlands	249	6	2.4%	39	2	5.1%
ES: Spain	249	25	10.0%	39	2	5.1%
SE: Sweden	249	9	3.6%	39	0	0.0%
CH: Switzerland	249	8	3.2%	39	4	10.3%
UK: United Kingdom	249	40	16.1%	39	2	5.1%
SUBTOTAL	249	200	80.3%	39	35	89.7%
Other countries ¹	249	49	19.7%	39	4	10.3%
TOTAL	249	249	100%	39	39	100%

Table 3. Descriptive statistics of independent dummy variables

Note 1: Countries and number of observations (universities or otherwise mentioned) in brackets; Belgium (6), Bulgaria (1), Croatia (1), Czech Republic (4), Estonia (1), Finland (4), Greece (2 of which 1 research institute), Hungary(5), Iceland (1), Israel (5 of which 1 research institute), Latvia (2), Luxembourg (1), North-Macedonia (1), Malta (1), Norway (6), Poland (3), Portugal (2), Romania (2), Slovakia (1 research institute), Slovenia (1 research institute), Turkey (3). The independent variables of interest include indicators to control for the regional market environment for technologies developed by public research organisations. The data have been extracted from Eurostat (see Table 4).

- GDP in billion PPS in 2010, was included to control for the size of the region. Two other independent variables reflect the region's industry structure, regional employment shares in industry and in services, both for the year 2011. Employment in industry is measured by aggregating NACE sectors B-F and employment in services is measured by aggregating NACE sectors G-L.
- Average regional GDP per capita over a three-year period (2008-2010) is used to measure regional income; squared regional GDP per capita serves to investigate whether regional income exerts a non-linear effect, as suggested by Dornbusch, Kroll, and Schricke (2012).
- The average EPO patent applications per million inhabitants in a region over a three-year period (2008-2010) capture the technological intensity of a region.
- Two additional variables are used to measure business sector research activities: The average share of business enterprise expenditure on R&D (BERD) in gross domestic expenditure on R&D (GERD) reflects whether a region has a strong business research sector (or governmentally funded R&D sector by taking the inverse); the average share of BERD in GDP measures regional R&D intensity. Both variables are calculated over a three-year period (2008-2010).

A suitable indicator for regional VC availability that has been found as important in previous national analyses of transfer performance (see above) could not be included due to a lack of comparable data.

A correlation table of the independent variables (Table 9) as well as descriptive statistics of the independent variables by country (Tables 10 and 11) are provided in the appendix. None of the correlations are above 0.6 thus any multicollinearity issues are not expected (Dormann et al. 2013). The descriptive statistics of the independent variables by country show various differences across countries. For the variables of interest notable differences are observed for regional gross domestic product which differs substantially

between France and other countries, which is due to the construction of the geographical areas as NUTS 2 regions in France compared to other countries. Similarly, GDP per capita differs substantially between Ireland and other countries, explained by the presence of large multinational companies holding intellectual property. Results for these variables should therefore be interpreted with caution. Employment in industry differs as expected with higher share observed in Italy and Germany, and lower shares in the Netherlands, Switzerland and Denmark. Austria and Spain have higher shares of employment in services. High shares of business enterprise expenditure as a percent of GDP are observed in Denmark, Sweden, and Austria. High regional patenting is observed in Swiss regions and less in Spanish regions. As for the dummy independent variables, as explained, ownership of IP is usually held by the institution with notable exceptions in Italy (33.3% of the cases) and Sweden (22.2% of the cases). Few institutions in Italy and the United Kingdom in our sample have an affiliated hospital whereas this is more common in the Netherlands.

	Univers	sities			Resea	rch insti	tutes	
	N	Mean	Median	SD	N	Mean	Median	SD
Characteristics of the KTO and institution								
NUMB_RES: Number of researchers	212	2,055.8	1,360	2,111	37	1,618.3	971.0	2,918.7
KTO_SIZE: KTO staff in FTE	249	9.3	5.0	11.2	39	9.0	5.0	10.8
KTO_AGE: age of KTO in years	221	12.0	9.0	9.3	38	18.97	13.5	18.6
Regional								
characteristics								
GDP_BIL_PPS: GDP in billion PPS	241	87.0	54.8	95.2	38	109.9	65.6	111.1
EMPL_INDUSTRY: Employment share in industry	245	22.4	22.6	7.5	39	20.5	20.0	6.8
EMPL SERVICES:								
Employment share in services	245	30.8	30.7	6.1	39	31.1	30.9	6.3
GDP_CAP: GDP per capita (x 1'000 €) BERD_GERD:	245	41.3	28.0	55.8	38	46.6	32.6	51.8
Business enterprise R&D expenditures in percent of Gross R&D expenditures	244	55.4	58.5	19.5	38	53.4	54.6	18.3
BERD_GDP: Business enterprise R&D expenditures in per- cent of GDP	243	1.2	1.0	1.0	37	1.7	1.3	1.4
PATENTS_REG: EPO patent applications per million inhab.	244	132.9	101.6	123.4	38	207.5	167.6	166.1

Table 4. Descriptive statistics of independent variables

3.3 Analytical methods

The independent variable in all regressions consists of the number of outcomes, using count data. As there are a significant number of zero responses (see Table 2), we use a negative binomial model appropriate for count data.

The regressions were first conducted using a dummy variable for the survey year (2011 versus 2010). The variable had no effect on any of the results except for the number of licenses, indicating that on average license activity declined in 2011. However, the dummy variable for the survey year had no effect on any of the variables of interest (regional variables) and is therefore not included in the final regressions given below.

The control variable for KTO age is the independent variable with the largest number of item missing values reducing the sample in the estimations by up to 23 cases. For this reason and to identify interactions between the experience of an institution with technology transfer and the other independent variables we estimated each model with and without the KTO_AGE variables. Each table includes the AIC value (Akaike Information Criterion), a goodness-of-fit measure in which smaller values are preferable.

4. Results

4.1 R&D agreements with companies

For R&D agreements with companies we have the highest percentage of item non-responses of the four dependent variables contributing to the exclusion of 39-53% of all cases (depending on missing values for independent variables). Hence, the estimations for this variable are the least precise among the four considered variables. As expected, the size of the institution (NUMB_RES) consistently contributes to explaining the variance of R&D agreements with companies across institutions (see Table 5). The older the knowledge transfer office (KTO_AGE) the more R&D agreements with companies were concluded; however, the effect is nonlinear. The relationship between the age of the KTO and the dependent variable is probably not causal, but an indication that more industry- and transfer-oriented universities established their transfer offices earlier. No consistent result is observed for ownership of IP (OWNERSHIP).

The national context is of considerable importance as the country dummy variables show. We observe consistently significant negative coefficients for Sweden and Germany, i.e. institutions in these countries conclude fewer R&D agreements compared to other countries in our data. The country dummies for Ireland and Italy are also negative and their impact increases in size in regressions that include control variables for the regional share of corporate R&D, corporate R&D intensity and technology intensity.

A consistent significant positive coefficient is observed for the Netherlands. Spanish institutions concluded significantly more R&D agreements compared to other countries but only in estimations that excluded the control variables for the KTO age. In other words, the observed results for Spain are mainly since KTOs are comparatively old (in fact almost 75% in our sample were established before the year 2000). This suggests that Spanish institutions placed a focus on tech transfer some decades ago and were able to built-up knowledge on how to collaborate with the corporate sector on R&D.

Among the regional level variables, we observe no effect for region size (GDP_MIL_PPS) and employment in services (EMPL_SERVICES). The share of employment in industry (EMPL_INDUSTRY) is strongly positive, suggesting that the primary corporate clients of universities and public research institutes for R&D agreements are manufacturing companies. GDP per capita is positive and significant. The negative sign of the squared GDP per capita variable points to an inverse U-shaped effect.

The share of corporate R&D expenditure to total regional R&D expenditure (BERD_GERD) is negative and significant. Conversely, the share of governmental R&D expenditure must have a positive effect on R&D agreements. We do not have a straightforward explanation for this, except that the BERD-GERD-share probably does not measure the absorptive capacity of companies – which is rather measured by the (non-significant) relationship of BERD to GDP – but whether a critical mass of non-corporate and predominantly public research exists in a region. If this is not the case,

this is very likely the limiting factor and companies are unable to find academic research partners in this case. For patent applications per capita (PATENTS_REG) we observe a negative correlation. This indicates that in regions with a strong corporate technological basis firms work less with their regional academic partners.

4a 4b 151 172 1799.4 2026. 0.368 1.348 0.285** 0.342
151 172 1799.4 2026. 0.368 1.348 0.285** 0.342
1799.4 2026. 0.368 1.348 0.285** 0.342
0.368 1.348 0.285** 0.342
0.285** 0.342
0.285** 0.342
0.006 -0.003
-0.014 0.208
0.178 0.269
0.110 0.220
0.097**
-0.002**
-0.170 -0.189
-1.264** -1.08
-0.618 -0.36
-0.377 -0.282
-0.855+ -1.103
-1.757** -1.702
1.437* 1.384
0.218 0.386
-2.865** -2.92
0.993+ 1.187
0.211 0.137
0.002 0.002
11.525** 9.621
-1.846 -3.14
0.133** 0.139
-0.001** -0.00
-0.027** -0.019
0.137 0.124
-0.002+ -0.003
$\begin{array}{c} 0. \\ 0. \\ 0. \\ 0. \\ 0. \\ 0. \\ 0. \\ 0. $

Table 5. Regression results for R&D agreement	ents
---	------

*= p <.10, * = p <.05, ** = p<.01, *** = p<.001.

4.2 Patent applications

Patent applications is the second dependent variable of transfer performance that is close to commercialisation. Among the included control variables the size of the institution (NUMB_RES) and of the transfer office (KTO_SIZE), and the age of the KTO are significant with the expected positive coefficients (see Table 6); the relationship for KTO_AGE is again nonlinear.

Most country dummies are insignificant, indicating that national differences are not a prominent influence on academic patenting in Europe – this might be surprising, but one should bear in mind that there has been a considerable homogenization regarding IP ownership in European academia between 2000 and 2010. Moreover, it can be argued that the countries in our sample have comparable patenting capabilities, Switzerland stands out as a country with several regions with high patenting compared to other countries.

Ownership still matters (see model 1b) and the two countries with deviant ownership regimes for academic inventions, Italy and Sweden, still stick out. The significant negative coefficient observed for these countries is likely a consequence of the fact that researchers may patent inventions outside of the institution. For France we also observe a negative significant coefficient for models that do not include regional level variables.

Employment in industry (EMPL_INDUSTRY) is again a significant regional level predictor. As for R&D agreements, we observe a negative coefficient for the share of corporate R&D to total regional R&D (BERD_GERD) which we would explain in the same way.

MODEL	1a	1b	2a	2b	3a	3b	4a	4b
N	212	236	212	236	204	227	202	225
AIC	1487.5	1650.9	1493.6	1656.8	1431.5	1587.7	1425.2	1577.8
CONSTANT	1.299**	1.414**	1.610**	1.709**	0.153	0.406	-0.196	0.104
INSTITUTIONA	L LEVEL V	VARIABLI	ES					
NUMB_RES	0.258**	0.291**	0.275**	0.317***	0.311**	0.355**	0.303**	0.338**
KTO_SIZE	0.024**	0.025**	0.025**	0.021**	0.024**	0.019*	0.026**	0.020*
HOSP	0.024	-0.010	0.007	0.036	0.145	0.179	0.165	0.240
UNIVERSITY	-0.077	0.020	-0.153	-0.063	-0.173	-0.099	-0.161	-0.116
OWNERSHIP	0.226	0.271+	0.166	0.247	0.283	0.307+	0.203	0.218
KTO_AGE	0.043*		0.051*		0.033		0.031	
KTO_AGE2	-0.001*		-0.001**		-0.001*		-0.001*	
COUNTRY DUM	MY VAR	IABLES						
AT			-0.135	-0.278	0.119	0.052	0.041	-0.029
DE			-0.275	-0.188	-0.023	0.018	-0.030	-0.019
DK			-0.245	-0.166	0.383	0.504	0.251	0.306
FR			-0.730*	-0.735*	-0.369	-0.337	-0.348	-0.354
IE			-0.110	0.017	0.507	0.620	0.460	0.531
IT			-0.633*	-0.588+	-0.776*	-0.740*	-1.049*	-1.130**
NL			-0.107	-0.148	0.686	0.603	0.618	0.431
ES			-0.644+	-0.437	-0.353	-0.225	-0.410	-0.333
SE			-1.443**	-1.430**	-0.850+	-0.843+	-0.771	-0.731
СН			-0.423	-0.448	0.436	0.472	0.788	0.904+
UK			-0.307	-0.083	0.328	0.453	0.322	0.402
REGION LEVEL	VARIABI	ES						
GDP_BIL_PPS					0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
EMPL_INDUSTR	Y				3.712*	3.321*	4.992*	4.880*
EMPL_SERVICES					2.883	2.504	3.536	3.065
GDP_CAP					-0.029	-0.030	-0.006	0.003
GDP_CAP2					0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
BERD_GERD							-0.011	-0.014*
BERD_GDP							0.091	0.088
PATENTS_REG							-0.001	-0.001

Table 6. Regression results for patent applications

⁺= p <.10, * = p <.05, ** = p<.01, *** = p<.001.

4.3 Licence agreements

For licence agreements which are closer to the market than the two previously discussed performance measures we obtain positive correlations for the control variables on size of the institution (NUMB_RES), size of the KTO (KTO_SIZE), age of the KTO (nonlinear, see KTO_AGE and KTO_AGE2), existence of a hospital (HOSP) and a negative correlation for universities, i.e. more licence agreements in non-university institutes (see Table 7).

Country dummies are consistently positive for Ireland and the UK; for Switzerland only if regional level variables are not included. In Sweden a significant negative coefficient is observed in all models, the dummy variable for Italy is negative but not significant in contrast to the results found for patent applications. Both results should not be surprising given the 'professors privilege' legislation in these countries. For Denmark, in the models with regional level variables, a significant negative coefficient is observed. Regarding, the regional level variables, we observe a non-linear relationship for GDP per capita similar as with R&D agreements. We also obtain a small positive effect for regional patent applications per capita (PATENTS_REG); in other words, the higher regional technology intensity, the more licence contracts were concluded by the academic institutions in the region.

MODEL	1a	1b	2a	2b	3a	3b	4a	4b
Ν	197	218	197	218	189	211	188	210
AIC	1245.1	1478.1	1196.2	1394.4	1153.5	1345.2	1138.6	1332.8
CONSTANT	1.263**	2.370**	1.246**	1.889**	0.985	1.906	0.540	1.736
INSTITUTIONAL	L LEVEL	VARIABI	LES					
NUMB_RES	0.198**	0.196**	0.285**	0.295**	0.291**	0.302**	0.261**	0.281**
KTO_SIZE	0.040**	0.028**	0.025**	0.004	0.022*	0.002	0.018+	0.000
HOSP	0.204	0.172	0.570**	0.746**	0.369	0.548*	0.424+	0.558*
UNIVERSITY	-0.608**	-0.608**	-0.888**	-0.973**	-0.760**	-0.867**	-0.471+	-0.542*
OWNERSHIP	-0.050	-0.430**	-0.179	-0.243	-0.137	-0.205	-0.041	-0.114
KTO_AGE	0.083**		0.065**		0.048*		0.059*	
KTO_AGE2	-0.002**		-0.002**		-0.001**		-0.002**	
COUNTRY DUM	MY VAF	RIABLES						
AT			-0.398	-0.584	-0.667	-0.829	-0.984+	-1.036+
DE			0.448+	0.410+	0.256	0.103	-0.284	-0.307
DK			-0.519	-0.481	-0.990+	-1.018+	-1.520**	-1.311*
FR			-0.393	-0.427	-0.389	-0.499	-0.202	-0.239
IE			1.264**	1.167**	1.032*	0.957*	1.383**	1.357**
IT			-0.331	-0.342	-0.357	-0.413	-0.384	-0.299
NL			0.651	0.737+	0.354	0.297	0.253	0.330
ES			-0.171	0.173	0.147	0.408	0.330	0.672
SE			-3.773**	-3.723**	-4.028**	-4.172**	-4.339**	-4.460**
СН			0.694+	0.884*	0.488	0.740	-0.358	0.140
UK			1.441**	1.744**	1.552**	1.737**	1.758**	1.939**
REGION LEVEL	VARIAB	LES						
GDP_BIL_PPS					-0.001	-0.001	-0.002	-0.002
EMPL_INDUSTRY	Ý				-0.172	-0.777	-0.100	-1.261
EMPL_SERVICES					-3.484	-4.665	-0.652	-2.269
GDP_CAP					0.085**	0.094**	0.074*	0.067*
GDP_CAP2					-0.001**	-0.001**	-0.001*	-0.001*
BERD_GERD							-0.016*	-0.012+
BERD_GDP							0.002	0.056
PATENTS_REG							0.004**	0.004**

Tab	le 7.	Regress	ion resu	lts for	licence	agreement	5

*= p <.10, * = p <.05, ** = p<.01, *** = p<.001.

4.4 Start-ups established

The last dependent variable examined are the number of start-ups that were established by an institution which is also a transfer result that is close to the market. The size of the institution (NUMB_RES), size of the KTO (KTO_SIZE), and being a university correlate positively with the number of start-ups (see Table 8). The variable for KTO age slightly misses significance at the 10% level. Institutions in Germany, Ireland, and Sweden are particularly successful in establishing start-ups. At first sight, the same seems to be true for UK institutions. However, once we include the control variable for the age of the KTO, the dummy for the UK reverses the sign, and in models 2a and 3b we even observe significant negative coefficients for the UK. This suggests, that only due to their longer experience British universities are more successful regarding establishing start-ups. Other aspects of the national environment in the UK are less conducive for academic entrepreneurship – however, our survey does not reveal which factors might be particularly problematic in the UK.

Among the regional variables we observe a strong negative effect for the share of employees in services (EMPLY_SERVICES), if this is high, we find fewer start-ups *ceteris paribus*. We lack an explanation for this result. We also observe a negative coefficient for industry employment (EMPL_INDUSTRY) though this is usually insignificant. The inverse U-shaped relationship for GDP per capita that we have found for R&D agreements and licence agreements is also observed for start-ups in model 4b.

The share of corporate R&D to overall R&D (BERD_GERD) is again negative and significant, and the regional R&D intensity (BERD_GDP) is positive in one of the "full" models (without KTO_AGE) but slightly misses significance in the other one (with KTO_AGE). Regional technology intensity of the economy (PATENTS_REG) does not play a role for academic start-ups.

MODEL	1a	1b	2a	2b	3a	3b	4a	4b
N	207	229	207	229	200	222	198	220
AIC	914.9	1146.4	878.3	1104.0	862.3	1082.3	855.0	1072.2
CONSTANT	-0.672*	-0.111	-1.097**	-0.861*	0.707	3.597	0.032	3.388+
INSTITUTIONAL	LEVEL	VARIABL	.ES					
NUMB_RES	0.186**	0.166**	0.180**	0.199**	0.190**	0.191**	0.184**	0.182**
KTO_SIZE	0.015+	0.030**	0.038**	0.018*	0.036**	0.015+	0.037**	0.013
HOSP	-0.449*	-0.741**	-0.341	-0.342	-0.371	-0.379	-0.347	-0.352
UNIVERSITY	1.031**	1.379**	0.875**	1.072**	0.845**	1.021**	0.936**	1.137**
OWNERSHIP	0.308+	-0.404*	0.199	-0.103	0.294	-0.087	0.191	-0.174
KTO_AGE	0.035		0.036		0.040		0.033	
KTO_AGE2	-0.001+		-0.002*		-0.002*		-0.001*	
COUNTRY DUMN	AY VAR	IABLES						
AT			-0.130	-0.132	-0.265	0.047	-0.365	-0.001
DE			1.181**	1.068**	0.883**	0.933**	0.755*	0.801*
DK			-0.543	-0.300	-0.881	-0.556	-1.123	-0.638
FR			-0.532	-0.420	-0.893+	-0.954+	-0.818	-0.905+
IE			0.846+	0.730+	0.865+	0.895+	0.987+	1.035*
IT			0.388	0.364	0.138	0.185	-0.361	-0.187
NL			0.235	0.580	-0.349	-0.112	-0.424	-0.095
ES			0.074	0.221	0.017	0.372	0.006	0.356
SE			1.744**	1.722**	1.157*	1.019+	1.338*	1.095*
СН			0.592	0.772+	0.680	0.531	1.360*	1.330*
UK			-0.819*	1.665**	-0.742+	1.359**	-0.500	1.553**
REGION LEVEL V	ARIABI	LES						
GDP_BIL_PPS					0.000	0.001	0.001	0.002
EMPL_INDUSTRY					-1.888	-4.181+	1.059	-2.271
EMPL_SERVICES					-6.163	-10.948**	-4.943	-10.666*
GDP_CAP					0.042	-0.007	0.074*	0.014
GDP_CAP2					-0.001+	0.000	-0.001*	0.000
BERD_GERD							-0.020*	-0.017**
BERD_GDP							0.146	0.210+
PATENTS_REG							0.000	-0.001

Table 8. Regression results for start-ups

*= p <.10, * = p <.05, ** = p<.01, *** = p<.001.

5. Discussion and Conclusions

We focus in this section on national and regional level influences on the performance of technology transfer offices of European universities and nonuniversity research institutes.

5.1 Country results

It comes with little surprise that IP ownership differences matter. The effect is strongest for Sweden which sticks out for all four dependent variables, either positively (start-ups) or negatively (R&D agreements, patent applications and licence agreements). For research-related measures this is also observed for Italy. However, the findings still permit the interpretation, that institutions are just less involved in the commercialization of academic research results in Sweden and Italy, and that its overall level is not lower, but simply more often taking place in direct relations between faculty and companies, as others have suggested (Jacobsson, Lindholm-Dahlstrand, and Elg 2013; Lissoni, et al. 2008).

Ireland and the UK are the countries which stand out as those where institutions are most effective in licensing-out market-related outcomes of their inventions and technologies. German and Irish institutions concluded significantly fewer R&D agreements with companies compared to their peer institutions in most other countries. Institutions in Germany, Ireland, and Sweden generate more start-ups compared to their peers in other countries. Start-up creation of institutions in the UK is mostly due to the long existence of the transfer offices and (presumably, as we did not measure this directly) their bigger experience in the tech transfer business. Once we control for the founding date of the KTOs, the coefficient for the UK changes its sign.

Dutch institutions seem to put a clear focus on R&D agreements with companies: the coefficient for the Netherlands is consistently bigger than for all the other countries and significant. For none of the other three performance measures we observe a clear result for the Netherlands. Spanish universities and research institutes also perform better on R&D agreements than their peers in most other countries, but only if we *exclude* the control variable for the founding date of the KTO. If we include this variable, the coefficient becomes smaller and insignificant. In other words, Spanish

institutions perform better on R&D agreements mostly because of the age (and presumably experience) of their transfer offices.

For Austria, Denmark, France and Switzerland, no consistent effect is observed across all models. The results for these countries are not that different compared to the set of other countries, except for Denmark which concluded significantly fewer license agreements compared to other countries based on 4 out of 6 models.

5.2 Results for regional characteristics

Size of the region, measured through regional GDP, is not correlated to any of the four performance measures. However, sector structure contributes to explaining the transfer performance of the region's public research institutions:

- A strong base in manufacturing is positive for R&D agreements and patent applications; this could be an effect of a larger client base in industry for R&D agreements and academic patents which are frequently only applied for, if an industry partner shows interest in the invention.
- A large share of service employees in total regional employment is negative for start-ups.

For regional GDP per capita we observe inverse U-shaped effects for three of the four performance measures (R&D agreements, licence agreements, startups established). The top five regions in our dataset with the highest per capita income are London, Luxembourg, Oslo, Zurich and Hamburg - all five are characterised by financial and insurance activities, real estate activities, professional, scientific and technical services which are not the typical clients of academic R&D and licences. The coefficients for GDP tend to become larger the more other regional characteristics are included in the estimations. Above all the regressions on R&D agreements and start-ups indicate that a weak regional economic climate (low GDP) might be compensated by a dedicated focus on public R&D spending (the inverse of BERD_GERD which reflects the share of corporate R&D spending to total regional R&D spending). In other words: universities in economically weak regions may raise their number of R&D agreements with companies (presumably from outside the region) and start-up numbers through R&D activities.

Including an indicator for the split of governmental/public and corporate R&D expenditures generates the interesting finding, that the larger the share of corporate expenditures, the smaller all four performance measures. We suggest that a large share of corporate R&D to total R&D in a region might indicate a lack of critical mass in public research which could reduce any of the transfer outcomes.

For regional technology intensity, measured as patent applications per capita, we observe a *negative* coefficient for R&D agreements and a *positive* coefficient for licence agreements. While the result for licences confirms some previous papers examining US universities (Belenzon and Schankerman 2009; Friedman and Silberman 2003; Lach and Schankerman 2008), the result for R&D agreements seems counterintuitive. Some additional analysis has been conducted to examine thus further by including squared patent applications per capita. The results for both license and research agreement indicate an inverse U-shaped effect. This suggests that at lower levels of patenting intensity in a region, collaboration with universities and research institutes is sought. However, in high patent intensity regions, fewer of such collaborations are predicted. This suggests that technology-intensive companies select their research partners more according to excellence. These issues are explored further in Chapter 3 of this thesis.

For regional research intensity (BERD_GDP), we only observe one significant positive coefficient in model 4a on start-ups. This essentially confirms Van Looy et al. (2011). For licence agreements, a positive result was only observed when we omitted several other regional variables from the estimations (GDP_CAP2, BERD_GERD, PATENTS_REG, result not shown). Our results cannot be compared to previous work on the US (Link and Siegel 2005; 2003) or on the UK (Chapple, et al. 2005) as those used different specifications.

The lack of a significant result for the employment share in services for several of the outcomes can to some extent be explained by other research. Results using Community Innovation Survey (CIS) data showed that universities and public research institutes are not a major source of information for service innovating enterprises. On average 4.4% of services innovators report using information from a higher education institute in the EU and just 3.2% use public research institutes as a source (Debackere and Veugelers 2005). Moreover, the same study showed that the share of service innovating enterprises that have collaborated with universities or public research institutes is very low in the EU (on average 6.4% and 7.0% respectively). Similarly in a more recent study, Carvalho et al. (2018), found that sources of innovation for innovation with universities or other higher education institutions, government or public research institutes differs between manufacturing and services. For innovative service firms, the sources of information are more diverse and the factor analysis showed a greater importance to sources such as conferences and fairs, competitors, and customers which is logical given the influence of the market and the importance of the external environment for service firms (Carvalho et al. 2018). These sources are of importance to service firms to introduce innovations as well as to learning in the innovation process (Trigo and Vence 2012; Jiménez-Zarco et al. 2011). Sources of information for manufacturing firms is however different as reported by Carvalho et al. (2018) who find sources as universities, research institutes, professional associations and labs more important.

Additional analysis was conducted to examine whether the inclusion of regional level dummy variables would improve fit compared to the inclusion of regional level variables (GDP_BIL_PPS, EMPL_INDUSTRY, EMPL_SERVICES, GDP_CAP, GDP_CAP2, BERD_GERD, BERD_GDP, PATENTS_REG). Including regional level dummies would moreover allow us to examine the unobserved heterogeneity between regions. In some cases, there is just one university in a NUTS2 region and therefore results of the regional dummy level models cannot be shared as anonymity was promised to survey participants. Instead, we report fit measures (AIC and R-squared) to examine model fit. Results are reported in Table 12 in the appendix of this chapter. The results, based on AIC values, show that regional level dummies are better able to capture regional differences compared to regional level variables when only institutional variables are included and no other

independent variables. The results are mixed for the full model including country dummies. Regional level dummy regressions show a better fit for license agreements and are comparable for research agreements. For patent applications and start-ups, the inclusion of regional level variables shows a better fit based on lower AIC values. A likely reason for this is that the AIC measure includes a penalty that is an increasing function of the number of estimated parameters (degrees of freedom). With the inclusion of over a hundred regional level dummy variables, the AIC value might not be the best fit measure to compare a regional level variable model versus a regional dummy model. Using OLS regressions to calculate explained variance based on R-squared shows that the regional level dummy models always better explain the variance in the four technology transfer outcomes compared to the models including regional level variables.

Of interest, is to note that the results using regional level dummies show that for several technology transfer activities between region effects are observed with some European regions performing significantly better and others significantly worse compared to their peers. Results in addition show that regions within the same country perform significantly different compared to other regions in the same country. Moreover, in several instances it is found that some regions within a country correlate negatively with a particular type of transfer compared to other European regions. However, at the same time at the national level, the country performs better compared to other European countries. These results provide evidence of between region and between country effects, i.e. how mean characteristics of a group (country or region) affect the mean performance of a group (country or region). This further provides evidence to use multilevel analysis.

5.3 Conclusions

This chapter teaches us several lessons for assessing the performance of universities and public research institutes in the area of knowledge and technology transfer.

First, comparisons of transfer performance at the country level need to take a multilevel perspective and control for institutional features as well as regional characteristics, to understand the driving forces behind country differences. Closer analyses and comparisons of the estimation results show that some country differences originate in institutional differences (such as the ownership regime with regard to academic IP, or the older age of UK KTOs which contributes to their good start-up performance) or characteristics of the regional environment (R&D agreements and patent applications handled by Swiss KTOs becomes significant once we control for corporate/governmental R&D and patenting at regional level).

Second, in most countries the institutions are strong regarding one channel of formal knowledge and technology transfer: R&D collaboration (the Netherlands), licencing (Ireland and the UK), or establishing start-ups (Sweden and Germany). Even though in Switzerland institutions compare well for more than one performance measure – taking the most complete models 4a and 4b – this suggests that it is very challenging for universities and research institutes to maintain the necessary infrastructure and support system to excel in different transfer channels. In addition, the national institutional set-up affects which transfer channels work better. Developing transfer strategies which take the internal and external conditions into account seems as a very adequate reaction to this situation for universities and public research institutes (Breznitz, O'Shea, and Allen 2008; Wright, Clarysse, Lockett, and Knockaert 2008).

Third, the presence of a strong manufacturing sector in the region is important for universities' performance with regard to formal knowledge and technology transfer. A strong service sector has rather negative effects, and universities in service-oriented regions, like London, Luxembourg or Zurich, *ceteris paribus* perform worse than those in more industry-oriented regions like Stuttgart or the Basque country. This does not imply that the service sector is unimportant for universities or that there is no collaboration between universities and service companies; there is, of course. However, service companies usually do not take out patents and licences, and prefer other mechanisms than R&D contracts. In particular, informal channels are more important for service firms when acquiring knowledge from universities (see for instance Arvanitis, Ley, Seliger, Stucki, and Wörter 2013). In addition as explained above innovative service firms are more likely to collaborate with customers or even competitors as compared to innovative manufacturing firms who more often collaborate with unversities and research institutes (Carvalho et al. 2018). Still, it is surprising that a strong service sector also affects start-up numbers negatively. We can only speculate why this is the case, but our first pick would be, that the benefit packages of existing service companies, above all in the financial sector but possibly also in other advanced services and consulting for businesses, are more attractive than the potential gains from establishing a start-up. A developed service economy would then be too competitive and thus not a likely path for academic entrepreneurship.

From the consistent negative effect of the BERD-GERD ratio we can deduce, that governmental expenditure on R&D in a region plays a more important role than corporate expenditure for R&D. The rather weak results for regional R&D intensity and regional technology intensity fits into this reasoning. However, this does not mean that governments are the key clients of academic technology transfer. Governmental expenditure for R&D influences how much money universities and research institutes obtain for their research and for generating the results which later can be transferred. If regional corporate R&D and technology does not help to explain transfer performance, it must be corporate R&D and corporate technology demand from outside the region. In other words, we interpret this result as a pointer to the importance of non-regional relationships in the transfer business.

This is also where we would see one fruitful direction for further research: conducting similar analyses with other spatial levels as well, in Europe for instance at NUTS 1 and NUTS 3, to tease out the distinction between different region sizes. Spatial regression analyses could also be an appropriate way to relate performance to different geographical areas of universities. Another future research direction could be examining the role of the regional innovation system which could be measured by the Regional Innovation Scoreboard (RIS) (European Commission, 2021).

One of the limitations of this study is that unobserved heterogeneity between countries and between regions is only accounted for by using dummies (results for regions are not shown for confidentiality reasons, except for fit measures in Table 12). However, these dummy variables do not provide a substantive explanation of this heterogeneity. The dummy variables are only indicators of subgroup differences. They can address the statistical challenges but are limited in exploiting the theoretical opportunities multilevel modelling has. An important goal of multilevel analysis is to substantially account for causal heterogeneity and on this objective the dummy variable model is limited (Steenbergen and Jones 2002). Multilevel modelling permits the analysis of contextual effects, i.e. how characteristics of other individuals in the same context affect individual level outcomes. Simultaneously, it also allows for heterogeneity between individual units. This is an important improvement over the dummy variable model. Moreover, it allows controlling for multiple levels, as the pooled data used in this research are universities (level 1) nested within regions (level 2) which are further nested within countries (level 3). Another interesting aspect could be to control for the presence of other institutions involved in knowledge and technology transfers in the region, to evaluate whether the resulting competition drives transfer performance or rather reduces it. This aspect is explored in Chapter 3 using the recommended multilevel modelling approach.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the support from the European Commission, Directorate General for Research and Innovation, under contract RTD/DirC/C2/2010/SI2.569045. The Knowledge Transfer Study was carried out by a consortium involving empirica, UNU-MERIT and the University of Applied Sciences Northwestern Switzerland (FHNW)

Table 9.	Correlati	ion result	s for inde	ependent	variable	s							
	NUMB_ RES	KTO_SIZE	HOSP	UNIVERSITY	OWNERSHIP	KTO_AGE	GDP_BIL_ PPS	EMPL_ INDUSTRY	EMPL_ SERVICES	GDP_CAP	BERD_ GERD	BERD_GDP	PATENTS_ REG
NUMB_RES	1												
KTO_SIZE	0.343***	1											
HOSP	0.236***	0.167^{***}	1										
UNIVERSITY	0.069	600.0	0.181^{***}	1									
OWNERSHIP	0.162^{**}	-0.041	0.112*	-0.147**	1								
KTO_AGE	0.107	0.041	0.093	-0.037	0.087	1							
GDP_BIL_PPS	0.170^{***}	0.027	0.045	-0.081	0.026	-0.038	1						
EMPL_INDUSTRY	0.057	-0.144**	-0.042	0.088	-0.039	0.026	-0.257***	1					
EMPL_SERVICES	0.129**	060.0	-0.046	-0.019	-0.094	-0.026	0.38***	-0.002	1				
GDP_CAP	0.093	0.009	0.011	-0.033	-0.118^{**}	-0.052	0.092	0.015	-0.024	1			
BERD_GERD	-0.052	0.001	0.054	0.035	-0.058	-0.073	0.066	0.175***	-0.079	0	1		
BERD_GDP	0.123^{*}	-0.042	0.082	-0.147**	0.107^{*}	0.005	0.087	0.069	-0.085	0.171^{***}	0.552***	1	

Ч --• 140 fo datio Table 0 Co

Appendix

PATENTS_REG 0.208*** -0.066 * = p < 10, ** = p < 05, *** = p < 01

-

 0.594^{***}

 0.470^{***}

0.230***

-0.070

0.052

 0.176^{***}

0.013

-0.193*** 0.204***

0.091

49

a Sin Sin	untry	Moon	NUMB_ RES 1806 5	KTO_SIZE	KTO_AGE	GDP_BIL_ PPS	EMPL_ INDUSTRY	EMPL_ SERVICES 34.0	GDP_CAP	BERD_ GERD_	BERD_ GDP	PATEN REG	vTS
		Mean SD	1806.5 1757.4	3.2 2.6	8.7 0.5	44.1 24.1	5.5	34.0 3.2	37.2 6.9	62.2 10.5		2.0 0.6	1/4.2 22.9
		Median	1350	2.5	9.0	32.6	25.7	32.0	38.6	55.8		2.2	167.1
		Mean	2557.2	5.6	32.5	77.5	27.2	29.5	37.6	57.7		1.8	252.7
	ny	SD	3132.9	6.2	71.0	46.9	5.3	2.6	44.1	17.8		1.4	153.8
		Median	1445	3.8	19.5	59.6	28.5	29.2	28.2	59.2		1.3	202.5
nt SD 122.6 5.6 6.6 5.1 2.4 7.9 2.0 1.7 9.9 nt Mean 195.3 6.7 1.15 2.25.4 9.9 3.6 7.9 3.7 9.9 * Mean 195.3 6.7 1.15 2.25.4 9.8 3.06 3.2 5.8 1.4 9.4 1.1 6.3 1.4 1.45 9.1 9.0 1.4 1.45 9.1 9.6 1.4 1.45 9.1 6.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3		Mean	1176	6.5	11.0	41.7	19.4	31.2	41.6	58.5		2.3	219.3
	ark	SD	1282.6	5.6	6.6	20.6	5.1	2.4	7.9	22.0		1.7	93.9
		Median	350	6.0	9.5	35.8	22.3	30.2	38.8	71.6		3.0	206.1
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Mean	1953.8	6.7	11.5	225.4	19.8	30.6	33.2	58.9		1.4	145.5
	0	SD	1883.7	7.1	7.2	221.5	4.8	4.2	11.7	14.4		0.7	91.3
		Median	1500	4.5	8.5	86.2	17.6	28.5	26.1	65.2		1.5	115.1
I SD 776 3.2 6.4 4.0 2.7 3.7 4.6 1.1 6.3 Median 20240 5.7 8.3 1348 7.7 8.4 1.12 6.6 1.11 6.3 Median 20240 5.7 8.3 1348 7.6 0.4 $9.4.5$ 1.1 6.3 Median 20240 7.3 1348 7.6 0.4 1.1 6.3 Median 20506 190 17.1 86.2 132 233 6.6 0.1 14.6 Median 21656 17.8 17.1 86.2 12.6 32.7 <		Mean	680.7	5.5	8.8	88.9	19.0	35.6	36.6	66.3		1.1	66.7
	H	SD	776.9	3.2	6.4	44.0	2.1	2.9	7.9	2.7		0.0	5.4
		Median	400	5.0	7.0	116.2	17.7	37.4	41.5	64.6		1.1	63.3
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Mean	2024.9	5.7	8.3	134.8	27.6	30.4	93.4	38.0		0.6	67.6
		SD	2080.1	7.3	4.3	107.3	5.4	0.6	113.2	24.3		0.3	48.7
		Median	1498	3.5	8.0	125.1	28.5	30.3	25.7	41.9		0.7	75.2
		Mean	2650.6	19.0	17.1	86.2	13.2	29.5	36.0	36.6		0.7	131.6
	etherlands	SD	1468.6	17.8	20.7	29.4	2.1	1.6	4.5	5.6		0.1	14.5
		Median	2810.5	14.0	9.0	98.7	12.8	28.7	35.5	39.2		0.7	132.5
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Mean	3176.5	12.3	17.8	141.4	20.6	35.7	25.1	47.9		0.7	33.6
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		SD	3290.1	12.2	7.1	75.2	5.6	3.8	4.6	12.1		0.4	21.5
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Median	2535.1	7.0	19.0	200.9	17.2	35.1	26.9	55.6		1.0	44.7
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Mean	1163.8	5.1	10.6	32.5	23.4	25.7	30.5	73.4		2.2	215.5
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	ч	SD	1534.6	4.6	7.3	11.7	3.3	2.1	1.1	6.9		1.2	102.5
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Median	350	4.0	8.0	36.4	22.4	24.9	30.4	75.1		2.8	229.0
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Mean	1477.7	5.3	10.4	59.6	17.8	33.6	53.6	73.5		1.2	391.3
	rland	SD	1983.8	5.7	4.7	3.7	3.7	3.7	8.2	0.0		0.4	81.3
		Median	930	3.6	13.0	59.9	15.9	35.0	55.7	73.5		1.0	432.3
Kingdom SD 1341.0 15.4 11.8 72.5 5.1 3.1 20.2 22.4 0.8 51.7 Median 1282.5 17.4 13.0 57.0 19.0 32.1 25.2 60.2 0.7 76.5		Mean	1566.9	20.3	16.6	80.2	18.1	33.0	33.0	56.5		1.0	83.5
Median 12825 174 13.0 57.0 19.0 32.1 25.2 60.2 0.7 76.5	l Kingdom	SD	1341.0	15.4	11.8	72.5	5.1	3.1	20.2	22.4		0.8	51.7
		Median	1282.5	17.4	13.0	57.0	19.0	32.1	25.2	60.2		0.7	76.5

Table 10. Descriptive statistics of independent variables by country

50

		HO	SP	OWNI	ERSHIP
		Institution has a	hospital	IP is owned by i companies (inve	nstitution or entor or other=0)
Country	Ν	Yes	Percent	Yes	Percent
Austria	8	2	25.0%	8	100.0%
Germany	64	10	15.6%	49	76.6%
Denmark	8	2	25.0%	7	87.5%
France	26	9	34.6%	12	46.2%
Ireland	10	2	20.0%	5	50.0%
Italy	21	2	9.5%	7	33.3%
The					
Netherlands	8	4	50.0%	8	100.0%
Spain	27	3	11.1%	12	44.4%
Sweden	9	1	11.1%	2	22.2%
Switzerland	12	2	16.7%	10	83.3%
United					
Kingdom	42	2	4.8%	8	19.0%

Table 11. Descriptive statistics of independent dummy variables by country

Note: disaggregating by type of institution is not possible to protect confidentiality of the respondents.

		Baseline - no other		Including				Relative
		independent		institutional		Including country		likelihood
		variables		variables ²		dummies (full model)		comparison ³
		Regional	Regional	Regional	Regional	Regional	Regional	exp((AICmin
Ν	AIC	variables1	dummies	variables1	dummies	variables1	dummies	- AICi)/2)
172	Research agreements	2130.6	2050.9	2059.2	2029.6	2029.0	2029.6	0.282
226	Patent applications	1709.9	1694.2	1577.9	1643.7	1583.4	1643.7	0.000
210	License agreements	1457.1	1358.1	1401.3	1334.3	1337.8	1334.3	0.0154
220	Start-ups	1169.4	1148.8	1102.0	1133.5	1069.6	1133.5	0.000
Ν	R-squared⁵							
172	Research agreements	0.0482	0.5107	0.1534	0.5525	0.2721	0.5525	
226	Patent applications	0.0289	0.4792	0.4517	0.7581	0.4681	0.7581	
210	License agreements	0.0507	0.7142	0.1782	0.7837	0.2668	0.7837	
220	Start-ups	0.0339	0.2784	0.1077	0.3003	0.1485	0.3003	

Table 12. Inclusion of regional level dummy variables

Notes: 1. Regional level variables: GDP_BIL_PPS, EMPL_INDUSTRY, EMPL_SERVICES, GDP_CAP, GDP_CAP2, BERD_GERD, BERD_GDP, PATENTS_REG. 2. Institutional level variables: NUMB_RES, KTO_SIZE, HOSP, UNIVERSITY, OWNERSHIP. 3. Based on Burnham and Anderson (2004) using the full model estimates. Interpretation for the value observed for research agreements; the regional dummy variable model is 0.282 times as probable to minimize information loss compared to the regional variable model. 4. AICmin is the AIC regional dummy value (for research agreements, patent applications and start-ups, AICmin is the AIC regional variables value). 5. Based on OLS regression.

References

Algieri, B., Aquino, A., and Succurro, M. (2013). Technology transfer offices and academic spin-off creation: the case of Italy. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *38*(4), 382-400.

Arundel, A., and Bordoy, C (2009). *Final results for the ASTP survey for Fiscal Year 2008, UNU-MERIT report to the ASTP.* Maastricht: UNU-MERIT.

Arundel, A., Es-Sadki, N., Barjak, F., Perrett, P., Samuel, O., and Lilischkis, S. (2013). Knowledge Transfer Study 2010 – 2012. Final Report to the European Commission, DG Research and Innovation.

Arvanitis, S., Ley, M. C., Seliger, F., Stucki, T., and Wörter, M. (2013). Innovationsaktivitäten in der Schweizer Wirtschaft - Eine Analyse der Ergebnisse der Innovationserhebung 2011 (Vol. 39). Zürich. Barjak, F., Es-Sadki, N., and Arundel, A. (2015). The effectiveness of policies for formal knowledge transfer from European universities and public research institutes to firms. *Research Evaluation*, *24*(1), 4-18.

Belenzon, S., and Schankerman, M. (2009). University Knowledge Transfer: Private Ownership, Incentives, and Local Development Objectives. *Journal of Law and Economics*, *52*, 111-144.

Bikard, M., & Marx, M. (2020). Bridging academia and industry: How geographic hubs connect university science and corporate technology. Management Science, 66(8), 3425-3443.

Breznitz, S. M., O'Shea, R. P., and Allen, T. J. (2008). University Commercialization Strategies in the Development of Regional Bioclusters. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 25(2), 129-142.

Burnham, K. P.; Anderson, D. R. (2004), "Multimodel inference: understanding AIC and BIC in Model Selection" (PDF), Sociological Methods and Research, 33: 261–304, doi:10.1177/0049124104268644

Carvalho, L., Madeira, M. J., Carvalho, J., Moura, D. C., & Duarte, F. P. (2018). Cooperation for innovation in the European Union: outlook and evidences using CIS for 15 European countries. Journal of the Knowledge Economy, 9, 506-525.

Chapple, W., Lockett, A., Siegel, D., and Wright, M. (2005). Assessing the relative performance of U.K. university technology transfer offices: parametric and non-parametric evidence. *Research Policy*, *34*(3), 369-384.

Conti, A., and Gaule, P. (2011). Is the US outperforming Europe in university technology licensing? A new perspective on the European Paradox. *Research Policy*, *40*(1), 123-135.

Debackere, K., & Veugelers, R. (2005). The role of academic technology transfer organizations in improving industry science links. Research policy, 34(3), 321-342.

Di Gregorio, D., and Shane, S. (2003). Why do some universities generate more start-ups than others? *Research Policy*, *32*(2), 209-227.

Dormann, C. F., Elith, J., Bacher, S., Buchmann, C., Carl, G., Carré, G., ... & Lautenbach, S. (2013). Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. Ecography, 36(1), 27-46.

Dornbusch, F., Kroll, H., and Schricke, E. (2012). Multiple dimensions of regionally-oriented university involvement: How motivation and opportunity prompt German researchers to engage in different ways *Working Papers firms and region, No. R6*/2012. Karlsruhe: Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI.

Drucker, J., and Goldstein, H. (2007). Assessing the Regional Economic Development Impacts of Universities: A Review of Current Approaches. *International Regional Science Review*, 30(1), 20-46.

European Commission, Directorate-General for Internal Market, Industry, Entrepreneurship and SMEs, Regional innovation scoreboard 2021 – , Publications Office, 2021, https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2873/674111

Eurostat. (2013). Eurostat regional yearbook 2013.

Fini, R., Grimaldi, R., Santoni, S., and Sobrero, M. (2011). Complements or substitutes? The role of universities and local context in supporting the creation of academic spin-offs. *Research Policy*, *40*(8), 1113-1127.

Friedman, J., and Silberman, J. (2003). University Technology Transfer: Do Incentives, Management, and Location Matter? *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *28*(1), 17-30.

Fromhold-Eisebith, M., and Werker, C. (2013). Universities' functions in knowledge transfer: a geographical perspective. *The Annals of Regional Science*, *51*(3), 621-643.

Geuna, A., and Rossi, F. (2011). Changes to university IPR regulations in Europe and the impact on academic patenting. *Research Policy*, 40(8), 1068-1076.

González-Pernía, J. L., Kuechle, G., and Peña-Legazkue, I. (2013). An Assessment of the Determinants of University Technology Transfer. *Economic Development Quarterly*, *27*(1), 6-17.

Hülsbeck, M., Lehmann, E. E., and Starnecker, A. (2013). Performance of technology transfer offices in Germany. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *38*(3), 199-215.

Jacobsson, S., Lindholm-Dahlstrand, Å., and Elg, L. (2013). Is the commercialization of European academic R&D weak? A critical assessment of a dominant belief and associated policy responses. *Research Policy*, 42(4), 874–885.

Lach, S., and Schankerman, M. (2008). Incentives and invention in universities. *The RAND Journal of Economics*, *39*(2), 403-433.

Link, A. N., and Siegel, D. S. (2005). Generating science-based growth: an econometric analysis of the impact of organizational incentives on university–industry technology transfer. *The European Journal of Finance*, *11*(3), 169-181.

Lissoni, F., Pezzoni, M., Potì, B., and Romagnosi, S. (2013). University autonomy, the professor privilege and academic patenting: Italy, 1996–2007. Industry and Innovation, 20(5), 399-421.

Lissoni, F., Llerena, P., McKelvey, M., and Sanditov, B. (2008). Academic patenting in Europe: new evidence from the KEINS database. *Research Evaluation*, *17*, 87-102.

O'Shea, R. P., Allen, T. J., Chevalier, A., and Roche, F. (2005). Entrepreneurial orientation, technology transfer and spinoff performance of U.S. universities. *Research Policy*, *34*(7), 994-1009.

Power, D., and Malmberg, A. (2008). The contribution of universities to innovation and economic development: in what sense a regional problem? *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society, 1*(2), 233-245.

Siegel, D. S., Waldman, D., and Link, A. (2003). Assessing the impact of organizational practices on the relative productivity of university technology transfer offices: an exploratory study. *Research Policy*, *32*(1), 27-48.

Sine, W. D., Shane, S., and Di Gregorio, D. (2003). The Halo Effect and technology licensing: the influence of institutional prestige on the licensing of university inventions. *Management Science*, *49*(4), 478-496.

Steenbergen, M. R., and Jones, B. S. (2002). Modeling multilevel data structures. american Journal of political Science, 218-237.

Uyarra, E. (2010). Conceptualizing the Regional Roles of Universities, Implications and Contradictions. *European Planning Studies*, *18*(8), 1227-1246.

Valentin, F., and Jensen, R. (2007). Effects on academia-industry collaboration of extending university property rights. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 32(3), 251-276.

Van Looy, B., Landoni, P., Callaert, J., van Pottelsberghe, B., Sapsalis, E., and Debackere, K. (2011). Entrepreneurial effectiveness of European universities: An empirical assessment of antecedents and trade-offs. *Research Policy*, 40(4), 553-564.

Warren, A., Hanke, R., and Trotzer, D. (2008). Models for university technology transfer: resolving conflicts between mission and methods and the dependency on geographic location. *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society*, 1(2), 219-232.

Wright, M., Clarysse, B., Lockett, A., and Knockaert, M. (2008). Mid-range universities' linkages with industry: Knowledge types and the role of intermediaries. *Research Policy*, *37*(8), 1205-1223.

Chapter 3 The Influence of Regional Supply, Demand and Competition Factors on the Knowledge Transfer Outcomes of Universities

Abstract: In the regional context, two key factors can influence knowledge transfer. First, the level of regional demand from firms for knowledge produced by universities located in the same region, and secondly the supply from universities of knowledge with potential commercial applications. In this chapter⁶ we examine these and other factors on three measures of university technology transfer outcomes. We contribute to the literature by examining if competition from high quality research produced by other universities affects all focal universities equally, or if the effect of competition is moderated by the research quality of the focal university. The results show that top-ranked universities perform significantly better compared to nontop-ranked universities on licensing. In addition, competition from qualityweighted universities in the same region as the focal university decreases the number of research and licensing agreements, although the highest-ranked 13.4% of universities benefit from the regional co-location of other high quality universities for licensing. These results suggest that universities compete with top-ranked universities for regional demand for knowledge particularly in regions with a high-density of highest-ranked universities.

⁶ This chapter draws on a paper published in International Journal of Innovation Management, Vol. 25, No. 07, 2150078 (2021). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1142/S136391962150078X</u>. The paper is written together with Anthony Arundel of UNU-MERIT, Maastricht University. Some additional analysis has been conducted after the publication. This has led to some changes in the text of the results and discussion section and in the conclusions as compared to the publication.
1. Introduction

Universities can transfer knowledge to firms located anywhere within the world, but research has consistently established that many channels of knowledge transfer are influenced by the university's regional environment (Kempton 2019). This suggests that a significant proportion of university knowledge transfer is influenced by the benefits of proximity between universities and the potential users of university-produced knowledge (Mansfield 1998; Arundel and Geuna 2004). Proximity is often measured through the co-location of firms and universities in the same region.

In the regional context, two key factors can influence knowledge transfer. The first is the level of regional demand from firms for knowledge produced by universities located in the same region, which is often estimated from business expenditures on R&D or the share of economic activity in sectors with close links to science (Chapple et al. 2005). The second factor is the supply from universities of knowledge with potential commercial applications (Garcia-Alvarez-Coque et al. 2019). This quality characteristic of knowledge is likely to be an important supply factor (O'Shea et al. 2005; Sine et al. 2003), as well the effectiveness of knowledge transfer offices in raising firm awareness of the types of knowledge that are available (Colyvas et al. 2002).

Knowledge transfer takes place in different channels of interaction between universities and other actors. The classic channels of knowledge transfer include publishing, teaching, conferencing etc. (Holgersson and Aaboen 2019; Bradley et al. 2013). This chapter focusses on other transfer channels that have gained increasing interest from in particular policy such as patenting, licensing, start-ups, consultancy and collaborative research as it can lead to commercial beneficial results for universities (Miller et al. 2018).

We add to the existing literature on regional influences on knowledge transfer by extending research on demand and supply factors. First, in addition to using the share of employment in technology-intensive manufacturing industries as a measure of demand, as a contribution to the literature we include the regional employment share of knowledge intensive services (KIS). Firms active in KIS draw on knowledge from universities, although at a lower rate than manufacturing firms (Horváth and Berbegal-Mirabent 2020; Fernandes and Ferreira (2013).

Second, the importance of demand and supply at the regional level could create conditions where universities are in competition with other universities and with research institutes for business demand for their knowledge or expertise. In contrast to most research to date on knowledge transfer from research institutes, we evaluate the effect of competition from universities and research institutes separately, since they play different roles in knowledge production (Kergroach et al. 2018).

Third, we contribute to the literature by examining if competition from high quality research produced by other universities affects all focal universities equally, or if the influence of competition is moderated by the research quality of the focal university. Instead of reducing knowledge transfer, competition could have a positive influence on knowledge transfer if it leads to knowledge spillovers between top-ranked universities, or from signalling a cluster of regional expertise.

Fourth, we contribute to the literature by evaluating the moderating effect of location in a metropolitan region on the effect of the quality of the focal university on knowledge transfer outcomes.

We expect the influence of the regional supply of knowledge, regional demand, and competition to vary among three methods for transferring knowledge from universities to firms: research agreements between the university and firms, the licensing of knowledge, and the establishment of start-ups. For example, universities could face a high level of competition from other universities for research agreements with regional firms. Conversely, license income could be less affected by regional demand if derived from licenses for knowledge with a global market.

We evaluate the effect of regional demand, supply and competition on knowledge transfer by using data for up to 292 focal universities in selected European countries, plus data for all non-focal universities and research institutes located in the same region. The analyses use the ARWU international rankings for universities to control for the research quality of focal and non-focal universities.

The analyses find that the share of regional employment in KIS is only positively correlated with the number of start-ups. Quality-weighted competition from other universities in the same region has no effect on the number of start-ups, a negative effect on the number of research agreements and license agreements, and a positive effect on license income for top-ranked focal universities only. Competition from research institutes is only correlated with license income. Location in a metropolitan region has a large negative effect on the license income of top-ranked universities.

This chapter is structured as follows. Section 2 discusses the literature on regional supply and demand for university-industry transfers and the type of university knowledge transfer activities. Section 3 describes the methodology and the data used in our analysis which is followed by a discussion of the results in Section 4. Section 5 concludes the chapter.

2. Regional supply and demand

Research on the geography of university-industry relationships commonly finds that firms and production systems benefit from the regional concentration of university research and business innovation activities (Trippl et al. 2015; Brescia et al. 2014; Audretsch et al. 2012; Arundel and Guena 2004; Sine et al. 2003).

On the supply side, knowledge transfer is supported by the quality and commercial potential of knowledge produced by universities (Di Gregorio and Shane 2003; Grimpe and Fier 2010; Perkman et al. 2013, O'Shea et al. 2005). Public research institutes are an alternative source of knowledge that play an important role in many countries in the supply of applied and experimental development research, with universities tending to focus on basic research and to a lesser extent, compared to research institutes, on applied research (Bozeman 2000; Kergroach et al. 2018; Arundel et al. 2021).

It can be difficult for firms to assess the quality and relevance of knowledge produced by different organizations, particularly if much of the knowledge is tacit. Consequently, firms could partly rely on positive or negative perceptions of the university that act as a signal for the quality of its outputs (Podolny 1993; Shenkar and Yuchtman-Yaar 1997). A common signal of quality is a university's position on domestic or international rankings based on academic output (Dill and Soo 2005). Internationally comparable rankings are not available, however, for research institutes.

Regional demand for knowledge has been estimated through data on the industrial structure or technological intensity of the regional economy, the research intensity of the regional economy, and regional income. Several estimates for regional demand are positively correlated with the knowledge transfer outcomes of universities, such as the regional population size, per capita income, gross regional product (GRP), and the share of employment in high technology manufacturing sectors (Belenzon and Schankerman 2009; Friedman and Silberman 2003; González-Pernía et al. 2013; Lach and Schankerman 2008; Conti and Gaule 2011). American universities located in high-technology regions report more licenses and more license income compared to universities located in low technology regions. However, the effect of the regional technological intensity on the number of start-ups is inconclusive (Friedman and Silberman 2003; O'Shea et al. 2005).

A growing stream of research has begun to explore the innovation collaboration patterns of services firms, and knowledge intensive (business) service (KIS) firms in particular (Lee and Miozzo 2019). Services firms are nevertheless very diverse, and it is therefore difficult to generalize their collaboration patterns (Lee and Miozzo 2019). Barjak and Es-Sadki (2015) found that the regional employment share in all service sectors (NACE G – L) had no effect on the number of research or license agreements, but a significant negative effect on the number of start-ups. Some contributions focussing on knowledge intensive services argue that service firms regard universities as a less important source of innovation when compared to manufacturing firms (Rodriguez et al. 2017), yet others argue the contrary (Johnston and Huggins 2019 and Mina et al. 2014).

KIS is a subset of the service sector that could have greater demand for university knowledge than other service sectors. KIS rely on professional knowledge and provide support for the business processes of other organisations. As a result, the employment structures of KIS firms are heavily weighted towards scientists, engineers, and other experts. An important feature that distinguishes KIS from manufacturing is the type of product they supply. Whereas manufactured products and processes contain a high degree of codified knowledge, knowledge-intensive services are characterized by a high degree of tacit knowledge (Windrum and Tomlinson 1999) that requires little formal R&D, with knowledge derived from 'development on-the-job', skills and creativity (Schricke et al. 2012). Horváth and Berbegal-Mirabent (2020) find that the regional formation rate of new KIS firms is positively correlated with the regional concentration of universities, which could be due to KIS firms benefiting from access to the tacit knowledge of academics. Similarly, research has found that proximity has a positive influence on the probability of research collaboration between KIS firms and universities (Johnston and Huggins 2019, Fernandes and Ferreira 2013). Additionally other research (Lee and Miozzo 2019, Johnston and Huggins 2016) found that KIS firms are active collaborators with universities for innovation.

In addition to economic factors such as higher per capita incomes and a concentration of firms, metropolitan regions share other characteristics that differentiate them from other regions, such as regional or national government ministries, firm head offices, a diversity of cultural institutions, good travel links, and demographic diversity. These characteristics could improve both the supply and demand for high quality knowledge by helping to attract and retain leading researchers to both universities and businesses (Florida 2002).

In so far as knowledge transfer is influenced by the regional supply and demand for knowledge, universities in regions with a large number of other universities or research institutes could face a higher degree of competition for the supply of knowledge than universities located in regions with a small number of universities or research institutes. Sine et al. (2003) examined the effect of competition between universities located in the same region on knowledge transfer. They found that competition, measured by the number of AUTM universities in a region (a quality measure since AUTM universities)

are leading research universities), reduces the number of licenses obtained by each university.

Types of knowledge transfer

Universities can transfer knowledge through open science methods such as publishing research results (Cohen et al. 2000) and through contractual methods such as consulting, research agreements, licensing, and establishing start-ups (Kempton 2019), an excellent literature review on technology transfer methods is covered in Bradley et al. (2013). Which method to use could vary depending on regional factors such as the peripheral or metropolitan location of the university and the quality of research conducted by the university (Hewitt-Dundas 2012; Belenzon and Schankerman 2009).

Contractual knowledge transfer methods can be divided into two main classes: knowledge-driven, where knowledge is created by researchers with little or no input from firms, and partner-driven, where the requirements of business partners influences the type of knowledge that is created (Kempton 2019; Perkmann et al. 2013). Knowledge-led methods include start-ups, while partner-led methods include consulting and research agreements. Licensing can transfer knowledge created by either knowledge- or partner-led research activities.

The knowledge output of research agreements can be transferred through reports and prototypes, or through the assignment of intellectual property rights to the firm that funded the research. The number of research agreements within a region depends on the number of firms with sufficient funds and interest to enter into an agreement and the number of universities and research institutes with expertise in the types of knowledge sought by firms. At the regional level, this could result in inter-university competition, with an increase in the number of universities and research institutes with relevant expertise in a region reducing the average number of research agreements per university.

There is less reason to expect the number of start-ups to be influenced by competition from other universities in a focal university's region because start-ups usually result from knowledge-led research. The establishment of a start-up is therefore led by university staff and supported by university policies to provide seed capital or incubators and government policies to subsidise start-up creation, a common policy target in Europe (Muscio et al. 2015; Munari et al. 2015). Regional economic opportunities within a region, such as a high share of skilled employment and consumer or business markets could also influence start-up creation by providing a pool of talent and potential customers. Additionally, the (regional) availability of venture capital has found to be a positive predictor of university start-ups in several studies (Padilla-Meléndez et al. 2021; Huynh 2016; Powers and McDougall 2005).

The relationship between regional competition for university knowledge and licensing is likely to be more complicated in comparison to research agreements or start-ups because licensing can follow partner-led research agreements and therefore be negatively affected by regional competition or follow knowledge-led research that could face very few or no regional competitors. For example, the effect of regional competition would be mitigated if the university's intellectual property attracts the attention of firms located outside the region. Consequently, regional competition could have a smaller effect on the number of licenses than on the number of research agreements. In addition, license income could be largely unaffected by regional competition if skewed by a small number of very valuable licenses that earn income from geographically dispersed licensees (as for many enabling technologies) or attract interest from firms outside the region.

These expected effects could differ for leading research universities facing high quality competition. In this case, the effect of competition in reducing knowledge transfer could be eliminated if there are benefits due to knowledge spillovers from other leading universities located in the same region. Positive influence is more likely for the number of license agreements and license income. Similarly, leading universities located in a metropolitan region that attracts highly skilled labour and the head offices of firms could benefit from greater demand for advanced knowledge that requires additional research to develop into commercially viable products or processes. This type of knowledge is likely to be transferred through licenses, such that we would expect a positive effect on the number of licenses and license income. Conversely, researchers at universities in peripheral regions could be more active in research agreements (Zhang et al. 2016), resulting in a negative effect of location in a metropolitan region on this form of knowledge transfer.

Finally, we expect the effect of KIS firms on knowledge transfer to also vary by the type of knowledge transfer. The importance of tacit knowledge for KIS firms could create a positive demand for research agreements, where knowledge is often transferred in face-to-face meetings, but have no effect on licensing. The benefits to KIS firms of knowledge produced by universities could also have a positive effect on start-ups (Horváth and Berbegal-Mirabent 2020).

Table 1 summarizes the expected effect of regional inter-university competition, metropolitan location, and KIS firms on the three types of knowledge transfer outcomes.

		Licens	ing	
Variable of interest	Number of Research agreements	Number of License agreements	License income	Number of Start- ups
Quality measure of the focal university (UNI-TOP or UNI_RANK)	Positive	Positive	Positive	_1
Quality competition from other universities (QUALCOMP)	Negative	Negative	No effect	No effect
Location in a metropolitan region (METROP)	Negative	Positive	Positive	_1
KIS share of regional employment	Positive	No effect	No effect	Positive
Moderating effect of quality of the focal university on the effect of quality of competition from other universities (UNI_RANK by QUALCOMP)	Positive	Positive	Positive	No effect
Moderating effect of metropolitan area on the effect of quality of the focal university (METROP by UNI_TOP)	Negative	Positive	Positive	No effect

Table 1. Predicted relationship with knowledge transfer outcomes

Bold: Stronger effect expected than for other knowledge transfer methods. 1: No prediction made.

3. Methodology

3.1 Data sources

Data for 2013 were obtained from three surveys of university Knowledge Transfer Offices (KTOs) conducted in 2014 by UNU-MERIT, ASTP, and HEFCE. All of the surveyed universities are research active and have a designated KTO for knowledge transfer activities. The UNU-MERIT survey covered universities in Austria, Denmark, Finland, the Netherlands, Norway and Sweden. The HEFCE (Higher Education Funding Council for England) survey provides data for the UK.⁷ The survey of ten other European countries was a collaborative endeavour between UNU-MERIT and ASTP, a pan-European association for knowledge transfer professionals, with the ASTPaffiliated national associations RedOTRI and Netval collecting the data for Spain and Italy. Data collection methods vary between the three surveys due to minor differences in question sequences and wording, which could affect the comparability of the data.⁸ However, this is likely to be a minor issue, since all of the universities collect similar data (usually by the KTO) for their internal use. Of note, no data are available for France and Germany.

The three surveys collected data on the characteristics of each KTO (number of employees, age, etc.), the KTO's affiliated university (number of researchers and presence of a hospital), and knowledge transfer activities and outcomes.

Forty-four universities with incomplete data for three control variables (number of research staff, number of KTO employees, and the KTO age) are excluded from all analyses. After exclusions, data are available for up to 292 universities in 17 countries. Table 2 provides the number of universities included in the analyses by country, with regional coverage best for the UK, Spain, Italy, the Nordic countries, the Netherlands and Belgium.

⁷ The UK results are for the 2013/2014 fiscal year instead of the 2013 calendar year, but any bias from differences in the year should be minor.

⁸ A copy of each survey can be provided on request.

					ARWU top 50	0
	Universi	ties in	NUTS-2 reg	ions in the	universities i	n the
	the analy	yses	analyses		analyses	
			Total			
			NUTS-2		Total	
			regions		ARWU	
		Percent	with a	Percent	ranked	Percent
Country	Number	total	university	covered	universities	included
UK	98	33.6%	36	91.7%	37	97.3%
Spain	59	20.2%	17	100.0%	10	100.0%
Italy	57	19.5%	20	100.0%	19	89.5%
Sweden	13	4.5%	8	75.0%	11	72.7%
Austria	12	4.1%	6	83.3%	7	100%
Netherlands	10	3.4%	8	87.5%	12	83.3%
Norway	10	3.4%	5	100.0%	4	100.0%
Finland	8	2.7%	3	100.0%	5	60.0%
Denmark	7	2.4%	5	100.0%	4	100.0%
Belgium	6	2.1%	8	62.5%	7	57.1%
Ireland	4	1.4%	2	50.0%	3	33.3%
Switzerland	2	0.7%	7	14.3%	7	14.3%
Portugal	2	0.7%	7	28.6%	4	25.0%
Bulgaria	1	0.3%	6	16.7%	0	-
Estonia	1	0.3%	1	100.0%	0	-
Hungary	1	0.3%	7	14.3%	2	0.0%
Slovenia	1	0.3%	2	50.0%	1	0.0%
Total	292	100%	164	77.7%	133	79.9%

Table 2. Distribution of universities included in the analyses by country,NUTS-2 region and ARWU status

Note: Not all NUTS-2 regions have a university in their region.

Two types of data are available for universities. Survey and other data on KTO and university characteristics, university quality, and knowledge transfer outcomes are available for up to 292 *focal* universities. In addition, data on university quality are available from non-survey sources for *all* non-focal universities located in the same region as the focal university.

Regional-level data at the NUTS-2 (Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics) level were added for all regions with one or more focal universities. Table 2 lists the number of NUTS-2 regions with a university in each country and the percentage included in our database. In total, the 17 countries have

148 NUTS-2 regions with a university, of which 115 regions (77.7%) are covered in this study. No data are available for the remaining 23% of NUTS-2 regions.

3.2 Dependent Variables

Four dependent variables measure outcomes from the transfer of knowledge to firms: the number of research agreements, the number of licenses, the amount of license income, and the number of start-ups established. Start-ups include spin-offs that are established by university staff and firms established by individuals that are not employed by the university. We do not use the number of patent applications or grants because they are measures of inventions instead of the transfer of knowledge from universities to firms.

The four outcomes are based on the awareness of KTO managers of the transfer of knowledge owned by the university and commercialised by their office. This will underestimate knowledge transfer if intellectual property rights are owned by the inventor and not handled by the university's KTO (Lissoni et al. 2008). Consequently, the results of this study only apply to knowledge transfer via the KTO. A sub-sample of our dataset, for 167 universities for which we have information on IP ownership, indicates that only 9% of respondents report that their university does not own the IP rights. Swedish universities account for 80% of these cases, due to a 'professors privilege law' (Tripp et al. 2015).

Table 3 provides the number of universities with data for each dependent variable. Data on the number of research agreements and the amount of licence income are available for 207 (70.9%) universities, while data on the number of start-ups and license agreements are available, respectively, for 284 (97.3%) and 267 (91.4%) of the 292 universities in our sample. The amount of license income is underreported because the KTO respondents are not always willing or allowed to share this information, even when full confidentiality is provided. Data on the number of research agreements are not available for all universities, possibly because these agreements are handled at the faculty level instead of by the KTO (Barjak et al. 2015).

					Percent universities
	\mathbb{N}^1	Mean	Median	SD	reporting outcome ¹
Number of research agreements	207	164.2	69	240.2	70.9%
Number of license agreements	267	14.5	3	34.1	91.4%
License income (million Euros) ²	207	0.70	0.02	5.1	70.9%
Number of start-ups established	284	2.7	1	5.4	97.3%

Table 3. Descriptive statistics for dependent variables

Notes: 1. Includes zero outcomes. 2. In Euros for all countries, including countries that do not use the Euro.

3.3 Independent variables

To determine if the focal university faces competition for knowledge from other universities in the same region, it is essential to capture the quality of the research produced by both the focal university and by potential university competitors. Otherwise, an observed effect (or lack of an effect) from competition could be caused by differences in research quality.

We construct two variables for the quality of the focal university, UNI_TOP and UNI_RANK, using data from the Academic Ranking of World Universities (ARWU). ARWU data are also used to calculate a measure of quality competition for all other universities located in the same region as the focal university. The ARWU uses six indicators to rank research performance: 1) the number of alumni winning Nobel Prizes and Fields Medals, 2) the number of staff winning Nobel Prizes and Fields Medals, 3) the number of highly cited researchers, 4) the number of articles published in the journals *Nature* and *Science*, 5) the number of articles indexed in the Science Citation Index-expanded and the Social Sciences Citation Index, and 6) the per capita performance of an institution. The ARWU ranks more than 1,200 universities every year and publishes data for the best 500 (Liu and Cheng 2005).

There are several other global rankings of universities, including the Quacquarelli Symonds World University Ranking (QS) and the Times Higher Education World University Ranking (THE). All of these rankings are highly correlated (Shehatta and Mahmood 2016, Dill and Soo 2005). Aguillo et al. (2010) compared university rankings using similarity measures and found

that each ranking is similar to other rankings. Aguillo et al. (2010) also find that similarities are increased when the comparison is limited to European universities. The ARWU is used here because it is a valid and realistic ranking system (Marginson and van der Wende 2007) and a good indicator of university excellence (Taylor and Braddock 2007).

The binary variable UNI_TOP determines if each focal university (see Table 4) is included in the top 500 universities in the 2013 ARWU rankings (coded as 1 if the university is in the top 500 ARWU and 0 otherwise). The ordinal variable UNI_RANK equals 3 if the university is in the top 200 in the ARWU ranking, 2 when the university receives an ARWU ranking of 201 to 300, 1 if the ARWU ranking is between 301 and 500, and zero otherwise (unranked by the ARWU). In total, there are 133 European universities in the ARWU top 500 in the 17 countries covered by this study, of which 101 (79.7%) are focal universities in our database (see Table 2).

Competition from other Universities and Research Institutes in the same region

Potential competition from other universities and research institutes is measured using data for research-active universities in the same NUTS-2 region as the focal university. With the exception of Denmark and a few universities in Belgium and Spain, relevant data on research-active universities in the same region as the focal university were obtained from the EUMIDA European University Data Collection database.⁹ Data for universities that were not available from EUMIDA were collected manually.

The quality of university competition variable, QUALCOMP, is constructed in two steps. The first step counts the number of faculties, of the same type as the faculties of the focal university, in three fields where knowledge transfer is likely: sciences, engineering and health. Take for example university A in region R. University A has faculties in sciences and health. In region R there are two other universities, of which university B has a health faculty and university C has faculties in health, sciences and engineering. The number of competing faculties for university A equals three because there are two other health faculties and one other science faculty in the same region.

⁹ This work is now continued in the RISER-ETER project.

The second step uses the ARWU rankings to weight the quality of the competing faculties in the same region as the focal university, using 5 ranks (5 = top 100, 4 = 101 to 200, 3 = 201 to 300, 2 = 301 to 400, 1 = 401 to 500). A hypothetical example is provided for university A. University B has an ARWU rank of 2 and university C has an ARWU rank of 5. University B's degree of quality competition is measured as two (one health faculty multiplied by the university ranking 2) and university C's degree of quality competition equals ten: two faculties (science and health) multiplied by 5. QUALCOMP for university A therefore equals 12. Seventy-five focal universities face zero ranked universities in the same region but face one or more comparable faculties in unranked universities. For these, QUALCOMP is assigned a value of 1. Finally, QUALCOMP is assigned a value of zero for 40 universities in regions with no other universities with comparable faculties.

The effect of QUALCOMP could vary by the quality of research conducted by the focal university. This is tested by an interaction term between QUALCOMP and UNI_RANK. For instance, the knowledge transfer activities of high quality focal universities could benefit from high quality competition due to either spillover effects for knowledge or a cluster of high quality universities attracting greater attention from firms, including firms located outside the region. Conversely, the knowledge transfer activities of lower quality focal universities could be reduced in the presence of high quality competitors in the same region.

Research institutes in each region with a focal university were identified from the EUMIDA database, national research councils, national academies of sciences, and organisations that fund or coordinate national research. Most of the research institutes are publicly funded, but we also included private research institutes that are likely to be active in knowledge transfer. As there is no internationally comparable ranking system for research institutes, the variable RICOMP equals the number of comparable science, health and engineering divisions within research institutes located in the same region as the focal university.

KIS and metropolitan region

Other regional variables of interest measure KIS activity and location in a metropolitan region. The variable EMPSHARE_KIS equals the share of employees in each region that are employed in knowledge intensive services.¹⁰ The variable METROP equals 1 if the focal university's region has a population above 5 million people, or at least 20% of the country's total population, and zero otherwise. We use METROP instead of only relying on the regional population because METROP includes national urban centres in small countries and regional urban centres in large countries. An interaction term between the two binary variables METROP and UNI_TOP is used to determine if location in a metropolitan region moderates the effect of high quality focal universities on knowledge transfer.

3.4 Control variables

Control variables are included for the characteristics of the university, the university's KTO, and the region that could influence knowledge transfer outcomes.

Relevant characteristics of the university include the presence of a medical hospital (HOSP), and if the university is a technical university (TECH). The presence of a hospital has been found to increase knowledge transfer outcomes in Europe (Barjak and Es-Sadki 2015; Berbegal-Mirabent and Sabate 2015), although other research in Europe (Conti and Gaule 2011) and the US (Friedman and Silberman 2003) has found no effect. Technical universities focus on applied knowledge of commercial value and could therefore produce more knowledge transfer than non-technical universities. Both HOSP and TECH are dummy variables that equal 1 when the characteristic is present and 0 otherwise.

The control variables for the KTO are the number of employees (KTO_SIZE) and KTO age (KTO_AGE). KTO_SIZE increases the human resources available to identify and commercialize knowledge, while KTO_AGE is a measure of experience in knowledge transfer activities (Cesaroni and

¹⁰ The relevant NACE Rev. 2 industry categories for KIS are provided by Eurostat: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/cache/metadata/Annexes/htec_esms_an3.pdf</u>

Piccaluga 2016; Conti and Gaule 2011; Curi et al. 2012). Both variables could increase the effectiveness of activities to promote university discoveries to firms (Friedman and Silberman 2003; Siegel et al. 2003).

Five of the six variables used to construct the ARWU rankings are affected by the size of the university, with larger universities with more research staff likely to out-perform smaller universities in the creation of knowledge. This size effect is controlled by a variable for the number of researchers at each university (NUMB_RES).

Variables to control for regional demand for university knowledge are the size of the regional population (POPULATION) and the per capita gross regional product (PER_CAP_GRP). Both are measures of potential demand for goods and services. Universities in wealthier regions are known to have more knowledge transfer outcomes than universities in poorer regions (Belenzon and Schankerman 2009; Friedman and Silberman 2003; González-Pernía et al. 2013; Lach and Schankerman 2008; Conti and Gaule 2011). We do not include a measure for venture capital for start-ups due to a lack of data at the regional level.

Common methods for measuring regional business demand use regional R&D, including regional R&D intensity (Chapple et al. 2005), the number of R&D staff in a region (Algieri et al. 2013), and regional business expenditures on R&D (Van Looy et al. 2011; Link and Siegel 2005). We do not use measures of R&D because of concerns that it underestimates regional R&D, as when R&D by a regional subsidiary is assigned to the head office. Instead, we use the share of regional employment in high and medium-high technology manufacturing (EMPSHARE_HMHT) (Belenzon and Schankerman 2009), which also matches our independent variable for the KIS sector. On average, 85% of R&D expenditure in EU manufacturing is accounted for by high and medium-high technology manufacturing industries. Data for these three variables at the NUTS 2 level are obtained from Eurostat.¹¹ Descriptive statistics for the independent and control variables are given in Table 4.

¹¹ Eurostat, Business enterprise R&D expenditure in high-tech sectors - NACE Rev. 2 [htec_sti_exp2].

Control variables for the focal KTO and university	Mean	Median	SD
NUMB_RES*: Number of researchers in FTE	1,614.2	1,197.5	1,480.5
KTO_SIZE*: KTO staff in FTE	17.5	8.0	20.7
KTO_AGE* : age of KTO in years	15.0	13.0	8.6
HOSP: University has a hospital (1), other (0)	.223		
TECH: University is a technical university (1), other (0)	.086		
Control variables for the region	Mean	Median	SD
POPULATION* : Regional population (1,000,000)	3.2	2.1	2.6
PER_CAP_GRP* : Gross regional product per capita € (1,000)	29.1	28.2	8.8
EMPSHARE_HMHT: Employment share in high and medium high-technology manufacturing	4.2	3.7	2.2
Control variable for quality of the focal university	Number	Percent ¹	
UNI_TOP: University in top 500 (1), other (0)	101	34.6%	
UNI_RANK: Rank of university in top 500			
 Top 200 (UNI_RANK = 3) 	39	13.4%	
 Top 201-300 (UNI_RANK = 2) 	29	9.9%	
 Top 301- 500 (UNI_RANK = 1) 	33	11.3%	
 Unranked (not in top 500) (UNI_RANK = 0) 	191	65.4%	
Regional variables of interest	Mean	Median	SD
EMPSHARE_KIS : Employment share in Knowledge-intensive services	42.5	43.6	8.7
RICOMP: Number of competing research institutes in the same region as the focal university.	3.9	1.0	6.3
Quality of regional competition	Mean	Median	SD
QUALCOMP : Number of quality-weighted university science, engineering and health faculties of the same type and in the same region as the focal university	9.0	6.0	11.7
	Number	Percent ¹	
METROP: Focal university is located in a high population region (1), other (0)	96	32.9%	

Table 4. Descriptive statistics for independent variables

* Statistics are before logarithmic transformation. 1: Percent of 292 universities.

3.5 Analytical Methods

Table 5 provides a correlation table for all independent variables. Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) were calculated for all models to test for multicollinearity. All VIFs are less than 4, below the cut-off point of 5 (O'Brien 2007). Each regression result includes the AIC value (Akaike Information Criterion), a goodness-of-fit measure in which smaller values are preferable.

Three of the four dependent variables are measured as counts: the number of license agreements, start-ups and research agreements. In line with other research, we use the negative binomial model for count data (Barjak et al. 2014; Sine et al. 2003). GLM (identity link) is used for the analyses of license income as it is a continuous variable.

As the data feature a hierarchical structure at multiple levels, the results in Tables 6 and 7 use a multilevel negative binomial model, nesting universitylevel data (level 1) into regional-level data (level 2) into country-level data (level 3). Universities in the same region and in the same country are likely more similar or related to each other in comparison to those selected randomly. Since there is unobserved heterogeneity amongst different regions or countries, running a normal regression would violate the independence of observations criteria as unobserved heterogeneity would go into the error term. Unobserved heterogeneity would make the error terms non-independent. For instance, predicted error terms for universities in the same region would be more similar to one another than error terms between two universities from different regions. In such cases the standard errors will be biased.

Multilevel modelling accounts for these interdependencies by capturing residuals at different levels. Baseline regressions without controlling for the multilevel were also conducted and provided in the appendix (Tables 8 and 9), key results do not differ with the multilevel regressions.

Tables 6 and 7 show the random intercept models. The random effect is necessary as the variance coefficients in all the models are non-zero for both the regional and country level variance components. This is evidence that there is variation across regions and countries above and beyond the difference in the fixed effects. The strongest evidence that supports this choice are the Likelihood Ratio tests. For all models these are significant compared to the baseline models (Tables 8 and 9) and hence support the choice of controlling for random effects. The results thus show that universities in the same region are significantly more homogeneous than universities in two different regions. The same analogy holds for countries; universities in the same country are significantly more homogeneous than universities in two different countries. As expected, the residual level variance component at the university level is also non-zero, thus individual characteristics of a university affects university level outcomes. This is also known as the within effect.

Additional statistical analysis has been performed to see if random slopes would improve model fit. Estimated variances of the random slopes tested for research agreements and license agreements are very small and close to zero. None of the models using random slopes has resulted in finding an improved fit based on the Likelihood Ratio test or AIC values. See Table 10 in the appendix for the results. The results show that there is no evidence found that region or country level heterogeneity varies across university level predictors.

The regressions use natural logarithmic transformations of the interval variables NUMB_RES, KTO_SIZE, KTO_AGE, POPULATION and PER_CAP_GRP to reduce the effects of outliers on the results. QUALCOMP is not transformed because it equals zero for some focal universities. License income, heavily skewed due to outliers has been transformed with a square root transformation and divided by 1,000 for reporting reasons.

Due to the cross-sectional nature of the data, it is not possible to identify cause and effect, for example if university quality drives knowledge transfer performance or if regional characteristics drives knowledge transfer performance. We therefore refer to correlations or relations in describing our results.

	NUMB RE	S KTO SIZE	•		KTO AGE	PER CAP	POPULAT-	EMPSHA- I	EMPSHA-		INI	INN	RI	QUAL
	(log)	(log)	HOSP	TECH	(log)	GRP (log)	ION (log)	RE_HMHT 1	RE_KIS	METROP	TOP	RANK	COMP	COMP
NUMB_RES (log)	1													
KTO_SIZE (log)	0.482***	1												
HOSP	0.314^{***}	0.303***	1											
TECH	0.061	0.016	-0.134**	1										
KTO_AGE (log)	0.327***	0.480^{***}	0.13**	-0.068	1									
PER_CAP_GRP (log)	0.116^{**}	-0.071	0.156***	0.102*	-0.126**	1								
POPULATION (log)	0.030	0.059	-0.176***	-0.059	0.071	0.109^{*}	1							
EMPSHARE_HMHT	-0.130**	-0.152***	-0.145**	0.032	-0.112*	-0.029	-0.040	1						
EMPSHARE_KIS	0.195***	0.271***	0.277***	0.042	0.027	0.534***	0.007	-0.438***	1					
METROP	0.024	-0.120**	-0.129**	0.072	-0.083	0.356***	0.572***	-0.102*	0.202***	1				
UNI_TOP	0.604^{***}	0.248***	0.442***	0.061	0.065	0.244***	-0.033	0.037	0.147**	0.028	1			
UNI_RANK	0.614^{***}	0.297***	0.547***	0.00	0.042	0.271***	-0.044	-0.037	0.227***	0.031	0.896***	1		
RICOMP	0.132**	0.033	-0.079	0.006	0.126**	0.345***	0.483***	-0.066	0.216***	0.574***	0.048	0.065	1	
QUALCOMP	0.023	0.118^{**}	-0.050	-0.063	0.043	0.486***	0.485***	-0.148***	0.443***	0.399***	-0.091*	-0.068	0.418***	1
* = p <.10, ** = J	o <.05, *** =	: p<.01												

Table 5. Correlation results for independent variables

78

4. Results and discussion

The regression results for each knowledge transfer outcome, with and without the interaction terms, are presented in two tables. Table 6 includes the variables METROP and UNI_TOP and their interaction term to analyse the influence of being top ranked and/or located in a metropolitan region. Table 7 includes UNI_RANK and QUALCOMP and their interaction term to analyse the effect of quality-weighted competition from other universities plus the moderating effect of UNI_RANK on QUALCOMP. It is not possible to include all variables in a single model because of the high correlation between UNI_TOP and UNI_RANK.

As discussed above non-zero variance of the intercepts for the different levels support the use of a multilevel model. To better understand the importance of the different levels of analysis we can examine the difference variance components for the country level, the regional level and the individual level.¹² We can consider the ratio of each variance component to the total variance (Snijders and Bosker 1999). Some interesting differences are observed depending on the technology transfer outcome. For research and license agreements, the variance component at the university level accounts for a major portion of the variance in the number of research and license agreements. For instance based on the results of Table 6 model *a* for research agreements the total variance at the university level explains 61.1% (0.876/(0.517+0.040+0.876) and the remaining 38.9% is explained at higher levels. Specifically, the country level accounts for 36.1% and the regional level for 2.8%. The country level accounts for a higher share in the estimated variance in license agreements compared to research agreements with 40.2% (based on model a). For license agreements, the university level still explains most with 57.5% and the regional level with 2.3%. The university level explains most for start-ups with 67.6%. For start-ups however the regional level variance component accounts for a larger variance compared to license

¹² In negative binomial models the residual variance in the dependent variable is the overdispersion beyond that expected from a simple Poisson process. The overdispersion is estimate as the log of the dispersion parameter (/lnalpha) after exponentiating the residual variance is obtained (alpha) following Osgood (2000).

and research agreements with 16.5 % (based on Table 6 model a). The country level accounts for 15.9% of the variation for start-ups.

Results are surprisingly different for license income with a contribution from the regional level of 53.8%, 29.4% at the country level and 16.9% at the university level. This suggests that there are strong contextual effects (how characteristics of other individuals in the same context affect individual level outcomes). In other words, universities in the same region (or country) show a significantly more homogeneous license income performance. This suggests that the characteristics of other universities in the same region (or country strongly affect university level outcomes. University (or withineffects) account for 16.9% of the variance. The GLM model with a normal distribution used for license income allows the calculation of the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC1)¹³, which is not possible for negative binomial regressions in Stata17, used for license and research agreements and startups. ICC1 can provide evidence for clustering in data. If ICC1 is zero, then there is no clustering, and all level variable units are independent of each other. The other extreme if ICC1 is one, then there is no variance within clusters. For license income the ICC at the country level is 0.29 and at the regional level nested within the country level 0.83. Thus, particularly for the regional level there is little variation within regions and evidence for strong clustering, showing the importance to take the hierarchical nature into account. Similar ratios for each variance components are observed in the *b* models in Table 6 and the models reports in Table 7.

¹³ ICC1: [variance between groups/(variance between groups + variance within groups)]

Table 6. Multilevel	negative bin	omial regress	ions without	(a) and with (l) interaction	term METRO	by UNI_TOP	
	Research ag	greements	License agr	eements	License i	ncome	Start	sdn-
	а	p	a	р	a	р	a	р
Constant	-2.278	-2.486	-10.029***	-10.119***	-2.951**	-2.902**	-8.332**	-8.398**
Variance of intercept C	0.517 (0.337)	0.522 (0.324)	0.856 (0.528)	0.880 (0.620)	0.219 (0.180)	0.215 (0.176)	0.173(0.119)	0.184(0.121)
Variance of intercept R	0.040 (0.070)	0.023 (0.069)	0.050 (0.085)	0.041 (0.028)	0.401 (0.523)	0.400 (0.522)	0.180(0.057)	0.167 (0.064)
Residual variance (U)	0.876 (0.063)	0.884 (0.061)	1.225 (0.201)	1.229 (0.201)	0.126 (0.046)	0.126(0.046)	0.738 (0.172)	0.743(0.173)
Characteristics of the KT	O and the unive	rsity						
NUMB_RES (log)	0.725***	0.719***	0.600***	0.593***	0.051^{*}	0.053*	0.717^{***}	0.707***
KTO_SIZE (log)	-0.030	-0.031	0.207**	0.202***	0.046	0.047	0.028	0.029
HOSP	0.669***	0.677***	0.947^{***}	0.964^{***}	0.438***	0.430***	0.290**	0.312**
TECH	0.284	0.277	0.499*	0.515^{*}	0.163	0.153	0.841^{***}	0.846^{***}
KTO_AGE (log)	0.281^{*}	0.285*	0.109	0.114	0.075	0.074	-0.272	-0.267
Regional characteristics								
PER_CAP_GRP (LOG)	-0.144	-0.101	1.189^{***}	1.168^{***}	0.449	0.443	-0.929*	-0.932*
POPULATION (LOG)	-0.123	-0.131	0.223	0.238	0.022	0.019	0.436**	0.446^{**}
EMPSHARE_HMHT	0.078**	0.078**	0.063*	0.064^{**}	0.017	0.017	0.059	0.060
EMPSHARE_KIS	-0.011	-0.010	-0.022	-0.022	0.019	0.018	0.028	0.029
METROP	0.072	-0.049	0.174	0.017	-0.176	-0.149	-0.338	-0.451
Quality characteristics of	the focal univer	sity and competit	tion from other fa	culties				
UNI_TOP	0.211	0.109	0.514^{**}	0.434^{*}	0.186^{***}	0.209***	-0.109	-0.187
RICOMP	0.005	0.005	0.002	-0.003	-0.002	-0.002	-0.010	0.010
QUALCOMP	-0.014**	-0.014**	-0.026**	-0.026**	-0.003	-0.003	-0.007	-0.007
METROP XUNITOP		0.281		0.231		-0.062		0.210
Z	207	207	267	267	207	207	284	284
Number of groups	81R, 15C	81R, 15C	108R,16C	108R,16C	85R, 16C	85R, 16C	113R,17C	113R,17C
Log likelihood	-1168.51	-1168.16	-772.68	-772.49	-170.02	-169.92	-542.94	-542.75
AIC	2365.0	2364.3	1575.4	1575.0	370.0	369.8	1117.9	1117.5
LR test vs. baseline ¹	21.15***	21.43***	22.55***	22.85***	53.93***	52.45***	14.28***	14.24^{***}
Robust SE. *= p <.10, ** = p <.05	5, *** = p<.01. Note 1	: vs. Negative binom	nial for research and l	icense agreements an	d start-ups, vs. linear	model for license inc	ome (see Table 8 and	9).

Table 7. Multilevel n	egative bin	omial regress	ions without	(a) and with ()	b) interaction	term QUALC	OMP by UNI_	RANK
	Research ag	greements	License agr	eements	License i	ncome	Start	sdn-
	a	þ	a	р	a	p	a	þ
Constant	-1.399	-0.878	-9.020***	-8.749***	-1.589	-1.457	-8.587***	-8.681***
Variance of intercept C	0.479 (0.279)	0.505 (0.282)	0.865 (0.598)	0.882 (0.613)	0.221 (0.186)	0.228 (0.193)	0.174(0.118)	0.184(0.137)
Variance of intercept R	0.035 (0.051)	0.015 (0.038)	0.044 (0.034)	0.032 (0.029)	0.401 (0.472)	0.398 (0.468)	0.174(0.066)	0.173(0.061)
Residual variance (U)	0.868 (0.074)	0.863(0.0830)	1.213 (0.211)	1.205 (0.209)	0.104(0.040)	0.102 (0.102)	0.735 (0.171)	0.726 (0.166)
Characteristics of the KTO	and the unive	rsity						
NUMB_RES (log)	0.672***	0.678***	0.558***	0.566***	0.016	0.016	0.726***	0.727***
KTO_SIZE (log)	-0.036	-0.027	0.193^{**}	0.186^{**}	0.035	0.032	0.031	0.025
HOSP	0.436^{*}	0.383^{*}	0.858***	0.823***	0.342***	0.335***	0.354^{**}	0.349**
TECH	0.240	0.202	0.522*	0.503^{*}	0.224	0.228*	0.860***	0.845***
KTO_AGE (log)	0.340^{**}	0.327	0.120	0.099	0.121^{*}	0.121^{*}	-0.286	-0.279
Regional characteristics								
PER_CAP_GRP (LOG)	-0.244	-0.266	1.093^{***}	1.024^{***}	0.352	0.364	-0.861	-0.865
POPULATION (LOG)	-0.102	-0.075	0.200	0.200	-0.035	-0.044	0.439***	0.447***
EMPSHARE_HMHT	0.074^{*}	0.076**	0.063**	0.073**	0.012	0.011	0.057	0.056
EMPSHARE_KIS	-0.011	-0.011	-0.025	-0.025	0.015	0.015	0.027	0.027
METROP	0.057	0.039	-0.131	-0.116	-0.126	-0.118	-0.348	-0.358
Quality characteristics of th	ie focal univer	sity and competit	tion from other fa	culties				
$UNI_RANK = 3 (top 200)$	0.714	0.423	0.836**	0.652**	0.165^{**}	0.162^{**}	-0.190	-0.271
$UNI_RANK = 2 (top 201-300)$) 0.338	0.061	0.432	0.166	-0.030	-0.154	-0.346	-0.216
$UNI_RANK = 1 (top 301-500)$	0.017	-0.028	0.472^{*}	0.444^{*}	0.608***	0.551***	0.028	0.022
RICOMP	0.006	0.008	-0.004	-0.005	-0.001	-0.001	0.014	0.015
QUALCOMP	-0.012**	-0.018***	-0.024**	-0.030***	-0.001	-0.002	-0.008	-0.00
UNIRANK=2*QUALCOMP		0.013^{***}		0.014^{***}		0.006***		-0.008
UNIRANK=3*QUALCOMP		0.009***		0.007***		0.002*		0.003
Ν	207	207	267	267	207	207	284	284
Number of groups	81R, 15C	81R, 15C	108R,16C	108R,16C	85R, 16C	85R, 16C	113R,17C	113R,17C
Log likelihood	-1166.79	-1164.67	-771.76	-770.59	-157.07	-155.93	-542.30	-541.94
AIC	2361.6	2357.3	1573.5	1571.2	344.2	341.9	1116.6	1115.9
LR test vs. baseline ¹	20.13***	20.75***	23.46***	24.27***	67.01***	68.00***	13.38***	13.86***
Robust SE. *= p <.10, ** = p <.05, **	* = p<.01. Note 1:	vs. Negative binomi	al for research and li	cense agreements and	start-ups, vs. linear n	nodel for license inco	me (see Table 8 and 9	

Control variables

The results for the control variables for the university and KTO are similar to those of other studies. The number of researchers employed at a university (NUMB_RES) has a significant positive correlation with all knowledge transfer outcomes. KTO size (KTO_SIZE) has no effect on the number of research agreements, license income and start-ups, but KTO size has a significant positive correlation with the number of license agreements. This result is supported by other research (Conti and Gaule 2011; Barjak et al. 2014; Barjak and Es-Sadki 2015). As found in other research for Europe (Barjak and Es-Sadki 2015; Berbegal-Mirabent and Sabate 2015), the presence of a hospital (HOSP) has a significant positive correlation with all four knowledge transfer outcomes. Technical universities (TECH) have significantly more license agreements and start-ups.

The age of the knowledge transfer office (KTO_AGE) has a significant positive correlation with the number of research agreements in Table 6 and in model *a* in Table 7 as well as for license income in Table 7, as found in other studies (Carlsson and Fridh 2002; Conti 2009; Barjak et al. 2014).

Few of the regional control variables are correlated with the number of research agreements and licenses, but an increase in employment in high and medium-high technology manufacturing (EMPSHARE_HMHT) is significantly positively correlated with research and license agreements. The positive correlations for license agreements are in line with US (Belenzon and Schankerman 2009; Friedman and Silberman 2003; Lach and Schankerman 2008) and European research (Barjak and Es-Sadki 2015).

The regional per capita income (PER_CAP_GRP) has a positive correlation with license agreements, a result also found by Barjak and Es-Sadki (2015) and Chapple et al. (2005). Conversely, regional per capita income is negatively correlated with the number of start-ups in Table 6, as also found by Muscio et al. (2016). A possible explanation, in line with research by Bania et al. (1993) on start-up creation, is that wealthier regions could have higher costs for wages and capital expenditures which can be substantial barriers for university start-ups.

The log of the regional population (POPULATION) has a positive correlation in all models for university start-ups. This suggests that there is more potential for creating start-ups in larger populated regions with potentially more regional demand for the goods and services that these firms aim to produce.

KIS employment share

As predicted, with KIS being characterized by a high degree of tacit knowledge, the KIS employment share (EMPSHARE_KIS) in the region has no relationship with licensing which often involves formal R&D (Windrum and Tomlinson 1999; Schricke et al. 2012). In contrast with expectations and suggestions by Lee and Miozzo (2019) that proximity of KIS firms has a positive influence on research collaboration, there is no such evidence found. The expected positive relationship between the KIS employment share and the number of start-ups is also not found. These results suggest that KIS firms are not more likely than other service or low-tech manufacturing firms to use research agreements as a major method for accessing university knowledge or to benefit the creation of university start-ups. Unfortunately, we lack data on other methods of knowledge transfer that KIS firms might use to access more tacit knowledge of universities, such as consulting or informal contacts.

Location in a metropolitan region

The results for location in a metropolitan region and its interaction with UNI_TOP do not support the predictions in Table 1 concerning the type of technology transfer. No negative correlation with the number of research agreements is observed nor a positive relationship with licensing. It seems that firms' licensing decisions are unaffected by the location of universities in a metropolitan area when they are seeking commercially valuable intellectual property. Moreover, there is no evidence found for a moderating effect of a metropolitan area on the effect of quality of the focal university.

Quality of the focal university

The coefficient for UNI_TOP is significant and positive for license agreements and license income, indicating that top universities have more license agreements and subsequently more license income compared to non-top universities. Furthermore, the ordinal variable for the quality of the focal university (UNI_RANK) is significantly positively correlated with the number of license agreements, as observed by Sine et al. (2003), and license income (for the ARWU top 200 and top 301 – 500, see Table 7). As expected, there is no correlation with the number of start-ups.

Quality weighted competition from other universities in the same region

Table 7 provides results for the ordinal variable for the quality of the focal university (UNI_RANK) and the variable for quality-weighted competition (QUALCOMP) from other universities in the same region. Results are given with and without the interaction terms (UNI_RANK*QUALCOMP). For all models (Table 6 and 7), QUALCOMP has the predicted significant negative relationship with the number of research agreements and license agreements. These results suggest that there is indeed competition for the knowledge outputs of universities, such that an increase in the regional supply of knowledge is not matched by an equivalent increase in private sector demand. A possible reason for this may be that the private sector has different knowledge demands. This applies to both partner-led research agreements, and knowledge that can be either partner- or knowledge-led, as for license agreements. It also suggests that a significant share of demand must come from regional firms instead of from firms located in other regions or internationally.

The prediction for a positive interaction term between UNI_RANK and QUALCOMP for license agreements and research agreement is supported. For license income the interaction terms show the predicted significant positive correlation but the negative correlation of QUALCOMP is not significant. The predicted moderating effect of quality of the focal university on the effect of quality of competition from other universities is thus found for research and license agreements, and there is some support for this prediction for license income. A possible explanation is that the co-location of top-ranked universities and other quality universities could have either spill-over benefits for knowledge-led research or provide benefits from signalling a regional cluster of expertise to potential licensees.

Cross-level interaction effect of UNI_RANK and QUALCOMP

To better elaborate the (moderating) cross-level interaction effect of regional quality competition and the four technology transfer outcomes we calculate margins after the estimations of model *b* in Table 7 for license agreements and research agreements. Margins are statistics calculated from predictions of a previously fit model at fixed values of covariates (QUALCOMP) and averaging or otherwise integrating over the remaining covariates. The curves depicted in Figure 1 show for each of the ordinal value of UNI_RANK the probability of the technology transfer outcomes (the predictive margins) at the specified values of QUALCOMP (zero to 54) conditional on that value of UNI_RANK.

The figures show that more quality competition reduces the number of technology transfer outcomes. Moreover, the moderating effect of top-ranked universities is shown as these types of universities are for all levels of QUALCOMP producing more technology transfer outcomes compared to other universities. The difference between the four groups, i.e. the gap between the four lines, is decreasing with increasing levels of quality competition. This result corroborates the results discussed earlier that there is limited demand for the knowledge outputs of universities, such that an increase in the regional supply of quality knowledge (QUALCOMP) is not matched by an equivalent increase in private sector demand which applies to both top-ranked universities and other universities. The results for license agreements show that universities in the third category (UNI_RANK=3, i.e. top 301-500) report on average more license agreements compared to universities in the second category (UNI_RANK=2, i.e. top 201-300). This result is also observable in Table 7 (model b) that presents larger and significant coefficients for UNI_RANK=3 compared to UNI_RANK=2 (0.444 vs 0.166). Similarly, for research agreements top-ranked universities (UNI_RANK=1, i.e. top 200) are predicted to perform worse compared to the baseline group of non-ranked universities (UNI RANK=0) although this result is not significant. Although not reported in the Tables 6 or 7, the crosslevel interaction effect of UNI_TOP and QUALCOMP is provided in the appendix for license agreements and license income. The figures show that more quality competition reduces the number of technology licensing outcomes. Top-ranked universities are always producing more technology licensing outcomes compared to other universities. Same as in Figure 1, the difference between the two groups, i.e. the gap between the two lines, is decreasing with increasing levels of quality competition for license agreements.

Figure 1. Cross-level effects of UNI_RANK and QUALCOMP on technology transfer outcomes



Competition from other research institutes in the same region

Competition from other research institutes in the same region with comparable science, health and engineering divisions as the focal university (RICOMP) has no significant effect in any of the models. The absence of an effect could be due to the lack of an adjustment for quality.

Additional analyses

We ran several additional analyses to explore the veracity of our results. First, we ran regressions to evaluate the effects of IP ownership on outcomes. As expected, ownership of IP by partners other than the university has a significant negative correlation for all four KT outcomes, a result in line with Barjak et al. (2014). The results for the control variables and the industrial sector (HMHT and KIS) remained consisted with the results presented. The

results for QUALCOMP and METROP remained only significant in the models with research agreements but not in the models based on licensing. This result is not that surprising as IP ownership of partners other that the university is likely of more influence on commercially beneficial contracts such as licensing than for more collaboration types of contracts such as research agreements.

Additionally, the regressions were repeated using the count of comparable science faculties in universities in the same region as the focal university (FACCOMP) instead of the quality weighted variable QUALCOMP. FACCOMP for the number of research agreements and license agreements is no longer significant, while the interaction term (FACCOMP x UNI_RANK =3) for license income is negative and significant (-0.030, p < .01) instead of positive for QUALCOMP. These differences suggest that quality weighting is necessary to observe the effects of competition between universities. The negative effect for license income suggests that the absence of a quality adjustment masks the positive effect of top ranked universities through spill overs or signalling a regional cluster of expertise.

5. Conclusions

This chapter evaluates several aspects of the regional environment on the knowledge transfer outcomes of universities that have attracted little attention in the literature:

- the effect of regional employment in knowledge intensive services (KIS),
- quality weighted competition from other universities in the same region as the focal university,
- location in a metropolitan region, and
- interaction effects between the quality of the focal university and the quality of competition.

We look at three types of outcomes: the number of research agreements, where the type of research is usually led by business partners; the number of

start-ups, which are knowledge-led by university academics; and the number of licenses and license income, which can be due to a mix of partner-led and knowledge-led research activities. We use ARWU university ranking data to measure the quality of both the focal university and competing universities.

The expected positive relationships between the KIS employment share and the number of research agreements and start-ups is not found. However, an increase in employment in high and medium-high technology manufacturing (EMPSHARE_HMHT) is significantly positively correlated with research and license agreements.

Quality-adjusted competition is shown to reduce the number of research and license agreements per university. The models with interaction effects show that all but the most elite universities in Europe experience crowding out effects for research and license agreements. However, the number of license agreements and the amount of license income reported by top 13.4% universities increases with quality of competition, possibly due to spill-over effects or signalling clusters of expertise. Competition from research institutes is unrelated to the knowledge transfer outcomes. This suggests that research institutes do not compete with universities, possibly due to focussing more on applied research (Arundel et al. 2013).

The European Union's regional policy aims at strengthening research, technological development and innovation in regional areas outside of the metropolitan centres (European Commission 2013). Location in a metropolitan area does not appear to be required for top-ranked universities, with the added effect of location in a metropolitan area being negative for these universities.

Start-up formation is correlated with different factors than those linked to the number of research and license agreements. The quality of the focal university, the quality of competition from other universities in the same region, metropolitan location, and the interaction terms have no effect on the number of start-ups. The lack of an effect for quality differs from results for the US, where university quality is positively correlated with start-up formation (Di Gregorio and Shane 2003). This is also found in a study

drawing on the same data as used in Chapter 2 and 6, that showed that US universities that are included in the AUTM (Association of University and Technology Managers) survey in the United States created on average 3.7 start-ups in 2011 compared to 1.9 in Europe (Arundel et al 2013). Conversely in Europe, positive factors for start-ups are being a technical university and the size of the regional population, a measure of potential markets.

In respect to university policy, the transfer of commercially useful knowledge from the public research sector to private firms has become increasingly institutionalized and is supported by numerous reforms and initiatives at the national, regional and university levels (Munari et al. 2015). The results of this study suggest that the evaluation of university knowledge transfer outcomes by government funding bodies should consider the location of the university and the degree and quality of competition. For instance, expectations for the number of partner-led research agreements should be adjusted downwards for most universities, as regional demand, a major driver of research agreements, is limited. As said a possible reason for this may be that the private sector has different knowledge demands. Further research can explore if university supply of knowledge/technology and demand from firms is sufficiently matched. There is also an important regional context for research and license agreements, with top-ranked universities benefiting the most from spillovers or signalling effects from co-location in the same region as other top-ranked universities.

Limitations and Future Research

An important assumption in most research on regional influences on knowledge transfer is that a significant share of outcomes is with businesses in the same region as the university. However, this and other comparable studies rarely have data on the location of knowledge transfer recipients. Nevertheless, the observed correlations between regional variables and outcomes strongly suggest that regional knowledge transfer must be responsible for a significant share of all knowledge transfer outcomes. Further research could use longitudinal data to examine cause and effect relations of the regional environment on university knowledge transfer performance. Another limitation of this study is that the results discussed in this chapter are largely driven by data availability and are not representative of all European countries. A third limitation is that this study could only evaluate a limited number of knowledge transfer mechanisms based on contractual arrangements. Many other mechanisms can lead to university-industry knowledge transfer such as student, graduate and researcher mobility, academic consulting, and training. Future research could investigate the share of knowledge that is transferred to proximate firms and if this varies by the type of knowledge, the type of knowledge transfer method, or the industrial structure of the region. Furthermore, future research could explore measures of venture capital as a predictor of university start-up creation in European regions. It would also be useful to develop a comparable measure for the quality of public research institutes and evaluate their effect on regional competition for university knowledge.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research. Their support is gratefully acknowledged. We thank ASTP for providing some of the data used in this research.

		rreements	License ao	reements	License	ncome	Start	-1105
	a	b	a	P	a	p	a	p p
Constant	0.450	0.482	-6.823***	-6.878***	-6.191**	-5.401**	-5.974**	-6.068**
Characteristics of the k	CTO and the univ	ersity						
NUMB_RES (log)	0.705***	0.694***	0.447***	0.444**	0.568***	0.621***	0.695***	0.688***
KTO_SIZE (log)	0.024	0.026	0.342***	0.342***	0.141^{**}	0.150^{**}	-0.035	-0.035
HOSP	0.465**	0.480^{**}	1.004^{***}	1.014^{***}	1.162^{***}	1.015^{***}	0.099	0.110
TECH	0.065	0.075	0.530**	0.537**	-0.288	-0.382	0.861^{***}	0.871***
KTO_AGE (log)	0.166	0.171	0.528***	0.521***	0.817***	0.761***	-0.541***	-0.535***
Regional characteristic	S							
PER_CAP_GRP (LOG)	-0.170	-0.180	0.505	0.501	1.641^{***}	1.593^{***}	-1.076***	-1.060***
POPULATION (LOG)	-0.013	-0.011	0.031	0.036	-0.467***	-0.535***	0.345**	0.349**
EMPSHARE_HMHT	0.072	0.075*	0.092**	0.092**	0.187^{***}	0.195***	0.072*	0.072*
EMPSHARE_KIS	-0.020	-0.019	0.016	0.017	0.016	0.014	0.034**	0.035**
METROP	0.451^{*}	0.377	-0.042	-0.079	-0.193	0.511^{*}	-0.351	-0.460
Quality characteristics	of the focal univ	ersity and compe	etition from other	faculties				
UNI_TOP	0.150	0.077	0.291	0.261	0.106	0.670***	0.142	0.070
RICOMP	0.008	0.00	0.015	0.015	0.003	-0.001	0.008	0.010
QUALCOMP	-0.021**	-0.022***	-0.016^{*}	-0.016^{**}	0.004	0.002	-0.008	-0.008
METROP XUNITOP		0.217		0.082		-1.594***		0.219
N	207	207	267	267	207	207	284	284
AIC	7386.8	1300 1	16141	0 / 7 / 7				1011

Appendix

*= p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01

Table 9. Knowledge	e transfer o	utcomes w	ithout (a) and	d with (b) inte	raction term Q	UALCOMF	by UNI_R	ANK
	Research ag	reements	License a	greements	License in	icome	Start-	sdn
	a	q	a	q	a	q	a	q
Constant	1.460	2.029	-6.099**	-5.936**	0.320	0.921	-6.592**	-6.622**
Characteristics of the KTO av	nd the universi	ity						
NUMB_RES (log)	0.655***	0.654***	0.414^{***}	0.417^{***}	0.343***	0.342***	0.706***	0.707***
KTO_SIZE (log)	0.018	0.030	0.339***	0.341***	0.156^{**}	0.155**	-0.026	-0.029
HOSP	0.133	0.103	0.964^{***}	0.954***	0.890***	0.832***	0.212	0.202
TECH	0.039	-0.018	0.520^{**}	0.509**	-0.145	-0.193	0.909***	0.900***
KTO_AGE (log)	0.209	0.177	0.550***	0.533***	1.044^{***}	1.001^{***}	-0.557***	-0.556***
Regional characteristics								
PER_CAP_GRP (LOG)	-0.351	-0.394	0.452	0.407	1.334^{***}	1.267^{***}	-0.961**	-0.963**
POPULATION (LOG)	-0.029	-0.056	0.006	-0.002	-0.761***	-0.785***	0.362**	0.365***
EMPSHARE_HMHT	0.077	0.083*	0.091^{**}	0.100^{**}	0.156^{***}	0.160^{***}	0.069	0.069
EMPSHARE_KIS	-0.020	-0.018	0.016	0.018	0.006	0.010	0.033**	0.033**
METROP	0.466^{*}	0.469*	-0.012	0.000	-0.062	-0.093	-0.376	-0.381*
Quality characteristics of the	e focal universi	ty and competit	ion from other fac	ulties				
$UNI_RANK = 3 (top 200)$	0.714**	0.417	0.515^{*}	0.367	1.933***	1.311^{***}	600.0-	-0.042
$UNI_RANK = 2 (top 201-300)$	0.506*	0.360	0.169	-0.067	-1.373***	-1.500***	-0.169	-0.076
$UNI_RANK = 1 \ (top \ 301-500)$	-0.149	-0.165	0.290	0.275	0.125	0.103	-0.326	0.327
RICOMP	0.007	0.008	0.016	0.015	0.030**	0.031**	0.013	0.013
QUALCOMP	-0.018**	-0.025***	-0.015*	-0.021**	0.012	0.004	-0.010	-0.010
UNIRANK=2*QUALCOMP		0.007		0.013		0.008		-0.006
UNIRANK=3*QUALCOMP		0.009		0.005		0.025***		0.002
Z	207	207	267	267	207	207	284	284
AIC	2386.1	2386.3	1616.5	1618.1	5340.4	5225.9	1130.1	1133.8

* = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01

93
				LR test vs. model in		AIC model
	Random slope	Coefficient	SE	Table 6 or 7	AIC	6 or 7
Research agreements						
(Table 6a)	C: UNI_TOP	0.062	0.132	0.36	2372.6	2371
Research agreements						
(Table 6a)	R: UNI_TOP	0.000	0.000	NA	2371	2371
Research agreements						
(Table 7a)	C: UNI_RANK	0.019	0.037	0.41	2373.2	2371.6
Research agreements						
(Table 7a)	R: UNI_RANK	0.002	0.015	0.02	2373.6	2371.6
License agreements						
(Table 6a)	C: UNI_TOP	0.064	0.192	0.15	1581.2	1579.4
License agreements						
(Table 6a)	C: HOSP	0.144	0.290	0.33	1581	1579.4
License agreements						
(Table 6a)	R: UNI_TOP	0.000	0.000	0.00	1581.4	1579.4
License agreements						
(Table 6a)	R: TECH	0.34	0.562	0.51	1580.8	1579.4
License agreements						
(Table 7a)	C: UNI_RANK	0.012	0.034	0.14	1583.4	1581.5

Table 10. Tests for random slopes

Notes: Based on standard errors. For research agreements, additional random slopes were tested at the country level for the predictors: HOSP, TECH and QUALCOMP, and at the regional level for QUALCOMP. Similarly for license agreements, random slopes were tested at the country level for TECH and QUALCOMP and at the regional level for UNI_RANK. Stata 17 was not able to produce results for these models. Research agreements, N=207, license agreement N=267.

Figure 2. Cross-level effects of UNI_TOP and QUALCOMP on technology transfer outcomes



References

Algieri, B., Aquino, A., Succurro, M. (2013). Technology transfer offices and academic spin-off creation: the case of Italy. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 38(4), 382-400.

Aguillo, I.F., Bar-Ilan, J., Levene, M., Ortega, J.L. (2010). Comparing university rankings. *Scientometrics*, 85(1), 243–256.

Audretsch, D.B., Hülsbeck, M., Lehmann, E.E. (2012). Regional competitiveness, university spillovers, and entrepreneurial activity. *Small Business Economics* 39. pp. 587-601.

Arundel A., Geuna A. (2004). Proximity and the use of public science by innovative European firms, *Economics of Innovation and New Technologies* 13, 559–580.

Arundel, A., Athreye, S., Wunsch-Vincent, S. (2021). *Harnessing Public Research for Innovation in the* 21st *Century*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Bania, N., Eberts, R., Fogarty, M.S., 1993. Universities and the start-up of new companies: can we generalize from route 128 and Silicon Valley? *Review of Economics and Statistics* 76 (4), 761–766.

Barjak, F., Es-Sadki, N., Arundel, A. (2015). The effectiveness of policies for formal knowledge transfer from European universities and public research institutes to firms. *Research Evaluation* (2015) Volume 24, Issue 1 - pp. 4-18.

Barjak, F., Es-Sadki, N. (2015). Influences of the regional and national economic environment on the technology transfer performance of academic institutions in Europe. In D. Audretsch, E. Lehmann, Meoli, M., S. Vismara (eds.) *University Evolution, Entrepreneurial Activity and Regional Competitiveness.* Springer.

Belenzon, S., Schankerman, M. (2009). University Knowledge Transfer: Private Ownership, Incentives, and Local Development Objectives. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 52, 111-144. Berbegal-Mirabent, J., and Sabate, F. (2015). Balancing basic and applied research outputs: a study of the trade-offs between publishing and patenting. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, 27(10), 1143-1158.

Bozeman, B. (2000). Technology transfer and public policy: a review of research and theory. *Research policy*, *29*(4-5), 627-655.

Bradley, S., Hayter, C. S., and Link, A. (2013). Models and methods of university technology transfer. *Foundations and trends in Entrepreneurship*, 9(6).

Brescia, F. Colombo, G., Landoni, P. (2014). Organizational structures of Knowledge Transfer Offices: an analysis of the world's top-ranked universities. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, published online 10 December 2014.

Carlsson, B., Fridh, A.-C. (2002). Technology transfer in United States universities. *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, 12, 199-232.

Chapple, W., Lockett, A., Siegel, D., Wright, M. (2005). Assessing the relative performance of U.K. university technology transfer offices: parametric and non-parametric evidence. *Research Policy*, 34(3), 369-384.

Cesaroni, F., and Piccaluga, A. (2016). The activities of university knowledge transfer offices: towards the third mission in Italy. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 41(4), 753-777.

Colyvas, J., Crow, M., Gelijns, A., Mazzoleni, R., Nelson, R., Rosenberg, N., Sampat, B. (2002). How do university inventions get into practice? *Management Science* 48(1): 61–72.

Conti, A. (2009). Three Essays on University-Industry Technology Transfer and the Economics of Science. Doctoral degree, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Lausanne.

Conti, A., Gaule, P. (2011). Is the US outperforming Europe in university technology licensing? A new perspective on the European Paradox. *Research Policy*, 40(1), 123-135.

Curi, C., Daraio, C., Llerena, P. (2012). 'University technology transfer: how (in)efficient are French universities?', *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 36 (3), 629-54.

Di Gregorio, D., and Shane, S. (2003). Why do some universities generate more start-ups than others?. *Research policy*, *32*(2), 209-227.

Dill, D. D., and Soo, M. (2005). Academic quality, league tables, and public policy: A cross-national analysis of university ranking systems. *Higher education*, 49(4), 495-533.

European Commission, (2013). Cohesion policy: Strategic report 2013 on programme implementation 2007-2013.

Fernandes, C. I., and Ferreira, J. J. (2013). Knowledge spillovers: cooperation between universities and KIBS. *R&D Management*, 43(5), 461-472.

Florida, R. (2002) The Rise of the Creative Class, Basic Books, New York.

Friedman, J., Silberman, J. (2003). University Technology Transfer: Do Incentives, Management, and Location Matter? *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 28(1), 17-30.

Garcia-Alvarez-Coque, J. M., Mas-Verdú, F., and Roig-Tierno, N. (2019). Life below excellence: exploring the links between top-ranked universities and regional competitiveness. *Studies in Higher Education*, 1-16.

González-Pernía, J. L., Kuechle, G., Peña-Legazkue, I. (2013). An Assessment of the Determinants of University Technology Transfer. *Economic Development Quarterly*, 27(1), 6-17.

Grimpe, C., and Fier, H. (2010). Informal university technology transfer: a comparison between the United States and Germany. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*. December 2010, Volume 35, Issue 6, pp 637–650.

Hewitt-Dundas, N. (2012). Research intensity and knowledge transfer activity in UK universities. *Research policy*, 41(2), 262-275.

Holgersson, M., and Aaboen, L. (2019). A literature review of intellectual property management in technology transfer offices: From appropriation to utilization. *Technology in Society*, 59, 101132.

Horváth, K., Berbegal-Mirabent, J. (2020). The role of universities on the consolidation of knowledge-based sectors: A spatial econometric analysis of KIBS formation rates in Spanish regions. *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, 100900.

Huynh, T. (2016). Early-stage fundraising of university spin-offs: a study through demand-site perspectives. *Venture Capital*, 18(4), 345-367.

Johnston, A., and Huggins, R. (2019). Networks, innovation systems and the geography of university–industry linkages: the case of knowledge-intensive business services. In *Handbook of Universities and Regional Development*. Edward Elgar Publishing.

Kempton, L. (2019). Wishful thinking? Towards a more realistic role for universities in regional innovation policy. *European Planning Studies*, 27(11), 2248-2265.

Kergroach, S., Meissner, D., and Vonortas, N. S. (2018). Technology transfer and commercialisation by universities and PRIs: benchmarking OECD country policy approaches. *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 27(5-6), 510-530.

Koo, T. K., and Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. Journal of chiropractic medicine, 15(2), 155-163.

Lach, S., Schankerman, M. (2008). Incentives and invention in universities. The RAND *Journal of Economics*, 39(2), 403-433.

Lee, H. F., and Miozzo, M. (2019). Which types of knowledge-intensive business services firms collaborate with universities for innovation? *Research Policy*, 48(7), 1633-1646.

Link, A.N. and Siegel, D.S. (2005), 'Generating science-based growth: an econometric analysis of the impact of organizational incentives on universityindustry technology transfer', *European Journal of Finance*, Vol. 11 No. 3, pp. 169-181. Lissoni, F., Llerana, P., McKelvey, M., Sanditov, B. (2008). 'Academic patenting in Europe: new evidence from the KEINS database'. *Research Evaluation*, 17, 87-102.

Liu, N.C., Cheng, Y. (2005), 'The Academic Ranking of World Universities'. *Higher Education in Europe*, Vol. 30m No. 2, July 2005.

Mansfield, E. (1998). Academic research and industrial innovation: An update of empirical findings. *Research Policy* 26: 773-776.

Marginson, S., van der Wende, M. (2007). Globalisation and higher education. OECD education working papers no. 8. OECD Publishing.

Miller, K., McAdam, R., and McAdam, M. (2018). A systematic literature review of university technology transfer from a quadruple helix perspective: toward a research agenda. *R&D Management*, 48(1), 7-24.

Mina, A., Bascavusoglu-Moreau, E., and Hughes, A. (2014). Open service innovation and the firm's search for external knowledge. *Research policy*, 43(5), 853-866.

Muscio, A., Reid, A., & Rivera Leon, L. (2015). An empirical test of the regional innovation paradox: can smart specialisation overcome the paradox in Central and Eastern Europe?. Journal of Economic Policy Reform, 18(2), 153-171.

Munari, F., Rasmussen, E., Toschi, L., and Villani, E. (2015). Determinants of the university technology transfer policy-mix: A cross-national analysis of gap-funding instruments. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 1–29.

O'Brien, R.M., 2007. A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. *Qual. Quant.* 41 (5), 673–690.

O'Shea, R. P., Allen, T. J., Chevalier, A., Roche, F. (2005). Entrepreneurial orientation, technology transfer and spinoff performance of U.S. universities. *Research Policy*, 34(7), 994-1009.

Osgood, D. W. (2000). Poisson-based regression analysis of aggregate crime rates. Journal of quantitative criminology, 16, 21-43.

Padilla-Meléndez, A., Fuster, E., Lockett, N., and del-Aguila-Obra, A. R. (2021). Knowledge spillovers, knowledge filters and entrepreneurial university ecosystems. Emerging role of University-focused venture capital firms. *Knowledge Management Research and Practice*, 19(1), 94-105.

Perkmann, M., Tartari, V., McKelvey, M., Autio, E., Broström, A., D'Este, P., ... and Sobrero, M. (2013). Academic engagement and commercialisation: A review of the literature on university–industry relations. *Research policy*, 42(2), 423-442.

Podolny, J. (1993). A Status-Based Model of Market Competition. *American Journal of Sociology* Vol. 98, No. 4 (Jan., 1993), pp. 829-872.

Powers, J. B., and McDougall, P. P. (2005). University start-up formation and technology licensing with firms that go public: a resource-based view of academic entrepreneurship. *Journal of business venturing*, 20(3), 291-311.

Rodriguez, M., Doloreux, D., and Shearmur, R. (2017). Variety in external knowledge sourcing and innovation novelty: Evidence from the KIBS sector in Spain. *Technovation*, 68, 35-43.

Schricke, E., Zenker, A., Stahlecker, T. (2012). Knowledge-intensive (business) services in Europe. Project financed by the 6th Framework Programme for Research, for the implementation of the specific programme 'Strengthening the Foundations of the European Research Area'.

Shehatta, I., Mahmood, K. (2016). Correlation among top 100 universities in the major six global rankings: policy implications. *Scientometrics*, 109:1231–1254.

Shenkar, O., and Yuchtman-Yaar, E. (1997). Reputation, image, prestige, and goodwill: An interdisciplinary approach to organizational standing. *Human Relations*, 50(11), 1361-1381.

Siegel, D. S., Waldman, D. A., Atwater, L. E., and Link, A. N. (2003). Commercial knowledge transfers from universities to firms: improving the effectiveness of university–industry collaboration. *The Journal of High Technology Management Research*, 14(1), 111-133. Sine, W.D., Shane, S., Di Gregorio, D. (2003). The Halo Effect and technology licensing: the influence of institutional prestige on the licensing of university inventions. *Management Science*, 49(4), 478-496.

Taylor, P., Braddock, R. (2007). International university ranking systems and the idea of university excellence. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 29(3), 245–260.

Trippl, M., Sinozic, T., and Lawton Smith, H. (2015). The role of universities in regional development: conceptual models and policy institutions in the UK, Sweden and Austria. *European Planning Studies*, 23(9), 1722-1740.

Van Looy, B., Landoni, P., Callaert, J., van Pottelsberghe, B., Sapsalis, E., Debackere, K. (2011). Entrepreneurial effectiveness of European universities: An empirical assessment of antecedents and trade-offs. *Research Policy*, 40(4), 553-564.

Windrum, P., Tomlinson, M. (1999). Knowledge-intensive Services and International Competitiveness: A Four Country Comparison. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, Vol. 11, No. 3, 1999.

Zhang, Q., MacKenzie, N. G., Jones-Evans, D., and Huggins, R. (2016). Leveraging knowledge as a competitive asset? The intensity, performance and structure of universities' entrepreneurial knowledge exchange activities at a regional level. *Small Business Economics*, 47(3), 657-675.

Chapter 4 Barriers faced by SMEs when operating on technology licensing markets

Abstract: A major characteristic of technology diffusion is the ease of exchange of information and knowledge amongst countries, individuals, as well as organisations. The market for technology in which patents are traded or licensed, is however not very transparent and has been suffering from asymmetries of information and capacity barriers. This chapter examines the role of SMEs when operating on technology licensing markets and intends to improve the understanding of the factors affecting the licensing out and in activities of SMEs. Drawing on survey results of 332 SMEs this chapter shows that SMEs observe barriers differently after controlling for those with experience and those without. These perceived barriers are observed with organisational, costs and strategic related barriers where those with licensing-out experience are less likely to give a high importance to such barriers. From the licensing-in perspective the results show that those looking out for licensing-in opportunities are less likely concerned with the quality of the technology compared to those with actual experience. Spin-offs, either from the private or public sector, and smaller SMEs are more likely reporting high importance to costs, strategic, negotiation and credibility barriers. These results suggest that to improve technology diffusion, policies should be developed that help reduce the burden for smaller entities when it comes to designing, drafting, and negotiating contractual licensing agreements in order for them to actively participate in technology markets.

1. Introduction

A major characteristic of technology diffusion is the ease of exchange of information and knowledge amongst countries, individuals, as well as organisations. Information on how technology is transferred amongst enterprises is therefore of key importance to innovation policy. The market for technology in which patents are traded or licensed, is however not very transparent and has been suffering from asymmetries of information. Most technological sales and licenses are based on complex bilateral agreements in private law in a business-to-business setting of which much of the details are commercially sensitive (Anand and Khanna 2000; Bessy et al. 2002). Consequently, there is a lack of information on how these agreements are made, reasons why deals are not concluded and the extent to which barriers hamper mutually profitable agreements. From both the licensor and licensee side it is difficult to identify potential partners, to assess the technology upfront and the uncertainty of commercialization success. The complexity of licensing technology in terms of, asymmetric information, transparency, and absorptive capacity lead to market failures (Agrawal, et al. 2015; Cockburn and Verità 2007). Technology transfer can occur through several channels between enterprises, but this chapter focus is on licensing activities as this accounts for the largest share of transactions in these markets (Arora and Gambardella 2010) and plays a lead role in the diffusion of technology (Anand and Khanna 2000; Arora and Fosfuri 2003). Licenses are the leading mechanism in trading patents (Arora and Ceccagnoli 2006; Arora and Fosfuri 2003). The licensing deal market is not perfect however and characterised by several barriers. One of the major barriers is that the licensing deal is often based on the potential of the technology that is being licensed, but the technology itself is often underdeveloped and not yet ready for commercialisation. Commercialisation often requires further activities which must be dealt with by the licensee and in some instances with the help of the licensor (Cho and Shenkoya 2020). Trust, early involvement, and due diligence play an important role in meeting expectations (Geneste and Galvin 2013; Foos et al. 2006) and adequate management and organisation lead to success (Payumo et al. 2014; Bianchi et al. 2009). However, given the nature and the number of stakeholders involved, contractual mechanisms play a role

to ensure commitment from both sides (Anand and Khanna 2000). Empirical research has studied these barriers but not for SMEs. Most of the research is on university-industry barriers for technology licensing (Barjak et al. 2015; O'Reilly and Cunningham 2017; Bekkers and Freitas 2008, Bruneel et al. 2010). Some studies have looked at barriers for inter-enterprises licensing (Sharma 2021; Agrawal et al. 2015; Jones and Jain 2002), large firms (Gilsing et al. 2011) and federal laboratories (Martyniuk 2003). This research focuses on SMEs as there are concerns that these have difficulty coping with the organisational and market inefficiencies associated with technology licensing. Complex agreements full of legal, technological, commercial and economics aspects require several competences which smaller enterprises do not always possess. Additionally, most of the literature has looked at the licensor's perspective. This chapter contributes to the literature by examining the barriers faced by SMEs from both the licensors perspective as well as the licensee's perspective using a unique dataset of SMEs in Europe. The aim of this chapter is to improve the understanding of these barriers and which factors such as SME size, sector of activity and patent activity affect the importance of these barriers. The chapter contributes to the literature by showing that barriers are perceived very differently amongst those SMEs with experience and those without. This has implications for policies aiming to improve knowledge diffusion and open innovation as SMEs without experiences require different interventions than those already operating on technology markets. The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows. Section 2 discusses the literature on licensing technology. Section 3 describes the methodology of the empirical analysis and Section 4 provides descriptive results. Section 5 presents the results of the regression analysis and Section 6 concludes with a discussion.

2. Literature on barriers to licensing technology

There are many reasons for firms to either license-out or license-in technology. Enterprises often grant licenses because they do not have the resources to achieve full commercial exploitation of their intellectual property by themselves (Gans and Stern 2010). The inventor, for instance, may lack complementary assets to fully appropriate the potential of the

technology (Teece 1986) or may have insufficient financial resources to serve all geographic markets. In this case, licensing, can serve to broaden geographic and product markets and obtain additional revenue (Gambardella and Giarratana 2006).

One of the major barriers licensors and licensees face are difficulties in finding the right partner, also identified in the literature as market thickness (Roth 2008; Gans and Stern 2010). This search barrier is related to the time and other resources required to search for potential collaboration partners. The bargaining barrier is another early barrier associated with negotiation and coordination with potential partners. Patitt and Deeds (2021) looked at aspects of alliances and found that bigger firms usually have better bargaining position when it comes to terms such as access to facilities or nonsolicitation clauses (poaching talent). Except for when the smaller firm has a larger number of patents or proprietary knowledge, in such cases the smaller firm had a strong position to protect that knowledge (Patitt and Deeds 2021). Information asymmetries and misaligned expectations on the value of the technology further negatively affect the deal-making process (Villani et al. 2017, Cockburn and Verità 2007). These barriers inevitably lead to transaction costs (Akcigit et al. 2016).

Next to search barriers, giving a correct value to the technology is maybe one the most difficult barriers to overcome for enterprises, particularly for smaller enterprises (Chiesa et al. 2007). Pricing of technology remains different from the traditional demand and supply mechanisms as the technology itself is not yet a commodity. The lack of transparency of how patent markets work makes it difficult to value technology with no real benchmarks (Lemley and Myhrvold 2008). The technology is not 'there' yet and this 'valley of death' is both the cause and consequence of difficulties in evaluating underdeveloped technologies (Frank et al. 1996; Ellwood et al. 2020). The "valley of death" is a metaphor often used to describe the gap between a technology and its commercial application in the marketplace.

Once a partner is found and a value is set, resources play a role in evaluating the technology from the licensee perspective as well as legal knowledge on drafting agreements for both parties. The costs associated with evaluating a technology as well as the organizational and legal work necessary to create a deal is a barrier for many enterprises, in particular smaller enterprises (Hall et al. 1999). SMEs with limited resources and no external (legal) support might find themselves at disadvantage compared with larger corporations. Yet, initial evaluation of the technology candidate to a deal and the preparation of the deal according to customary legal steps requires expertise and skills that are not always available to SMEs (Anand and Khanna 2000; Bessy et al. 2002). Legal barriers such as uncertainty on the applicable law, differences of regimes and jurisdictions represent concerns for contractual parties, especially SMEs that cannot invest financial resources in legal services aimed at assessing the risks associated with foreign jurisdictions (Mazurkiewicz and Poteralska 2015).

One of the main concerns in drafting a technology licensing agreement is to ensure that the licensee, in a principal-agent setting, aligns with licensor's interests. Granting a license, poses substantial risks for the inventor such as the risk of piracy, the loss of control over exploitation of the technology, and the dependence on others for revenue (Dratler 2021). This asks for an accurate draft of any agreement covering topics such as opportunistic behaviour (Agrawal et.al. 2015), 'best effort' clauses (Fernández-Molina 2004) milestones (Dechenauxex et al. 2011) and 'warranties' related to sharing risks (Dratler 2021) which are particularly relevant for the ICT sector (Rustad and Kavusturan 2019; San and Peng 2016).

Another barrier affecting both licensors and licensees are perceptions of an organisation (Podolny 1993). The assumptions, based on economic research, are that these perceptions emerge from past performance and influence exchange transactions by providing signals of quality. Positive external perceptions about the general organisation influence external perceptions of its goods (Shenkar and Yuchtman-Yaar 1997). Es-Sadki and Arundel (2021) showed that university rankings as a proxy for research quality has a positive influence on technology transfer activities of universities. Scandura and Iammarino (2022) reported a positive relationship between academic engagement and departments in applied sciences. They furthermore note that the role of research quality for academic engagement strictly depends on the

level of the department's previous experience in university-industry partnerships, where this is a moderating factor in basic science departments. Grimpe and Fier (2010) have argued that faculty quality as measured by being a research group leader, publications, and patent applications, serves as a signal to potential commercialisation partners in industry for public research organisations. McCarthy and Ruckman (2017) found that licensor prominence, licensor knowledge structuration and patent quality increases royalty rates and results in a strong licensing-out position for licensors. Furthermore Prokop et al. (2019) showed in their study the importance of credibility for spin-offs next to early investments and an entrepreneurial mindset (Prokop et al. 2019). The above-described barriers apply in some way or another to both the licensor as well as the licensee. There are however a few specific barriers that only apply to licensors or licensees.

Barriers to licensing-out

Licensing creates competition by giving away proprietary know-how to potential rival enterprises. One of the major risks involved with creating a competitor is that the licensing enterprise may lose its technological or competitive "edge" by setting up its future competitor in innovation markets (Choi 2002). In particular, granting others the right to use its intellectual property may enable them to develop new products, which makes the licensed technology obsolete and leaves the licensor in backwater of technology—the so-called 'boomerang' effect (Choi 2002). This effect is particularly present in evolving technologies where there is a risk that licensees downstream further develop the technology and appropriate the improvements, thus leaving behind the licensor (Leone and Reichstein 2012). It is therefore not surprising that enterprises are often reluctant to license their cutting-edge technologies since they may be giving their rivals the knowledge necessary to develop a better technology (Roberts and Mizouchi 1989; Davies 1977).

Barriers to licensing-in

Dealing with the technology, which is developed by someone else and hence leads to difficulties in understanding, is a major barrier for licensees. These absorptive capacity barriers have been studied by several authors (Szulanski 1996; Cohen and Levinthal 1990; Xie et al. 2018) with several suggestions to mitigate this barrier such as consulting provisions where the licensee receives access to skill and competences of inventors (Arundel and Geuna 2004). Another mitigating factor as discussed in (Schartinger et al. 2001; Arundel and Geuna 2004) is R&D activity. Enterprises that invest heavily in R&D are likely to possess a high technological capability that also allows them to absorb the knowledge developed outside the firm. If 'absorptive capacity' (Cohen and Levinthal 1990) has a major role we would expect that the higher the firm's R&D intensity (or investment) the lower the barriers to engage in licensing-in.

3. Methodology

The data used in this study is from a survey on technology licensing activities of SMEs funded by the European Commission, DG Research and Innovation (DG RTD). The survey was conducted in 2017, a copy of the survey questionnaire can be found in the appendix. The survey sample were SMEs that received financing under Horizon 2020. In most cases the questionnaire was answered by the director or head of R&D or similar positions within the enterprise. All the SMEs are research active, however not all SMEs (57.8%) have a patent (yet) and not all SMEs are active in licensing activities, see Table 1. However, since all of the SMEs are research active it is fair to assume that the SMEs have a good understanding of the pro's and con's to licensing technology. The survey, which used both printed copies of the survey as well the possibility to answer online, led in total to 384 responses, with a response rate of 26.9%. Several responses were invalid for various reasons such as: not reporting any technology transfer activities, not completing the questionnaire, or item non-responses for independent variables of interest such as the sector (scientific focus) they are mainly operating in, or the number of research employees or patent portfolio. These incomplete or invalid responses were excluded from this analysis and only enterprises that answered all the variables of interest are included. This left 332 eligible enterprises for analysis. Table 1 provides basic characteristics of the SMEs in the dataset.

The independent variables used in the regression analysis all come from the same questionnaire. Enterprises are categorised in three size classes: microenterprises (1 to 9 employees), small enterprises (10 to 49 employees) and medium-sized (50 to 249 employees). A dummy variable for spin-offs is included as well as the research intensity of the enterprise measured by the share of research personnel. Another dummy variable is included for those enterprises with a written licensing strategy. Respondents were asked to report on their licensing activities. Two questions of interest are used to construct variables used in the analysis. The first (binary) variable is looking out for licensing opportunities and a second (binary) variable for licensing experience. Note that these two variables are not mutually exclusive as some enterprise have no experience and are (currently) not looking for licensing opportunities, while other SMEs have licensing experience but are (currently) not looking out for licensing opportunities. Some have no experience but are looking out for licensing opportunities and lastly some enterprises have both experience and are looking out for licensing opportunities. Patenting activity is included as a categorical variable with enterprises grouped into those with no patents, one patent in their portfolio, two to five, and six or more. Categorising the patent portfolio is done to reduce the effect of outliers and to control for the large group of enterprise with just one patent (15.1%). The scientific focus of the enterprise is included to see if barriers differ depending on the sector. Lastly, the geographical area of the SMEs is included as a control variable to account for regional differences. Due to a small number of observations, it was not possible to include country dummies for each country and instead regional geographical areas are used except for countries for which enough observations are available.

Variable	Mean	Std. Deviation
Number of employees (FTE)	29.33	44.66
Number of research personnel (FTE)	10.58	19.07
Research intensity (share of research	0.53	0.33
personnel)		
Patent applications	0.98	4.82
Patent portfolio	5.71	20.48
License out agreements	1.98	13.63
License in agreements	0.32	1.53
Variables included in the regression analysis ¹		
Dummy variables	Ν	Percent
Spin-offs (both private sector and university	110	33.1
or research institute)		
Written license strategy	62	18.7
Looking out for licensing-out opportunities	160	48.2
Looking out for licensing-in opportunities	76	22.9
Licensing-out experience	95	28.6
Licensing-in experience	97	29.2
Categorical variables	Ν	Percent
Enterprise size		
Micro (1 to 9)	154	46.4
Small (10 to 49)	121	36.4
Medium-sized (50 to 249)	57	17.2
Patent portfolio size		
Zero	192	57.8
One	50	15.1
2 to 5	42	12.7
6 or more	48	14.5
Scientific focus (sector)		
Biomedical	61	18.4
ICT	70	21.1
Material Science	32	9.6
Energy and Sustainability (low carbon)	53	16.0
Engineering	43	13.0
Electronics	27	8.1
Other	46	13.9

Table 1. Basis characteristics of the SMEs

Categorical variables

	Ν	Percent
Geographical area ²		
Western Europe	79	23.8
Northern Europe	29	8.7
Southern Europe	36	10.8
Eastern Europe	24	7.2
Germany	41	12.3
UK	36	10.8
Italy	48	14.5
Spain	39	11.7

Source: Own calculation based on survey results. N=332 1: Research intensity is also included in the regressions 2: Subregions as defined by the UN Geoscheme. SMEs from Germany, UK, Italy and Spain are excluded from Western and Southern Europe.

The objective of this chapter is to examine the factors affecting the relative importance of a variety of barriers to technology licensing, either for those SMEs licensing-out technology or for SMEs licensing-in technology. There are two survey questions on the importance of barriers that can be used for this purpose, one on licensing-out and the second one on licensing-in technology. Respondents were asked to assess the level of importance of barriers (none, low, medium and high) to licensing-out their own technology and barriers to licensing-in technology developed by others. These questions were asked to all SMEs, regardless of their experience with licensing activities or not.

Using the data obtained from the two questions on licensing-out and licensing-in and other basis characteristics from the enterprise collected with the survey, this study proceeds in three steps to address the research objective of this chapter. The first step, as reported in Section 4, starts by analysing the differences in the importance of barriers to licensing-out on the one hand and licensing-in on the other, using descriptive statistics. The results are provided in Tables 2 and 3. After this step a hierarchical cluster analysis is carried out to categorise the different barriers into groups. It is important to note that this technique is used to cluster variables i.e. the barriers to technology licensing and not to group cases. This approach follows a similar methodology as Bekkers and Freitas (2008). Five clusters of barriers were identified for

licensing-out activities. These clusters bring together barriers that often are given similar ratings from individual respondents. The barriers 'underdeveloped technology' and 'potential loss of technological or competitive edge' are combined in the 'strategic' cluster but also included separately as these barriers are distinctively different as identified by Choi (2002). Six clusters of barriers were identified for licensing-in activities. Cluster analysis is used instead of factor analysis as the objective is not to reduce the number of variables (barriers) but to group them based on closeness to each other. The clustering of barriers avoids neglecting barriers as at least one-third of the respondents finds each barrier for both licensing-out and licensing-out of medium or high-importance, except for credibility of licensor as part of the licensing-in barriers which is just below one-third (31.8%, see Table 3).

		Share of	
	Average	medium or high	Most important
Barriers to licensing-out	importance	importance (%)	barrier (%)
A. Unknown regulatory framework	2.6	56.3	7.2
B. Fear of litigation	2.4	45.1	0.9
C. Lack of skilled employees within	2.5	FO 1	7.0
your enterprise	2.5	52.1	7.0
D. Underdeveloped technology	2.5	52.7	10.2
E. Potential loss of	28	62.7	12.2
technological/competitive edge	2.0	02.7	15.5
F. Lack of experience in drafting	2 5	E1 2	2.2
agreements	2.5	51.5	5.5
G. Costs for external support to			
evaluate the commercial potential of	2.8	62.0	5.1
your technology			
H. Costs for external support to			
prepare patent applications and other	2.8	61.8	7.8
legal matters involving IP rights			
I. Costs for external support to	27	50.2	2.1
prepare licensing contracts	2.7	59.5	2.1
J. Costs for external support to	27	57.8	0.0
market or advertise your technology	2.7	57.0	9.9
K. Difficulties in identifying the right	27	60.1	7 8
licensees	2.7	00.1	7.0
L. Lack of information to price the	26	58.3	4.2
license	2.0	56.5	4.2
M. Difficulties in reaching	2.4	17.6	4.5
agreements on terms other than price	2.4	47.0	4.5
N. Difficulties to monitor or enforce a	26	56.9	6.0
license agreement	2.0	50.9	0.0
O. Credibility of your enterprise	2.3	59.0	2.7
P. Credibility of potential licensee	2.3	39.6	0.6
Other	1.6	19.8	6.3
Total average	2.5	53.1	-

Table 2. Importance rating for the barriers to technology licensing out(Step 1)

N=332

-		Share of	Most
	Average	medium or high	important
Barriers to licensing-in	importance	importance (%)	barrier (%)
A. Unknown regulatory framework	2.4	48.2	5.7
B. Fear of litigation	2.3	43.7	1.2
C. Lack of skilled employees within	23	42.4	3.6
your enterprise	2.5	12.1	5.0
D. Technology offered is	26	54.4	87
underdeveloped	2.0	01.1	0.7
E. Technology offered is of low quality	2.6	51.1	5.1
F. Lack of experience in drafting	2.2	20.0	1.0
agreements	2.5	39.9	1.0
G. Costs associated with drafting and	2.5	51.2	57
managing licensing agreements	2.5	01.2	5.7
H. Difficulties in identifying the right	2.4	49.8	3.0
licensor			
I. Lack of information on value of	2.6	55.7	3.6
technology			
J. Too high prices charged by licensor	3.0	73.6	16.6
K. Difficulties in reaching agreements on terms other than price	2.5	55.0	4.5
L. Refusal of licensor to grant license	2.2	39.7	0.9
M. Risk of exposing your technology	2.4	49.5	5.7
strategy	0.4	21.0	2.0
N. Credibility of your enterprise	2.1	31.8	3.0
O. Credibility of licensor	2.4	44.1	2.1
P. No need or interest to licensing-in	2.5	58.2	18.7
technology			
Q. Other	1.5	19.0	9.9
Total average	2.4	47.5	-

Table 3. Importance rating for the barriers to technology licensing in(Step 1)

N=332

The third step, as reported in Section 5, addresses the sources of the variation in each of the identified clusters of barriers to technology licensing. The dummies for each cluster take the value '1' if the average score for that cluster was equal to 3 or above, which means that the group of barriers is at least considered important. Respondents were asked to rate the importance of each barrier (both licensing-in and out) to technology licensing, using the following categories: 1: 'Not important', 2: 'Low importance' 3: 'Medium importance', 4: 'High importance'.

In Section 5, the estimates of the binary logistic models are analysed for the importance of each of the clusters of barriers to technology licensing (in or out) on the independent variables. The Wald chi-square values are highly significant in all the regression estimations indicating that the estimated models fit the data significantly better than a null model.

4. Importance of barriers to technology licensing

In the questionnaire respondents were asked to indicate the importance of barriers to licensing-out their technology and barriers to licensing-in technology. Table 2 reports the average rated importance of 16 barriers to licensing-out as well as the percent for each barrier rated as most important amongst the 332 SMEs. The highest rated average importance is observed for the barrier 'potential loss of competitive edge' and two costs barriers, 'for external support to evaluate commercial potential' and 'for external support to prepare IP documentation'. Followed by two other costs barriers as well as 'lack of information to price the license'. The potential loss of a competitive edge is most frequently reported as the most important barrier followed by 'underdeveloped technology' and 'costs for external support to market or advertise the technology'.

In a following section of the questionnaire the respondents were asked to report on the importance of 15 barriers to licensing-in technology. Table 3 reports the average rated importance of the licensing-in barriers as well as the percent for each barrier rated as most important. 'Too high prices charged by licensor' stands out as the most important barrier both in terms of highest average importance and most frequently reported as the most important barrier to licensing-in. Other important barriers relate to the technology itself such as its development stage, quality, and information on value.

Both lists of barriers for licensing-out and licensing-in are similar, but the perspective differs and there are distinct barriers depending on the perspective, for instance 'potential loss of competitive edge' is not relevant for the licensee (licensing-in) whereas 'too high prices charged' is not applicable for licensors (licensing-out). The different perspectives also explain why some barriers are part of one group in the licensing-out cluster and not part in the same group in the licensing-in clusters and vice versa. Of note, responses to the 'other' category are not used due to insufficient written text to add or reclassify these responses.

To better understand the pattern of the importance of these different barriers to technology licensing a hierarchical cluster analysis on the pooled response data (332 SMEs) is performed. This exercise brings together barriers that often receive similar ratings of importance among the respondents (note that the barriers are clustered and not the respondents). It is important to note that the barriers are grouped based on correlated responding patterns using the full dataset, but the heterogeneity of the SMEs is not lost in the regression analysis as variables such as size, sector and patenting activity are included to account for these differences. The grouping of barriers is studied by allowing for any number of clusters between 2 and 8. Tables 4 and 5 shows how the different barriers are clustered together for licensing-out barriers and licensing-in barriers respectively. The clusters chosen all include at least two barriers. Ideally clusters with one single barrier should be avoided but out of research interest following Choi (2002) results for the strategic cluster, the grouping of the barriers 'Underdeveloped technology (d)' and 'Potential loss of competitive edge (e)' are also analysed separately in Section 5. Following the outcome of the cluster analysis the subsequent grouping emerged which are according to the literature discussion above plausible clusters of barriers to technology licensing:

Licensing-out clusters:

- Framework and Organisational (A, B, C and F)
- Costs (G, H, I and J)
- Asymmetric information (K, L, M and N)
- Strategic (D and E) and separately:
 - Underdeveloped technology (D)
 - Potential loss of competitive edge (E)
- Credibility (O and P)

Licensing-in clusters:

- Framework and Organisational (A, B and C)
- Quality (D and E)
- Experience and Costs (F, G, H and I)
- Negotiation (J and K)
- Strategic (L and M)
- Credibility (N and O)

	Ν	um	bei	r of	all	ow	ed
			cl	uste	ers		
Barriers to licensing-out	8	7	6	5	4	3	2
A. Unknown regulatory framework	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
B. Fear of litigation	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
C. Lack of skilled employees within your enterprise	2	2	2	1	1	1	1
D. Underdeveloped technology	3	3	3	2	2	2	2
E. Potential loss of technological/competitive edge	4	4	3	2	2	2	2
F. Lack of experience in drafting agreements	2	2	2	1	1	1	1
G. Costs for external support to evaluate the commercial potential of your technology	5	5	4	3	3	3	1
H. Costs for external support to prepare patent applications and other legal matters involving IP rights	5	5	4	3	3	3	1
I. Costs for external support to prepare licensing contracts	5	5	4	3	3	3	1
J. Costs for external support to market or advertise your technology	5	5	4	3	3	3	1
K. Difficulties in identifying the right licensees	6	6	5	4	4	1	1
L. Lack of information to price the license	6	6	5	4	4	1	1
M. Difficulties in reaching agreements on terms other than price	7	6	5	4	4	1	1
N. Difficulties to monitor or enforce a license agreement	7	6	5	4	4	1	1
O. Credibility of your enterprise	8	7	6	5	2	2	2
P. Credibility of potential licensee	8	7	6	5	2	2	2
N=332							

Table 4. Clusters of barriers to technology licensing-out (step 1)

	1	Nun	nbe	r of	allo	wed	1
			cl	uste	rs		
Barriers to licensing-in	8	7	6	5	4	3	2
A. Unknown regulatory framework	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
B. Fear of litigation	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
C. Lack of skilled employees within your enterprise	2	2	1	1	1	1	1
D. Technology offered is underdeveloped	3	3	2	2	2	2	2
E. Technology offered is of low quality	3	3	2	2	2	2	2
F. Lack of experience in drafting agreements	4	4	3	3	1	1	1
G. Costs associated with drafting and managing	4	4	3	3	1	1	1
licensing agreements	т	т	0	0	1	T	1
H. Difficulties in identifying the right licensor	5	4	3	3	1	1	1
I. Lack of information on value of technology	5	4	3	3	1	1	1
J. Too high prices charged by licensor	6	5	4	4	3	2	2
K. Difficulties in reaching agreements on terms other	6	5	4	4	з	2	2
than price	0	5	т	т	5	2	2
L. Refusal of licensor to grant license	7	6	5	5	4	3	1
M. Risk of exposing your technology strategy	7	6	5	5	4	3	1
N. Credibility of your enterprise	8	7	6	5	4	3	1
O. Credibility of potential licensor	8	7	6	5	4	3	1

Table 5. Clusters of barriers to technology licensing-in (step 1)

N=332

5. Explaining the different barriers to technology licensing

As shown in Tables 2 and 3 there are several barriers to technology licensing activities. The following section aims to explain the variance in importance of different clusters of barriers by drawing on the insights of the literature review. For this purpose, binary logistic regressions are conducted to analyse the influence of characteristics of the SMEs, their scientific focus, their experience with licensing and their patenting activities. All the models presented in Tables 6 and 7 are indicating that the model fits the data significantly better than a null model. In Section 5.1, using the results from Table 6, the barriers to licensing-out are analysed by examining the importance of the six identified clusters of barriers to licensing-out. Similarly, in Section 5.2, using the results from Table 7, the clusters of barriers to licensing-in are analysed by examining the importance of six identified clusters.

5.1 Barriers to licensing-out technology

In this section the objective is to understand how the variables of interest, such as SME size, sector of activity, patent activity and other characteristics influence the importance of each group of barriers to technology licensingout. The significant results are summarised below (see Table 6):

- The 'Framework and Organisational' barriers are more important the more the enterprise is 'looking out for licensing-out opportunities' but less important for SMEs with actual experience with licensing-out. This suggests the presence of revealed barriers (D'Este et al. (2012). SMEs with ICT as scientific focus find this barrier more important whereas SMEs in Italy find these barriers less important.
- The 'Costs' barriers are more important for small SMEs (10 to 49 employees) and spin-offs. This cluster is less important for SMEs which have experience with licensing-out technology. Also, SMEs in the ICT sector find these barriers more important.
- Asymmetric information barriers, such as difficulty identifying the right licensee or lack of information to price the license, are more important for spin-offs. The results also show significant results for the

different sectors included in the analysis. The magnitude as measured by the size of the coefficient is different across sectors with stronger results observed amongst SMEs in the Biomedical, Engineering and Electronics sector. On the other hand, SMEs with experience are less likely reporting barriers related to asymmetric information.

- Strategic barriers which are identified in the hierarchical cluster analysis as the combination of 'Underdeveloped technology' and 'Loss of competitive edge' is more important for spin-offs and SMEs looking out for licensing-out activities. It is also found more important for SMEs with a large patent portfolio (6 or more). SMEs in Western Europe (excluding the UK and Germany) also find these barriers more important.
- Looking at the individual barrier 'Underdeveloped technology' (part of the 'strategic' cluster) shows that small SMEs and spin-offs more often report this as an important barrier. On the other hand, SMEs with a high research intensity (share of R&D personnel) are less likely reporting this as an important barrier. Enterprise looking out for licensing-out opportunities find this barrier more important. No sectoral or geographical correlations are found to be significant.
- The barrier most frequently reported as the most important barrier, 'Loss of competitive edge' (part of the 'strategic' cluster) is more important for spin-offs but remarkably less important for microenterprises (1 to 9 employees). Of interest are the results for the patent portfolio categories: showing, for all categories, a higher importance of this barrier amongst SMEs with patenting activities. SMEs operating in the Material Science, Energy and Sustainability, Engineering and Electronic sector also find this barrier more important. Geographical differences are observed with SMEs in Western and Eastern Europe and the UK finding this barrier more important. Enterprises who are 'looking out for licensing opportunities', find this barrier more important. Whereas on the other hand, SMEs with licensing experience find this barrier less important.

• Lastly the 'Credibility' barriers are found to be more important for micro-enterprises and spin-offs, SMEs in the Engineering sector and SMEs in Eastern Europe.

5.2 Barriers to licensing-in technology

In this section the objective is to understand how the variables of interest influence the importance of each group of barriers to technology licensing-in. All the models presented include the same independent variables as for licensing-out except for the variable 'looking out for licensing-out opportunities' which is replaced with its counterpart 'looking out for licensing-in opportunities'. The significant results indicating where the barriers are more important are summarised below (see Table 7):

- The 'Framework and Organisational' barriers are less important amongst enterprises looking out for licensing-in opportunities. Actual experience has no significant effect. SMEs with ICT as scientific focus find this barrier more important whereas SMEs in Italy find these barriers less important. These results are in line with the results found for licensing-out.
- The 'quality' barriers are found to be of less importance for SMEs looking for licensing-in opportunities but of more importance for those enterprise with actual experience with licensing-in. None of the different sectors show any significant result suggesting that in terms of technological quality, all the sectoral results are induced by other factors. SMEs in Italy find these barriers less important.
- Experience barriers such as a lack of experience and costs associated with drafting agreements as well as identifying technologies and their value is more important for spin-offs, and remarkably for those SMEs which have a written licensing strategy. The latter could be explained by having such a strategy it is more difficult to meet the criteria set out for a good licensor and value determination. These barriers are furthermore found to be of less importance for SMEs looking for licensing-in opportunities but of more importance for those enterprise with actual experience with licensing-in. SMEs in the ICT sector and in Southern Europe find these barriers more important.

- Negotiation barriers which are identified in the hierarchical cluster analysis as the combination of 'Too high prices charged by licensor' and 'Difficulties in reaching agreements on terms other than price' is more important for spin-offs but less important for SMEs looking out for licensing-in opportunities. Several sectoral influences are observed, SMEs in the Biomedical, ICT, Material Science, Energy and Sustainability and Engineering sector find these negotiation barriers more important. The magnitude as measured by the size of the coefficient is stronger for SMEs in the ICT and Material Science sectors. SMEs in Western Europe (excluding Germany and the UK) find these barriers more important.
- Strategic barriers such as 'Refusal of licensor to grant technology' and 'Risk of exposing your technology strategy' are more important for small SMEs, but less for SMEs looking out for licensing-in opportunities. SMEs in the UK find these barriers less important.
- Lastly the 'Credibility' cluster is found to be more important for smallenterprises, spin-offs, and SMEs in the ICT sector, but less for SMEs looking out for licensing-in opportunities.

וורבוואחוק-טעו וברווווטוטל)	(z dane)					Cluster F	
			Cluster C		Cluster E	Loss of	
	Cluster A Organisational	Cluster B Costs	Asymmetric information	Cluster D Strategic	Underdeveloped technology	competitive edge	Cluster G Credibility
SME characteristics	þ			þ	3	þ	
Enterprise size							
- Micro enterprise	-0.267	0.484	0.385	-0.154	0.448	-0.976**	0.760^{*}
	(0.413)	(0.39)	(0.393)	(0.386)	(0.385)	(0.423)	(0.433)
- Small enterprise	0.137	0.633*	0.255	0.483	0.703**	0.129	0.478
	(0.383)	(0.361)	(0.360)	(0.354)	(0.356)	(0.387)	(0.403)
Spin-off	0.148	0.353	0.491^{*}	0.698**	0.695**	0.485^{*}	0.725**
	(0.291)	(0.269)	(0.274)	(0.273)	(0.276)	(0.293)	(0.288)
Research intensity	0.213	0.137	-0.250	-0.305	-0.948**	-0.081	-0.471
	(0.445)	(0.410)	(0.418)	(0.411)	(0.416)	(0.441)	(0.441)
Written licensing strategy	0.074	0.176	0.123	-0.550	-0.293	-0.297	0.388
	(0.375)	(0.357)	(0.364)	(0.358)	(0.361)	(0.384)	(0.371)
Looking out for licensing	0.640^{**}	0.365	0.245	0.572*	0.855***	0.707**	0.344
opportunities	(0.324)	(0.298)	(0.300)	(0.299)	(0.303)	(0.323)	(0.318)
Licensing-out experience	-0.995***	-0.962***	-0.833**	-0.354	-0.215	-0.758**	-0.467
	(0.352)	(0.316)	(0.322)	(0.311)	(0.313)	(0.334)	(0.336)
Patent portfolio							
Zero (reference category)							
- One	0.366	0.463	-0.207	0.433	0.524	0.805*	0.086
	(0.443)	(0.400)	(0.399)	(0.397)	(0.398)	(0.425)	(0.441)
- Two to five	0.688	0.115	-0.824	0.811	0.422	1.391^{**}	0.915
	(0.586)	(0.544)	(0.559)	(0.553)	(0.552)	(0.609)	(0.570)
- Six or more	0.374	0.469	-0.113	0.881^{**}	0.099	1.541^{***}	0.500
	(0.488)	(0.441)	(0.441)	(0.443)	(0.441)	(0.499)	(0.473)

arriareto of and cluster of b daid buc ...ibo un model on the m locietio Tahla 6 Ectimates of the hina

			Cluster C		Cluster E	Cluster F Loss of	
	Cluster A Organisational	Cluster B Costs	Asymmetric information	Cluster D Strategic	Underdeveloped technology	competitive edge	Cluster G Credibility
Sector	0			0	60	-0	
Other (reference category)							
Biomedical	-0.235	0.425	1.205^{**}	0.609	0.335	0.451	0.414
	(0.491)	(0.438)	(0.471)	(0.441)	(0.444)	(0.454)	(0.489)
ICT	0.931^{**}	1.206^{***}	1.001^{**}	0.374	-0.139	0.712	0.619
	(0.442)	(0.422)	(0.451)	(0.42)	(0.414)	(0.435)	(0.467)
Material Science	0.091	0.611	0.962*	-0.052	-0.527	1.091^{*}	0.347
	(0.569)	(0.523)	(0.555)	(0.53)	(0.527)	(0.598)	(0.585)
Energy and Sustainability	0.361	0.419	0.822*	0.323	-0.165	0.868^{*}	0.319
	(0.472)	(0.439)	(0.473)	(0.446)	(0.44)	(0.472)	(0.497)
Engineering	-0.194	0.667	1.083^{**}	0.631	-0.202	0.842^{*}	0.998^{**}
	(0.525)	(0.461)	(0.494)	(0.463)	(0.457)	(0.484)	(0.507)
Electronics	0.293	0.798	1.670^{***}	0.495	-0.165	1.357^{**}	-0.358
	(0.579)	(0.528)	(0.567)	(0.535)	(0.534)	(0.587)	(0.656)
Geography							
Spain (reference category)							
Western Europe	-0.033	-0.127	0.123	0.709*	-0.293	1.142^{**}	0.553
	(0.432)	(0.421)	(0.430)	(0.428)	(0.426)	(0.454)	(0.471)
Northern Europe	-0.055	0.208	0.813	0.465	-0.145	0.609	0.456
	(0.539)	(0.527)	(0.537)	(0.527)	(0.534)	(0.548)	(0.565)
Southern Europe	0.168	0.556	0.507	0.588	-0.431	0.742	0.483
	(0.520)	(0.526)	(0.509)	(0.510)	(0.508)	(0.533)	(0.554)
Eastern Europe	-0.096	0.385	0.342	0.839	0.157	2.014^{***}	1.172^{**}
	(0.575)	(0.547)	(0.558)	(0.556)	(0.556)	(0.679)	(0.590)

			Chister C		Chister F	Lluster r Loss of	
	Cluster A	Cluster B	Asymmetric	Cluster D	Underdeveloped	competitive	Cluster G
	Organisational	Costs	information	Strategic	technology	edge	Credibility
Germany	-0.782	-0.170	-0.493	0.047	-0.611	0.420	-0.026
	(0.547)	(0.490)	(0.511)	(0.494)	(0.496)	(0.511)	(0.556)
UK	-0.665	-0.158	0.178	0.682	0.028	1.133^{**}	0.325
	(0.550)	(0.499)	(0.511)	(0.514)	(0.519)	(0.540)	(0.550)
Italy	-0.805*	-0.363	-0.575	-0.308	-0.749	0.030	-0.215
	(0.487)	(0.456)	(0.478)	(0.468)	(0.466)	(0.479)	(0.519)
Constant	-1.213*	-1.527**	-1.308**	-1.489**	-0.339	-1.462**	-2.393***
	(0.683)	(0.637)	(0.660)	(0.644)	(0.637)	(0.673)	(0.735)
Country fixed effects	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Observations	332	332	332	332	332	332	332
Log likelihood	383.6	427.3	417.4	426.6	425.4	380.4	380.8
LR chi-square	35.3**	32.9*	35.9*	33.6*	33.8*	58.3***	35.1^{*}
Pseudo R-Square	0.14	0.13	0.14	0.13	0.13	0.22	0.14

to licensing-in tecl	or the build of the 2) hnology (step 2)		ווב זוובמזמזוו מזומ	ווואזו מאבזמאב זוווף	חוומוורב חו במרוו ר	10110101010101010101010101010101010101
	Cluster A	Cluster B	Cluster C	Cluster D	Cluster E	Cluster F
	Organisational	Quality	Experience	Negotiation	Strategic	Credibility
SME characteristics						
Enterprise size						
- Micro	0.153	0.213	0.414	-0.120	0.472	0.659
enterprise	(0.414)	(0.393)	(0.419)	(0.406)	(0.419)	(0.473)
- Small	0.167	0.169	0.109	0.478	0.785**	0.845*
enterprise	(0.377)	(0.361)	(0.392)	(0.374)	(0.388)	(0.435)
Spin-off	0.166	0.321	0.553^{*}	0.810^{***}	0.465	0.646^{**}
	(0.296)	(0.277)	(0.29)	(0.291)	(0.295)	(0.305)
Research intensity	-0.719	0.449	0.137	0.166	-0.321	0.478
	(0.439)	(0.414)	(0.436)	(0.427)	(0.438)	(0.472)
Written licensing	0.184	0.060	0.664^{*}	-0.250	0.089	0.247
strategy	(0.350)	(0.333)	(0.347)	(0.344)	(0.354)	(0.352)
Looking out for						
licensing-in	-0.847**	-1.408***	-1.249***	-1.357***	-1.521***	-1.156***
opportunities	(0.345)	(0.318)	(0.363)	(0.308)	(0.372)	(0.383)
Licensing-in	-0.460	0.582**	-0.592*	0.276	-0.058	0.175
experience	(0.303)	(0.283)	(0.304)	(0.295)	(0.298)	(0.306)
Patent portfolio						
Zero (reference)						
- One	0.494	-0.382	-0.231	0.081	0.396	-0.637
	(0.436)	(0.401)	(0.428)	(0.418)	(0.434)	(0.435)
- Two to five	0.135	-0.682	-0.296	-0.074	-0.369	-0.343
	(0.605)	(0.554)	(0.585)	(0.563)	(0.636)	(0.597)
- Six or more	0.489	0.011	0.384	0.240	0.762	0.181
	(0.475)	(0.441)	(0.462)	(0.459)	(0.468)	(0.462)

of each cluster of harriore \$ بلمنظ لمبدد ...ibom Table 7 Fetimates of the hinary logistic model on the

	Cluster A Organisational	Cluster B Quality	Cluster C Experience	Cluster D Negotiation	Cluster E Strategic	Cluster F Credibility
Sector						
Other (reference)						
Biomedical	0.765	0.287	-0.155	1.142^{**}	0.471	0.373
	(0.493)	(0.444)	(0.489)	(0.463)	(0.496)	(0.52)
ICT	1.178^{**}	0.506	0.829*	1.294^{***}	0.752	1.095^{**}
	(0.464)	(0.426)	(0.45)	(0.444)	(0.460)	(0.494)
Material Science	0.498	-0.078	-0.045	1.278**	-0.574	-0.297
	(0.593)	(0.535)	(0.587)	(0.57)	(0.638)	(0.632)
Energy and	0.227	-0.200	0.392	1.129**	0.776	-0.086
Sustainability	(0.512)	(0.456)	(0.485)	(0.468)	(0.487)	(0.557)
Engineering	0.516	0.041	0.411	1.028^{**}	0.809	0.303
	(0.520)	(0.476)	(0.512)	(0.49)	(0.512)	(0.562)
Electronics	0.946	0.471	0.288	0.773	0.505	-0.636
	(0.586)	(0.546)	(0.582)	(0.556)	(0.593)	(0.710)
Geography						
Spain (reference)						
Western Europe	-0.281	0.029	0.281	0.856*	0.002	0.653
	(0.442)	(0.431)	(0.458)	(0.450)	(0.451)	(0.503)
Northern Europe	-0.928	0.039	-0.401	0.280	-0.441	0.503
	(0.576)	(0.534)	(0.577)	(0.554)	(0.569)	(0.611)
Southern Europe	0.212	0.363	1.099^{**}	0.476	0.088	0.578
	(0.522)	(0.516)	(0.531)	(0.521)	(0.528)	(0.571)
Eastern Europe	0.099	0.118	0.113	0.606	0.509	0.310
	(0.562)	(0.563)	(0.581)	(0.592)	(0.573)	(0.631)
Germany	-0.075	0.092	-0.316	0.145	-0.117	0.237
	(0.510)	(0.513)	(0.564)	(0.522)	(0.530)	(0.589)
UK	-0.775	-0.118	0.013	0.298	-1.062*	0.242
	(0.55)	(0.512)	(0.551)	(0.530)	(0.584)	(0.600)

	Cluster A	Cluster B	Cluster C	Cluster D	Cluster E	Cluster F
	Organisational	Quality	Experience	Negotiation	Strategic	Credibility
Italy	-1.085**	-0.858*	0.150	-0.057	-0.336	-0.455
	(0.511)	(0.482)	(0.492)	(0.475)	(0.488)	(0.571)
Constant	-0.998	-0.261	-1.239*	-1.343**	-1.532**	-2.220***
	(0.685)	(0.649)	(0.695)	(0.679)	(0.696)	(0.783)
Country fixed effects	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Observations	332	332	332	332	332	332
Log likelihood	381.1	411.2	379.7	395.3	378.5	342.6
LR chi-square	36.2**	48.8**	49.9***	59.1***	52.4***	49.3***
Pseudo R-Square	0.15	0.18	0.19	0.22	0.20	0.20

* = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01
6. Discussion and conclusion

This chapter intends to explore the factors affecting the relative importance of a variety of barriers to technology licensing, either for those SMEs licensing-out technology or for SMEs licensing-in technology. The evidence has shown that experience and looking out for licensing opportunities are the determining factors that explain the variance in how barriers are perceived.

Barriers to licensing-out

Enterprises which have experience with licensing-out technology are less likely to report barriers related to framework and organisational conditions, costs, asymmetric information, and loss of competitive edge. Of specific interest are the results found for the organisational and loss of competitive edge barriers. In these cases, enterprises who are looking out for licensing opportunities (these may include those with experience) are more likely giving a high importance to these barriers. This result suggests that there are revealed barriers as discussed by D'Este et al. (2012) who refer in their study to SMEs engaging in the innovation process. For instance, the results for framework and organisational and loss of competitive edge barriers show that there are learning experiences when the enterprise stats engaging in licensing activities. The smaller set of experienced SMEs (28.6% see Table 1) which have learned by engaging in the licensing process are less likely reporting framework and organisational or loss of competitive edge barriers compared to the bigger set of SMEs (48.2% see Table 1) that are looking out for licensing-out opportunities. These results suggest that learning-by-doing can reduce the perceived importance of these barriers and gives room for policy supporting training or other activities for SMEs with no experience yet.

Smaller SMEs and spin-offs are more likely reporting barriers such as asymmetric information, underdeveloped technology, and issues with credibility. A result in line with the literature findings from Hall et al. (1999) and can be explained given their limited capacity for engaging in licensing activities. SMEs with patenting activities, moreover those with more patents, are more likely giving a high important to the barrier potential loss of competitive edge. This result is in line with the literature discussed in section 2 such as Choi (2002). A major risk of licensing-out is the creation of a competitor and thereby losing your competitive edge. The results for those SMEs with a patent portfolio should therefore not be surprising as these SMEs invested substantial time and resources in their technology. On the other hand, micro enterprises report less likely a competitive loss as a barrier. A reason for this is likely having limited staff to further develop the technology or not well established yet and hence having less competitive edge to lose. Additionally, the potential financial gain from licensing technology for these very small enterprises is likely of more importance than a loss of competitive edge. There are just a few significant results found for sectoral differences except for SMEs operating in the ICT sector. These SMEs report more often framework and organisational and costs barriers. A reason for this might be the extensive use of warranties in licensing agreements to share risks in this sector (Rustad and Kavusturan 2019; San and Peng 2016). Some geographical influences are observed. SMEs in Italy are less likely reporting framework and organisational barriers, a reason for that could be the support of the Italian government with respect to technology transfer in the last decade (Grimaldi et al. 2021). SMEs in Western Europe (excluding Germany and the UK) are more likely reporting strategic barriers and countries in Eastern Europe are more reporting loss of competitive edge and credibility barriers.

Barriers to licensing-in

The revealed barriers work very differently when changing the perspective to licensing-in. In all the models in Table 7 the variable looking out for licensing-in opportunities shows a significant negative relationship with the clusters of barriers to licensing-in. On the other hand, SMEs with licensing-in experience report that quality issues are of relevance, something which can only be determined after the fact. This suggests that there are SMEs who find such barriers of less importance and consider obtaining the technology itself superior to any risks involved in the transaction. Similarly, as for licensingout barriers, in particular smaller SMEs and spin-offs are more likely reporting barriers related to experience, negotiation, strategic and credibility. Sectoral differences are mostly observed amongst ICT SMEs, particularly for framework and organisational, experience and credibility related barriers. SMEs in Italy are less likely reporting framework and organisational and quality barriers, SMEs in Southern Europe (except Italy) are more likely reporting experience barriers and lastly SMEs in the UK are less likely reporting strategic barriers.

Absorptive capacity to conduct licensing activities, measured through the inclusion of research intensity (share of R&D personnel) has, apart from one model shown no significant results, neither for licensing-out nor licensing-in. This result suggests a lack of a mitigating effect of R&D intensity when reporting barriers to technology licensing. Interestingly however SMEs with a higher research intensity are less likely reporting the 'underdeveloped technology' barrier.

Given the importance of policies supporting the increased diffusion of knowledge this chapter indicates the need to address barriers to this policy objective (EC 2007 and 2020. Future research could for instance explore if framework and organisational, cost and negotiation barriers can be mitigated by assisting, in particularly SMEs without experience, with designing, drafting and negotiating contractual agreements. Barriers in relation to the quality and development stage of the technology can be addressed through increased proof of concept funding and lowering the threshold criteria for such initiatives. Policies targeting competition, such as a potential loss of competitive or technologic edge issues might be more challenging but framework and organisational, costs and search barriers can be alleviated through better communication and assistance on how technology markets work.

This study is not without limitations. Firstly, there might be a bias induced by the selected sample of research active SMEs receiving H2020 funding. In determining the variables of interest great care has been given to gather sufficient data for each of the variables that are seen exemplary for the characteristics of the SMEs in this dataset. Secondly, contract law remains mostly a national issue, even if licensor and licensee are in different countries a decision needs to be made in which country the contract shall be put into force. Given the small sample for several countries in the dataset, these differences could not be accounted for. Instead, geographical differences are controlled for by subregions and to the extent possible dummies for individual countries were included for which enough observations were available.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the support from the European Commission, Directorate General for Research and Innovation, under contract RTD/PP-02821-2015. The study on Technology Transfer Agreements was carried out by a consortium involving Centre for European Policy Studies, UNU-MERIT, and MITO Technology Srl.

References

Agrawal, A., Cockburn, I., and Zhang, L. (2015). Deals not done: Sources of failure in the market for ideas. *Strategic management journal*, 36(7), 976-986.

Akcigit, U., Celik, M. A., and Greenwood, J. (2016). Buy, keep, or sell: Economic growth and the market for ideas. *Econometrica*, 84(3), 943-984.

Anand, B. N., and Khanna, T. (2000). The structure of licensing contracts. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 48(1), 103-135.

Arora, A., and Fosfuri, A. (2003). Licensing the market for technology. *Journal* of *Economic Behavior and Organization*, 52(2), 277-295.

Arora, A., and Gambardella, A. (2010). Ideas for rent: an overview of markets for technology. *Industrial and corporate change*, 19(3), 775-803.

Arora, A., and Ceccagnoli, M. (2006). Profiting from licensing: The role of patent protection and commercialization capabilities. *Management Science*, 52(2), 293-308.

Arundel, A., and Geuna, A. (2004). Proximity and the use of public science by innovative European firms. *Economics of Innovation and new Technology*, 13(6), 559-580.

Barjak, F., Es-Sadki, N., and Arundel, A. (2015). The effectiveness of policies for formal knowledge transfer from European universities and public research institutes to firms. *Research Evaluation*, 24(1), 4-18.

Bekkers, R., and Freitas, I. M. B. (2008). Analysing knowledge transfer channels between universities and industry: To what degree do sectors also matter?. *Research policy*, *37*(10), 1837-1853.

Bessy, C., Brousseau, E., and Saussier, S. (2002). The diversity of technology licensing agreements. *WP ATOM, Université de Paris*, 1.

Bianchi, M., Chiesa, V. and Frattini, F. (2009), "Exploring the microfoundations of external technology commercialization: A dynamic capabilities perspective", *European Journal of Innovation Management*, Vol. 12 No. 4, pp. 444-469.

Bruneel, J., d'Este, P., and Salter, A. (2010). Investigating the factors that diminish the barriers to university–industry collaboration. *Research policy*, 39(7), 858-868.

Chiesa, V., Frattini, F., Gilardoni, E., Manzini, R. and Pizzurno, E. (2007), "Searching for factors influencing technological asset value", *European Journal of Innovation Management*, Vol. 10 No. 4, pp. 467-88.

Cho, D. W., and Shenkoya, T. (2020). Technology transfer: economic factors that influence transferor and transferee's choice. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, 32(6), 621-633.

Choi, J. P. (2002). A Dynamic Analysis of Licensing: The "Boomerang" Effect and Grant-Back Clauses. *International Economic Review*, 43(3), 803-829.

Cockburn, I., and Verità, M. (2007). Is the market for technology working? Obstacles to licensing inventions, and ways to reduce them. In Monte Verita Conference. The Economics of Technology Policy in Ascona, Switzerland.

Cohen, W. M., and Levinthal, D. A. (1990). Absorptive capacity: A new perspective on learning and innovation. *Administrative science quarterly*, 128-152.

Davies, H. (1977). Technology transfer through commercial transactions. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 161-175.

D'Este, P., Iammarino, S., Savona, M., and von Tunzelmann, N. (2012). What hampers innovation? Revealed barriers versus deterring barriers. *Research policy*, 41(2), 482-488.

Dechenaux, E., Thursby, J., and Thursby, M. (2011). Inventor moral hazard in university licensing: The role of contracts. *Research Policy*, *40*(1), 94-104.

Dratler Jr, J., and McJohn, S. M. (2021). Intellectual Property Law: Commercial, *Creative and Industrial Property*. Law Journal Press.

European Commission (2020), Directorate-General for Research and Innovation, Sekmokas, M., Borunsky, L., Horgan, M., et al., Workforce skills and innovation diffusion: trends and policy implications, Publications Office.

European Commission (2007) EUR 22836 - Improving knowledge transfer between research institutions and industry across Europe: embracing open innovation. Directorate-General for Research and Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry.

Ellwood, P., Williams, C., and Egan, J. (2020). Crossing the valley of death: Five underlying innovation processes. *Technovation*, 102162.

Es-Sadki, N., and Arundel, A. (2021). The Influence Of Regional Supply, Demand And Competition Factors On The Knowledge Transfer Outcomes Of Universities. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 25(07), 2150078.

Foos, T., Schum, G., and Rothenberg, S. (2006). Tacit knowledge transfer and the knowledge disconnect. *Journal of knowledge management*.

Gambardella, A., and Giarratana, M. S. (2006). Innovations for products, innovations for licensing: Patents and downstream assets in the software security industry. Innovations for Licensing: Patents and Downstream Assets in the Software Security Industry (October 2006).

Gans, J. S., and Stern, S. (2010). Is there a market for ideas?. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 19(3), 805-837.

Geneste, L., and Galvin, P. (2015). Trust and knowledge acquisition by small and medium-sized firms in weak client–firm exchange relationships. *International Small Business Journal*, 33(3), 277-298.

Gilsing, V., Bekkers, R., Freitas, I. M. B., and Van der Steen, M. (2011). Differences in technology transfer between science-based and developmentbased industries: Transfer mechanisms and barriers. *Technovation*, 31(12), 638-647.

Grimaldi, R., Kenney, M., and Piccaluga, A. (2021). University technology transfer, regional specialization and local dynamics: lessons from Italy. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 46(4), 855-865.

Grimpe, C., and Fier, H. (2010). Informal university technology transfer: a comparison between the United States and Germany. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*. December 2010, Volume 35, Issue 6, pp 637–650.

Fernández-Molina, C. (2004). Legal aspects of electronic information in the training of information professionals. *Journal of Education for Library and Information Science*, 111-122.

Frank, C., Sink, C., Mynatt, L., Rogers, R., and Rappazzo, A. (1996). Surviving the "valley of death": A comparative analysis. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 21(1-2), 61-69.

Hall, M., Oppenheim, C., and Sheen, M. (1999). Barriers to the use of patent information in UK small and medium-sized enterprises. Part I: Questionnaire survey. *Journal of Information Science*, 25(5), 335-350.

Jones, M., and Jain, R. (2002). Technology transfer for SMEs: challenges and barriers. International *Journal of Technology Transfer and Commercialisation*, 1(1-2), 146-162.

Lemley, M. A., and Myhrvold, N. (2007). How to make a patent market. Hofstra Law Review, 36(2), 2.

Leone, M. I., and Reichstein, T. (2012). Licensing-in fosters rapid invention! The effect of the grant-back clause and technological unfamiliarity. *Strategic Management Journal*, 33(8), 965-985. Martyniuk, A. O., Jain, R. K., and Stone, H. J. (2003). Critical success factors and barriers to technology transfer: case studies and implications. *International Journal of Technology Transfer and Commercialisation*, 2(3), 306-327.

Mazurkiewicz, A., and Poteralska, B. (2015). Barriers to technology transfer at R&D organisations. In Proceedings of the European Conference on Entrepreneurship and Innovation (pp. 449-457).

McCarthy, I. P., and Ruckman, K. (2017). Licensing speed: its determinants and payoffs. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 46, 52-66.

O'Reilly, P., and Cunningham, J. A. (2017). Enablers and barriers to university technology transfer engagements with small-and medium-sized enterprises: Perspectives of principal investigators. *Small Enterprise Research*, 24(3), 274-289.

Pattit, J. M., and Deeds, D. L. (2021). Knowledge dissimilarity, bargaining power, and smaller firms' ability to negotiate a favorable alliance contract. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 62, 101659.

Payumo, J., Gang, Z., Pulumbarit, E., Jones, K., Maredia, K., and Grimes, H. (2012). Managing intellectual property and technology commercialization: Comparison and analysis of practices, success stories and lessons learned from public research universities in developing Asia. *Innovation*, 14(4), 478-494.

Podolny, J. (1993). A Status-Based Model of Market Competition. *American Journal of Sociology*, Vol. 98, No. 4 (Jan., 1993), pp. 829-872.

Prokop, D., Huggins, R., and Bristow, G. (2019). The survival of academic spinoff companies: An empirical study of key determinants. *International Small Business Journal*, 37(5), 502-535.

Roberts, E. B., and Mizouchi, R. (1989). Inter–firm technological collaboration: the case of Japanese biotechnology. *International Journal of Technology Management*, 4(1), 43-61.

Roth, A. E. (2008). What have we learned from market design?. *The Economic Journal*, 118(527), 285-310.

Rustad, M. L., and Kavusturan, E. (2019). *A Commercial Law for Software Contracting*. Wash. and Lee L. Rev., 76, 775.

San, T. P., and Peng, S. C. (2016). Legal Issues on Free Software and License Contracts: A Malaysian Perspective. *In Free and Open Source Software (FOSS) and other Alternative License Models* (pp. 293-309). Springer, Cham.

Schartinger, D., Schibany, A., and Gassler, H. (2001). Interactive relations between universities and firms: empirical evidence for Austria. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *26*(3), 255-268.

Shenkar, O., and Yuchtman-Yaar, E. (1997). Reputation, image, prestige, and goodwill: An interdisciplinary approach to organizational standing. *Human Relations*, 50(11), 1361-1381.

Sharma, P. N. (2021). Innovation in the Intra-and Inter-firm Contexts (Doctoral dissertation, UC Irvine).

Szulanski, G. (1996). Exploring internal stickiness: Impediments to the transfer of best practice within the firm. *Strategic management journal*, 17(S2), 27-43.

Teece, D. J. (1986). Profiting from technological innovation: Implications for integration, collaboration, licensing and public policy. *Research policy*, *15*(6), 285-305.

Villani, E., Rasmussen, E., and Grimaldi, R. (2017). How intermediary organizations facilitate university–industry technology transfer: A proximity approach. *Technological forecasting and social change*, *114*, 86-102.

Xie, X., Zou, H., and Qi, G. (2018). Knowledge absorptive capacity and innovation performance in high-tech companies: A multi-mediating analysis. *Journal of business research*, *88*, 289-297.

Chapter 5 The role of technology value and finding the right partner on licensing success

Abstract: Thorough analysis on how technology is transferred amongst enterprises and from the public research sector to enterprises is of key importance to innovation policy. This chapter aims to improve the understanding the role practices and methods used to assess the licensing value of technology and the ability to find licensees has on licensing success. This chapter develops a conceptual framework to examine using structural equation modelling the importance of determining the licensing value of the technology and the ability to identify the right partner on technology transfer successfulness. The chapter contributes to the literature by showing that the measure for identifying licensees contributes to the successfulness of technology licensing but that the measure of value of the technology has a negative relationship with technology licensing successfulness. Willingness to engage in technology transfer is confirmed in the model to have a positive relationship with licensing success. These results have implications for policies aiming to improve knowledge diffusion and open innovation. On the one hand improving market thickness by using practices to identify potential licensees can improve successful technology licensing. On the other hand, this chapter shows that a better understanding of the value of the technology as perceived by their holders, i.e. SMEs, universities and other research institutes, reduces successfulness of technology licensing. A stronger effect is found for enterprises which suggest that potentially more valuable technology is not easily transferred.

1. Introduction

The knowledge produced by Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs) and the public research sector (universities and public research organizations (PROs)) is a key factor in the ability of enterprises to innovate and consequently to improve living standards. Thorough analysis on how technology is transferred amongst enterprises and from the public research sector to enterprises is therefore of key importance to innovation policy. As discussed in Chapter 4 of this thesis, a major characteristic of innovation diffusion is the ease of exchange of information and knowledge amongst countries, individuals, as well as organisations. Information on how technology is diffused among technology actors is therefore of interest for research and policy.

In the current technology-driven world, SMEs, start-ups, as well as many universities and research institutions, are constantly developing new and more innovative products, services, and other types of technologies. The intellectual property rights arising from these inventions are often some of the most important resources for these entities. For many enterprises and particularly SMEs involved in technology markets, the ability to license out their technology, is often an important strategy for their commercial activities. For universities and other research institutions, licensing out inventions can be an important milestone in their third pillar activities aiming to commercialise technology. Hence, technology licensing is essential for all these technology-based organisations. Technology transfer can occur through several channels, but this chapter focus is on licensing activities as this accounts for the largest share of transactions in these markets (Arora and Gambardella 2010) and plays a lead role in the diffusion of technology (Anand and Khanna 2000; Arora and Fosfuri 2003). Licenses are the leading mechanism in trading patents (Arora and Ceccagnoli 2006; Arora and Fosfuri 2003). Even though licensing activities have increased over time, with estimates of producing billions of dollars in annual revenue (Caviggioli and Ughetto 2013; Alvarez and López 2015) the market is still considered to lack efficiency and operate 'in near total darkness' as noted by Love et al. (2018). Efficient market operation depends on three outcomes as defined by Roth

(2008), market thickness, lack of congestion and market safety. A market is "thick" if there are ample opportunities for buyers and sellers to trade. Lack of congestion implies that the transaction speed is at such a level that allows seeking alternatives on the one hand but also ensures market clearing and a market is "safe" if actors do not have incentives for distortion or strategic behaviour that disrupts the ability to evaluate potential transactions. When these three outcomes arise, market participants can take part in trading with full access and information of potential alternative transactions. This should lead to efficient markets (Gans and Stern 2010). The market for technology in which patents are traded or licensed, is however not very transparent and has been suffering from asymmetries of information that might hinder successfulness of licensing. Most technological sales and licenses are based on complex bilateral agreements in private law in a business-to-business setting of which much of the details are commercially sensitive (Anand and Khanna 2000; Bessy et al. 2002). As a consequence, there is a lack of information on how these agreements are made, reasons why deals are not concluded, and which factors contribute to successful outcomes. One of the major factors of successful technology licensing is the potential of the technology that is being licensed. However, the technology itself is often underdeveloped and not yet ready for commercialisation which may lead to a buyer's reluctance to commit to underdeveloped technologies (Dushnitsky 2010). With limited information regarding the market potential of a technology, buyers (licensees) wish to invest as little as possible, whereas sellers (inventors) seek as much as possible upfront to minimize the risks associated with developing the technology further (Gans and Stern 2010). Another important factor of the successfulness of a licensing deal is identifying the right partner. Moreover, the ability to identify potential buyers of a technology is a major issue as discussed in Chapter 4 of this thesis. Most exchanges of technologies occur under conditions that are best described as a bilateral monopoly (Gans and Stern 2010). There are limited alternative exchanges and buyer and seller engage in negotiations bilaterally. This limits competition and reduces the ability to achieve stable markets as actors are often unable to leverage alternative options to their advantage and obtain gains from trade. This is particularly the case in technology markets

(De Rassenfosse and Higham 2021; Love et al. 2018; Lemley and Myrvhold 2008; and Troy and Werle 2008).

To overcome the lack of information in technology markets and to improve the understanding on the complexities behind technology deals, this chapter examines the role of identifying licensees and technology value plays on the successfulness of technology transfer activities of SMEs, universities, and research institutes. This chapter draws on a survey that was funded by the European Commission DG Research and Innovation. It uses the same survey data as in Chapter 4. The questionnaire collected information on the technology transfer activities of these SMEs, universities, and research institutes. This chapter focusses on smaller entities as there are concerns that these, on either the buyer or the seller side, have difficulty coping with the market inefficiencies associated with concluding a technology transfer deal. Willingness to engage in technology transfer activities is an important prerequisite for success. This aspect is also covered in the survey questionnaire and in the model framework. In addition, there are also concerns that smaller entities have difficulties coping with framework conditions including national policies and regulations. The latter has been investigated and discussed in Chapter 4 of this thesis. This chapter uses exploratory analysis to examine the role of potential licensing value and the ability to identify licensees plays in the market of technology licensing. The model proposed is tested empirically using Structural Equation Modelling (SEM). SEM is a multivariate statistical analysis framework that allows simultaneous estimation of a system of equations. SEM can be used to fit a range of models, including those involving measurement error and latent constructs. Moreover, SEM allows each item in the model to have its own unique variance (Acock 2013).

The aim of this chapter is to improve the understanding the role the value of technology and the ability to find licensees has on licensing success. The chapter contributes to the literature by showing that the measure for the ability to identify licensees contributes to the successfulness of technology licensing but that better understanding the value of the technology to be licensed has a negative relationship with technology transfer successfulness.

Willingness to engage in technology transfer is confirmed in the model to have a positive relationship with licensing success. These results have implications for policies aiming to improve knowledge diffusion and open innovation as on the one hand removing asymmetric information to address market thickness can improve successful technology licensing. On the other hand, this study shows that a better understanding of the value of the technology as perceived by their holders, i.e. SMEs, universities and other research institutes reduces successfulness of technology licensing. This might suggest that potentially more valuable technology is not easily transferred through licensing deals. The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows. Section 2 discusses the literature on the importance of the value of the technology and the ability to identify licenses for licensing. Section 3 describes the methodology of the research and Section 4 discusses the results. Section 5 concludes with a discussion.

2. Literature on finding the right partner and determining the value of the technology

The successful commercialization of new findings often depends on bringing several parties together. Firms desire innovative products to stay competitive but are not always eager to solely take risks when conducting basic research that requires substantial investment but with no clear return on investment (Kotha et al. 2018; Teece 1986). On the other hand, inventors, universities, and research institutes push the frontiers of science, but often lack the skills, willingness and resources needed to bring their discoveries to market. Given these complementary interests, opportunities to collaborate should appeal to both sides. However, potentially beneficial collaborations are often hindered through several factors as discussed in Chapter 4. The existing literature on the benefits of collaborations is large, particularly for inter-firm relations (Gnyawali et al. 2016; Mazzarol and Reboud 2008; Lavie 2006). Objectives to collaborate in relation to technology transfer include performance enhancements, cost containment, risk reduction, efficiency in innovation, interchange of knowledge as well as know-how, reduction of ambiguity and the identification of opportunities (Caloghirou et al. 2021; Talmar et al. 2020; Hernández-Espallardo 2011; Belderbos et al. 2004; Cannon and Perreault 1999; Teece 1992).

This section reviews relevant literature on the importance of the ability to identify licensees and the importance of practices to better understand the value of the technology in the market of technology licensing.

2.1 The importance of the ability to identify licensees for licensing

One of the major factors in the successfulness of a technology deal is finding the right partner, also identified in the literature as market thickness (Roth 2008; Gans and Stern 2010). One of the main obstacles to licensing agreements is indeed misalignment of the licensee and licensor and their objectives as discussed in research from Razgaitis (2004) and Cockburn and Verità (2007). Technology developed, particularly from smaller actors often target niche markets and communicating the features of such technologies leads to higher transaction costs (Cockburn and Verità 2007). The ability to identify licensees in searching for partners and negotiations represents a significant source of transaction costs. This search ability is related to the time and other resources required to search for potential collaboration partners. Dealing with the technology, which is developed by someone else and hence leads to difficulties in understanding, is a major impediment for licensees. These absorptive capacity barriers have been studied by several authors (Szulanski 1996; Cohen and Levinthal 1990; Xie et al. 2018). Moreover, when universities or research institutes are seeking to licensing out technology, there might be differences in culture that make the identification of potential licensees more complex, since most universities and research institutes are publicly funded institutions and are in general not driven by profit and revenue (Schoppe 2014). Important practices which constitute the ability to identify potential collaboration partners include current clients or customers, informal networks and conferences and trade fares (Freitas et al. 2013; Hoffman et al. 2012; Buganza and Verganti 2009; Bekkers and Freitas 2008), scientific publications (Bekkers and Freitas 2008; Fabrizio 2006), patent databases (Kim and Lee 2015; Baglieri and Cesaroni 2013; Bekkers and Freitas 2008) and professional or industry associations (Iacopino et al. 2018; Pittaway et al. 2004; Swan and Newell 1995).

2.2 Methods to better understand the potential value of technology

In general, sellers have more information on the technology (Hotz and Xiao 2013; Sun 2011; Guo and Zhao 2009) than customers. This leads to information asymmetry between sellers and customers. This information asymmetry can influence consumer's willingness to pay and the seller's willingness to sell, possibly resulting in failure of the transaction (Akerlof 1970). The costs of trying to commercialize the wrong technology or the right technology at the wrong time can be substantial (Heslop et al. 2009) particularly for smaller actors in technology markets which likely have fewer buffers for risky endeavours. In addition, this information asymmetry also influences consumers' ability to assess technological quality and its value (Ghosh and Galbreth 2013; Fishman and Hagerty 2003). Giving a correct value to the technology is maybe one of the most important factors to successful technology licensing for organisations seeking to license out their technology in particular for smaller enterprises (Chiesa et al. 2007). Several researchers have investigated these issues (Guan et al. 2020; Clottey and Benton 2019; Arya et al. 2014; Grossman and Hart 1980) with Heslop et al. (2009) developing a readiness assessment measure (Heslop 2001) that can guide decisions about where to invest commercialization efforts. Pricing of technology remains different from the traditional demand and supply mechanisms as the technology itself is not yet a commodity. The lack of transparency of how patent markets work makes it difficult to value technology with no real benchmarks (Lemley and Myhrvold 2008). The technology is not 'there' yet and this 'valley of death' is both the cause and consequence of difficulties in evaluating underdeveloped technologies (Ellwood et al. 2020; Zemlickienė et al. 2017). An important factor determining the technology capabilities of an organisation is R&D activity (Arundel and Geuna 2004; Schartinger et al. 2001). Enterprises that invest heavily in R&D likely possess a high technological capability and are able to develop technologies with substantial value. Moreover, these types of enterprises should be well able to determine the value of a technology. External experts are often brought in, particularly amongst universities and research institutes to determine the technological quality and its value (Arundel et al. 2013; Bandarian 2007).

Licensing creates competition by giving away proprietary know-how to potential rival enterprises. One of the major aspects involved in technology licensing is that the licensing enterprise may lose its technological or competitive "edge" (Choi 2002). Granting another organisation the right to use its intellectual property may enable them to develop new products, which makes the licensed technology obsolete and leaves the licensor in backwater of technology—the so-called 'boomerang' effect (Choi 2002). This effect is particularly present in evolving technologies, such as basic research conducted by universities, where there is a risk that licensees downstream further develop the technology and appropriate the improvements, thus leaving behind the licensor (Leone and Reichstein 2012). It is therefore not surprising that enterprises are often reluctant to license their cutting-edge technologies since they may be giving their rivals the knowledge necessary to develop a better technology (Roberts and Mizouchi 1989; Davies 1977). Hence following this view, a better understanding of the potential commercial value of cutting-edge technologies can be an obstacle in successful technology licensing.

2.3 Hypothesis

This chapter focuses on two factors of the successfulness of technology licensing: the ability to identify licensees and the value of the technology.

Based on the literature review, two hypotheses are tested:

H1. Ability to identify licensees: Improving market thickness by using practices to identify licensees positively influences technology transfer successfulness

H2. Value of the technology: A better understanding of the value of the technology to be licensed negatively influences technology transfer successfulness

H1 is suggested by previous research in that the ability to reduce asymmetries and transaction costs improves technology licensing. The hypothesis is empirically tested with the expectation that organisations that are better able to identify licensees have greater success in technology licensing. H2 is also empirically tested. Based on the literature we know that the potential commercial value is an important factor in determining the value of the technology to be licensed. Hence it is expected that the better understanding of the value of the technology the more difficult it will become to part with the technology and agree on the necessary elements for a successful technology deal. Furthermore, resources and strategic decisions to participate in technology transfer activities is also included in the model and expected to positively influence technology transfer successfulness (H3). It is also expected to positively influence the ability to identify licensees, but this is not tested directly in this study.

H3. Resources and strategic decisions devoted to technology transfer positively influences technology transfer successfulness

Barriers, as discussed in this chapter but also in Chapter 4 negatively influence technology transfer successfulness but are not tested in this study. Figure 1 shows the conceptual framework.

Figure 1. Conceptual framework



Note: Dashed lines and barriers not tested in this study. Curved lines are covariances.

3. Methodology

3.1 Data

The data used in this study is from a survey (funded by the European Commission, DG Research and Innovation (DG RTD)) on technology licensing activities of SMEs, universities and research institutes. The survey was conducted in 2017. The enterprise survey sample were SMEs that received financing under Horizon 2020 and is the same dataset used in Chapter 4 of this thesis. As discussed in the introduction of this thesis, to encourage and support knowledge transfer activities, particularly those that require legal and technical expertise, many European universities and research institutes have established Technology Transfer Offices (TTOs) that can provide professional advice to assess the patentability of inventions,

interact with enterprises, and provide licensing expertise.¹⁴ In total the university and research institute surveys led to 215 responses with a response rate of 35.1% and the enterprise survey to 440 responses with a response rate of 26.9%. Several responses were invalid for various reasons such as not reporting any technology transfer activities, not completing the questionnaire or item non-responses for independent variables of interest. These incomplete or invalid responses were excluded from this analysis. The questionnaire included several questions related to the technology transfer activities of the organisations. This chapter only includes those organisations that had experience with technology licensing or were planning to license-out technology transfer resources and strategies, methods to determine the license value of a technology, methods to identify licensees (buyers) and patent activity. This left in total 371 eligible units for analysis, 183 enterprises, 145 universities and 43 research institutes.

3.2 Statistical analysis

The respondents to the survey answered two sections of interest for the construction of the latent variables 'ability to identify licensees' and 'value of the technology' (See Table 1, the appendix of this thesis includes a copy of the survey questionnaire). The data sample is considered adequate for factor analysis, as the responses to variables ratio exceeds 5:1 (Hair et al. 1998). Factor analysis is conduced to check if the selected measures group together to describe the structural configuration. The value for the Kaiser-Meyeer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy was 0.603 for the ability to identify licensees, and 0.658 for the value of the technology which exceeds the recommended threshold level of 0.50 (Hair et al. 1998).

The reliability of the final constructs measures was estimated by the Cronbach's alpha parameters. The alpha values obtained did not pass the

¹⁴ These offices are also called Knowledge Transfer Offices (KTOs), Research Office, Research Commercialisation, Valorisation Office etc.. These offices can be part of a university or research institute, or it can be a separate business responsible for the technology transfer activities of a university or research institute. Some or all of the patenting, licensing, or other technology transfer activities of a university or research institute can fall under the responsibilities of such an office or business. For ease of understanding all such offices are referred to as TTOs.

usual 0.700 for both final constructs based on the six items. However, the Cronbach alpha estimated using the full set of questions passed was close to the threshold (0.722 for the ability to identify licensees, and 0.652 for the value of the technology). These results suggest that the questionnaire sections had adequate internal consistency. A likely reason for the lower alpha values observed for the final construct is because the alpha coefficient is a direct function of the number of items, with only 6 items for each construct. In addition, using SEM as a methodology is sensitive to the survey questionnaire design but a similar approach as used in this chapter has been done in previous research (e.g. Sánchez-Barrioluengo and Benneworth 2019; Guerrero et al. 2015). Some factor loadings are for instance below 0.5 but included nevertheless given the average importance given by the respondents and based on the literature review. The final variables for inclusion in each construct are presented in Table 1 based on the literature review and statistical analysis. Table 1 lists in the first part practices or methods to identify licensees, followed by practices or methods to better understand the value of the technology, resources and strategic decisions in relation to technology licensing and the variables used to measure a successful technology transfer. Table 5 in the appendix provides the results from the factor analysis for the latent variables of interest: ability to identify licensees and value of the technology. The appendix also includes descriptive statistics (Table 3) and correlation results (Table 4) of all the variables included in the SEM model. None of the correlations are above 0.6 thus any multicollinearity issues are not expected (Dormann et al. 2013).

Table 1. Constructs of the model

Variable name	Description	Variable calculation	Motivation
A_CC	Current clients or customers	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)-4(high)	Important practice (Freitas et al. 2013; Hoffman et al. 2012; Buganza and Verganti 2009; Bekkers and Freitas 2008).
A_INF	Informal networks	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)-4(high)	Important practice (Freitas et al. 2013; Hoffman et al. 2012; Buganza and Verganti 2009; Bekkers and Freitas 2008).
A_ASSOC	Professional or industry association	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)-4(high)	Important practice (Iacopino et al. 2018; Pittaway et al. 2004; Swan and Newell 1995)
A_JOURN	Scientific/technical journals or trade publications	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)-4(high)	Important practice (Bekkers and Freitas 2008; Fabrizio 2006).
A_PDATA	Research in patent databases	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)-4(high)	Important practice (Freitas et al. 2013; Hoffman et al. 2012; Buganza and Verganti 2009; Bekkers and Freitas 2008).
A_CONF	Conferences, trade fairs, exhibitions	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)-4(high)	Important practice (Freitas et al. 2013; Hoffman et al. 2012; Buganza and Verganti 2009; Bekkers and Freitas 2008).

Ability: Practices or methods to identify licensees (independent variable)

Variable name	Description	Variable calculation	Motivation
Q_RD	Costs of R&D activities carried out	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)-4(high)	R&D investment (Schartinger et al. 2001; Arundel and Geuna 2004).
Q_REV	Potential revenue for the licensee	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)-4(high)	Technology that is more mature has more value (Ellwood et al. 2020; Zemlickienė et al. 2017; Dushnitsky 2010). More demand leads to a higher value.
Q_LRATE	Licensing rates according to industry norms (of similar technologies)	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)- 4(high)	Improves understanding of the value of the technology by reducing information asymmetries (Love et al. 2018; Akerlof 1970). Can provide benchmark (Lemley and Myhrvold 2008)
Q_INT	Potential number of clients interested	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)- 4(high)	More demand leads to a higher value.
Q_MRES	Market research on similar technologies	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)- 4(high)	Improves understanding of the potential value of the technology and reduces information asymmetries (Love et al. 2018; Akerlof 1970)
Q_EVAL	Evaluating the commercial potential by an external expert	Likert scale. Degree of importance 1(none)- 4(high).	Improves understanding of the potential value of the technology. Important practice (Arundel et al. 2013; Bandarian 2007)

Value: Practices or methods to better understand the value of the technology (independent variable)

Variable name	Description	Variable calculation	Motivation
R_OPP	Does the organisation actively look for opportunities to license out technology?	Yes (1)/No (0)	The organisation devotes time and efforts to license out technology.
R_STRAT	Does the organisation have a written strategy for licensing out technology?	Yes (1)/No (0)	A written strategy shows the organisation has a protocol for technology transfer. Additionally, it is shown in Chapter 6 of this thesis that it is beneficial for TT outcomes.
R_TTSTAFF	Does the organisation have dedicated technology transfer staff?	Categorical (1 if >0 and <=2, 2 if >2 and <=5, 3 if >5, zero otherwise, in FTE)	The organisation devotes time and efforts to license out technology.
R_SHARE	The share of the organisation's patent portfolio that they are willing to license out.	Percentage of patent portfolio willing to license out.	Indicator of willingness to license out technology.
Successful techn	ology transfer (depende	ent variable)	

Variable name	Description	Variable calculation	Motivation
S_LICOUT	Did the organisation license out technology in the previous 5 years?	Yes (1)/No (0)	Indicator to identify organisations that have license-out experience.
Variable name	Description	Variable calculation	Motivation
S_LICYEAR	Did the organisation made any license-out agreement in 2016?	Yes (1)/No (0)	Measure of recent licensing activity.
S_LICINC	Did the organisation have any license income in 2016?	Yes (1)/No (0)	Measure of recent licensing success.

Resources and strategic decisions (control variable)

3.3 Structural model

Economic literature on technology transfer activities of universities has used structural equation modelling to analyse relationships between latent constructs that integrate a model of observed factors (e.g. Sánchez-Barrioluengo and Benneworth 2019; Sánchez-Barrioluengo 2014; Guerrero et al. 2015; Purushotham et al. 2013 and Guerrero and Urbano 2012). The advantage of SEM is that it allows for simultaneous analysis of all the variables in the model instead of investigating each construct separately using regression or factor analysis, moreover measurement errors are not aggregated in a single residual error term but are estimated for each variable in the model separately (Acock 2013). The structural equation path diagram of this study is shown in Figure 2. The path diagram follows the conceptual model presented in Figure 1 with the addition of the observed variables used to construct the latent constructs. In this model technology transfer successfulness is the dependant variable, the constructs' ability to identify licensees and technological quality are the independent variables of interest and the resources and strategic decisions are included as control variables.

Figure 2. Structural equation model



The structural path is first evaluated based on model fit tests using the full model, the fit indices for the three sub-groups (enterprises, universities, and research institutes) are provided in Appendix 3. The goodness of fit is determined mainly by the χ^2 statistic, with cut-off values for χ^2 normalised to be less than 2 (Ullman 2001) or less than 5 (Suchmacker and Lomax 2004). Other measures are proposed in the literature to evaluate model fit such as the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) and the Standardized Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR), which are good measures to evaluate a SEM model (Acock 2013; Sharma et al. 2005, Hu and Bentler 1999; Bentler 1995). Guidelines suggest a CFI and TLI close to 1, χ^2 normalised (χ^2 /df), RMSEA and SRMR less than 0.10 (Hu and Bentler 1999; Bentler 1995). The models present significant coefficients and adequate parameters [χ^2 normalised 1.652; RMSEA 0.057; SRMR 0.075; CFI 0.819; TLI 0.790].

In terms of empirical results (see Table 2), all the variables selected to measure the constructs present a positive and significant value which can be interpreted as the adequacy and robustness of these items to capture the content of the conceptual framework. Moreover, the results for the structural paths, i.e. the hypothesis tested, show the expected signs and are significant. According to the evidence obtained, the results indicate a positive and significant effect of the ability to identify licensees on successful technology transfer [0.341; p<0.05] and a negative and significant effect of a better understanding of the value of the technology on successful technology transfer [-0.622; p < 0.01]. Additionally, the results for the control variables resources dedicated to technology transfer and strategic decisions indicate a positive and significant effect [0.656; p<0.01]. Most important factors for the construct ability to identify licensees are conferences, trade fairs and exhibitions [0.508; p<0.01] followed by professional or industry associations [0.491; p<0.01] and research in patent databases [0.483; p<0.01]. For the construct value of the technology, the most important factors are market research [0.455; p < 0.01], the potential number of clients interested [0.391; p<0.01] and evaluating the commercial potential [0.390; p<0.01]. Of interest, are the results for the covariances between the constructs ability to identify licensees and a better understanding of the value of the technology [0.926; p < 0.01]. This suggests that those holders of technology that have a good understanding of its value are also well able to identify potential licensees. As expected, the covariance between resources and strategic decisions together with the ability to identify licensees is positive and significant [0.344; *p*<0.01], with more resources you are able to identify licensees better, which leads to successful technology transfer (hypothesis 1) and reinforces incentives to invest in resources and develop strategies for technology transfer activities. Covariance between resources and strategic decisions together with better understanding the value of the technology shows no significance which suggests that these two constructs are treated as separate activities within the organisations included in this analysis.

The model has also been tested by subgroups, i.e. enterprises, universities and research institutes and are correspondingly presented in Tables 6, 7 and 8 in the appendix. It should be noted that the results by subgroups should be interpreted with caution, particularly those for the 43 research institutes, as implementing SEM would require at least 100 subjects (Williams et al. 2004). Sub-group analysis will therefore only discuss results for enterprises and universities. Results for the first two hypothesis hold and are robust for both enterprises and universities. The results of the control variables resources and strategies are positive but not significant for universities. This is likely due to a lack of variation for this group as most of the universities have dedicated resources and strategies for their third mission activities. Comparing the structural path coefficients in terms of importance on technology transfer success shows an interesting difference as the negative effect of the construct better understanding the value of the technology is significantly more critical in enterprises versus universities [-1.139 vs. -0.773; p<0.001]. This suggests that enterprises are less willing to license out technology with high value as it may lose their technological or competitive "edge" (Choi 2002) which is of lower importance to universities. A second striking result comparing the structural path coefficients is the importance of the ability to identify licensees as this is significantly more critical in universities versus enterprises [1.034 vs. 0.517; p<0.05]. Universities have a third mission in terms of engaging with industry, this mandate requires universities to explore opportunities to collaborate and make knowledge developed in universities available to society. The most critical factor for the construct ability to identify licensees in enterprises is research in patent databases [0.473; p<0.01] followed by professional or industry associations [0.469; p<0.01] and conferences, trade fairs and exhibitions [0.428; p<0.01]. For universities the most critical factors for the construct ability are informal networks [0.614; p<0.01] and conferences, trade fairs and exhibitions [0.420; p<0.01]. The most critical factor for the construct value of the technology in enterprises is evaluating the commercial potential [0.492; *p*<0.01] followed by market research [0.429; p < 0.01]. For universities the most critical factors are the potential number of clients interested [0.539; *p*<0.01] followed by market research [0.512; *p*<0.01].

			Estim-		
Structural configuration			ate	S.E.	Р
H1 TT successfulness	\leftarrow	Ability to identify licensees	0.341	0.149	**
H2 TT successfulness	\leftarrow	Value of the technology	-0.622	0.170	***
Control variables					
H3 TT successfulness	\leftarrow	Resources and strategic decisions	0.656	0.132	***
Components of each construct	t				
Ability to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Current clients or customers	0.198	0.084	**
Ability to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Informal networks	0.392	0.078	***
Ability to identify licensees	~	Professional or industry association	0.491	0.073	***
Ability to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Scientific/technical journals	0.397	0.079	***
Ability to identify licensees	←	Research in patent databases	0.483	0.074	***
Ability to identify licensees	<i>←</i>	Conferences, trade fairs, exhibitions	0.508	0.073	***
Value of the technology	~	Costs of R&D activities carried out	0.250	0.084	***
Value of the technology	~	Potential revenue for the licensee	0.157	0.085	*
Value of the technology	\leftarrow	Licensing rates	0.213	0.087	**
Value of the technology	~	Potential number of clients interested	0.391	0.079	***
Value of the technology	\leftarrow	Market research	0.455	0.078	***
Value of the technology	~	Evaluating the commercial potential	0.390	0.083	***
Resources/strategic decisions	\leftarrow	Looking out to license	0.505	0.077	***
Resources/strategic decisions	\leftarrow	Written strategy for licensing	0.357	0.080	***
Resources/strategic decisions	~	Share portfolio willing to license out.	0.297	0.081	***
Resources/strategic decisions	~	Dedicated technology transfer staff	0.530	0.071	***
TT successfulness	\leftarrow	License out technology experience	0.832	0.037	***
TT successfulness	←	License-out agreement in 2016	0.774	0.040	***
TT successfulness	←	License income in 2016	0.680	0.046	***
Covariances					
Ability to identify licensees	\leftrightarrow	Value of the technology	0.926	0.077	***
Resources/strategic decisions	\leftrightarrow	Ability to identify licensees	0.344	0.133	***
Resources/strategic decisions	\leftrightarrow	Value of the technology	0.044	0.161	

Note: ***p<0.01; ** p<0.05; p<0.010. Standardized coefficients are presented. N=371

4. Discussion and conclusion

Technology transfer is increasingly seen as a method to diffuse knowledge and create more efficient markets. It is an important mechanism for the commercialization of research and forms a central element in the overall contribution of technology producers to technological advancement and economic growth. Institutional actors are developing framework conditions that are conductive to technology transfer activities for several decades but there is limited analysis of the influences of the value of the technology and its implications for competitiveness on the extent of technology transfer successfulness. Additionally, asymmetric information is a persistent barrier to technology transfer successfulness although the results in this study suggest that several methods and practices to identify licensees can positively influence technology transfer. This chapter adds to the so far limited analyses of these influences and suggests paths for further analysis and implications for policy developments.

4.1 Findings and contribution

This chapter uses a SEM model to test a framework of two latent constructs: the ability to identify licensees and better understanding the value of technology. It shows that the value of the technology has a negative relationship with technology transfer successfulness and that the ability to identify licensees has a positive relationship. Additionally, devoting resources and developing specific strategies for technology transfer activities are beneficial for organisations to identify potential licensing partners and are beneficial to technology transfer success. Moreover, the covariance results show that the value of the technology and the ability to identify licensees go hand in hand. Technology producers that are well able to determine the potential value of the technology are also well able to identify potential licensees.

Protecting technology and knowledge with a patent is an indication that the producer of that knowledge or technology does not have an incentive to share this knowledge freely. Moreover, enterprises as producer of valuable technology, with profit maximisation and staying competitive as main goals,

are less willing (as measured by successful technology transfer) to license out technology as it may lose their technological or competitive edge. This is particularly relevant for the SMEs included in this study. SMEs have a need to position themselves in new markets and are therefore less willing to license out their technologies if it has commercial potential. Similar results are found for universities, although to a lesser extent, which should not be that surprising as their mission is to generate and share knowledge. However, with the surge in third mission activities and resources devoted to these activities, universities have an incentive to obtain good returns on their investments. For example, in terms of financing R&D and technology transfer activities. Additionally, why should universities freely or easily share technology that it has developed if they know it has commercial potential? On the other hand, license income cannot serve as a viable source of income for universities (Arundel et al. 2013) but it can finance research or infrastructure without relying too much on basic (governmental) funding.

4.2 Implications

This chapter contributes to the literature of the multi-faceted phenomena of technology transfer and has several implications for practice and policy. Institutional developments and policies aimed to increase technology transfer activities should keep in mind that valuable technology is not easily transferred. As the results in this chapter have suggested, a better understanding of the value of the technology is less likely leading to successful technology transfer. The results therefore provide an indication that policy supporting knowledge diffusion and technology transfer activities may not necessarily lead to transfer of valuable technology. Rather it seems more important for enterprises to hold on to valuable technology. An obvious reason for this is to remain competitive. In this regard developing capabilities within their organisation to develop promising technology further is likely more relevant. Easier access to proof-of-concept funding can help in this instance together with creating a system for SMEs to track the results of funding activities of the European Commission by following up on the status of the enterprise and by identifying their needs after the funding/project has ended. Another implication of this study is related to the finding that for universities the importance of the ability to identify licensees is significantly more important compared to enterprises. Many universities have dedicated staff for their third mission activities of knowledge and technology transfer which leads to higher success in terms of finding licensees as shown in this research. However, the value of these higher success rates in technology transfer might not meet initial expectations or intended outcomes as a better understanding of valuable technology is less likely leading to successful technology transfer. License income, particularly royalty rates, is directly linked to the commercial success of products, where in this regard value of the technology transfer activity itself is a predictor of success once the product is on the market. Devoting efforts and resources in technology transfer deals which turn out to be less successful than intended can challenge the support for technology transfer activities, particularly for universities. This finding suggests that future technology transfer policies should enable actors involved in technology transfer to not only focus on the quantity of technology transfer activities. Decision makers should consider devoting more efforts to the technology transfer process that leads to more beneficial outcomes.

4.3 Limitations

This chapter has limitations that opens avenues for future research. First, a larger number of observations would enable better structural equation modelling (Williams et al. 2004). As a result, the sub-group findings should be interpretated with some caution even though enterprises and university cases meet the threshold for analysis (>100). Second, this study does not control for scientific disciplines. Research in Chapter 4 of this thesis and in Arundel et al. (2013) showed that certain scientific disciplines are more successful in technology transfer activities, e.g. biomedical research in terms of license income. Future research could take this difference into account to understand whether differences in scientific disciplines affect the relationships between the ability to identify licensees, value of the technology and technology transfer successfulness. Further, there might be a bias induced by the selected sample of research active SMEs receiving H2020 funding. Lastly, structural equation modelling is sensitive to the design of the

questionnaire, which is not something which has been considered in the design of the survey of which the data has been used in this chapter. For instance, some of the SEM goodness of fit indicators and Cronbach's alpha are known to improve when longer Likert scales are used (Hair et al. 1998). However, the study followed similar methodological approaches as in other literature such as (Sánchez-Barrioluengo and Benneworth 2019; Sánchez-Barrioluengo 2014 and Guerrero et al. 2015)

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the support from the European Commission, Directorate General for Research and Innovation, under contract RTD/PP-02821-2015. The study on Technology Transfer Agreements was carried out by a consortium involving Centre for European Policy Studies, UNU-MERIT, and MITO Technology Srl.

.XI	È
pend	5 y 1 y 3
Ap	E

statistics
Descriptive
Table 3. I

Variable						Research			
name	Description	Enterprises	s (N=183)	Universiti	es (N=145)	Institutes	(N=43)	Total (N	=371)
Ability to id	lentify licensees	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
A_CC	Current clients or customers	3.588	0.665	3.451	0.730	3.512	0.768	3.526	0.704
A_INF	Informal networks	3.094	0.758	3.154	0.725	3.279	0.630	3.139	0.732
A_ASSOC	Professional or industry association	2.879	0.877	2.979	0.758	2.837	0.785	2.913	0.822
AJOURN	Scientific/technical journals or trade publications	2.901	0.855	2.640	0.885	2.698	0.803	2.777	0.867
A_PDATA	Research in patent databases	2.577	1.009	2.965	0.867	2.651	0.842	2.736	0.953
A_CONF	Conferences, trade fairs, exhibitions	3.148	0.831	2.958	0.780	3.163	0.814	3.076	0.813
Value of the	: technology	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Q_RD	Costs of R&D activities carried out	3.105	0.860	2.826	966.0	2.714	0.918	2.953	0.931
Q_REV	Potential revenue for the licensee	3.542	0.705	3.446	0.724	3.548	0.593	3.506	0.700
Q_LRATE	Licensing rates according to industry norms (of similar technologies)	2.925	0.867	3.138	0.839	3.184	0.730	3.037	0.847
Q_INT	Potential number of clients interested	3.302	0.813	3.210	0.739	3.167	0.762	3.223	0.820
Q_MRES	Market research on similar technologies	3.079	0.829	3.139	0.842	3.205	0.894	3.144	0.803
Q_EVAL	Evaluating the commercial potential by an external expert	2.713	0.942	2.962	0.898	2.707	0.782	2.806	0.914

Variable						Research			
name	Description	Enterprise	es (N=183)	Universit	ies (N=145)	Institutes	; (N=43)	Total (N=	371)
Resources an	id strategic decisions	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
R_OPP	Does the organisation actively look for opportunities to license out technology?	0.776	0.418	0.931	0.255	0.837	0.374	0.843	0.364
R_STRAT	Does the organisation have a written strategy for licensing out technology?	0.361	0.482	0.566	0.497	0.512	0.506	0.458	0.498
R_SHARE	The share of the organisation's patent portfolio that they are willing to license out.	32.9	36.4	60.7	28.8	50.0	30.0	46.5	35.1
R_TTSTAFF	Does the organisation have dedicated technology transfer staff?	1.486	0.876	2.344	0.776	2.280	0.766	1.910	0.926
Technology t	ransfer successfulness	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
s_Licout	Did the organisation license out technology in the previous 5 years?	0.486	0.501	0.772	0.421	0.721	0.454	0.625	0.484
S_LICYEAR	Did the organisation made any license- out agreement in 2016?	0.459	0.500	0.828	0.379	0.860	0.351	0.650	0.478
S_LICINC	Did the organisation have any license income in 2016?	0.552	0.499	0.897	0.306	0.837	0.374	0.720	0.450

ts
ц
es
2
5
ä
e
IJ
2
4.
ě
ą
Ĥ

Table	4. Coi	rrelati	on res	sults															
	A_CC	A_INF	A_ASSOC	AJOURN	A_PDAT/	A A_CONF	Q.RD	Q_REV	Q_LRATE	Q_INT	Q_MRES	Q_EVAL	R_OPP	R_STRAT	R_TTSTAFF	R_SHARE	s_LICOUT	S_LICYEAR S_	LICINC
A_CC	1																		
A_INF	0.105**	1																	
A_ASSOC	0.014	0.229***	1																
AJOURN	0.073	0.031	0.115**	1															
A_PDATA	0.037	0.040	0.152***	0.361***	1														
A_CONF	0.147***	0.171***	0.229***	0.228***	0.128**	1													
QRD	0.071	-0.059	0.123**	0.13**	0.067	0.108**	1												
QREV	0.101*	0.05	-0.036	0.036	0.045	0.178***	0.125**	1											
Q_LRATE	0.136**	0.12**	0.143***	0.191***	0.166***	0.233***	0.132**	0.201***	1										
QINT	-0.034	0.255***	0.226***	0.169***	0.278***	0.162***	0.059	0.201***	0.229***	1									
QMRES	-0.034	0.255***	0.226***	0.169***	0.278***	0.162***	0.059	0.201***	0.229***	0.295***	1								
QEVAL	0.042	0.024	0.283***	0.071	0.258***	0.167***	0.152***	0.132**	0.091*	0.163***	0.292***	1							
R_OPP	0.065	0.205***	0.064	0.037	0.134**	0.077	0.006	0.070	0.102*	0.000	0.154***	0.042	1						
R_STRAT	0.053	0.025	0.209***	-0.046	0.063	0.053	0.030	-0.056	0.047	0.014	0.051	0.109**	0.233***	1					
R_TTSTAFF	-00.0	0.025	0.094^{*}	-0.113**	0.179***	-0.021	-0.095*	-0.008	0.037	-0.064	0.040	0.016	0.138***	0.193***	1				
R_SHARE	-0.002	0.101	0.109*	-0.013	0.221***	-0.044	-0.057	0.004	0.045	-0.119*	600.0	0.108*	0.29***	0.110*	0.174***	1			
s_LICOUT	0.114**	0.035	-0.059	-0.125**	-0.007	-0.083	-0.124**	-0.013	0.088	-0.157***	-0.061	-0.174***	0.177***	0.189***	0.325***	0.153**	1		
S_LICYEAR	0.040	0.107**	0.028	-0.028	0.082	0.052	-0.162***	0.092*	0.174***	-0.022	0.065	-0.106**	0.172***	0.154***	0.325***	0.153**	0.496***	1	
s_LICINC	0.064	0.023	0.033	-0.123**	0.036	0.006	-0.175***	-0.007	0.145***	-0.067	0.019	-0.09*	0.259***	0.200***	0.286***	0.197***	0.586***	0.505*** 1	
* = p <.10, *	* = p <.05	; *** = p<.(10																
Variables	Description	Factor analysis			Reliability														
------------------------	--	-------------------------	-----------------	----------	--------------------------														
bility to identify lic	nsees			Loadings	Cronbach / item to total														
Α					0.495														
A_CC	Current clients or customers	KMO	0.603	0.288	0.505														
			133.60																
A_INF	Informal networks	X^2	Sig. ***	0.429	0.475														
A_ASSOC	Professional or industry association	Eigen value	1.728	0.560	0.441														
	Scientific/technical journals or trade	Variance																	
AJOURN	publications	explained	28.81	0.625	0.413														
A_PDATA	Research in patent databases			0.580	0.439														
A_CONF	Conferences, trade fairs, exhibitions			0.649	0.407														
alue of the technolo	33				0 576														
צ					0700														
Q_RD	Costs of R&D activities carried out	KMO	0.658 115.54	0.324	0.547														
Q_REV	Potential revenue for the licensee Licensing rates according to industry	X^2	Sig. ***	0.527	0.469														
Q_LRATE	norms	Eigen value Variance	1.820	0.546	0.504														
Q INT	Potential number of clients interested	explained	30.34	0.615	0.453														
Q_MRES	Market research on similar technologies Evaluating the commercial potential by an			0.680	0.430														
O EVAL	external expert			0.545	0.474														

1
9
•E
5
_
- ±
- 5
<u> </u>
-=
-0
-
ല
-д
÷
Ŧ
0
3
ΰ
Ē
- F
يد
, N
되
0
Ű
-
2
듶
-
<u> </u>
6
0
is of
sis of
vsis of
Ivsis of
alysis of
nalysis of
analysis of
r analysis of
or analysis of
tor analysis of
ctor analysis of
actor analysis of
factor analysis of
e factor analysis of
ne factor analysis of
the factor analysis of
the factor analysis of
of the factor analysis of
of the factor analysis of
s of the factor analysis of
ts of the factor analysis of
ults of the factor analysis of
sults of the factor analysis of
sults of the factor analysis of
cesults of the factor analysis of
Results of the factor analysis of
. Results of the factor analysis of
5. Results of the factor analysis of
5. Results of the factor analysis of

			Estim-		
Structural configuration			ate	S.E.	Р
H1 TT successfulness	\leftarrow	Ability to identify licensees	0.517	0.107	***
H2 TT successfulness	\leftarrow	Value of the technology	-1.139	0.147	***
Control variables					
H3 TT successfulness	\leftarrow	Resources and strategic	0.449	0.196	**
		decisions			
Components of each construct					
Ability to identify licensees	←	Current clients or customers	0.340	0.058	***
Ability to identify licensees	←	Informal networks	0.454	0.089	***
Ability to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Professional or industry	0.469	0.082	***
		association			
Ability to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Scientific/technical journals	0.318	0.094	***
Ability to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Research in patent databases	0.473	0.088	***
Ability to identify licensees	~	Conferences, trade fairs,	0.428	0.089	***
		exhibitions			
Value of the technology	←	Costs of R&D activities carried	0.093	0.086	
		out			
Value of the technology	\leftarrow	Potential revenue for the	0.093	0.110	
		licensee			
Value of the technology	\leftarrow	Licensing rates	0.246	0.108	**
Value of the technology	←	Potential number of clients interested	0.346	0.096	***
Value of the technology	\leftarrow	Market research	0.429	0.091	***
Value of the technology	←	Evaluating the commercial	0.492	0.081	***
		potential			
Resources/strategic decisions	←	Looking out to license	0.362	0.078	***
Resources/strategic decisions	\leftarrow	Written strategy for licensing	0.230	0.107	**
Resources/strategic decisions	\leftarrow	Share portfolio willing to	0.111	0.096	
		license out.			
Resources/strategic decisions	\leftarrow	Dedicated technology transfer	0.234	0.094	**
		staff			
TT successfulness	\leftarrow	License out technology	0.893	0.037	***
		experience			
TT successfulness	~	License-out agreement in 2016	0.618	0.073	***
TT successfulness	\leftarrow	License income in 2016	0.714	0.061	***

Table 6. SEM results enterprises (n=183)

Notes: * = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01. Standardized coefficients are presented. Covariances are kept constant in sub-group analysis.

			Estim-		
Structural configuration			ate	S.E.	Р
H1 TT successfulness	←	Ability to identify licensees	1.034	0.236	***
H2 TT successfulness	←	Value of the technology	-0.773	0.258	***
Control variables					
H3 TT successfulness	←	Resources and strategic	0.110	0.277	
		decisions			
Components of each construct					
Ability to identify licensees	←	Current clients or customers	0.339	0.058	**
Ability to identify licensees	←	Informal networks	0.614	0.091	***
Ability to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Professional or industry	0.108	0.157	***
		association			
Ability to identify licensees	←	Scientific/technical journals	0.283	0.158	***
Ability to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Research in patent databases	0.355	0.130	***
Ability to identify licensees	←	Conferences, trade fairs,	0.420	0.135	***
		exhibitions			
Value of the technology	←	Costs of R&D activities carried	0.093	0.086	
		out			
Value of the technology	←	Potential revenue for the	0.280	0.142	**
		licensee			
Value of the technology	←	Licensing rates	0.210	0.139	
Value of the technology	←	Potential number of clients	0.539	0.110	***
		interested			
Value of the technology	←	Market research	0.512	0.113	***
Value of the technology	←	Evaluating the commercial	-0.107	0.167	
			0.262	0.070	***
Resources/strategic decisions	÷	Looking out to license	0.362	0.078	***
Resources/strategic decisions	÷	Share portfolio willing to	-0.092	0.103	***
Resources/strategic decisions	÷	Share portiono willing to	0.038	0.106	
Pasaurass/atratagia desisions	~	Dedicated technology transfer	0 109	0 117	***
resources/surategic decisions	, –	staff	0.190	0.117	
TT successfulness	←	License out technology	0 704	0 098	***
1 1 Successiumess		experience	0.704	0.090	
TT successfulness	←	License-out agreement in 2016	0.582	0.085	***
TT successfulness	←	License income in 2016	0.601	0.087	***

Table 7. SEM results universities (n=145)

Notes: * = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01. Standardized coefficients are presented. Covariances are kept constant in sub-group analysis.

				Estim-		
Str	uctural configuration			ate	S.E.	Р
H1	TT successfulness	\leftarrow	Ability to identify licensees	1.442	0.491	***
H2	TT successfulness	←	Value of the technology	-0.649	0.568	
Co	ntrol variables					
H3	TT successfulness	←	Resources and strategic	-0.377	0.470	
			decisions			
Co	mponents of each construct					
Abi	ility to identify licensees	~	Current clients or customers	0.339	0.058	***
Abi	ility to identify licensees	←	Informal networks	0.390	0.201	*
Abi	ility to identify licensees	←	Professional or industry	0.626	0.138	***
			association			
Abi	ility to identify licensees	←	Scientific/technical journals	0.091	0.256	
Abi	ility to identify licensees	←	Research in patent databases	0.730	0.096	***
Abi	ility to identify licensees	\leftarrow	Conferences, trade fairs,	0.522	0.162	***
			exhibitions			
Val	ue of the technology	←	Costs of R&D activities carried	0.093	0.086	
			out			
Val	ue of the technology	←	Potential revenue for the	0.442	0.183	**
			licensee			
Val	ue of the technology	\leftarrow	Licensing rates	0.236	0.223	
Val	ue of the technology	\leftarrow	Potential number of clients	0.281	0.220	
			interested			
Val	ue of the technology	←	Market research	0.710	0.108	***
Val	ue of the technology	←	Evaluating the commercial	0.522	0.159	***
			potential			
Res	sources/strategic decisions	\leftarrow	Looking out to license	0.362	0.078	***
Res	sources/strategic decisions	\leftarrow	Written strategy for licensing	0.575	0.121	***
Res	sources/strategic decisions	←	Share portfolio willing to	0.006	0.189	
			license out.			
Res	sources/strategic decisions	←	Dedicated technology transfer	0.310	0.249	
			staff			
ΤT	successfulness	←	License out technology	0.580	0.173	***
			experience			
ΤT	successfulness	←	License-out agreement in 2016	0.658	0.106	***
TT	successfulness	\leftarrow	License income in 2016	0.647	0.114	***

Table 8. SEM results research institutes (n=43)

Notes: * = p < .10, ** = p < .05, *** = p < .01. Standardized coefficients are presented. Covariances are kept constant in sub-group analysis. Interpret cautiously due to low number of observations for this sub-group.

References

Arundel, A., and Steinmueller, E. (1998). The use of patent databases by European small and medium-sized enterprises. Technology Analysis and Strategic Management, 10(2), 157-173.

Arundel, A., Es-Sadki, N., Barjak, F., Perrett, P., Samuel, O., and Lilischkis, S. (2013). Knowledge Transfer Study 2010 – 2012. Final Report to the European Commission, DG Research and Innovation.

Acock, A. C. (2013). Discovering structural equation Modelling using Stata. Stata Press Books.

Alvarez, R., and López, R. A. (2015). Foreign technology acquisition and changes in the real exchange rate. The World Economy, 38(4), 613-628.

Anand, B. N., and Khanna, T. (2000). The structure of licensing contracts. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 48(1), 103-135.

Arya, A., Gong, N. , and Ramanan, R. N. V. (2014). Quality testing and product rationing by input suppliers. Production and Operations Management, 23 (11), 1835–1844.

Arundel, A., and Geuna, A. (2004). Proximity and the use of public science by innovative European firms. *Economics of Innovation and new Technology*, 13(6), 559-580.

Arora, A., and Gambardella, A. (2010). Ideas for rent: an overview of markets for technology. *Industrial and corporate change*, 19(3), 775-803.

Arora, A., and Ceccagnoli, M. (2006). Profiting from licensing: The role of patent protection and commercialization capabilities. *Management Science*, 52(2), 293-308.

Arora, A., and Fosfuri, A. (2003). Licensing the market for technology. *Journal* of Economic Behavior and Organization, 52(2), 277-295.

Baglieri, D., and Cesaroni, F. (2013). Capturing the real value of patent analysis for R&D strategies. Technology Analysis and Strategic Management, 25(8), 971-986.

Bandarian, R. (2007). Measuring commercial potential of a new technology at the early stage of development with fuzzy logic. Journal of Technology Management and Innovation, 2(4), 73-85.

Bekkers, R., and Freitas, I. M. B. (2008). Analysing knowledge transfer channels between universities and industry: To what degree do sectors also matter?. Research policy, 37(10), 1837-1853.

Belderbos, R., Carree, M., and Lokshin, B. (2004). Cooperative R&D and firm performance. Research policy, 33(10), 1477-1492.

Bentler, P. M. (1995). EQS structural equations program manual (Vol. 6). Encino, CA: Multivariate software.

Bessy, C., Brousseau, E., and Saussier, S. (2002). The diversity of technology licensing agreements. *WP ATOM, Université de Paris*, 1.

Buganza, T., and Verganti, R. (2009). Open innovation process to inbound knowledge: Collaboration with universities in four leading firms. European Journal of Innovation Management.

Caloghirou, Y., Giotopoulos, I., Kontolaimou, A., Korra, E., and Tsakanikas, A. (2021). Industry-university knowledge flows and product innovation: How do knowledge stocks and crisis matter?. Research Policy, 50(3), 104195.

Cannon, J. P., and Perreault Jr, W. D. (1999). Buyer–seller relationships in business markets. Journal of marketing research, 36(4), 439-460.

Caviggioli, F., and Ughetto, E. (2013). The drivers of patent transactions: corporate views on the market for patents. R&d Management, 43(4), 318-332.

Chiesa, V., Frattini, F., Gilardoni, E., Manzini, R. and Pizzurno, E. (2007), "Searching for factors influencing technological asset value", *European Journal of Innovation Management*, Vol. 10 No. 4, pp. 467-88.

Choi, J. P. (2002). A Dynamic Analysis of Licensing: The "Boomerang" Effect and Grant-Back Clauses. International Economic Review, 43(3), 803-829.

Clottey, T., and Benton, W. C., Jr. (2019). Quality-distribution information for the selective assembly of intermediary components in the automotive industry. Production and Operations Management, 29 (1), 174–191.

Cockburn, I., and Verità, M. (2007). Is the market for technology working? Obstacles to licensing inventions, and ways to reduce them. In Monte Verita Conference. The Economics of Technology Policy in Ascona, Switzerland.

Cohen, W. M., and Levinthal, D. A. (1990). Absorptive capacity: A new perspective on learning and innovation. Administrative science quarterly, 128-152.

Davies, H. (1977). Technology transfer through commercial transactions. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 161-175.

De Rassenfosse, G., and Higham, K. (2021). Decentralising the patent system. Government Information Quarterly, 38(2), 101559.

Dormann, C. F., Elith, J., Bacher, S., Buchmann, C., Carl, G., Carré, G., ... & Lautenbach, S. (2013). Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. Ecography, 36(1), 27-46.

Dushnitsky, G. (2010). Entrepreneurial optimism in the market for technological inventions. Organization Science, 21(1), 150-167.

Ellwood, P., Williams, C., and Egan, J. (2020). Crossing the valley of death: Five underlying innovation processes. *Technovation*, 102162.

Fabrizio, K. R. (2006). The use of university research in firm innovation. Open innovation: Researching a new paradigm, 134-160.

Fishman, M. J., and Hagerty, K. M. (2003). Mandatory versus voluntary disclosure in markets with informed and uninformed customers. Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization, 19 (1), 45–63.

Freitas, I. M. B., Geuna, A., and Rossi, F. (2013). Finding the right partners: Institutional and personal modes of governance of university–industry interactions. Research Policy, 42(1), 50-62.

Gans, J. S., and Stern, S. (2010). Is there a market for ideas?. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 19(3), 805-837.

Ghosh, B., and Galbreth, M. R. (2013). The impact of consumer attentiveness and search costs on firm quality disclosure: A competitive analysis. Management Science, 59 (11), 2604–2621.

Guan, X., Liu, B. S., Chen, Y. J., and Wang, H. W. (2020). Inducing supply chain trans- parency through supplier encroachment. Production and Operations Management, 29 (3), 725–749.

Guerrero, M., Cunningham, J. A., and Urbano, D. (2015). Economic impact of entrepreneurial universities' activities: An exploratory study of the United Kingdom. Research Policy, 44(3), 748-764.

Guerrero, M., and Urbano, D. (2012). The development of an entrepreneurial university. The journal of technology transfer, *37*(1), *43-74*.

Guo, L., and Zhao, Y. (2009). Voluntary quality disclosure and market interaction. Marketing Science, 28(3), 488-501.

Gnyawali, D. R., Madhavan, R., He, J., and Bengtsson, M. (2016). The competition–cooperation paradox in inter-firm relationships: A conceptual framework. Industrial Marketing Management, 53, 7-18.

Grossman, S. J., and Hart, O. D. (1980). Disclosure laws and takeover bids. The Journal of Finance, 35 (2), 323–334.

Hernández-Espallardo, M., Sánchez-Pérez, M., and Segovia-López, C. (2011). Exploitation-and exploration-based innovations: The role of knowledge in inter-firm relationships with distributors. Technovation, 31(5-6), 203-215.

Heslop, L. A., McGregor, E., and Griffith, M. (2001). Development of a technology readiness assessment measure: The cloverleaf model of technology transfer. The Journal of Technology Transfer, 26(4), 369-384.

Hofmann, K. H., Theyel, G., and Wood, C. H. (2012). Identifying firm capabilities as drivers of environmental management and sustainability practices–evidence from small and medium-sized manufacturers. Business Strategy and the Environment, 21(8), 530-545.

Hotz, V. J., and Xiao, M. O. (2013). Strategic information disclosure: The case of mul- ti-attribute products with heterogeneous consumers. Economic Inquiry, 51 (1), 865–881.

Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. Structural equation modeling: a multidisciplinary journal, *6*(1), 1-55.

Iacopino, V., Mascia, D., and Cicchetti, A. (2018). Professional networks and the alignment of individual perceptions about medical innovation. Health Care Management Review, 43(2), 92-103.

Kim, J., and Lee, S. (2015). Patent databases for innovation studies: A comparative analysis of USPTO, EPO, JPO and KIPO. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 92, 332-345.

Kotha, R., Crama, P., and Kim, P. H. (2018). Experience and signaling value in technology licensing contract payment structures. Academy of Management Journal, 61(4), 1307-1342.

Lavie, D. (2006). The competitive advantage of interconnected firms: An extension of the resource-based view. Academy of management review, 31(3), 638-658.

Lemley, M. A., and Myhrvold, N. (2007). How to make a patent market. Hofstra Law Review, 36(2), 2.

Leone, M. I., and Reichstein, T. (2012). Licensing-in fosters rapid invention! The effect of the grant-back clause and technological unfamiliarity. *Strategic Management Journal*, 33(8), 965-985.

Love, B. J., Richardson, K., Oliver, E., and Costa, M. (2018). An empirical look at the brokered market for patents. Mo. L. REv., 83, 359.

Mazzarol, T., and Reboud, S. (2008). The role of complementary actors in the development of innovation in small firms. International Journal of Innovation Management, 12(02), 223-253.

Pittaway, L., Robertson, M., Munir, K., Denyer, D., and Neely, A. (2004). Networking and innovation: a systematic review of the evidence. International journal of management reviews, 5(3-4), 137-168.

Purushotham, H., Sridhar, V., and Sunder, C. S. (2013). Management of technology transfer from Indian publicly funded R&D institutions to industry-modeling of factors impacting successful technology transfer. International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology, 4(4), 422.

Razgaitis, R. (2004). Dealmaking: using real options and Monte Carlo analysis. John Wiley and Sons.

Roberts, E. B., and Mizouchi, R. (1989). Inter–firm technological collaboration: the case of Japanese biotechnology. *International Journal of Technology Management*, 4(1), 43-61.

Roth, A. E. (2008). What have we learned from market design?. *The Economic Journal*, 118(527), 285-310.

Sánchez-Barrioluengo, M., and Benneworth, P. (2019). Is the entrepreneurial university also regionally engaged? Analysing the influence of university's structural configuration on third mission performance. Technological forecasting and social change, 141, 206-218.

Sánchez-Barrioluengo, M. (2014). Articulating the 'three-missions' in Spanish universities. Research Policy, 43(10), 1760-1773.

Sharma, S., Mukherjee, S., Kumar, A., and Dillon, W. R. (2005). A simulation study to investigate the use of cutoff values for assessing model fit in covariance structure models. Journal of Business Research, 58(7), 935-943.

Schartinger, D., Schibany, A., and Gassler, H. (2001). Interactive relations between universities and firms: empirical evidence for Austria. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *26*(3), 255-268.

Schumacker, R. E., and Lomax, R. G. (2004). A beginner's guide to structural equation modeling. psychology press.

Schoppe, Laura A., Cutting-edge tech: a how-to guide for corporate licensing officers, in Intellectual Asset Management, 2014, 18-25.

Sun, M. (2011). Disclosing multiple product attributes. Journal of Economics and Management Strategy, 20 (1), 195–224.

Swan, J. A., and Newell, S. (1995). The role of professional associations in technology diffusion. Organization studies, 16(5), 847-874.

Talmar, M., Walrave, B., Podoynitsyna, K. S., Holmström, J., and Romme, A. G. L. (2020). Mapping, analyzing and designing innovation ecosystems: The Ecosystem Pie Model. Long Range Planning, 53(4), 101850.

Teece, D. J. (1992). Competition, cooperation, and innovation: Organizational arrangements for regimes of rapid technological progress. Journal of economic behavior and organization, 18(1), 1-25.

Teece, D. J. (1986). Profiting from technological innovation: Implications for integration, collaboration, licensing and public policy. Research policy, 15(6), 285-305.

Troy, I., and Werle, R. (2008). Uncertainty and the Market for Patents.

Ullman, J. D. (2000). Structural Equation Modelling. Using Multivariate Statistics, Fidell, T. y.

Williams, L. J., Gavin, M. B., and Hartman, N. S. (2004). Structural equation modeling methods in strategy research: Applications and issues. In Research methodology in strategy and management (Vol. 1, pp. 303-346). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

Xie, X., Zou, H., and Qi, G. (2018). Knowledge absorptive capacity and innovation performance in high-tech companies: A multi-mediating analysis. Journal of business research, 88, 289-297.

Zemlickienė, V., Mačiulis, A., and Tvaronavičienė, M. (2017). Factors impacting the commercial potential of technologies: expert approach. Technological and Economic Development of Economy, 23(2), 410-427.

Chapter 6 The effectiveness of institutional policies on technology transfer outcomes

Abstract: This chapter¹⁵ addresses several gaps in the academic literature on the relationship of university policies on the knowledge transfer performance of KTOs. We examine the influence of a broader range of policies than available in other studies, with data on policies for IP, licensing and start-up activities. Furthermore, we distinguish between internal policies that affect mainly faculty and staff and published policies; publishing a policy and communicating its content to potential transfer clients potentially reduces the opportunities for negotiation of terms, with consequences for licensing agreements. Lastly, we include incentives for non-financial benefits. Currently, financial incentives dominate the literature. We find that the influence of policies to establish clear rules, improve transparency, and provide financial or non-financial incentives vary by outcome. Improving transparency by publishing the policies for licensing or IP are often negatively correlated with outcomes, particularly for license agreements. Out of three non-financial incentives, only social rewards have a rather positive influence (on start-ups), but financial incentives are positively correlated with several outcomes. A higher salary is positively linked to the number of research agreements and patent applications, while giving inventors a share of revenue is positively correlated with licensing and start-ups. The results suggest that the type of incentive as well as the degree of transparency of transfer policies should be chosen to complement the main transfer channels and strategy of the institution.

¹⁵ This chapter is published in *Research Evaluation*, Volume 24, Issue 1, January 2015, Pages 4–18. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/reseval/rvu024</u> and written together with Franz Barjak of the School of Business, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Northwestern Switzerland (FHNW) and Anthony Arundel of UNU-MERIT, Maastricht University. Some minor text edits have been made in this version compared to the publication.

1. Introduction

Since the early 1990s an increasing stream of publications has investigated the knowledge and technology transfer performance of universities and public research institutions and the influence of different policies on performance. Awareness among university administrators and policy makers about the importance of regulations governing knowledge transfer activities has also risen. Yet there is little evidence on the effectiveness of policies for specific outcomes.

This is of particular concern for Europe, where national laws and institutional regulations on the ownership and transfer of academic research results are subject to change (Geuna and Rossi 2011). To encourage good practice, in 2008 the European Commission (EC) issued recommendations for a Code of Practice (COP) containing eighteen guidelines (referred to as principles in the document) for the management of intellectual property (IP) and knowledge transfer activities by universities and public research institutes. The COP includes seven principles for IP, seven principles for knowledge transfer, and four principles for collaborative and contract research. The goal of the principles is to "better convert knowledge into socio-economic benefits" through a more effective exploitation of publicly funded research results (European Commission 2008, p. 5). Several principles advance publishing IP and other policies to improve transparency. The EC suggested that EU member states adopt the COP principles in their national guidelines and regulations and encourage their universities and public research organisations to also adopt practices compatible with the COP. Compliance with principles 1 and 2 are required as part of the funding conditions for R&D under the Framework Programme "Horizon 2020" (European Commission 2013, pp. 53-54). The mandatory principles (1 and 2) cover the publication of IP policies and the provision of clear rules for staff and students regarding the disclosure of new ideas with potential commercial interest, the ownership of research results, record keeping, the management of conflicts of interest and engagement with third parties.

This chapter uses the results of two surveys conducted in 2011 and 2012 of European Knowledge Transfer Offices (KTOs) to examine the influence of several recommended principles on knowledge transfer outcomes. Responses were obtained from 247 leading research universities and 40 public research institutes located in 32 European countries. The results permit an evaluation of a greater range of policies than possible for single country studies. Most previous research is based on a single country, such as research using the US Association of University Technology Managers (AUTM) dataset (see for instance Friedman and Silberman 2003; Lach and Schankerman 2004, 2008), Caldera and Debande's (2010) study of Spanish universities and Okamuro and Nishimura's (2013) Japanese study). One of the few exceptions using a multi-country dataset is Conti and Gaule (2011), but this study does not include policy variables.

The analyses presented below address several gaps in the academic literature on the relationship of university policies on the knowledge transfer performance of KTOs. First, we examine the influence of a broader range of policies than available in other studies, with data on policies for IP, licensing and start-up activities. Second, we distinguish between internal policies that affect mainly faculty and staff and published policies; publishing a policy and communicating its content to potential transfer clients potentially reduces the opportunities for negotiation of terms, with consequences for licensing agreements. Third, we include incentives for non-financial benefits. Currently, financial incentives dominate the literature. For brevity, the multivariate analyses focus on four outcomes: two that are closer to research (the number of research agreements and patent applications) and two that are closer to the market (the number of license agreements and start-ups established).

2. Research on knowledge transfer performance

Previous studies have evaluated a range of factors that can affect knowledge transfer performance, including the characteristics of the KTO, the characteristics of the affiliated institution, market characteristics, and of particular interest to this chapter, policies that can affect knowledge transfer outcomes.

2.1 Characteristics of the KTO

Several KTO features such as its age, size and experience of its staff can influence knowledge transfer performance. Previous research has established that older KTOs with presumably more experienced staff perform better (e.g. Conti and Gaule 2011; Curi et al. 2012; Link and Siegel 2005; Siegel et al. 2003a). In addition, the number of KTO employees has been found to increase performance (e.g. Conti and Gaule 2011; Owen-Smith and Powell 2001; Rogers et al. 2000; Siegel et al. 2003a; Thursby and Kemp 2002), with some exceptions. Chapple et al. (2005) found a negative relationship between KTO size and transfer efficiency in UK universities and Van Looy et al. (2011) found no correlation between KTO size and patent applications and contract research. Using the British HEFCE dataset, Hewitt-Dundas (2012) argues that it is not the size of the KTO, but the alignment of organisational support and strategic priorities that influences success. A related factor is the characteristics of KTO staff, with low turnover (conducive to greater experience) and business and marketing expertise improving transfer success (Conti and Gaule 2011; Siegel et al. 2003b).

Researchers have examined several organisational characteristics and strategies used by KTOs, including: the autonomy of KTOs in respect to the institution that they serve (Conti and Gaule 2011; Markman et al. 2009; Siegel et al. 2003a), their organizational structure and degree of centralization of services (Bercovitz et al. 2001; Debackere and Veugelers 2005; Schoen et al. in print), and transfer strategies (Belenzon and Schankerman 2009; Caldera and Debande 2010; Friedman and Silberman 2003; Litan et al. 2007). Whereas organisational autonomy seems to improve outcomes, the influence of organisational structure and transfer strategies on performance are ambiguous.

2.2 Institutional characteristics

Several characteristics of universities or public research institutes can influence performance. These include ownership (public-private), size, the presence of science or medical faculties, research excellence and business orientation (Baldini 2009; Belenzon and Schankerman 2009; Caldera and Debande 2010; Curi et al. 2012; Sapsalis et al. 2006; Schartinger et al. 2001; Thursby et al. 2001; Thursby and Kemp 2002; Van Looy et al. 2011).

2.3 Institutional policies

Research on the influence of policies on performance outcomes is quite heterogeneous, looking at entire strategies or sets of institutional rules and practices, as well as at specific rules. Prominent topics in the literature are 1) incentives for faculty and staff, 2) IP policies, and 3) start-up strategies, support infrastructure and rules.

1) Incentives for faculty and staff. Several studies have found a lack of financial incentives to be an important barrier for knowledge transfer (Siegel et al. 2003a; Siegel et al. 2004; Woolgar 2007) while the provision of financial incentives has a positive influence on transfer performance in many countries: the US (e.g. Lach and Schankerman 2004; Lach and Schankerman 2008; Link and Siegel 2005), Italy (Baldini 2010), Spain (Caldera and Debande 2010), or Japan (Woolgar 2007). Providing a share of revenues to the inventor's department is positively related to licence income (Markman et al. 2009), unrelated to start-ups (Markman et al. 2004) and negatively related to licences executed (Friedman and Silberman 2003).

Other types of financial incentives, as well as non-financial benefits which do not consist of direct and personal payments to the inventor, such as social rewards, additional R&D funds, or the inclusion of transfer successes in promotion and career decisions have not been examined.

2) IP policies. In some countries, IP ownership rules and other relevant regulations are determined nationally and can influence the performance of individual universities or public research institutes (Colyvas et al. 2002; Conti and Gaule 2011; Geuna and Rossi 2011; Goldfarb and Henrekson 2003; Valentin and Jensen 2007). University by-laws on IP can act as a stimulus to promote patenting (Baldini et al. 2006; Baldini 2010), whereas these by-laws have not been found to affect licensing agreements (González-Pernía et al. 2013). Wright et al. (2008) find that the use of identical patent policies across institutions can help to attract the R&D activities of larger companies. Conversely, Okamuro and Nishimura (2013), in a study of Japanese

companies, find that university IP policies which flexibly meet firms' needs have a positive influence on the number of patents and new products produced by university-industry collaborations.

Little research has been conducted on the influence of rules that complement knowledge transfer. A study of Spanish universities found that rules on conflicts of interest are correlated with a higher number of university-industry R&D contracts, income from such contracts, licences executed, income from licences and the number of start-ups (Caldera and Debande 2010). Conversely, the same study finds that rules on R&D contracts that stipulate the participation of the institution in any benefits from commercialisation reduce the number of contracts.

3) Start-up strategies, support infrastructure and rules. The literature on institutional start-up policies covers a wide number of issues. The existence of a start-up program, not surprisingly, correlates with a higher number of start-ups (Caldera and Debande 2010). Other research finds that different institutional start-up models generate different numbers and types of start-ups (Clarysse et al. 2005). The "low selective model" creates internally an entrepreneurial climate and reduces institutional barriers, but it offers little support and survival is left to market forces. The "supportive model" gives extensive support to academic entrepreneurs in the pre-start-up phase; while in the "incubator model" companies are spun off in a late stage after receiving support from the institution to prepare them for this step. Such spin-off policies have been found to affect the growth potential of ventures (Clarysse et al. 2005; Degroof and Roberts 2004).

A few studies examined the influence of supporting infrastructure and rules. The presence of an incubator did not raise the number of start-ups from American universities (Di Gregorio and Shane 2003), but it correlated positively with spin-offs in a Spanish study (González-Pernía et al. 2013). Rules on spin-off involvement that grant temporary leave to academics are positively correlated with the number of spin-offs (Caldera and Debande 2010). Lerner (2004) argues that too vigorous conflict-of-interest regulations can have a chilling influence on entrepreneurial activity. The possibility to take equity stakes can increase start-up rates (Di Gregorio and Shane 2003).

2.4 Main focus of this research

This chapter focuses on the influence of three sets of policies: financial and non-financial incentives to faculty and staff to become involved in knowledge transfer, codifying policies by developing written documents and streamlining IP management and transfer practice, and the influence of publishing policies and raising transparency.

Based on the literature review, we test five hypotheses:

H1. Financial incentives have a positive influence on transfer outcomes.

H2. Non-financial incentives have a positive influence on transfer outcomes.

H3. Codified transfer policies for internal staff and faculty have a positive influence on transfer outcomes.

H4. Publishing transfer policies so that they are available to businesses has a positive influence on transfer outcomes which are close to research.

H5. Publishing transfer policies has a negative influence on transfer outcomes which are close to the market.

H1 is strongly suggested by previous research. H2 is open to discussion, but we would expect that non-financial incentives could also increase commitment to knowledge transfer. The latter could have a stronger impact on transfer outcomes that are closer to research, as non-financial incentives are more closely related to the Mertonian norms of science (Merton 1996) than to commercialization. For other reasons we might get a similar result for H3: codifying policies will raise internal awareness of IP and transfer issues and ensure greater efficiency through the development of consistent practices. H4 follows from H3 by improving client expectations. With regard to H5, we point to Okamuro and Nishimura (2013): publishing policies might limit the flexibility in dealing with external clients.

3. Methodology

3.1 Data collection

Data were collected through two separate surveys in 2011 and 2012. Each survey referred to the preceding year (2010 and 2011). The European Knowledge Transfer Indicator Survey (EKTIS) collected data on the characteristics of KTOs (number of employees, age, etc), a few characteristics of the affiliated university or public research institute, who owns the intellectual property for discoveries, and data on performance outcomes for 2010 and 2011.

The surveys focused on the leading research-intensive universities and research institutes in 39 countries including the 27 EU member states and 12 associate countries. The response rate for the EKTIS survey was 57.0% in 2011 and 55.9% in 2012. The second survey used a sub-sample of EKTIS respondents to collect information on institutional and national policies for knowledge transfer and attained a response rate of 50.0% in 2011 and 39.8% in 2012. Full details on the survey methodology plus copies of the two questionnaires are provided by Arundel et al. (2013).

The two sets of survey data were then linked. The number of cases for analysis is increased by including all respondents for at least one of the two surveys. If a respondent replied to both surveys, the results for the most recent year (2011) are used. Since economic conditions, research funding and knowledge transfer policies in Europe did not change notably between 2010 and 2011, any biases due to combining years should be minor. The linked dataset includes 170 cases for which 2011 data are available and 118 cases for which only 2010 data are available.

3.2 Variables

There are four dependent variables for performance: the number of patent applications and three variables that measure the potential for transferring commercially valuable knowledge to private firms, the number of research agreements with firms, the number of licenses, and the number of start-ups established. These performance measures have been widely used in previous research. Although a patent is not required for knowledge transfer, the number of patent applications is included in the output variables because of previous research showing a strong link for European universities between licensing and patented inventions (Arundel and Bordoy 2009). Research agreements can be further from commercialisation than licensing or start-ups, but they can also involve solving specific problems with existing products or processes and they have been neglected in previous work (with the exception of Caldera and Debande 2010; Van Looy et al. 2011).

The data are based on the awareness of KTO managers of the transfer of knowledge owned and commercialized by their office. As some organisations or countries permit the assignment of IP rights to inventors, this will underestimate the total knowledge transfer output of a university or research institute to the extent that some inventor-owned IP is commercialised through the assistance of organisations other than the responsible KTO (Lissoni et al. 2008). Consequently, the results of this study only apply to institutional knowledge transfer via the KTO. In our database, 61.5% report that only the institution or "companies that fund research conducted by your institution" owns the IP, 9% report that only the inventor or 'others' own the IP, and 29.5% report that IP can be owned by either the inventor, the institution, companies or others. We use this information to control for the possibility that inventors or others own the IP generated at the institution. The variable ownership equals 1 if only the institution or funders own the IP and 0 if inventors/others have the right to IP as well or exclusively. Company ownership is combined with institutional ownership because the KTO is highly likely to be aware of the research outputs of company funded research, since KTOs normally draw up the governing legal agreements.

Although data are available for license income, we do not provide regression results for this variable because of a lack of data over a sufficiently long time period. The amount of income earned in 2010 or 2011 can depend on inventions that were made long before the survey reference year, when the values of the independent policy variables may have been very different from their values in 2010 or 2011.

The independent variables of interest include four types of COP policy variables.

The first policy variable consists of who owns the intellectual property from a discovery made at the institution. The variable 'IPR owned by the inventor' equals 1 when the inventor owns the intellectual property and 0 otherwise.

The second type of policy variable concerns the availability of written rules to prevent potential conflicts. The variable 'Rules on IP ownership' equals 1 when the institution has rules for who owns the intellectual property and 0 otherwise. The second variable, 'rules for conflicts of interest' equals 1 when there are rules to manage conflicts of interest and 0 otherwise.

The third type of policy variable concerns the availability of written and published rules on intellectual property, licensing policy, and start-up policies. The variables for a 'Written Policy' equal 1 when the institution has a written document for the relevant policy, but it is only available to staff of the institution. The variables for a 'Published policy' equal 1 when there is a written policy that is available both to internal staff and externally to the public. The reference category of 0 occurs when no written policy is available. Separate written and published policy variables are provided for IP, license, and start-up policies.

The final type of policy variable is for incentives for the protection of IP or its exploitation. Four variables cover direct financial benefits to the inventor: 'Percent of revenues', 'Lump sum payment' and 'Higher salary' (for each 1 if the inventor receives the incentive and 0 otherwise). In addition, the 'Inventor share' is the percentage of revenue from licencing given to the inventor. Three variables cover non-financial benefits to the inventor: 'Promotion decisions', referring to taking success in protecting or exploiting IP in promotion and career decisions into account; 'Social rewards' in case of awards or publicity; 'Funding for research', if additional funds for the inventors' R&D are provided. Finally, one variable covers a financial benefit to the inventor's department: 'Departmental share' is the percentage of revenue that is given to the department, institute, or other unit with which the inventor is affiliated.

In addition to IP ownership (see above) we include further control variables which cover the key influences on transfer performance as assessed in the literature. Two KTO variables include the number of employees and KTO age (equal to 1 if the KTO was established before January 2000 and 0 otherwise). The three institutional variables include the number of researchers (research output is expected to be closely correlated with this variable), if the institution has a hospital, (1 when present and 0 otherwise), and the type of institution (1 when a university and 0 if a public research institute). The variable for the presence of a hospital is included to capture activity in health sciences while the type of institution is an important factor in the use of licensing and startups. The full data set shows that the former is more common in public research institutes and the latter is more common in universities. We do not include a control variable for university ownership status (private or public) as almost all universities in our sample are publicly owned.

3.3 Analytical methods

All independent variables are measured as counts. We tested for overdispersion, i.e. whether the conditional variance equals the conditional mean of the dependent variable, as described in Cameron and Trivedi (1998: 77-79) and found significant overdispersion for all four dependent variables. This rules out the use of a Poisson model and consequently we chose the Negative Binomial model instead.

As there are large numbers of zero responses for patent applications, license agreements and start-ups (see Table 1), we also estimated zero-inflated negative binomial models (ZINB) as part of the sensitivity analysis. The ZINB model assumes that the zero outcomes are due to two different processes (Long et al. 2006). For instance, in our data, the two processes could be that a) an institution has not participated in one type of formal knowledge transfer activities (and consequently reports 0 output) or b) that it participated but without success. The two parts of a zero-inflated model are a binary model, in this case a logit model to model which of the two processes the zero outcome is associated with, and a (negative binomial) count model to model the count process. To differentiate between the two processes an inflation variable is needed which we lack in our cross-sectional dataset. We

approximated it with invention disclosures (for patent applications) and patent applications (for license agreements and start-ups) of the same year. The results of the ZINB models do not differ in any meaningful way from the Negative Binomial results provided below, indicating that these results are reasonably robust.

Due to the cross-sectional nature of the data, it is not possible to unambiguously identify cause and effect, for example whether policies drive performance or if institutions alter their policies as a result of performance outcomes. However, the latter is more likely to occur in response to poor performance, which would reduce the ability to identify policies with a positive effect on outcomes.

The regressions were first conducted using a dummy variable for the survey year (2011 versus 2010). The variable had no effect on any of the results except for the number of licenses, indicating that license activity declined in 2011. However, the variable for year had no effect on any of the policy variables and is consequently not included in the final regressions given below.

As we included up to 18 variables in the estimations, we also checked for multicollinearity and calculated the variance inflation factors and condition numbers. These tests indicated that multicollinearity is not a problem for our estimations. A correlation table of the independent variables can be found in the appendix.

In order to identify the influence of the key variables of interest on our dependent variables, we entered them stepwise into the models. For each dependent variable, the model 1 regressions are limited to the control variables with subsequent models including additional variables. Model 2 adds the policy codification variables, model 3 the transparency rules, models 4 and 5 financial incentives, and model 6 financial and non-financial incentives for the inventor. For the regressions for the number of start-ups, the control variable for KTO age is not included (with one exception) because it was never statistically significant and excluding this variable increased the sample by 18 cases that had not provided this information. Each table

includes the AIC value (Akaike Information Criterion), a goodness-of-fit measure in which smaller values are preferable.

4. Descriptive results

On average, the universities in our sample reported 14.3 patent applications, 11.3 executed licenses, 5.2 start-ups and 170.5 research agreements (see Table 1). The performance of research institutes is comparable, except for a lower average for start-ups and a higher average for research agreements. A large percentage of institutions report zero values for each outcome, particularly for the number of start-ups, with 33.2% of universities reporting no start-ups in the reference year. The median values are considerably lower than the arithmetic means for most indicators, indicating a few institutions with high values, particularly for research agreements.

		Universities				Rese	arch instit	utes	
				Percent				Percent	
	Ν	Mean	Median	zero ¹	Ν	Mean	Median	zero ¹	
Patent applications	228	14.3	6	18.4	38	14.6	6.5	10.5	
Licenses executed	200	11.3	3.5	24.5	37	13.7	3	24.3	
Start-ups formed	214	5.2	2	33.2	38	1.3	1	34.2	
R&D agreements									
with companies	161	170.5	68	4.3	31	249	30	0.0	

 Table 1. Key performance indicators for universities and public research institutes

1: Percent reporting 'zero' for each outcome. For example, 18.4% of 228 universities reported zero patent applications in 2010 and/or 2011.

Source: MERIT, European Knowledge Transfer Indicator Survey 2011 and 2012.

Tables 2, 3 and 4 provide the number and percentage of universities and other research institutes that reported specific types of policies. Table provides results for policies to make university knowledge transfer activities clear and transparent to staff or firms. The most common policy consists of rules on who owns the IP, reported by 86.1% of universities. Of interest, far fewer universities and research institutes make their policies publicly available. For example, 69.4% of universities have a written IP policy available for internal staff, compared to only 29.3% who made this policy publicly available. The

lowest level of codification is for licensing policies, with only 26.9% of universities providing a written license policy and only 7.2% making their license policy publicly available. Start-up policies are written down in almost four out of ten institutions, but only published by 17.1%.

		Univer	sities	Res	earch ir	stitutes
	Ν	Yes	Percent	Ν	Yes	Percent
IP policy includes rules on IP ownership	245	211	86.1	40	36	90.0
IP policy includes rules for conflict management	245	123	50.2	40	20	50.0
Institution has a written IP policy	232	161	69.4	38	22	57.9
Institution has published the IP policy	232	68	29.3	38	4	10.5
Institution has a written licence policy	223	60	26.9	36	9	25.0
Institution has published the licence policy	223	16	7.2	36	1	2.8
Institution has a written start-up policy	228	89	39.0	37	22	59.5
Institution has published the start-up policy	228	39	17.1	37	4	10.8

Table 2. Codification and transparency of knowledge transfer policies of the affiliated institution

Source: FHNW, European Knowledge Transfer Practice Surveys 2011 and 2012. Written policies are only available for internal staff, while published policies are publicly available.

Table 3 provides the percentage of universities and research institutes that provide incentives for researchers and students to protect and exploit IP, while Table 4 gives the average distribution of license revenues. As shown in Table 3, the most common incentive, reported by 82.5% of universities, is to provide researchers with a percentage of the revenues. Salary upgrades are reported by only 6.7% of universities.

	Universities			Re	search in	nstitutes
	Ν	Yes	Percent	Ν	Yes	Percent
Percentage of revenues	223	184	82.5	37	31	83.8
Social rewards (e.g. awards, publicity)	224	125	55.8	37	15	40.5
Additional funds for R&D	224	76	33.6	37	12	32.4
Inclusion in promotion and career decisions	224	56	25.0	37	12	32.4
Lump-sum payments	223	52	23.3	37	14	37.8
Salary upgrades	224	15	6.7	37	2	5.4

 Table 3. Provision of incentives for researchers and students to protect

 and exploit IP

Source: FHNW, European Knowledge Transfer Practice Surveys 2011 and 2012.

Table 4 provides the average distribution of knowledge transfer revenues by the type of recipient. On average, the inventor and other researchers at universities obtain 42.8% of the revenues, with the KTO receiving slightly below 7%.

Table 4. Average shares of revenues from IP by recipient

	Universities		Resear	rch institutes
	Ν	Percent	Ν	Percent
Inventors or researchers from the institution	184	42.8	36	26.3
Institution	184	28.5	36	48.1
Department, institute, or other institutional subunits	184	19.0	36	21.5
KTO or other intermediaries ¹	157	6.8	33	3.6
Other beneficiaries	184	2.9	36	0.5
Total		100.0		100.0

1: KTO shares were collected separately only in 2012.

Source: FHNW, European Knowledge Transfer Practice Surveys 2011 and 2012.

5. Regression results

5.1 Research agreements

Table 5 gives regression results for the number of research agreements. The variation in the number of cases is due to missing responses, which is greatest for the interval level variables for revenue sharing. The control variables show significantly strong positive correlations with the number of researchers and founding date of the KTO, a small influence of KTO size. No significance is found for the presence of a hospital, ownership by the inventor, and type of institution (university or research institute).

Several methods to increase the transparency of IP and licensing policies have no significance, including rules for IP ownership and conflicts of interest and a published license policy. A written IP policy and a written licensing policy have a significant positive relationship; however, they are no longer significant once the incentive variables are added in the regressions. Conversely, publishing the IP policy is positive and weakly significant only when incentives are included (models 4-6).

The only incentive that always increases the number of research agreements is to provide a higher salary to inventors that protect or exploit IP. A higher departmental share of revenues also improves performance, but the inventor share has no significance. Of note, these incentives refer to license income. Only a minority of research agreements are likely to lead to license income in the future, which may explain why the security of higher staff salaries is the most effective incentive for inventors. Of the non-financial incentives, funding for the inventor's research is negative – possibly because it reduces the need to enter into research agreements (model 6).

Model	1	2	3	4	5	6
Ν	159	148	148	123	123	141
AIC	1909.98	1780.34	1783.91	1496.65	1496.74	1699.98
Number of researchers	.375***	.384***	.377***	.268***	.289***	.319***
Number of KTO employees	.019**	001	002	.023*	.020*	.007
Presence of Hospital ¹	200	221	208	306	347	272
University ²	.000	.036	.026	.312	.254	.147
IPR Owned by inventor ³	.243	.204	.214	.180	.215	.173
KTO age ⁴	.421**	.437**	.446***	.310	.345*	.423**
Policy codification and trans	sparency					
Written IP policy		.592***	.594***	.051	.081	.304
Published IP policy		.260	.245	.574**	.544**	.415*
Written licence policy		.451**	.444**	.134	.147	.338
Published licence policy		368	381	623	585	187
IP ownership rules			.163	.078	006	.641
Conflict of interest rules			.053	161	155	134
Inventor incentives						
Percent of revenues ⁵				.230		.096
Lump-sum payment ⁵				.339	.383*	.322
Higher salary⁵				.998**	.818**	.947***
Revenue sharing						
Departmental share				.014***	.015***	
Inventor share					.005	
Non-financial inventor incen	tives					
Promotion decisions ⁵						.300
Funding for research⁵						415**
Social rewards ⁵						078

Table 5. Number of research agreements in the previous year

* = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01

1: Reference category is no hospital; 2: Reference category is a research institute, 3: Reference category is IP owned by the institute or by firms; 4: Reference category is establishment after 2000; 5: binary variables where 1 = use of incentive.

5.2 Number of patent applications

Table 6 gives results for the number of patent applications. The number of researchers has a consistent significant positive correlation. The number of KTO employees is also positive and significant (except in model 3). When the IP is owned by the inventor the coefficient is positive but only significant when we include variables on incentives as well. The founding date is positive, indicating more applications by older KTOs, but only significant in two models. The existence of a hospital and the type of institution are insignificant.

Policy codification and transparency tends to increase the number of patent applications. The variable for a written IP policy is positive and statistically significant in models 2 and 3. Publishing the IP policy is positive and statistically significant in models 4 and 5. Rules for IP ownership and conflicts of interest are consistently positive, but rarely significant.

Similar to the results for research agreements, a higher salary to inventors consistently increases the number of patent applications. A lump sum payment for inventors is significant in models 4 and 5. Giving the inventor a share of the revenues is positive in model 6, but the actual size of the inventor share (measured as continuous variable) has no influence (see model 5). There are no significant results for the departmental share of license income and all non-financial incentives.

Model	1	2	3	4	5	6
Ν	213	203	202	158	158	191
AIC	1494.15	1419.63	1409.69	1101.42	1101.53	1345.64
Number of researchers	.255***	.277***	.291***	.163***	.170**	.245***
Number of KTO employees	.023***	.017**	.013	.024***	.023**	.014*
Presence of Hospital ¹	.045	010	.084	.278	.317	.123
University ²	.031	.065	.057	.133	.074	.088
IPR Owned by inventor ³	.238	.243	.259	.326*	.350*	.306*
KTO age ⁴	.245	.270*	.224	.299	.377**	.233
Policy codification and trans	sparency					
Written IP policy		.581***	.451**	.176	.234	.166
Published IP policy		.086	.090	.424**	.397*	.276
IP ownership rules			.244	.303	.356	.173
Conflict of interest rules			.333**	.266	.266	.231
Inventor incentives						
Percent of revenues ⁵				.255		.500**
Lump-sum payment⁵				.429**	.479**	.244
Higher salary⁵				1.346***	1.189***	.737**
Revenue sharing						
Departmental share				002	001	
Inventor share					.005	
Non-financial inventor incen	tives					
Promotion decisions ⁵						.101
Funding for research⁵						.096
Social rewards ⁵						.184

Table 6. Number of patent applications in the previous year

* = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01

1: Reference category is no hospital; 2: Reference category is a research institute, 3: Reference category is IP owned by the institute or by firms; 4: Reference category is establishment after 2000; 5: binary variables where 1 = use of incentive.

5.3 Number of licenses

Table 7 gives results for the number of licenses. The variables for the number of researchers and the size of the KTO are positive and statistically significant. Universities have significantly fewer licenses than the reference category of research institutes. The ownership of IP has no significant correlation, but the age of the KTO and the presence of a hospital have a significant and positive correlation in several models.

The variable for IP ownership rules is positive and significant in models 4 and 5 which also include variables for financial incentives. A written or published IP policy has no influence in any of the models, but a written licence policy has a significantly strong positive correlation in all models. Of interest, making the license policy publicly available has a negative correlation in several estimations, particularly in model 6, which includes non-financial incentives. The greater importance of an internally transparent versus an externally transparent licensing policy could reflect the need for flexibility in negotiations with firms. A published licence policy could indicate less flexibility in licensing negotiations, leading to fewer licence contracts. Semi-structured interviews with companies and transfer offices suggest that companies back off if universities' ideas in licence contract negotiations are incompatible with their own views (Arundel et al. 2013).

In contrast to the results for the number of research agreements and patent applications, a higher inventor salary has no significant relationship with the number of licenses while a lump-sum payment has a significant negative correlation, but only in model 6 when non-monetary incentives are included. The existence of a rule that reserves a percentage of the revenues for the inventor is strongly positive, but the actual size of the inventor share (measured as a continuous variable) has no influence (see model 5). Conversely, the departmental share is positive and statistically significant. For the non-financial incentives, we only find a weak negative correlation for giving more research funds to the inventors as a premium for being involved in transfers (model 6).

Model	1	2	3	4	5	6
Ν	197	184	183	146	146	173
AIC	1262.16	1149.93	1145.30	925.55	935.25	1094.18
Number of researchers	.172***	.232***	.235***	.084**	.129***	.189***
Number of KTO employees	.034***	.018**	.017**	.029***	.024***	.017*
Presence of Hospital ¹	.287	.411*	.374	.388	.424*	.446*
University ²	469**	463**	455**	530**	506*	673***
IPR owned by inventor ³	083	112	108	229	242	095
KTO age ⁴	.355**	.215	.198	.389**	.520***	.152
Policy codification and tran	isparency					
Written IP policy		.266	.178	069	.203	106
Published IP policy		.282	.286	.034	023	.253
Written licence policy		.948***	.927***	.674***	.741***	.928***
Published licence policy		648*	666*	481	403	855**
IP ownership rules			.217	.974**	.982**	.184
Conflict of interest rules			.083	066	036	.005
Inventor incentives						
Percent of revenues ⁵				1.187***		1.165***
Lump-sum payment ⁵				279	204	401**
Higher salary ⁵				.347	157	.445
Revenue sharing						
Departmental share				.017***	.015**	
Inventors share					.006	
Non-financial inventor ince	ntives					
Promotion decisions ⁵						.119
Funding for research ⁵						334*
Social rewards ⁵						.354*

Table 7. Number of licenses in the previous year

* = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01

1: Reference category is no hospital; 2: Reference category is a research institute, 3: Reference category is IP owned by the institute or by firms; 4: Reference category is establishment after 2000; 5: binary variables where 1 = use of incentive.

5.4 Number of start-ups established

Table 8 gives the results for the number of start-ups established in the previous year. The variables for the number of researchers and KTO employees are positive and significant. The variable for university is positive, indicating that universities produce more start-ups than research institutes (5.2 compared to 1.3, see Table 1). When the IP is owned by the inventor, the coefficient is consistently negative and significant in several models. This could suggest that inventors that own the IP are less interested in establishing start-ups, and perhaps prefer to license inventions. While there is no significant relationship found for this variable with the number of licenses in Table 7, this explanation is still possible, as Table 7 covers licence agreements of the institution, whereas we would have to look at licence contracts of inventors (not available) to properly evaluate the argument. However, another explanation could be that our survey respondents (the KTOs) are not fully aware of all start-ups, particularly if inventors own the IP and establish start-ups outside the purview of the KTO.

With the exception of IP ownership rules, policy codification and transparency reduce the number of start-ups. The variable for a published IP policy is consistently negative and statistically significant. Neither a written nor published start-up policy has any influence. Rules for conflicts of interest are consistently negative, suggesting that these dampen the interest of university staff in participating in start-ups.

A higher salary has a significantly strong negative correlation in models 4 and 5, possibly because an increase in salary reduces inventor interest in supporting a start-up. Giving the inventors a share of the revenue raises the number of start-ups as well (model 6) and the size of this share also seems to matter (model 5). The departmental share is not significantly correlated with the number of start-ups. Similar to the results for license agreements, social rewards to the inventors have a statistically significant and positive effect on the number of start-ups. The social award effect could be due to the prestige of establishing a company. However, funding for the inventor's research has a significant negative correlation, suggesting that it reduces the incentives for inventors to establish a start-up or provide support for an independent startup that uses the inventor's IP.

Model	1	2	3	4	5	6		
Ν	207	211	211	161	161	198		
AIC	918.22	1062.93	1057.40	813.11	801.37	993.91		
Number of researchers	.173***	.158***	.176***	.146***	.202***	.190***		
Number of KTO employees	.011	.025***	.026***	.030***	.019*	.027***		
Presence of Hospital ¹	394*	540**	644***	596**	474*	724**		
University ²	1.102***	1.493***	1.474***	1.287***	1.040***	1.450***		
IPR owned by inventor ³	.291	310*	302*	350*	211	157		
KTO age ⁴	.094							
Policy codification and transparency								
Written IP policy		.112	.058	.165	.503*	348		
Published IP policy		605***	604***	593**	816***	426*		
Written start-up policy		.202	.168	090	030	.073		
Published start-up policy		181	121	067	090	072		
IP ownership rules			.752**	.956**	1.038**	.694*		
Rules for conflict of interest			414**	385**	204	559***		
Inventor incentives								
Percent of revenues ⁵				.198		.895***		
Lump-sum payment ⁵				.085	.210	.033		
Higher salary⁵				745*	-1.103**	.196		
Revenue sharing								
Departmental share				005	.003			
Inventors share					.023***			
Non-financial incentives								
Promotion decisions ⁵						.093		
Funding for research ⁵						510***		
Social rewards⁵						.763***		

Table 8. Number of start-ups established in the previous year

* = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01

1: Reference category is no hospital; 2: Reference category is a research institute, 3: Reference category is IP owned by the institute or by firms; 4: Reference category is establishment after 2000; 5: binary variables where 1 = use of incentive.

5.5 Does policy drive performance or vice versa?

For both licenses and start-ups, publishing the license and start-up policies either reduces the number of outcomes (as for licenses) or has no significance (for start-up policies). A possible explanation for these results is that poorly performing KTOs try to improve their performance by implementing publication policies, perhaps as part of marketing transfer opportunities. This hypothesis is difficult to test with the available cross-sectional data. One option is to conduct separate regressions for KTOs that perform below and above the median in terms of the number of licenses or start-ups per 1,000 researchers. If publishing a policy reduces outcomes for both groups, then it is unlikely that the cause is due to a change in policy by poor performers to improve their performance. However, if publishing a policy has a negative statistical relationship in the poor performing group and a positive relationship in the high performing group, then the poor performers could be implementing publication policies to improve their performance.

Table 9 provides summary results for a test of this hypothesis (the estimations include the control variables, but for simplicity they are excluded in Table 9). The results in the first half of Table 9 show that publishing the license policy has a significant negative correlation with the number of licenses for both the poor and good performing groups, while the coefficients for publishing the IP policy are consistently positive, but only statistically significant for the below median group. The second half of Table 9 gives the results for KTOs that perform below and above the median for start-ups. The results show that publishing the IP policy is significantly negative for the group above the median but not for the group below the median. Publishing the start-up policy is not statistically significant in both groups, but the relationship is negative in all but one model. These results do not suggest that poor performing KTOs publish their policies to improve their performance.

	Above median		Below median						
	performance		performance						
Model	1a	2a	1b	2b					
Number of license agreements									
Written IP policy	.088	.106	758*	718					
Published IP policy	.433	.433	.694*	.674					
Written licence policy	.675***	.658**	.854**	.843**					
Published licence policy	859*	851*	-2.710**	-2.627**					
IP ownership rules		111		.273					
Conflict of interest rules		.037		121					
Ν	92	91	92	92					
Number of start-ups									
Written IP policy	.217	.177	.194	.325					
Published IP policy	608**	625**	085	.047					
Written start-up policy	.107	.031	.982**	1.160**					
Published start-up policy	436	280	.133	115					
IP ownership rules		.713*		1.521					
Conflict of interest rules		548**		543					
Ν	109	109	102	102					

Table 9. Number of licenses and start-ups in the previous year by groupperformance

* = p <.10, ** = p <.05, *** = p<.01.

Note: The median is 2.5 per 1,000 researchers for license agreements and 0.96 per 1,000 researchers for start-ups. The drop in cases is due to unreported values for the independent variables.
6. Discussion and Conclusions

This chapter uses survey data to examine the correlation between policies that are expected to support knowledge transfer and four knowledge transfer outcomes for leading European universities and public research institutes. The four outcomes are the number of patent applications, research agreements, licenses, and start-ups established in the year preceding the survey. The patent application outcome is the furthest from the market, but is a key goal for many universities and research institutes because of the positive link between patenting activity and license income. Research agreements can produce discoveries that can be quickly commercialised, or they may produce results that will take a long time, if ever, to be commercially valuable. In contrast, licenses and start-ups are much closer to the market. Firms will not license a discovery without an expectation of future commercial opportunities and private investors will similarly expect a future return from start-ups, even though many start-ups will fail.

6.1 Codifying and publishing IP and transfer policies

The European Commission's (2008) principles for knowledge transfer policies stress the value of specific policies, examined in this study, for supporting knowledge transfer outcomes that lead to commercialisation. These include clear IP ownership and conflict of interest rules to minimize disputes, the codification and publication of policies for IP, licensing and start-ups; and incentives that encourage inventors to protect IP and support its exploitation by firms. After controlling for several characteristics of the KTO and the number of researchers in the university or research institute, we find that none of these policies have a consistently positive correlation with all four outcomes. A few policies tend to show more negative than positive correlations, while the benefits of other policies vary by the type of outcome. The fact that we are unable to detect generalizable (across all outcomes) and positive correlations suggests that 1) more research is needed on institutional policies and their influence and 2) that the COP should be implemented carefully until we have better understanding of how policies affect performance.

Clear rules on IP ownership have positive benefits for the two outcomes that are closest to commercialisation, possibly because they make it easier to determine who is to receive a share of future revenue from licensing or startups. In contrast, conflict of interest rules have no significant relationship with licensing but a strong negative correlation with the number of start-ups (as suggested by Lerner 2004). We do not know the reasons behind this, but possibly such rules discourage engagement in start-ups or are a proxy for an unfavourable institutional environment for academic entrepreneurship. This result conflicts with Caldera and Debande (2010), who find that rules for conflicts of interest have a positive correlation with both the number of licenses and the number of start-ups. The difference in results could be due to the smaller sample size in the Caldera and Debande study, which limited the analyses to one policy variable per regression, whereas our analyses simultaneously control for the influence of multiple policies.

The goal of providing codified, written policies on IP, licensing, and start-ups to the staff of university or research institutes is to ensure that all staff understand the potential benefits of commercialisation and to contribute to consistent management of different projects. Yet the influence of written policies is inconsistent, such that hypothesis H3 is only partly confirmed. Written IP policies only have a significant positive correlation with earlystage outcomes (research agreements and patent applications), but this correlation is lost once policies for incentives are included in the models. Inventors that respond to incentives may not need a written IP policy, but the implication is that the policy has little influence on researchers that have not yet participated in protecting or exploiting their IP. A written start-up policy has no correlation with the number of start-ups. The only consistent and positive written policy is for licensing, which generally has a positive correlation with the number of research agreements and a large and positive correlation with the number of licenses.

The next step is to publish policies to make them available to potential transfer clients. The results show that publishing the IP policy has a significant positive correlation on the number of research agreements and patent applications once incentives are also included in the model but has no

correlation with the number of licenses and tends to have a negative correlation with the number of start-ups. In respect to publishing the license policy, there is no influence for research agreements, but a strong correlation for licenses, while a published start-up policy has no correlation with the number of start-ups. These results confirm H5 and partially H4 and point to a complex relationship between policy content, transparency, and transfer success. A possible explanation for the negative correlation with published policies is that they reduce room for negotiations between universities or research institutes and private firms, or at worst scare away potential private sector investors. This supports Okamuro and Nishimura's (2013) findings that companies appreciate flexible IP policies; at least to some extent. The alternative explanation that poorly performing KTOs introduce publication policies in order to improve their performance is unlikely, given the results of Table 9 that show that publication policies do not improve the performance of institutions with above average performance for licensing and start-ups.

In sum, these results suggest that universities and research institutes should carefully consider what rules their transfer policies include and what they publish, as the results will vary between transfer performance measures. For instance, an institution that aims to raise its licence agreements should ensure that it is clear who owns the IP of R&D conducted at the institution and lay down the rules for licensing in writing; but it should keep some flexibility regarding negotiating license contracts with outside parties. An institution that focuses on entrepreneurship and aims to create more start-ups should also clarify IP ownership, but at the same time avoid crushing entrepreneurial initiative by too much bureaucracy, i.e. regulations, restrictions and requirements which complicate the start-up process and demand time and resources which early entrepreneurs may lack.

6.2 Providing financial and non-financial incentives to faculty and staff

The European Commission's 2008 guidelines stress the provision of incentives, including non-monetary incentives such as considering transfer activities in promotion decisions.

The results for non-financial incentives vary by outcome measure. Using the IP and exploitation achievements of staff in promotion decisions has no effect on any of the outcomes. A possible reason for this could be a consequence of traditionally focussing on other research outcomes such as publications as a driver for the promotion of staff.

Rewarding transfer commitment and success with additional funding for the inventor's research has a significant negative relationship with research agreements, licence agreements, and start-ups. Such funding is seemingly not suitable to keep alive scholars' commitment to technology transfer and their interest in cooperation with the private sector. The provision of social rewards has a significant positive correlation with the number of licence agreements and a significantly strong positive correlation with the number of start-ups, possibly because of the prestige involved with participating in or setting up a business. In general, hypothesis H2 is rejected, except for social rewards regarding licences and start-ups which are therefore the only non-financial incentive supported by the results of this study as improving transfer performance. The impact of a research premium for transfer contributions is even negative. The COP recommendation to support these types of rewards and in particular to include IP and knowledge transfer aspects in appraisal procedures does not seem to be justified.

Financial incentives have contrasting influences depending on the outcomes. First, a higher salary has a significant positive correlation with the number of research agreements and patent applications, no correlation with the number of start-ups. This result could be linked to a preference among researchers to continue working within a university or research institute environment if there is adequate financial compensation. Conversely, earning a share of revenues has a significant positive correlation with the number of licenses and on the number of start-ups. In contrast to Link and Siegel's (2005) results for the US, using the actual share instead of a binary variable for an undefined share in the regressions, is not significant for licensing, although it is positive and significant for start-ups. This could be because the actual income earned from a license is not correlated with the share, since the income will depend

on the size of the potential market for the invention. In this case, the existence of a revenue sharing agreement could be positive, while the actual share could have no effect.

Third, the negative influence of a lump sum payment for license agreements also suggests a strong preference for revenue sharing agreements. We also find that lump-sum payments interact with non-monetary incentives for three out of four outcome measures. Lump-sum payments raise the number of R&D agreements and patent applications when non-monetary incentives are excluded, and they do not significantly affect licence agreements. When non-monetary incentives are included, there is no significant relationship found with R&D agreements and patent applications, but a negative and highly significant correlation with licence agreements. This indicates that lump-sum payments, like higher salaries, are only effective for raising engagement in research and IP protection, but do not raise commitment to their subsequent commercialization. In addition, even though it is a monetary incentive, it seems to have above all a symbolic value that is less effective if non-financial incentives are also in place.

The results tend to confirm hypothesis H1. A focus on monetary rewards might be adequate, with benefits in terms of higher salaries more effective when there is no immediate prospect of license income and a revenue-sharing agreement more effective for licensing and start-ups.

Of interest, the departmental share of license income correlates positively with the number of research agreements and licenses but not the other outcome measures. The departmental share is the only incentive included in this analysis that does not focus on benefits to the individual, but to a collective. The result could suggest that stressing collective benefits of involvement in knowledge transfer strengthens transfer channels that require collective transfer commitment (like R&D or licence contracts) but is not effective for channels requiring (mainly) individual involvement (such as setting up a start-up company).

6.3 Limitations

Our results show that institutional by-laws and practices can affect transfer performance. However, to pin down cause and effect conclusively, longitudinal data are required that can track the effect of a change in policy over time; qualitative data from different stakeholders of knowledge and technology transfer on how and why policies and incentives have an impact would contribute to drawing the right conclusions. European professional knowledge transfer organisations would be in a good position to collect such data over time from a panel of academic organisations in Europe. Professional knowledge transfer associations should also ensure that academic organisations know about good practices in IP management and transfer and that they are aware of the effects that different rules and practices will have on different steps of the transfer process.

In addition to the limitations due to the cross-sectional nature of the data, another limitation of this study is that it does not cover the full range of knowledge transfer activities between universities or public research institutes and private firms. Informal channels such as personal communications between scientists and engineers, gleaning knowledge from academic publications, or the participation of people from industry in academic events are not covered as this would require surveying university researchers or companies. This leads to a bias in our results against research areas where knowledge transfer occurs without the use of formal channels such as patenting, licensing, or start-ups. Research areas that are likely to be underrepresented include the social sciences, humanities, and some fields within natural sciences and engineering, such as mathematics, which makes little use of formal intellectual property mechanisms such as patents. In addition, asking faculty about their transfer performance and assessment of institutional transfer regulations would have the benefit of learning directly about the impact of such regulations. However, the sampling for such a survey is certainly demanding, as we would expect a self-selection bias and limited knowledge of the regulatory details from faculty not involved in the transfer business.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the support from the European Commission, Directorate General for Research and Innovation, under contract RTD/DirC/C2/2010/SI2.569045. The Knowledge Transfer Study was carried out by a consortium involving empirica, UNU-MERIT and the University of Applied Sciences Northwestern Switzerland (FHNW)

					, Jones			2														
	Numb_ res	Kto size	Hosp	UNI	NMO	AGE	IP written	IP publ.	Lic_pol_ written	Lic_pol_ publ.	SU_pol_ written	SU_pol_ publ.	IP own rules	Conflict of int.	INC_ rev	INC sum	INC_ salary	REV_ depart.	REV_ inventor	INC_ promotion	INC_RD funds	INC_ social
Numb_res	1							r														
Kto_size	0.343***	1																				
Hosp	0.236***	0.167***	1																			
INI	0.069	0.009	0.181***	-																		
NMO	0.162**	-0.041	0.112*	-0.147**	1																	
Kto_age	0.149**	0.147**	-0.052	-0.128**	0.061	1																
IP_written	0.035	0.240***	-0.022	0.083	0.107*	-0.081	1															
IP_publ.	0.023	-0.004	-0.005	0.147**	0.056	-0.119*	0.421***	1														
Lic_pol_written	0.076	0.212***	0.044	0.014	0.054	0.010	0.318***	0.123**	1													
Lic_pol_publ.	-0.075	0.030	0.011	0.061	0.036	-0.087	0.153***	0.403***	0.425***	1												
SU_pol_written	0.139**	0.198***	0.010	-0.141^{**}	0.126**	0.076	0.248***	0.181^{***}	0.278***	0.215***	1											
SU_pol_publ.	0.011	-0.013	-0.062	0.062	-0.001	0.044	0.130**	0.405***	0.041	0.304***	0.529***	1										
IP own rules	0.097	0.177***	0.018	-0.039	0.110^{*}	-0.001	0.339***	0.178***	0.174^{***}	0.061	0.213***	0.123**	1									
Conflict of int.	-0.012	0.204***	0.009	-0.010	0.007	-0.046	0.270***	0.084	0.345***	0.179***	0.214**	0.042	0.351***	1								
INC_rev	0.184***	0.146^{**}	0.128**	-0.006	-0.001	0.108^{*}	0.270***	0.192***	0.113*	0.049	0.201***	0.167***	0.318***	0.143**	1							
INC_lumpsum	-0.026	0.008	0.014	-0.125**	0.052	-0.004	0.049	-0.141**	0.108^{*}	-0.055	0.037	-0.114*	0.01	0.082	0.069	1						
INC_salary	0.092	0.076	0.003	0.016	-0.025	0.062	090.0	-0.133**	0.098	-0.070	0.049	0.007	-0.007	0.148^{**}	-0.085	0.032	1					
REV_depart.	0.155**	0.087	0.095	-0.065	0.176**	-0.090	0.153**	0.071	0.147**	0.070	0.092	-0.057	-0.012	0.104	-0.092	0.019	0.106	1				
REV_inventor	-0.084	0.075	-0.028	0.312***	-0.281***	* -0.127*	0.025	0.178***	-0.037	0.022	0.024	0.205***	0.115^{*}	-0.024	0.125*	-0.076	0.016	-0.304***	1			
INC_promotion	-0.071	0.138**	-0.063	-0.066	-0.083	-0.006	0.153**	-0.024	0.166^{***}	0.076	0.189***	0.056	0.103*	0.187***	-0.004	0.038	0.202***	-0.003	0.063	1		
INC_RDfunds	0.142**	0.108^{*}	0.018	0.003	-0.013	0.024	0.011	-0.063	0.025	-0.058	-0.032	0.015	0.085	0.007	0.031	0.12**	0.105*	0.066	-0.049	0.095	1	
INC_social	-0.108	0.211***	-0.084	0.118^{*}	-0.19***	-0.044	0.198***	0.013	0.249***	0.127**	0.122**	0.048	0.114^{*}	0.221***	-0.033	0.028	0.054	0.026	0.069	0.292***	0.177***	1
* = p <.1	0, ** = p <.(05, *** = p	<.01																			

Appendix Table 10. Correlation results for independent variables 209

References

Arundel, Anthony, and Bordoy, C (2009) *Final results for the ASTP survey for Fiscal Year 2008, UNU-MERIT report to the ASTP,* UNU-MERIT, Maastricht.

European Commission (2013) The EU Framework programme for research and Innovation Horizon 2020. Multi-beneficiary General Model Grant Agreement. Version 1.0. 11 December 2013.

Long, J. Scott and Freese, Jeremy (2006), *Regression Models for Categorical Dependent Variables Using Stata (Second Edition)*. College Station, TX: Stata Press.

Arundel, Anthony, et al. (2013) *Knowledge Transfer Study* 2010 – 2012. *Final Report*, European Commission, DG Research and Innovation

Baldini, Nicola (2009), 'Implementing Bayh-Dole-like laws: Faculty problems and their impact on university patenting activity', *Research Policy*, 38 (8), 1217-24.

Baldini, Nicola (2010), 'Do royalties really foster university patenting activity? An answer from Italy', *Technovation*, 30 (2), 109-16.

Baldini, Nicola, Grimaldi, Rosa, and Sobrero, Maurizio (2006), 'Institutional changes and the commercialization of academic knowledge: A study of Italian universities' patenting activities between 1965 and 2002', *Research Policy*, 35 (4), 518-32.

Belenzon, Sharon and Schankerman, Mark (2009), 'University Knowledge Transfer: Private Ownership, Incentives, and Local Development Objectives', *Journal of Law and Economics*, 52, 111-44.

Bercovitz, Janet, et al. (2001), 'Organizational Structure as a Determinant of Academic Patent and Licensing Behavior: An Exploratory Study of Duke, Johns Hopkins, and Pennsylvania State Universities', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 26 (1), 21-35.

Caldera, Aida and Debande, Olivier (2010), 'Performance of Spanish universities in technology transfer: An empirical analysis', *Research Policy*, 39 (9), 1160-73.

Cameron, A Colin and Trivedi, Pravin K (1998), *Regression analysis of count data*, eds Peter Hammond and Alberto Holly (Econometric Society Monographs; Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Chapple, Wendy, et al. (2005), 'Assessing the relative performance of U.K. university technology transfer offices: parametric and non-parametric evidence', *Research Policy*, 34 (3), 369-84.

Clarysse, Bart, et al. (2005), 'Spinning out new ventures: a typology of incubation strategies from European research institutions', *Journal of Business Venturing*, 20 (2), 183-216.

Colyvas, Jeannette, et al. (2002), 'How do university inventions get into practice?', *Management Science*, 48 (1), 61-72.

Conti, Annamaria and Gaule, Patrick (2011), 'Is the US outperforming Europe in university technology licensing? A new perspective on the European Paradox', *Research Policy*, 40 (1), 123-35.

Curi, Claudia, Daraio, Cinzia, and Llerena, Patrick (2012), 'University technology transfer: how (in)efficient are French universities?', *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 36 (3), 629-54.

Debackere, Koenraad and Veugelers, Reinhilde (2005), 'The role of academic technology transfer organizations in improving industry science links', *Research Policy*, 34 (3), 321-42.

Degroof, Jean-Jacques and Roberts, Edward B. (2004), 'Overcoming Weak Entrepreneurial Infrastructures for Academic Spin-Off Ventures', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 29 (3), 327-52.

Di Gregorio, Dante and Shane, Scott (2003), 'Why do some universities generate more start-ups than others?', *Research Policy*, 32 (2), 209-27.

European Commission (2008), 'Recommendation on the management of intellectual property in knowledge transfer activities and Code of Practice for universities and other public research organisations', (Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities).

Friedman, J and Silberman, J (2003), 'University Technology Transfer: Do Incentives, Management, and Location Matter?', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 28 (1), 17-30.

Geuna, Aldo and Rossi, Federica (2011), 'Changes to university IPR regulations in Europe and the impact on academic patenting', *Research Policy*, 40 (8), 1068-76.

Goldfarb, Brent and Henrekson, Magnus (2003), 'Bottom-up versus top-down policies towards the commercialization of university intellectual property', *Research Policy*, 32 (4), 639-58.

González-Pernía, José L., Kuechle, Graciela, and Peña-Legazkue, Iñaki (2013), 'An Assessment of the Determinants of University Technology Transfer', *Economic Development Quarterly*, 27 (1), 6-17.

Hewitt-Dundas, Nola (2012), 'Research intensity and knowledge transfer activity in UK universities', *Research Policy*, 41 (2), 262-75.

Lach, Saul and Schankerman, Mark (2004), 'Royalty Sharing and Technology Licensing in Universities', *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 2 (2-3), 252-64.

--- (2008), 'Incentives and invention in universities', *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 39 (2), 403-33.

Lerner, Josh (2004), 'The University and the Start-Up: Lessons from the Past Two Decades', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 30 (1), 49-56.

Link, Albert N. and Siegel, Donald S. (2005), 'Generating science-based growth: an econometric analysis of the impact of organizational incentives on university–industry technology transfer', *The European Journal of Finance*, 11 (3), 169-81.

Lissoni, Francesco, et al. (2008), 'Academic patenting in Europe: new evidence from the KEINS database', *Research Evaluation*, 17, 87-102.

Litan, Robert E, Mitchell, Lesa, and Reedy, E.J. (2007), 'Commercializing university innovations: A better way. NBER Working Paper.'.

Markman, Gideon D., Gianiodis, Peter T., and Phan, Phillip H. (2009), 'Supply-Side Innovation and Technology Commercialization', *Journal of Management Studies*, 46 (4), 625-49.

Markman, Gideon D., et al. (2004), 'Entrepreneurship from the Ivory Tower: Do Incentive Systems Matter?', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 29 (3), 353-64.

Merton, Robert K (1996), 'The normative structure of science', in H. Nowotny and K. Taschwer (eds.), *The sociology of sciences Volume 1* (1 edn.; Cheltenham; Brookfield: Edward Elgar), 38-49.

Okamuro, Hiroyuki and Nishimura, Junichi (2013), 'Impact of university intellectual property policy on the performance of university-industry research collaboration', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 38 (3), 273-301.

Owen-Smith, Jason and Powell, Walter W. (2001), 'To Patent or Not: Faculty Decisions and Institutional Success at Technology Transfer', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 26 (1), 99-114.

Rogers, Everett M, Yin, J, and Hoffmann, J (2000), 'Assessing the Effectiveness of Technology Transfer Offices at U.S. Research Universities', *Journal of the Association of University Technology Managers*, 12, 47-80.

Sapsalis, E., et al. (2006) *Antecedents of Patenting Activity of European Universities* [online text], Université Libre de Bruxelles – Solvay Business School

Schartinger, Doris, Schibany, Andreas, and Gassler, Helmut (2001), 'Interactive Relations Between Universities and Firms: Empirical Evidence for Austria', *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 26, 255-68. Schoen, Anja, van Pottelsberghe de la Potterie, Bruno, and Henkel, Joachim (in print), 'Governance typology of universities' technology transfer processes', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*.

Siegel, Donald S, Waldman, David, and Link, Albert (2003a), 'Assessing the impact of organizational practices on the relative productivity of university technology transfer offices: an exploratory study', *Research Policy*, 32 (1), 27-48.

Siegel, Donald S, et al. (2003b), 'Commercial knowledge transfers from universities to firms: improving the effectiveness of university-industry collaboration', *The Journal of High Technology Management Research*, 14 (1), 111-33.

--- (2004), 'Toward a model of the effective transfer of scientific knowledge from academicians to practitioners: qualitative evidence from the commercialization of university technologies', *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 21 (1-2), 115-42.

Thursby, Jerry G and Kemp, Sukanya (2002), 'Growth and productive efficiency of university intellectual property licensing', *Research Policy*, 31 (1), 109-24.

Thursby, Jerry G, Jensen, Richard, and Thursby, Marie C (2001), 'Objectives, Characteristics and Outcomes of University Licensing: A Survey of Major U.S. Universities', *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 26, 59-72.

Valentin, Finn and Jensen, Rasmus (2007), 'Effects on academia-industry collaboration of extending university property rights', *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 32 (3), 251-76.

Van Looy, Bart, et al. (2011), 'Entrepreneurial effectiveness of European universities: An empirical assessment of antecedents and trade-offs', *Research Policy*, 40 (4), 553-64.

Woolgar, Lee (2007), 'New institutional policies for university–industry links in Japan', *Research Policy*, 36 (8), 1261-74.

Wright, Mike, et al. (2008), 'Mid-range universities' linkages with industry: Knowledge types and the role of intermediaries', *Research Policy*, 37 (8), 1205-23.

Chapter 7 Conclusions

7.1 Concluding summary

The aim of this thesis is to contribute to a better understanding of formal technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms in Europe. The thesis comprises five interlinked chapters investigating formal technology transfer activities. The five main chapters aim to build on existing research and contribute to the literature on the determinants and factors that influence formal technology transfer activities. All five chapters use quantitative survey data that was collected as part of studies funded by either the European Commission or the Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research. The thesis addresses several research questions and uses different quantitative approaches to advance the understanding of formal technology transfer and to provide insights for policy.

In Chapter 1, the introduction, the thesis positions the research by first discussing the background of the study and the motivation of national governments and international organisations such as the European Commission to support science-industry linkages and engagement. As discussed in Chapter 1, knowledge transfer is a broader and more encompassing concept compared to technology transfer. This thesis refers to both knowledge transfer and technology transfer but focusses on activities which are in some way recorded at universities, research institutes or firms, and often involve some form of intellectual property. Chapter 2 examines how the national and regional economic structure as well as the institutional set-up of technology transfer influences the technology transfer activities of universities and public research institutes. Chapter 2 teaches us several lessons when assessing universities and public research institutes technology transfer activities. First, comparisons of transfer performance at the country or regional level need to take a multilevel perspective and control for institutional features as well as regional characteristics, to understand the driving forces behind national or regional differences. Second, in most countries the institutions are strong in one formal technology transfer channel: R&D collaboration (the Netherlands), licencing (Ireland and the UK), or establishing start-ups (Sweden and Germany). This suggests that it is very challenging for universities and research institutes to maintain the necessary infrastructure and support system to excel in different transfer channels. In addition, the national institutional set-up affects which transfer channels work better. Developing transfer strategies which consider both internal and external conditions is recommended for universities and public research institutes.

Chapter 3 continues with the regional focus by examining the location of the university, quality-controlled competition from universities in the same region and supply and demand factors on the technology transfer outcomes of universities. This chapter analyses several aspects of the regional environment on the technology transfer outcomes of universities that have received little attention in the literature: the effect of regional employment in knowledge intensive services (KIS), quality weighted competition from other universities in the same region as the focal university, location in a metropolitan region, and interaction effects between the quality of the focal university and the quality of competition. Chapter 3 uses a multilevel analysis, nesting university-level data (level 1) into regional-level data (level 2) into country-level ones (level 3). Universities in the same region and in the same country are likely more similar or related to each other in comparison to those selected randomly. Multilevel modelling accounts for these interdependencies by capturing residuals at different levels. The results show that quality-adjusted competition is shown to reduce the number of research and license agreements for universities. The models with interaction effects show that all but the most elite universities in Europe experience crowding out effects. These findings support the insights resulting from Chapter 2 as both internal factors, such as research excellence, and external factors, such as co-location of other universities in the same region, influence the technology transfer activities of universities. The results of Chapter 2 and 3 suggest that the evaluation of university technology transfer outcomes by government funding bodies should consider the location of the university and the degree and quality of competition. For instance, expectations for the number of research agreements should be adjusted downwards for most universities, as regional demand, a major driver of research agreements, is limited. A possible reason for this might be a limited alignment between the knowledge or technology demands from industry and the supply of knowledge of universities. There is also an important regional context for research and license agreements, with top-ranked universities benefiting the most from spillovers or signalling effects from co-location in the same region as other top-ranked universities.

Chapter 4 focusses on technology transfer activities of the business sector by examining the barriers faced by Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs) when operating on technology licensing markets. An important insight resulting from the analysis in Chapter 4 is that SMEs observe barriers differently after controlling for those with experience and without. SMEs most often report barriers related to organisational costs and strategic decisions where those with licensing-out experience are less likely to give a high importance to such barriers. Analysing barriers to technology licensingin shows that SMEs looking for licensing-in opportunities are less likely concerned with the quality of the technology compared to SMEs with actual experience. Given the importance of policies promoting the increased diffusion of knowledge Chapter 4 indicates the need to address barriers related to this policy objective. Chapter 5 aims to provide more insights on this. The chapter focusses on all three actors analysed in this thesis: universities, research institutes and firms. Chapter 5 uses structural equation modelling to investigate the determinants of licensing success by examining the role of better understanding the value of the technology and the ability to find licensees. The results of Chapter 5 show that the measure for the ability to identify licensees contributes to the successfulness of technology licensing but that the measure of better understanding the value of the technology has a negative relationship with technology licensing successfulness. Willingness to engage in technology transfer is confirmed to have a positive relationship with licensing success. The results found in Chapter 4 and 5 have several implications for policies aiming to improve knowledge diffusion and open innovation as removing asymmetric information to stimulate market transparency can improve successful technology licensing. Thus, addressing several of the barriers found in Chapter 4 should benefit technology transfer

and knowledge diffusion. Framework and organisational barriers, and negotiation barriers can be mitigated by assisting, in particularly SMEs without experience, with designing, drafting, and negotiating contractual agreements. On the other hand, Chapter 5 shows that the value of the technology as perceived by their holders, i.e. SMEs, universities and other research institutes, reduces successfulness of technology licensing. This suggests that more valuable technology is not easily transferred. Consequently, barriers in relation to the quality and development stage of the technology which are often addressed through increased proof of concept funding, may not necessarily lead to improved technology transfer. This is particularly the case for firm-to-firm licensing. Policies targeting the increased diffusion of knowledge and technology should therefore focus on increasing the transfer of publicly funded research as universities and research institutes have a different role in the knowledge economy compared to firms. Firms inherently want to remain competitive and thus it is logical that they want to hold on to valuable technology. Increasing competitiveness of SMEs is another important policy objective of the European Commission (2022). In this regard SMEs that are developing promising technologies should be supported with capacity building and resources that allow them to commercialise technologies.

Lastly, Chapter 6 examines the effectiveness of policies on technology transfer outcomes. As discussed above and of particular concern to the European Commission is to encourage good practice on the ownership and transfer of academic research results. In 2008 the European Commission issued recommendations for a Code of Practice (COP) containing eighteen principles for the management of intellectual property and knowledge transfer activities by universities and public research institutes. The goal of the principles is to "better convert knowledge into socio-economic benefits" through a more effective exploitation of publicly funded research results (European Commission 2008). These include clear IP ownership and conflict of interest rules to minimize disputes, the codification and publication of policies for IP, licensing and start-ups; and incentives that encourage inventors to protect IP and support its exploitation by firms. Chapter 6 shows that none of these policies have a consistent positive correlation with

technology transfer activities of universities and research institutes. The fact that no generalizable (across all outcomes) conclusion can be made suggests that more research is needed on institutional policies and their effects. At the time of the data collection, policies may not have yet been in full effect as universities and research institutes likely needed time to adapt. However more recent results as discussed in Chapter 4 show that several barriers that hamper technology transfer are persistent. In the spring of 2023, the European Commission started a process to update the COP. In a co-creation process: "Community of practice on industry-academia collaboration for knowledge valorisation" practitioners, academics, and policymakers come together to provide input to the new COP. Several of the implications of this thesis are relevant in this regard.¹⁶ In addition it is crucial that European professional technology transfer organisations such as ASTP¹⁷ participate in these exercises as they are in the best position to share practical experiences with the Code of Practice and other national policies on technology transfer.

7.2 Limitations

This study does not come without limitations. One of its main limitations is the cross-sectional nature of the data used in this thesis which does not allow the identification of cause and effect. Longitudinal data are required for this purpose that for example can track the effect of a change in policy over time, institutional learning though gaining experience with technology transfer or regional influences on the technology transfer activities of individual universities, research institutes or firms. Qualitative data from different stakeholders of knowledge and technology transfer on these issues would furthermore support gaining insight into how and why certain factors or policies have an impact and others not.

Another limitation of this study is that it does not cover the full range of knowledge transfer activities between universities or public research

¹⁶ I, Nordine Es-Sadki, have participated in this community and brought forth several of the findings in this thesis as input into the discussions with practitioners and policy makers, particularly on the issue of measuring technology transfer.

¹⁷ ASTP is a non-profit member's organisation committed to knowledge transfer among universities and industry.

institutes and private firms. Informal channels such as personal communications between scientists and engineers, gleaning knowledge from academic publications, or the participation of people from industry in academic events are not covered as this would require surveying university researchers or companies. This leads to a bias in the results against research areas where knowledge transfer occurs without the use of formal channels such as patenting, licensing, or start-ups. Research areas that are likely to be underrepresented include the social sciences, humanities, and some fields within natural sciences and engineering, such as mathematics, which makes little use of formal intellectual property mechanisms such as patents. Furthermore, several other mechanisms can lead to university-industry knowledge transfer such as student, graduate and researcher mobility, academic consulting, and training. Future research could investigate the share of knowledge that is transferred to proximate firms and if this varies by the type of knowledge, the type of knowledge transfer method, or the industrial structure of the region.

An important assumption in most research on regional influences on knowledge or technology transfer is that a significant share of outcomes is with businesses in the same region as the university (as in Chapters 2 and 3). However, this and other comparable studies rarely have data on the location of transfer recipients. Nevertheless, the observed correlations between regional variables and outcomes strongly suggest that regional knowledge transfer must be responsible for a significant share of all technology transfer outcomes.

7.3 General discussion

Putting formal technology transfer in perspective

The current era of globalisation with linkages and interconnections in a global system of production, distribution and consumption stimulates worldwide competition. Competition pressures producers to continually innovate by improving the quality of existing products, introducing new products and improve the effectiveness of production. Firms however, particularly SMEs as discussed in Chapter 4, cannot acquire (due to lack of capabilities) nor

afford (due to resource constraints) all the technological and human resources they need. This requires firms to foster relationships with other firms, and more importantly, institutions, like universities. Given large investments in public research, policy makers and firm managers seek greater returns through spill overs and technology transfer to improve competitive advantages in the global world. This technology transfer process begins with the identification of discoveries that can improve lives and drive growth. Knowledge has made tremendous contributions in advancing medicine, technology, agriculture, and public health, thereby improving quality of life globally by transforming research into innovation. Moving a cutting-edge idea from a laboratory to the real world is however not easy and requires collaborations with different actors (Roessner et al. 2013).

Technology transfer requires this process of which ideas, proofs-of-concept, and prototypes move from research-related to production-related phases of product development. In practice, however, information is often not that easy to transfer to firms as there are several barriers as discussed in Chapter 4. Moreover, licensing frequently involves the services of the licensor's personnel to install and train the licensee's personnel. In a similar vein, for licensee firms, it is insufficient to expose them to the relevant knowledge without their own efforts to internalize such knowledge (Cohen and Levinthal 1989). This is particularly true when knowledge is less explicit and less codified. In the case of international technology transfer, it may further entail adaptation of the technology to a local market. As discussed in Chapter 5, finding the right partner is not straightforward and may demand substantial resources. For instance, Teece (1977) reports that the costs of transferring a production process averaged 19% of the total costs of the project. Moreover, Soares et al. (2020) have shown that university policies supporting technology transfer may not necessarily provide enough incentives that outweigh the opportunity costs of academics to engage in technology transfer nor the transaction costs related to pursuing technology transfer activities.

As technology transfer has become increasingly recognized for the role it plays in the knowledge-based economy (Hausman 2020; Link and Scott 2019)

it also has become more integrated into many universities, research institutes and the public debate (Perkmann et al. 2021). Along with that change, the role of the technology transfer office (TTO) also has evolved. Academic research on the economic contribution of publicly funded basic research has shown that it is positive and substantial (Salter and Martin 2001), but it is a challenge to link specific transfer channels to outcomes. Research using patent citation data has found positive benefits from academic research on the number of corporate patents in technology-based sectors (Verspagen and De Loo 1999). This thesis has contributed to this literature by showing that collaboration between government, academia and industry is considered to be of critical importance in enhancing regional economic activities as discussed in Chapters 2 and 3. The effectiveness of this multilateral collaboration has, however, been questioned, as many regions have failed to obtain expected benefits from knowledge transfer in terms of innovation, GDP and employment (Asheim and Coenen 2005; McAdam et al. 2012).

One of the main concerns with most technology transfer research is that it gives disproportionate attention to what is referred to as the "out-the-door" technology transfer effectiveness criterion by Bozeman and Boardman (2014). This criterion is most often used by policy, scholars and practitioners. It is also driving the collection of metrics on technology transfer. A major reason for this is that they have the merit of practical utility and convenience of measurement and allow comparative analysis. This thesis largely draws on these metrics, but they do have drawbacks. The out-the-door criterion characterises technology transfer as successful once the technology has been converted into a transfer mechanism and another party has acquired or licensed the technology. However, the organisation acquiring the technology may or may not have put the technology into use. No motive behind the technology transfer is considered in the "out-the-door" criterion.

There are obvious disadvantages to the "out-the-door" criterion but so far it has the most compelling logic. For instance, most of the published technology transfer studies, including this research, focusses on university technology transfer and IP activity, largely due to the availability of data. This data is provided by knowledge/technology transfer offices. These offices and their managers may have some capabilities and control of strategic choice among the options available to transfer the technology but there are many factors over which the TTO officer has no control. For instance, the university or research institutes has no control over the ability of firms to effectively develop and market technology. To some extent this explains the appeal of the "out-the-door" criterion from the perspective of universities as a concluded deal is a result. Nevertheless, if one only uses the "out-the-door" criterion, we will have no knowledge of any economic or social impact beyond the established collaboration or transfer of technology between two parties.

Measuring economic and social benefits require data from a range of economic actors such as firms, non-profits, and government organizations on the uptake, application and economic value of knowledge produced by universities. This is very difficult to estimate because many innovations are built upon multiple sources of knowledge. For all technology transfer channels, estimates need to obtain data from surveys of managers, but managers are unlikely to be able to estimate the diffuse effects of science on their organisation and often may not know or recognize the role of science on key products (Mazzucato 2015). So, despite its critical limitations, the "outthe-door" criterion is the most used criterion and the basis for most metrics employed for technology transfer. They are particularly good indicators of technology transfer activity but as discussed, they do not provide information on downstream impacts and outcomes.

Recent developments in science-industry collaboration

In recent decades, universities and public research organisations have undergone fundamental changes aiming to broadening their activities next to research and teaching. This process has largely been the addition of market oriented and knowledge transfer activities, known as the third mission. In their communication most universities and public research organisations note that the main goal of knowledge and technology transfer is to support the economic and social benefits of knowledge transferred to firms, individuals and governments and the subsequent effects to the economy (Cheah and Ho 2020). Both industry and university researchers report that the most important forms of knowledge transfer are publications, patents and, university graduates as employees (Bekkers and Freitas 2008). Except for research agreements with firms, the technology transfer activities part of the 'out-the-door' criterion such as licensing are found to be of lessor importance as reported by the same study. The complex relations between universities and industry does not make progress on this easier as universities and industries have different goals. Universities provide education and conduct research as an end in itself and are characterized by open dissemination of knowledge (Ivascu et al. 2016; Perkmann and Walsh 2007). Industry on the other hand, seeks knowledge for market application for their products and processes, and thus ultimately seeks to secure a financial return.

Research discussing these different goals have argued that this is at odds with the traditional mission of universities and public research institutes of sharing knowledge and advancing science. Universities and public research institute's main role has been educating, conducting research and publishing results to make them available to society (Sánchez-Barrioluengo 2014; Florida and Cohen 1999; Hughes and Kitson 2012). It is difficult to argue that patenting and licensing, which inherently involve some form of secrecy and private ownership, aligns with this traditional mission. This debate however remains open as universities continue with technology transfer activities such as setting up new technology transfer offices and implementing policies to increase business engagement, as discussed in Chapter 6. Since 2014, and further continued in the 2022 'Framework for State aid for research and development and innovation' the European Commission has through provisions enabled public support for technology infrastructures (EC 2014 and 2022). This policy action incentivises universities and research organisations to invest in infrastructures such as facilities, technical equipment, capabilities, and support services. This infrastructure, such as testing labs often found in university science parks, is intended to develop, test and upscale technology. The aim of such activities is enabling the swift development of innovative technologies especially by small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) and facilitating the green and digital transition of the EU economy (EC 2022). For firms, the European Commission has several funding schemes such as the 'SME instrument' and 'Fast Track to Innovation' (EC 2022; 2013). These aim to fund innovation from the demonstration stage through to market uptake and increase commercialisation of research results and often include academic partners or research institutes. Such activities are continued by the European Innovation Council (EIC) in several of their actions that aim to identify, develop, and scale up breakthrough technologies (EC 2022).

Academic research is divided on this new role of universities. On one side of the debate, researchers argue that engagement in university-industry relations produces high quality research output (Thursby and Thursby 2011; Van Looy et al. 2004; Etzkowitz and Leydesdorff 2000). Whereas others show the negative aspects of interactions with business for universities (Gold 2021; Geuna and Nesta 2006; Slaughter and Rhoades 1996. The concerns of the latter group are mainly related to problems of secrecy and skewing (Florida and Cohen 1999). The secrecy problem is particularly persistent in cases of increasing degree of collaboration with industry that is associated with restrictions on the disclosure of research findings and, more importantly on the dissemination of research results. This constitutes a threat to the norms of open science (Sánchez-Barrioluengo 2014). The skewing problem arises when greater emphasis on collaboration with industry disrupts a curiosity driven research agenda. Universities are known to play a different role in the accumulation of knowledge compared to research institutes which are for instance more oriented to practical applications (Arundel et al. 2013). Enterprises are more interested in commercial applications whereas many universities perform basic research with often no clear practical or commercial potential. The skewing problem highlights the threat that university's research agenda shifts towards a profile characterized by more practical applications and short-term research at the expense of addressing societal challenges or curiosity driven, basic and long-term research. The general trend is that closer to market support for innovation has increased driven by policy support for innovation (Jugend et al. 2020). Higher technology readiness levels are necessary for innovation to take place. This policy focus is not only aimed at increasing jobs or economic growth, but more importantly to direct technological change and the uptake of addressing societal challenges (green, social and health) (Klofsten et al. 2019).

The role of patenting by universities and research institutes

Patents held by universities or other public research institutes play a crucial role in the debate on open science. Patents are in essence secretive and contribute to the secrecy problem. Nevertheless, universities patent and ideally this should lead to increased interaction with industry to generate social and private returns from publicly funded research. Surprisingly however, there has been little systematic empirical analysis conducted on how patents are used by universities. There are a few studies that have investigated the use of patents by enterprises showing that between 36% and 38% of patents are never used (Giuri et al. 2007, Walsh et al. 2016). Results from the dataset used for the analysis in Chapter 4 show that on average 49% of the patent portfolio of enterprises is intentionally not licensed out. Universities are on average not willing to license-out 13.3% of their patent portfolio. For research institutes this share is much higher (29.7%). Patents may remain unused amongst enterprises for strategic reasons such as to prevent the entry of competitors (Gilbert and Newbery 1982) or to serve as bargaining power in cross-licensing negotiations or infringement suits until an agreement is reached (Shapiro 2001, Hall and Ziedonis 2001; Heller and Eisenberg 1998). For universities and research institutes it is however unclear why certain patents are intentionally unused.

The PatVal study showed that universities and research institutes (both public and private) license a large fraction of their technologies and rarely use them internally (Giuri et al. 2007). However, the same study showed that 27.5% of patents from inventors employed at universities are unused. At public research institutes the reported share is even larger with 34.1%. Other research has looked at the role that universities play in the technology for market as owners of patents. Valdivia (2013) showed that universities are increasingly pressurised to increase and improve their linkages with industry. This can lead to adverse effects. For instance, Lemley (2008) documents complaints about university patents and provides some interesting examples of how in some instances industry sees universities as

patent trolls. Technology transfer offices that are responsible for these activities are seen from the outside as being primarily interested in generating revenue, which has led to industry's regular complaint about universities being too aggressive in negotiating patent licenses (Clarysse et al. 2007), particularly on price as discussed in Chapter 4 of this study. Moreover, interviews with firms and university technology transfer offices suggest that firms are reluctant to engage in negotiations with universities when universities' ideas of how agreements should be made are incompatible with the view of the firm (Arundel et al. 2013).

National patent offices and the European Patent Office (EPO) have an important role to play in this regard. EPO's mission is to provide high quality patent protection for innovation in Europe (EPO, 2020). As the foundation of licensing or R&D agreements, patents play a crucial role in commercialising inventions and attracting investors. A recent study by the EPO (2020) assessed whether Europe is fulfilling its innovation potential. The results found are similar as described above, universities and research institutes commercialise one third of their inventions, while other patented inventions are still not advanced enough to bring to the market. The challenges as reported by the EPO related to this are similar as those researched in Chapter 4 and 5 of this thesis. These include; the technology being underdeveloped, still prospecting and failure to identify the right partner. In a European Commission funded study¹⁸ on patent licensing Renda et al. (2018) proposed to address these issues. The recommendations included updating the 2008 COP on knowledge valorisation by universities and public research institutes, and also develop one for SMEs, provide more transparency of licensing deals by for instance publishing royalty rates as is more common in the US, and provide support for smaller organisations. The EPO European Patent Academy is addressing several of these issues by increasing awareness, providing training and supporting businesses to better understand how to co-operate with research partners. However, the large

¹⁸ Study on Technology Transfer agreements. DG RTD/PP-02821-2015. Chapters 4 and 5 draw on survey results of the same study.

share of underused inventions of universities and research institutes shows that there are still challenges ahead.

Another important recommendation as reported in the study by Renda et al. (2018) is to streamline and promote proof of concept funding. The European Innovation Council (EIC) has recently started several initiatives such as the EIC Transition that funds innovation activities that go beyond the experimental proof of principle to support the maturation and validation of technology and the development of a business case for commercialisation (EIC 2022).

Alternative measures of technology transfer

The demand for accountability and effectiveness is unlikely to be deterred by the challenge of developing more appropriate valid measures of technology transfer. For instance, many university technology transfer offices fail to bring in enough funding through licensing or other activities to cover their own costs (Hall 2014), but the offices are still being funded. Only a handful of universities appear to make substantial amounts of revenue and license income is highly concentrated. Survey results have shown that the top 10% universities generating license income in Europe account for 86.5% of the total license income (Arundel et al. 2013). Furthermore, total license income of European PROs accounted for 0.9% of research expenditures by universities and 3.0% of research expenditures by other research organisations (Arundel and Es-Sadki 2012). Similarly in the US, license income accounted for 4.1% of total research expenditures. From the survey data used in Chapter 4, results show that on average €14,920 license income per TTO staff member was generated amongst universities with less than 3,000 researchers. For larger universities the average is €156,049 license income per TTO staff member. This number is however highly skewed because of six universities that earn more than €5 million euro of license income. It is exactly those few large earners that distort the "out-the-door" measures and incentivises university boards to keep on investing in TTO offices even though the overwhelming majority is hardly able to cover the office salary expenses. By this, I am not implying that universities should stop with third pillar or technology transfer activities, but accountability and

effectiveness should be based on other measures than just the most commonly "out-the-door" criterion.

One of such measures is the public value criterion for technology transfer effectiveness (Bozeman et al. 2015, Benington and Moore 2010) this criterion aligns well with the more recent emphasis on "Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI)" (Owen et al. 2021; Burget et al. 2017). This is particularly relevant in the European Union, and specifically European Commission policy context where more policy attention has been given to the Triple Helix model (Leydesdorff and Etzkowitz 1998; Freitas et al. 2013; Grotenbreg and van Buuren 2018). Moreover, several EU policies aim to increase civil society interactions as for example in the European Commission research programme 'Science with and for Society' (SwafS) (EC 2020). The overall aim of SwafS is to build effective cooperation between science and society, recruit new talent for science and to pair scientific excellence with social awareness and responsibility. An earlier framework programme of that policy led to the Responsible Research and Innovation approach.¹⁹

In terms of technology transfer, particularly university technology transfer, this approach can be thought of as focussing not only on organisational achievements but also on the provision of beneficial public outcomes. In recent years the social and business engagement activities of universities has shifted to societal challenges such as open science and addressing social development goals. Metrics of third pillar or technology transfer activities have however only scarcely been developed for these newly focussed engagement activities. On an administrative level, surveys of technology and knowledge transfer activities of universities and public research institutes can easily achieve this by including and developing metrics related to the "responsible research and innovation" concepts such as engagement with society and science education. Another approach is to focus more on processes. This would require the further development of indicators beyond

¹⁹ Under the 6th Framework Programme, the SwafS initiative was called 'Science and Society', and under the 7th Framework Programme for Research and Technological Development (FP7), it became 'Science in Society (SiS)' which led to the Responsible Research and Innovation approach (EC 2020).

the traditional measures used to measure technology or knowledge transfer. For example, it is often at least as valuable to enhance the capacities of organisations or knowledge producing communities as to provide direct beneficial outputs. There is some evidence for this capacity focus as shown by Ponomariov and Boardman (2010). It should be easier to develop metrics of the impact of technology transfer activities on scientific and human capital than valid measures of economic and social impact. If for instance a small firm develops the capacity to use artificial intelligence, then that capacity may provide a stream of benefits extending out for many years and likely beyond the individual firm. Another approach is the UK Research Excellence Framework (REF) (Donovan 2019). REF is used to inform the allocation of £2 billion in public research funding. REF provides a framework of accountability by assessing publicly funded higher education institutes in the UK. Traditional measures, such as publications, account for 60% of the overall result. Research environment measures, such as strategy, resources and infrastructure accounts for 15%. Research impact measures are of relevance for this discussion, they account for 25%. Research impact is defined as 'an effect on, change or benefit to the economy, society, culture, public policy or services, health, the environment or quality of life, beyond academia' (REF, 2021). Evidence of impact is presented through an impact statement and impact case study narratives where quantitative and qualitative indicators may be provided in support, along with testimony from end users. The assessment is conducted by peer review panels, comprised of academic peers and research users. A quick search in the online impact case study database shows that many case studies include examples of impact resulting from the technology transfer activities discussed in this thesis such as start-ups, patents, and license or research agreements.²⁰ REF is not a one size fits all type of measure as there is sensitivity to the requirements of different research fields. Several other countries use similar frameworks to assess publicly funded research such as Ireland, the Netherlands, and Norway (Donovan 2019). Measurement frameworks such as the impact case studies included in the REF are better suited to assess knowledge or technology transfer activities of universities and research institutes. Case study narratives make the

²⁰ REF 2021 Impact case study database: <u>https://results2021.ref.ac.uk/impact</u>

complexities of the impact of research on society more tangible. It is certainly an improvement over the out-the-door criterion as it allows making broader impacts of publicly funded research become more visible to society.

Future research

Technology transfer remains a popular topic among not only researchers and policy makers, but also among managers and entrepreneurs going through the scientific literature to find usable knowledge (Bozeman et al. 2014). To advance studies of technology transfer irrespective of level of focus, researchers should use a broad range of methodological and data collection approaches and be more experimental in their research design of studies of technology transfer by moving away from classical measures of direct output, such as the out-the-door criterion. Researchers should consider developing "responsible research" measures that are of more societal relevance. Some measures are already discussed above but they are not yet widely adopted. Measures that go beyond the out-the-door criterion can provide further evidence for policy makers, recipients of technology transfer and potentially enhance their understanding and decision making as to where to direct resources and support. Opportunities exist to be more inclusive and open thereby expanding the context of studies in terms of institutional and domain settings. Most studies have focused on technology transfer in universityindustry settings, but as other types of organisations are getting more involved in the technology transfer process these should also be included in future studies. While the predominant domain focus of empirical studies of technology transfer have been science, engineering, and technology there is a need to expand the domain focus to arts, humanities and social sciences. The narrative of the 'third mission' role universities have in society is shifting to a 'service-to-society' (Reichert 2019) and having more social responsibility (Cai and Ahmed 2021; Jones et al. 2021). In addition, more funding for research and innovation is being channelled to address societal challenges where for instance the European Commission sees a key role for universities and research organisations (EC 2022). Finally, future studies of technology transfer irrespective of level of analysis should consider the recipient organisation perspectives of technology transfer as well as situations where

technology transfer has failed. Failure of technology transfer, as discussed above with the many unused patents being held by universities and public research organisations, is another potential and fruitful research avenue for future research which has largely remained under explored.

References

Arundel, A., Barjak, F., Es-Sadki, N., Hüsing, T., Lilischkis, S., Perrett, P., and Samuel, O. (2012). Respondent Report of the Knowledge Transfer Study (data for 2010). *Report produced by empirica GmbH, Fachhochschule Nordwestschweiz and UNU-MERIT for the European Commission, DG Research and Innovation*.

Arundel, A., Es-Sadki, N., Barjak, F., Perrett, P., Samuel, O., and Lilischkis, S. (2013). Knowledge Transfer Study 2010 – 2012. Final Report to the European Commission, DG Research and Innovation.

Asheim, B. T., and Coenen, L. (2005). Knowledge bases and regional innovation systems: Comparing Nordic clusters. *Research policy*, *34*(8), 1173-1190.

Audretsch, D. B., Lehmann, E. E., and Wright, M. (2014). Technology transfer in a global economy. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, *39*(3), 301-312.

Bekkers, R., and Freitas, I. M. B. (2008). Analysing knowledge transfer channels between universities and industry: To what degree do sectors also matter?. Research policy, 37(10), 1837-1853.

Benington, J., and Moore, M. H. (Eds.). (2010). *Public value: Theory and practice*. Macmillan International Higher Education.

Bozeman, B., and Boardman, C. (2014). Research collaboration and team science: A state-of-the-art review and agenda.

Bozeman, B., Rimes, H., and Youtie, J. (2015). The evolving state-of-the-art in technology transfer research: Revisiting the contingent effectiveness model. *Research Policy*, *44*(1), 34-49.

Burget, M., Bardone, E., and Pedaste, M. (2017). Definitions and conceptual dimensions of responsible research and innovation: A literature review. *Science and engineering ethics*, 23(1), 1-19.

Cai, Y., and Ahmad, I. (2021). From an Entrepreneurial University to a Sustainable Entrepreneurial University: Conceptualization and Evidence in the Contexts of European University Reforms. Higher Education Policy, 1-33.

Cheah, S. L. Y., and Ho, Y. P. (2020). Effective industrial policy implementation for open innovation: The role of government resources and capabilities. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *151*, 119845.

Clarysse, B., Wright, M., Lockett, A., Mustar, P., Knockaert, M., (2007). Academic spinoffs, formal technology transfer and capital raising. *Industrial and Corporate Change* 16, 609–640.

Cohen, W. M., and Levinthal, D. A. (1989). Innovation and learning: the two faces of R and D. *The economic journal*, *99*(397), 569-596.

Donovan, C. (2019). Assessing the broader impacts of publicly funded research. In Handbook on Science and Public Policy (pp. 488-501). Edward Elgar Publishing.

European Commission (2008), 'Recommendation on the management of intellectual property in knowledge transfer activities and Code of Practice for universities and other public research organisations', (Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities).

European Commission (2013). Regulation (EU) No 1291/2013 establishing H2020.

European Commission (2014). Communication from the Commission. Framework for State aid for research and development and innovation. Official Journal of the European Union, 2-26.

European Commission (2022). Communication from the Commission. Framework for State aid for research and development and innovation. Brussels, 19.10.2022. C(2022) 7388 final. European Commission (2020), Directorate-General for Research and Innovation, Iagher, R., Monachello, R., Warin, C., et al., Science with and for society in Horizon 2020: achievements and recommendations for Horizon Europe, Delaney, N. (editor), Tornasi, Z. (editor), Publications Office, 2020.

European Innovation Council. (2022). Work Programme 2023. European Innovation Council (EIC) established by the European Commission, under the Horizon Europe programme (2021-27)

EPO (2020). Valorisation of scientific results. Patent commercialisation scoreboard: European universities and public research organisations. European Patent Office. November 2020.

Etzkowitz, H., and Leydesdorff, L. (2000). The dynamics of innovation: from National Systems and "Mode 2" to a Triple Helix of university–industry–government relations. Research policy, 29(2), 109-123.

Florida, R., and Cohen, W. (1999). Engine or infrastructure? The university role in economic development. From industrializing knowledge. University–industry linkages in Japan and the United States, 589-610.

Freitas, I. M. B., Marques, R. A., and e Silva, E. M. D. P. (2013). University– industry collaboration and innovation in emergent and mature industries in new industrialized countries. *Research Policy*, *42*(2), 443-453.

Geuna, A., and Nesta, L. J. (2006). University patenting and its effects on academic research: The emerging European evidence. Research policy, 35(6), 790-807.

Gilbert, R. J., and Newbery, D. M. (1982). Preemptive patenting and the persistence of monopoly. *The American Economic Review*, 514-526.

Giuri, P., Mariani, M., Brusoni, S., Crespi, G., Francoz, D., Gambardella, A., Garcia-Fontes, W., Geuna, A., Gonzales, R., Harhoff, D., Hoisl, K., Lebas, C., Luzzi, A., Magazzini, L., Nesta, L., Nomaler, O., Palomeras, N., Patel, P., Romanelli, M., Verspagen, B., (2007). Inventors and Invention Processes in Europe. Results from the PatVal-EU

Gold, E. R. (2021). The fall of the innovation empire and its possible rise through open science. Research Policy, 50(5), 104226.

Grotenbreg, S., and van Buuren, A. (2018). Realizing innovative public waterworks: Aligning administrative capacities in collaborative innovation processes. Journal of Cleaner Production, 171, S45-S55.

Hall, B. H. (2014). Does patent protection help or hinder technology transfer?. Intellectual property for economic development, 11-32.

Hall, B.H., Ziedonis, R.H., 2001. The patent paradox revisited, an empirical study of patenting in the US semiconductor industry, 1979-1995. *RAND Journal of Economics* 32, 101-128

Heller, M. and R. Eisenberg (1998). "Can Patents Deter Innovation? *The Anticommons in Biomedical Research,*" Science, 280 May: 698-701.

Hughes, A., and Kitson, M. (2012). Pathways to impact and the strategic role of universities: new evidence on the breadth and depth of university knowledge exchange in the UK and the factors constraining its development. Cambridge journal of economics, 36(3), 723-750.

Ivascu, L., Cirjaliu, B., and Draghici, A. (2016). Business model for the university-industry collaboration in open innovation. Procedia Economics and Finance, 39, 674-678.

Jones, E., Leask, B., Brandenburg, U., and de Wit, H. (2021). Global social responsibility and the internationalisation of higher education for society. Journal of Studies in International Education, 25(4), 330-347.

Jugend, D., Fiorini, P. D. C., Armellini, F., and Ferrari, A. G. (2020). Public support for innovation: A systematic review of the literature and implications for open innovation. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 156, 119985.

Owen, R., von Schomberg, R., and Macnaghten, P. (2021). An unfinished journey? Reflections on a decade of responsible research and innovation. *Journal of Responsible Innovation*, *8*(2), 217-233.

Klofsten, M., Fayolle, A., Guerrero, M., Mian, S., Urbano, D., and Wright, M. (2019). The entrepreneurial university as driver for economic growth and social change-Key strategic challenges. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 141, 149-158.

Leydesdorff, L., and Etzkowitz, H. (1998). The triple helix as a model for innovation studies. Science and public policy, 25(3), 195-203.

Lemley, M. (2008). 'Are universities patent trolls?', Fordham Intellectual Property, Media and Entertainment Law Journal, 18, p. 611; *Stanford Public Law Working Paper* No. 980776.

Link, A. N., and Scott, J. T. (2019). The economic benefits of technology transfer from US federal laboratories. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 44(5), 1416-1426.

Mazzucato, M. (2015). The green entrepreneurial state. *The politics of green transformations*, 134-152.

McAdam, R., Miller, K., McAdam, M., and Teague, S. (2012). The development of University Technology Transfer stakeholder relationships at a regional level: Lessons for the future. *Technovation*, *32*(1), 57-67.

Nelson, R. R. (2001). Observations on the post-Bayh-Dole rise of patenting at American universities. Journal of Technology Transfer, 26(1-2), 13.

Perkmann, M., Salandra, R., Tartari, V., McKelvey, M., & Hughes, A. (2021). Academic engagement: A review of the literature 2011-2019. Research policy, 50(1), 104114.

Perkmann, M., and Walsh, K. (2007). University–industry relationships and open innovation: Towards a research agenda. International journal of management reviews, 9(4), 259-280.

Ponomariov, B. L., and Boardman, P. C. (2010). Influencing scientists' collaboration and productivity patterns through new institutions: University research centers and scientific and technical human capital. *Research Policy*, *39*(5), *6*13-624.

Renda, A., Castro, R., Es-Sadki, N., Granieri, M., Simonelli, F. and Zarra, A. (2018) Technology Transfer Agreements in Europe A Legal and Empirical Analysis. Brussels: European Commission DG RTD.

Research Excellence Framework (2021). REF 2021 results.
Reichert, S. (2019). The role of universities in regional innovation ecosystems. EUA study, European University Association, Brussels, Belgium.

Roessner, D., Bond, J., Okubo, S., and Planting, M. (2013). The economic impact of licensed commercialized inventions originating in university research. *Research Policy*, 42(1), 23-34.

Burget, Salter, A. J., and Martin, B. R. (2001). The economic benefits of publicly funded basic research: a critical review. *Research policy*, *30*(3), 509-532.

Shapiro, C. (2001). Navigating the patent thickets: Cross-licenses, patent pools, and standard-setting. A. Jaffe, J. Lerner, S. Stern, eds. *Innovation Policy and the Economy*. NBER, Cambridge, MA

Slaughter, S., and Rhoades, G. (1996). The emergence of a competitiveness research and development policy coalition and the commercialization of academic science and technology. Science, Technology, and Human Values, 21(3), 303-339.

Soares, T. J., Torkomian, A. L., & Nagano, M. S. (2020). University regulations, regional development and technology transfer: The case of Brazil. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 158, 120129.

Teece, D. J. (1977). Technology transfer by multinational firms: The resource cost of transferring technological know-how. *The economic journal*, *87*(346), 242-261.

Thursby, J. G., and Thursby, M. C. (2011). Has the Bayh-Dole act compromised basic research?. Research Policy, 40(8), 1077-1083.

Valdivia, W. D. (2013). University start-ups: Critical for improving technology transfer. Center for technology innovation at brookings, 19(12), 1-22.

Van Looy, B., Ranga, M., Callaert, J., Debackere, K., and Zimmermann, E. (2004). Combining entrepreneurial and scientific performance in academia: towards a compounded and reciprocal Matthew-effect?. Research Policy, 33(3), 425-441.

Verspagen, B., and De Loo, I. (1999). Technology spillovers between sectors. *Technological forecasting and social change*, 60(3), 215-235.

Walsh, J. P., Lee, Y. N., and Jung, T. (2016). Win, lose or draw? The fate of patented inventions. *Research Policy*, 45(7), 1362-1373.

Appendix

Survey questionnaire - Chapter 2, 3 and 6

The survey questionnaire below resulted in data used in Chapter 2 and 6. A similar survey except for different reference years and sent to a different sample of universities and research institutes resulted in data for Chapter 3.

European Knowledge Transfer Indicators Survey (EKTIS)

The EKTIS was administered by the United Nation University's Maastricht Economic Research Institute on Innovation and Technology (UNU-MERIT) on behalf of the European Commission's DG for Research & Innovation.

The EKTIS questionnaire contains questions addressing research activities, intellectual property rights, invention disclosures, patenting, licensing, startups, and other related knowledge transfer activities, as well as office staff.

The purpose of the survey is to obtain internationally comparable indicators of knowledge transfer activities by the leading European public research organisations (universities and public research institutes) within the 27 EU Member States and twelve associated countries. The data needed to be comparable across individual institutions, at the national level, and with non-European countries that collect similar data. Two surveys have been conducted, each of them during the spring of 2011 and 2012. The questionnaire was sent to the managers of knowledge or technology transfer offices that handle the patenting, licensing and commercialisation activities of each university or research institute.

The EKTIS 2011 survey has been sent to a total of 705 leading universities and research institutes in the target countries. The EKTIS 2012 has been sent to 805 public research organisations. The number of selected organisations in each country is weighted by the national share of the total government R&D expenditures in the 39 countries, although there is a minimum of one institute or university per country.

The EKTIS surveys in 2011 and 2012 created both in their respective years the largest available dataset of the knowledge transfer activities of European PROs. The full dataset for 2010 consists of 430 PROs and the full data set for

2011 consists of 498 PROs. The EKTIS surveys in 2011 and 2012 had both the broadest coverage of any survey to date, with responses from 27 of the 27 EU member states and from 9 out of 12 Associated States.

European Knowledge and Technology Transfer Practice Survey

Result from the European Knowledge and Technology Transfer Practice Survey were also used for Chapter 6. That survey was also part of the European Knowledge Transfer Study 2010-2012 realised by Empirica, UNU-MERIT and the University of Applied Sciences Northwestern Switzerland (FHNW). The survey was administered by FHNW. A copy of the survey can be sent upon request by sending an email to Nordine Es-Sadki at <u>n.essadki@maastrichtuniversity.nl</u>. It is also included in Arundel et al. (2013) DOI: <u>doi.org/10.2777/31336</u>.

European Knowledge Transfer Indicators Survey (EKTIS)

1.	Is your office responsible for some or all of the patenting, licensing, or other		
	knowledge transfer activities of the following institutions? (Check all that apply.)		
	General university (both humanities and sciences)		
	Technical university (mostly science and technology)		
	Hospital (linked to a university or an independent hospital)		
	Government or non-profit research institute		
	Research park or incubator affiliated with a university, hospital, or research institute		
	None of the above (Please go to the comments on page 4)		

- 2. Is your office responsible for the knowledge transfer activities of two or more *independent* institutions? (For instance two or more separate universities. A hospital or research park affiliated with a university is not a separate institution.)
 - Yes If yes, how many separate institutions does your office serve?
 - No

3. Is your office responsible for all patenting and licensing by the institution(s) checked in question 1? (Hereafter referred to as 'your institution'.)

Yes (go to question 4)

No Approximately what percentage of all patent applications by your institution was handled by your office in 2011?

4. Office staff

4.1 In what year was your office established?			
4.2 In 2011, how many office employees (in Full-Time Equivalents) wereFTE		
responsible for knowledge transfer services (include professio	nal,		
administrative and support staff)?			
4.2a How many of your office's employees were professional	lsFTE		
directly involved in knowledge transfer activities?			
4.3 In 2011, did any of your office staff have university qualification	ons in: Check all		
that apply			
Engineering or natural sciences			
Biomedical			
Law			
Finance			
Management or business administration			
None of the above			

? (Check
y rights

6.	Who has the rights to the intellectual property created at your institution?		
	(Check all that apply if ownership can vary)		
	The institution		Companies that fund research conducted by your institution
	The inventor within your institution		Other

The remaining questions ask for 2011 data on your 'institution'. This includes all				
institutions for which your office manages knowledge transfer activities.				
First, please note if your answers refer to a calendar or fiscal year.				
	Calendar year (January 1 st to December 31 st)			
	Fiscal year 2010-2011 starting day			
	month			

Please insert '0' where relevant, or 'NA' if the answer is not available.

7. Invention disclosures and patenting in 2011	
7.1 How many invention disclosures (inventions subject to an evaluation by	
<i>technology experts</i>) were reported by your institution to your office?	
7.2 How many new patent applications (priority filings) did you file for	
your institution?	
7.3 How many technically unique patents were granted to your institution?	
A technically unique patent grant is for one invention only. Count a patent	
for the same invention in two or more countries as one technically unique	
patent.	
7.4 How many USPTO (United States Patent and Trademark Office) patents	
were granted to your institution?	

8.	Were any of your 2011 patent applications in the following subject areas?		
	(Please check all that a	pply.)	
Α	Biomedical (diagnostics, medical devices, pharmaceuticals, etc) for human &		
	animal health		
В	Computers, communication equipment and software		
С	Nanotechnology and new materials		
D	Low or zero carbon energy technologies		
Е	Other subject areas not listed above		
Wh	ich of the above was the most frequent subject area for patent applications?	(insert	
lett	er)		

9.	Start-up companies (A company specifically established to exploit technology or know-how
	created by your institution. Exclude student-established
	companies.)
9.1	How many start-ups were formed in 2011?
9.2	How many of your start-ups, established in the last five years, have
	developed your institution's licensed technology or knowledge into
	products or processes that are sold in the market?

10.	Licensing activities and income in 2011	
10.1	How many licenses (include assignments) or option agreements were	
	made between your institution and companies?	
10.2	How many of these licenses and option agreements were granted to:	
	Start-up companies	
	Other firms with less than 250 employees	
	Other firms with more than 250 employees	
10.3	What was the total amount of license income earned by your	
	institution from its intellectual property (patents, software, material	€
	transfer agreements, confidentiality agreements, etc)?	
	Include license issue fees, annual fees, option fees, etc., plus milestone,	
	termination & cash-in payments. Exclude license income forwarded to other	
	companies and patent reimbursement fees.	
10.4	In total, how many licenses earned income in 2011?	
	Count multiple licenses for the same invention only once.	

11.	Approximately what share of your total 2011 license revenue was from licensed		
	technology in each of the following subject areas?		
	Biomedical	%	
	Computers, communication equipment and software	%	
	Nanotechnology and new materials	%	
	Low or zero carbon energy technologies	%	
	Other subject areas not listed above	%	
		100 %	

12. In the last three years, has any of your institution's licensed technology or knowledge resulted in commercially profitable products or processes?

Yes

 \square

□ No

Don't know

13. Research activities in 2011 13.1 How many research and development agreements were made between your institution and companies? (Exclude consultancy contracts and cases where a firm funds a research chair or research of no expected commercial value to the firm) 13.2 What is the total number of research personnel at your institution (include researchers, technicians and administrative support)? 13.3 What were the total research expenditures of your institution? 13.4 Approximately what percentage of your institution's total research expenditures was funded by private companies?

In order to protect confidentiality, only aggregated results of this survey will be disclosed, unless you agree otherwise: I give permission to disclose results for my institution Yes No

Comments (*If you only answered question 1, please give a brief description of the activities of your office*)

Technology Transfer Survey questionnaire - Chapter 4 and 5

The survey questionnaire below resulted in data used in Chapter 4 and 5. The version below was sent to enterprises. The survey sent to universities and research institutes is identical except for changes in wording (university or research institute instead of enterprise) and the exclusion of questions 1.6, 1.7 and the section on licensing-in. The survey sent to universities and research institutes included in addition a question that asked for the number of invention disclosures reported in 2016.

TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER SURVEY

1. Organisational information		
Please in	sert '0' where relevant, or 'NA' if the answer is not avai	lable.
1.1 What is the total nu	imber of employees at your enterprise?	FTE ¹
1.2 What is the total nu	Imber of research personnel at your enterprise	 FTE ¹
(include researchers, te	echnicians and administrative support)?	
1.3 How many office e	mployees in your enterprise are responsible for	FTE ¹
technology transfer ser	rvices (include professional, administrative and	
support staff)?	· · ·	
1.4 What were the tota	l research expenditures of your enterprise in	€(x1000)
2016?		
1.5 What is your enterp	orise's main industry sector or technological field	
of activity?		
1.6 What was your ent	erprise's total turnover for 2016? Turnover is	
defined as the market sale	es of goods and services (include all taxes except	
VAT)		€(x1000)
1.7 Was your enterpris	e originally established as a spin-off ² ?	
	Yes, as a spin-off from a university or public	
	research institute	
	Yes, as a spin-off from a private sector	
	enterprise	
	No	
1.8 Does your enterpris	se have a written strategy for licensing out your tee	chnology? For
instance specified guidan	ce principles for decision-making.	
	Yes	
	No	
1.9 Does your enterpris	se actively look for opportunities to license out tech	nology?
	Yes	
	No	

1. Organisational information	
1.10 Has your enterprise licensed out any technology after 2012?	
Yes	
No, but we plan to license out a technology in	
the next two years	
No (go to question 4)	

Notes: 1. Full-Time Equivalents 2. Spin-off, an enterprise established for the purpose of exploiting Intellectual Property originating from either a university or public research institute or from a private sector enterprise.

2. Principles for decision making					
2.1 How important are the following method value of your enterprise's technologies?	ds or pra	ctices for d	etermin	ing the lice	ense
	Degree of importance				
Internal	High	Medium	Low	Not important	Not available
A. Cost of R&D activities carried out					
B. Potential revenue for the licensee					
C. Licensing rates according to industry norms					
D. Potential number of clients interested					
E. Market research on similar technologies in the market					
F. Proprietary model used, i.e. patent, copyright or other. <i>Please use comment</i> box to elaborate if importance is high.					
G. Other, please describe					
External					
H. Consult universities or higher education institutes					
I. Consult research institutes					
J. Evaluating the commercial potential by an external expert					
K. If your enterprise is part of a group, consult other enterprises within your enterprise group					
L. Other, please describe					

2.2 Which of the above is the most useful method or practice to	(insert
determine the license value of a technology?	letter)

3. Process of marketing					
3.1 How important are the following information sources or methods for identifying					
licensees for your enterprise's technology? Degree of importance					
		0 ,	,	Not	
	High	Medium	Low	important	
A. Current clients or customers					
B. Participation in standards organisations					
C. Participation in patent pools					
D. Informal networks					
E. Professional or industry associations					
F. Marketing technology on the web					
G. Scientific/technical journals or trade publications					
H. Research in patent databases					
I. Use of technology/licensing exchange platforms					
J. Use of intermediaries					
K. Conferences, trade fairs, exhibitions					
L. Other, please describe					
3.2 Which of the above is the most useful information source or				(insert letter)	

4. Barriers

4.1 How important are the following barriers to licensing out your enterprise's technology?

	Degree of importance			
				Not
	High	Medium	Low	important
A. Unknown regulatory framework				
B. Fear of litigation				
C. Lack of skilled employees within your enterprise				
D. Underdeveloped technology				
E. Potential loss of technological/competitive edge				
F. Lack of experience in drafting agreements				
G. Costs for external support to evaluate the commercial potential of your technology				
H. Costs for external support to prepare patent applications and other legal matters involving IP rights				
I. Costs for external support to prepare licensing contracts				
J. Costs for external support to market or advertise your technology				
K. Difficulties in identifying the right licensees				
L. Lack of information to price the license				
M. Difficulties in reaching agreements on terms other than price				
N. Difficulties to monitor or enforce a license agreement				
O. Credibility of your enterprise				
P. Credibility of potential licensee				
Q. Other, please describe				
4.2 Which of the above is the most important barry your enterprise's technology?	ier to lice	nsing		(insert
			let	ter)

5. Licensing-in				
5.1 Has your enterprise <u>licensed in</u> any technology after 2	012?			
(Exclude the acquisition of licenses for common software for desk	top and	laptop com	puters	such as
operating systems, word processing, spreadsheets, etc.)				
Yes				
No, but we plan to <u>license in</u> a tech	nnology	in the ne	xt two	
years				
No (go to question 5.4)				
5.2 How important are the following factors in determining	ng <u>licer</u>	<u>nsing in</u> co	onditio	ons?
		Degree of	impor	tance
				Not
	High	Medium	Low	important
A. Ensuring freedom-to-operate ²¹				
B. Exclusive licensing				
C. Need to close technological gaps for core technologies				
D. Enabling rapid time-to-market				
E. Sufficient rights included in grant provision for an				
optimal exploitation				
F. Right to sublicense				
G. Geographical scope of the license				
H. Limits of the rights granted to a concretely defined			п	
field of use ²²				
I. Type of payment scheme, (for example lump-sum or				
royalties)	_	_	_	_
J. Calculation of royalties	Ц		Ц	
K. Clauses in agreement that deal with a potential future				
dispute				
L. Other, please				
5.3 Which of the above is the most important factor in				
determining licensing in conditions?			(ins	ert letter)

²¹ To ensure that the commercial production, marketing and use of new product, process or service does not infringe the IP rights of others.

²² The licensee is only able to use the IP in a subset of the potential commercial uses and therefore the licensor has the right to directly exploit or license the same intellectual property for a different field.

5.4 How important are the following barriers to <u>licensing in</u> technology?				
		Degree of importance		
				Not
	High	Medium	Low	important
A. Unknown regulatory framework				
B. Fear of litigation				
C. Lack of skilled employees within your enterprise				
D. Technology offered is underdeveloped				
E. Technology offered is of low quality				
F. Lack of experience in drafting agreements				
G. Costs associated with drafting and managing licensing agreements				
H. Difficulties in identifying the right licensor				
I. Lack of information on value of technology				
J. Too high prices charged by licensor				
K. Difficulties in reaching agreements on terms other than price				
L. Refusal of licensor to grant license				
M. Risk of exposing your technology strategy				
N. Credibility of your enterprise				
O. Credibility of licensor				
P. No need or interest in licensing-in technologies				
Q. Other, please describe				
5.5 Which of the above is the most important be	rriar to li	conco in		(incort
technology?	11101 to <u>110</u>	<u>ense m</u>		etter)
				,

If you have not licenced <u>in or out</u> any technology (no to question 1.10 and no to question 5.1) go to question 7.

Otherwise go to question 6.

6. Successful deals

6.1 How important are the following factors in concluding a technology license agreement?

		Degree of in	nportan	се
	High	Medium	Low	Not important
A. Quality of licensed technology				
B. Quality of the protection of the technology				
C. Accessibility to complementary know-how				
D. The potential value of the technology				
E. Ability to identify good licensees				
F. Reaching agreement on the value of the technology				
G. Diligence obligations, such as minimum royalties or milestones to be achieved at determined dates				
H. Granting mirror rights on future improvements of the technology				
I. Other, please describe				
6.2 Which of the above is the most important factor technology licensing deal?	in conclu	ıding a	 rt	(inse letter)

Please share any additional comments you may have on important factors to conclude a licensing agreement

7. Technology transfer and licensing activities in 2016	
Place incert '0' where relevant, or 'NA' if the answer is not available	
Fleuse inseri 0 where relevant, or IVA ij the unswer is not uvallable.	
7.1 How many new patent applications (priority filings) were filed by your	
enterprise in 2016?	
7.2 How many license out agreements were made between your enterprise	
and other enterprises in 2016? (Include assignments and option	
agreements)	
7.3 How many license in agreements were made between your enterprise	
and other enterprises in 2016? (Include assignments and option	
agreements)	
7.4 What is the total number of patents in your enterprise's patent portfolio?	
7.5 Approximately, what share of your patent portfolio is:	
a. Currently licensed out	%
b. Not licensed, but your enterprise would be willing to license out	%
c. Not licensed and no intention to license out	%
7.6 What was the total amount of license income earned by your enterprise	
from its intellectual property in 2016?	€

8.	Were any of your 2016 patent applications in the following subject areas?	
	(Please check all th	at apply.)
Α	Biomedical (diagnostics, medical devices, pharmaceuticals, etc) for human &	
	animal health	
В	Computers, communication equipment and software	
С	Nanotechnology and new materials	
D	Low or zero carbon energy technologies	
Е	Other subject areas not listed above	
8.1	Which of the above was the most frequent subject area for patent applications?	
(ins	sert letter)	
Pleas	se comment if you have anything to share on the topic of licensing technology	that you

consider important

Impact paragraph

This thesis empirically examines the technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms. All the chapters include discussions aimed at policy makers. Chapter 2 recommends that comparisons of transfer performance at a national or regional level need to take a multilevel perspective and control for institutional features as well as regional characteristics. The results of Chapter 3 suggest that the evaluation of university knowledge transfer outcomes by government funding bodies should consider the location of the university and the degree and quality of competition. For instance, expectations for the number of partner-led research agreements should be adjusted downwards for most universities, as regional demand, a major driver of research agreements, is limited.

Given the importance of policies targeting the diffusion of knowledge Chapter 4 indicates the need to address barriers to this policy objective. Future research could for instance explore if barriers related to framework and organisational, cost and negotiation can be mitigated by assisting, in particularly SMEs without experience, with designing, drafting, and negotiating contractual agreements. Barriers in relation to the quality and development stage of the technology can be addressed through increased proof of concept funding and lowering the threshold criteria for such initiatives. Closer to market support for innovation has however increased where the focus has shifted to policy support for innovation which requires higher technology readiness. This focus is not only on increasing jobs or economic growth, but more importantly to direct technological change and uptake towards societal challenges. Policies targeting barriers related to a reluctance to transfer technology for fears of losing competitive or technological edge might be more challenging as enterprises are competitive in nature. On the other hand, barriers related to framework and organisational, costs and search barriers can be alleviated through better communication and assistance on how technology markets work.

The European Commission's principles for knowledge transfer policies stress the value of specific policies, examined in Chapter 6, for supporting knowledge transfer outcomes that lead to commercialisation. These include clear IP ownership and conflict of interest rules to minimize disputes, the codification and publication of policies for IP, licensing, and start-ups; and incentives that encourage inventors to protect IP and support its exploitation by firms.

Most of the research in this dissertation was presented in international conferences or published in peer-reviewed journals or book chapters. Chapter 2 was presented at the T2S conference in Bergamo, Italy in 2013 and a later version was published as a book chapter in University Evolution, Entrepreneurial Activity and Regional Competitiveness in 2016. Research from Chapter 3 was presented at two conferences, the first time at the FINKT conference in Rimini, Italy in 2015 and an updated version in 2019 at the UNU-MERIT internal conference in Maastricht, The Netherlands. The chapter, with some modifications, is based on the paper that is published in *International Journal of Innovation Management* in 2021. Chapter 4 and elements of Chapter 7 have been presented at the ASTP PROTON conference "Options for Technology Transfer Policy in EU Context" in 2018. Chapter 6 is published in *Research Evaluation* in 2015.

Biography

Nordine Es-Sadki was born in Maastricht in 1984. He obtained his bachelor's degree in economics from Maastricht University in 2009. In 2010 he obtained his master's degree in economics from the Erasmus University in Rotterdam with distinction. He joined UNU-MERIT as a researcher in January 2011. At UNU-MERIT he has mostly been working on contract research projects for the European Commission on topics of innovation indicators, survey design and methodology.

His research interests include, the analysis of Science, Technology & Innovation, public sector innovation and social innovation, knowledge flows from public research to firms, and survey questionnaire design and methodology.

UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series

2023

Nordine Es-Sadki

Technology Transfer in Europe An economic analysis of formal technology transfer activities of universities, research institutes and firms UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 295

Charlotte Mueller

Diaspora Return Visits for Knowledge Transfer and Capacity Development: A Case Study of IOM's Connecting Diaspora for Development Project in Ethiopia, Sierra Leone and Somaliland UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 294

Madeleine Sumption

An Analysis of Success and Failure in the Immigrant Investor Programmes of the United States and the United Kingdom UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 293

Musa Hasen Ahmed

Essays on Development Economics: Climate Change, Education and Development UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 292

Rumbidzai Ndoro

Exploring Unintended Responses to Social Cash Transfers through Intra-Household Decision-Making Dynamics and Women's Empowerment in Africa UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 291

Chuks Otioma

Information and Communications Technology Capabilities. Innovation and Economic Performance in Africa: The role of Framework Conditions, Entrepreneurial Activity and Firm Learning UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 290

Sophie Gysan

Strategy Implementation and Decision Making in the Broader MNC Network UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Nº289

Talitha Dubow

Essays on the decision-making processes of irregularised migrants over the course of their migration trajectories UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 288

Muhammad Fauzan Ansyari

Teacher professional development interventions to promote data use in education UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 287

2022

Guido Pialli Essays on Technological Change and Income Distribution UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 286

Francesca Rubiconto

Technical change, competitiveness, and employment. A sustainable perspective. UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 285

Radhika Mia Bhuyan

Firm Innovation Strategies in Alternative Energy Systems: Exploring the Dynamics of Firm Innovation Strategies over the Technology Life Cycle UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 284

George Christopoulos

Regional Patterns of Innovation Clustering and Economic Performance UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 283

Silas Uwabasigaye Nsanzumuhire

Strategic Mechanisms for Stimulating Academia-Industry Interactions in Developing Countries UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Series № 282

Lorena Giuberti Coutinho

Essays on Technology and Society The Impacts of Algorithms and Online Mediaon Labor Market Outcomes and Political Dynamics UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Nº 281

Emanuela Sirtori

LED there be light The evolution in LED technology and dynamics of entry into the LED lighting market UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Series № 280

Godsway Korku Tetteh

The Economic Outcomes of Financial Innovation and Digital Infrastructure in Sub-Saharan Africa UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Series № 279

Erich de la Fuente

Limiting Media Freedomin Democratic States: How Governments Use Instruments to Curtail News Media Freedom UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Series № 278

Francesco Iacoella

Essays from Sub-Saharan Africa UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Series № 277

Victor Osei Kwadwo

Inter-municipal Cooperation and Environmental Outcomes : Impact, Drivers, and Incentives UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Series № 276

Hiwot Mekonnen Mesfin

Essays on Human and Social Capital Formation UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Series № 275

Beatriz Calzada Olvera

Extractive Industries and Structural Transformation UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series Series № 274

Ngoc Pham Quang

Essays on Technical Change and Efficiency in a Transition Economy the Case of Vietnam UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 273

Tamara A. Kool

Beyond the Right to Work: Labour Market Engagement of Protracted Refugees Through a Social Exclusion Lens UNU-MERIT/Maastricht University Dissertation Series № 272

2021

Yip Ching Yu Immigrant Welfare Dynamics in the Netherlands UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 271

Tatenda P. Zinyemba

Effects of HIV on children and youth's educational Attainment UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 270

Atsuko Okuda

Towards E-Compliance: Exploring the Role of Compliance and E-Governance Initiatives in the Case of Bhutan UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 269

Rafael Lemaitre Carabias

Public Sector Innovation in the United Arab Emirates. How innovation occurs and the outcomes it delivers UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 268

Maria Klara Kuss

The Negotiations of Zambia's Welfare Regime. The Transformative Potential of Social Cash Transfers UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 267

Michelle S. M. Momo A Multidimensional Perspective onEducation in Developing Countries UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 266

Gideon Onyewuchi Ndubuisi

Essays on International Trade: The Role of Institutions and Imported Intermediate Inputs UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series Nº 265

Solomon Owusu

Powering Structural Transformation and Economic Development in Africa: The Role of Services, Manufacturing and Global Value Chains UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 264

Halefom Yigzaw Nigus

Markets and Human Behavior: Evidence from Artefactual Field Experiments UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 263

Iulia Falcan

Transition towards a renewable European electricity system. What are the implications for the power technology mix, pan-European power trade and the electricity market? UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 262

Gloria L. Bernal N.

On Improving Education Opportunities: Preferences and Performance of High School Students in Response to Scolarships, Information, and Coeducation UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 262

Anne-Lore Fraikin

The effect of financial retirement incentives originating from the social security system on the retirement behavior of older Belgian workers

UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 261

Philip Drauz

Who calls the shots and why? The role of actors and instructions in the response to the sovereign debt crises in the euro area UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 261

Bart Kleine Deters

A Quantitative approach to the right to education: Concept, Measurement, and Effects UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 260

Eliana Rubiano-Matulevich

Essays on Conflict-Induced Displacement and Gender in Colombia UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 259

Njagi Purity Muthoni

Financial Risk, Vulnerability and Equity of Access to Healthcare Services in Kenya UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 258

María José Espinosa-Romero

The Shadow of Hierarchy in Marine Fisheries Governance UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 257

Lorena Rivera León

Unveiling the Determinants of Scientific Productivity in Middle-Income Countries: An Economics of Science Perspective UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 256

Racky Balde

Essays on Informal versus formal Economy Choices UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 255

Caio Torres Mazzi

Learning, Capabilities and Governance in Global Value Chains UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 254

Giulia Rossello

Social Transformations and Labour Market Entry An Investigation into University Systems in Emerging Economies UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 253

2020

Rose Camille Vincent

Essays in Public Economics Multi-Layer Tax Structure and Implications UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 252

Emmanuel Mensah

Structural change in developing countries: patterns, causes, and consequences UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 251

Ornsaran Manuamorn

Governance of International Adaptation Finance for local Climate Change Adaptation: An Analysis of Adaptation Fund Projects UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 250

Gillian McFarland

Doing policy in Further Education An exploration of the enactment of the GCSE resits policy in Further Education colleges in England UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 249

Omar Rodriguez Torres

Essays on Entrepreneurship in Colombia UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 248

Elaine Lebon-McGregor

International Organizations and Global Migration Governance UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 247

Janyl Moldalieva

Playing the 'Game'of Transparency and Accountability in Kyrgyzstan's Resource Governance UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 246

Kaleab Kebede Haile

Essays on Rural Household Decision-Making under Climate Risk UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 245

Nora Jasmin Ragab

Diaspora Mobilisation in a Conflict Setting UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 244

Mary Kaltenberg From Micro to Macro: Essays on Technological Change and Income Divergence UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 243

Ayla E. Bonfiglio

Student migrant, refugee or both? Exploring Refugee Agency and Mobility through Tertiary Education in Kenya, South Africa and Uganda UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 242

Danilo Sartorello Spinola

Cycles, Economic Structures and External Constraints. A Structuralist study on the causes of economic volatility in Latin America UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 241

2019

Jemal Adem Livelihood Vulnerability to Shocks, Behaviour and Investment in Education: Essays in Behavioural Development

Economics UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 240

Davina Osei Corrupt or corrupted networks? An empirical enquiry UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 239

Patima Chongcharoentanawat

Beyond Static Inequality Public policies and economic mobility in Thailand UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 238

Charlotte Guillard Rethinking economic growth and structural change. The role of boundaries and linkages between industries UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 237

Nicolas Echarti

Employment Effects or Vocational Rehabilitation in Germany: A quantitative analysis UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 236

Shellie E. Solomon

Neighborhoods Matter: Crime, collective efficacy and foreclosures in Miami UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 235

Michał Kazimierczak

Regional Innovation and Entrepreneurship Patents, trademarks, entry and entrants' growth in European manufacturing industries UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 234

Fernanda Soares

The Influence of Within School and Across Schools' Collaborative Practices on Student Learning and Teaching Outcomes in West Africa UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series Nº 233

Mira Bierbaum

New Mindsets to Innovate Activation UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 232

Norman Dytianquin

Technology in the Asian Miracle and Crisis Debates: Applications of and Insights from the Field of Influence Approach to Input-Output Analysis

UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 231

Nga Le

The implications of health insurance for the labour market and patient satisfaction with medical care in Vietnam UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 230

Jinhyuck Park

Intellectual Property right protection and cross-border R&D investments by multinational enterprises UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 229

Richard de Groot

Show me the Money: Essays on the Impact of Cash Transfers on Child Nutrition and the Role of Intra-Household Dynamics UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 228

Catie Lott

Diamonds are a Women's Best Friend Broadening Measures of Women's Access to Formal Political Decision-Making UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 227

Ana Cristina Calderon Ramirez

Public Management Reforms Three stories about public procurement agencification in Latin America UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 226

Camilo Nicanor Carrillo Purin

Teachers' in-service training and student achievement:The effect of in-service training of Peruvian teachers on student achievement UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 225

Hugo Confraria

Developing scientific capacity in the Global South UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 224

Alison Cathles

Educational Pathways and Skills: Past, Present, and Future UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 223

Ibrahima Sory Kaba

Aggregate Fluctuations and Development: Essays on Macroeconomic Volatility and Economic Growth UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 222

Charlotte Keijser

Firm Participation, Learning and Innovation in Heterogenous Value Chains of IT-enabled Services UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 221

Salih Çevikarslan

Innovation Strategies and Their Implications for Technological Change and Market Outcomes: An Evolutionary Multi-Agent Based Modelling Approach UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 220

Wondimagegn Mesfin Tesfaye

Essays on the Impacts of Climate-Smart Agricultural Innovations on Household Welfare UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 219

Tatevik Poghosyan

How Board Networks Affect Firm Performance and Innovation Incentives in Transition Economies: The Case of Armenia UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 218

Arip Muttaqien

Essays on Inequality and Polarization: Empirical Studies in Developing Asia UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 217

2018

Katrin Marchand

Essays on Forced Migration and Labour Market Participation in Developing Countries UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 216

Ortrun Merkle

The Myth of Gender Neutral Power: Corruption and Gender Norms UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 215

Biljana Meshkovska

Life after Trafficking: (re)integration processes of women that have been trafficked for the purpose of sexual exploitation in Europe UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 214

Vincenzo Vinci

The Relevance of Institutions and People's Preferences for Social Protection UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 213

Silke Heuser

The Effectiveness of Environmental Policies on Reducing Deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 212

Jennifer Waidler

Social Assistance and Remittances and Their Role in the Fight Against Poverty UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 211

Choolwe Muzyamba

The role of community mobilization in the promotion of maternal health of women living with HIV in Zambia UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 210

Juan Carlos A. Castillo Sánchez

Assessing the Role of the Export Sector in Mexican Economic Development,1965-2014 UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 209

Tareq Abuelhaj

Food Security Policy Impact Analysis: The Econometrics of Cash and Food Assistance Cost Effectiveness UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 208

Marta Férnandez de Arroyabe Arranz

Essays on M&AS and Innovation UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 207

Clotilde Mahé

Essays on Migration and Occupational Choice UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 206

Simone Sasso

Talent on the move. Essays on Human Capital, Graduate Mobility and Economic Development UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 205

Khaled Walid Rajab

Strategic Planning under Fragility UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 204

Mutinta Hambayi Nseluke

A Tall Order: Improving Child Linear Growth UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 203

Elvis Korku Avenyo

Innovations and Firm Performance in sub-Saharan Africa: Empirical Analyses UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 202

Ni Zhen

Employment Dynamics, Firm Performance and Innovation Persistence in the Context of Differentiated Innovation Types: Evidence from Luxembourg UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 201

Caroline Wehner

Too Scared to Achieve: The Relation Between Neuroticism, Conscientiousness and Socioeconomic Outcomes UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 200

Stefania Innocenti

On Institutional Persistence UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 199

Hassen Abda Wako

Economic Globalization, Institutions and Development: Essays on Aid, Foreign Direct Investment and Trade UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 198

2017

Hans-Erik Edsand Winds of Change UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 197

Ana Patricia Silva Vara

Redressing the Gender Gap UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 196

Andrés Iván Mideros Mora

Essays on the Economic Effects of Noncontributory Social Protection UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 195

Tobias Broich New Actors in the Global Economy UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 194

Bernard Nikaj

From No-government to E-government UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 193

Ali Safarnejad

Prioritizing the HIV Response UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 192

Clovis Freire

Diversification and Structural Economic Dynamics UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 191

Michael Verba

Innovation and Knowledge Dynamics: Essays on the Knowledge Economy UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 190

Pui Hang Wong

The Hearts and Minds in Conflict and Peace: The Economics of Counterinsurgency and the Psychology of Reconstruction UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 189

Brenda Yamba

Schooling Despite All Odds: Evidence from Lesotho on Female Child Carers who Stayed in School UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 188

Sheng Zhong

Moving towards An Energy Efficient Future: Essays on Energy Efficiency, Technology and Development UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series № 187

Julieta Marotta

Access to Justice and Legal Empowerment of Victims of Domestic Violence through Legal Organizations in the City of Buenos Aires: A Qualitative Empirical Legal Study UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 186

Andrea Franco-Correa

On the Measurement of Multidimensional Poverty as a Policy Tool: Empirical Applications to Chile, Colombia, Ecuador and Peru UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 185

2016

Yesuf Awel

Insurance for Growth: Empirical Essays on Insurance Demand and Impacts in Africa UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 108

Tigist Mekonnen Melesse

Grow More Food using Fewer Resources: Agricultural Technology Adoption and Innovation Practices for Inclusive and Sustainable Development UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 107

Eleni Yitbarek

Getting Ahead or left Behind? Essays on Poverty Dynamics and Social Mobility in Africa UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 106

Thuy Dieu Nguyen

Firm-Level Theory and Evidence of Corruption UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 105

Raquel Tsukada Lehman

Essays on Household Production with Labor-Saving Technology UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 104

Eva Barteková

Multi-Problem Challenges for a Renewable Future: Empirical Studies on Competitive Disadvantages from Electricity Price Differentials and Mineral Supply Risk in an Open Economy UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 103

Jocelyn Olivari

Entrepreneurial Traits and Innovation: Evidence from Chile UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 102

Muhammad Shafique

Essays on the role of knowledge, R&D, and Technology-based Firms in the Evolution of Socio-techno-economic System UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 101

Serdar Türkeli

Governance of Innovation Policy: Empirical Studies on Applied Political Economy by Multi-Methods Analysis UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 100

Ayokunu Adedokun

Pathways to Sustainable Peace building in Divided Societies: Lessons and Experiences from Mozambique MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 75

Luiz Rothier Bautzer

Organizing Concurrent Engineering through ICT Platforms Blueprinting Product Lifecycle Management Platforms across Disciplinary Agencies MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 74

Natalia Popova

Migration in the Periphery of the European Union: Determinants of Successful and Sustainable Labour Market Integration of Return Migrants in Albania, Egypt, Moldova and Tunisia MGSoG Dissertations Series, № 73

Richard A. Martina

Uncertainty and Resource Constraint in the Small Island Developing States: Essays in Entrepreneurial Cognition MGSoG Dissertations Series, № 72

Cécile Cherrier

The Expansion of Basic Social Protection in Low-income Countries: An Analysis of Foreign Aid Actors' Role in the Emergence of Social Transfers in Sub-Saharan Africa MGSoG Dissertations series, № 71

Paul Caldron

The Tacit Bargain in Short-Term Medical Missions: Why U.S. physicians go and what it costs MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 70

Mahmut Kobal

Customs & Excellence: A Comparative Approach on Administrative and Regulatory Compliance Perspectives of the EU-Turkey Customs Union MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 69

Craig Loschmann

Essays on Conflict-related Migration and Development in the Case of Afghanistan MGSoG Dissertations Series, № 68

Andrea Milan

Rural Livelihoods, Location and Vulnerable Environments: Approaches to Migration in Mountain areas of Latin America MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 67

Farida Lada

On Guarding the Welfare of Clinical Trial Subjects While Promoting Novel Drug Innovation A Game Theoretical Approach MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 66

2015

Hibret Belete Maemir

Dissecting Aggregate Productivity: International Integration and Growth with Heterogeneous Firms UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 96

Giorgio Triulzi

Looking for the Right Path: Technology Dynamics, Inventive Strategies and Catching-up in the Semiconductor Industry UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 95

Abdul Baseer Qazi Knowledge flows and networks in the ICT

sector: The case of Pakistan UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 94

Ajay Thutupalli

Technology Paradigm Shifts in Agriculture: Drivers of Sustainability and Catch up UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 93

Eduardo Urias

Improving access to HIV/AIDS treatment in Brazil: When are Compulsory Licenses effective in Price Negotiations? UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 92

Francesca Guadagno

Why have so few Countries Industrialised? UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 91

Daniel Opolot *The Evolution of Beliefs and Strategic Behaviour* UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 90

Alejandro Lavopa Structural Transformation and Economic Development: Can Development Traps be Avoided UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 89

Jinjin Zhao Urban water management reform: The Case of China UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 88

Simona Vezzoli

Borders, Independence and Post-colonial Ties: the Role of the State in Caribbean Migration MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 65

Silvia Consuelo Gómez Soler

Civil Conflict and Education: How Does Exposure to Civil Conflict Affect Human Capital Accumulation? Evidence from Standardized Exit Exams in Colombia MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 64

Paula Nagler

Occupational Choice in the Developing World MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 63

Jasmin Kientzel

Determinants of Professional Commitment to Environmental Sustainability MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 62

Mehmet Güney Celbiş

Regional Policies: Convergence, Trade, and the Allocation of Public Capital MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 61

Florian Henning

Living Up to Standard: Interoperability Governance and Standards Adoption in Government Information Networks MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 60

Niels P. Groen The Never-Ending Project Understanding E-Government Project Escalation MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 59

Derek Copp

Teacher-Based Reactivity to Provincial Large-scale Assessment in Canada MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 58

Michaella Vanore

Family-Member Migration and the Psychosocial Health Outcomes of Children in Moldova and Georgia MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 57

Sonja Fransen

The Economic and Social Effects of Remittances and Return Migration in Conflict-Affected Areas: The Case of Burundi MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 56

Ibrahim Khalil Conteh

The Impact of Floods on Primary School Education in Zambia MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 55

Richard Bluhm

Growth Dynamics and Development Essays in Applied Econometrics and Political Economy MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 54

Nevena P. Zhelyazkova

Work-Family Reconciliation and Use of Parental Leave in Luxembourg: Empirical Analysis of Administrative Records MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 53

2014

Dirk Crass *The Impact of Brands on Innovation and Firm Performance: Empirical Evidence from Germany* UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 87

Samyukta Bhupatiraju The Geographic Dimensions of Growth and Development UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 86

François Lafond

The Evolution of Knowledge Systems UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 85

Annalisa Primi

Promoting Innovation in Latin America: What Countries Have Learned (and What They Have Not) in Designing and Implementing Innovation and Intellectual Property Policies UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 84

Fatoumata Lamarana Diallo

Evaluation of Meal and Deworming Programs for Primary Schools in Rural Senegal UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 83

Sachin Kumar Badkas

Metachoice and Metadata: Innovating with Environmental Policy Analysis in Europe MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 52

Irina S. Burlacu

An Evaluation of Tax-Benefit Systems Impact on the Welfare of Frontier Worker: The Case of Luxembourg and Belgium MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 51

Özge Bilgili

Simultaneity in Transnational Migration Research: Links Between Migrants' Host and Home Country Orientation MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 50

Yulia Privalova Krieger

Reshaping the Big Agenda: Transnational Politics and Domestic Resistance Financial crisis and social protection reform in Bosnia and Herzegovina MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 49

Marieke van Houte

Moving Back or Moving Forward? Return migration after Conflict MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 48

Oxana Slobozhan

Global Governance in the Management of Natural Resources: The Case of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 47

Luis Bernardo Mejia Guinand

The Changing Role of the Central Planning Offices in Latin America: A Comparative Historical Analysis Perspective (1950-2013) MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 46

Cheng Boon Ong

Ethnic Segregation in Housing, Schools and Neighbourhoods in the Netherlands MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 45

Luciana V. Cingolani

Bureaucracies for Development: Oxymoron or Reality? Studies on State Capacity in Challenging Governance Contexts MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 44

Carlos Cadena Gaitán

Green Politics in Latin American Cities -Sustainable Transport Agendas MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 43

Katie Kuschminder

Female Return Migration and Reintegration Strategies in Ethiopia MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 42

Metka Hercog

Highly-Skilled Migration and New Destination Countries MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 41

Margaret Agaba Rugadya

Can Remittances Influence the Tenure and Quality of Housing in Uganda? MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 40

Ilire Agimi

New Governance Under Limited Statehood: The Case of Local Government Reform in Kosovo MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 39

2013

Anant Kamath

Information Sharing through Informal Interaction in Low-Tech Clusters UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 82

Flavia Pereira de Carvalho

What we talk about when we talk about Brazilian Multinationals: An Investigation on Brazilian FDI, Economic Structure, Innovation and the Relationship between them UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 81

Jun Hou

Complementarity in Innovation and Development: A Cross-country Comparison UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 80

Rufin Baghana

Impacts of Government Incentives to R&D, Innovation and Productivity: A Microeconometric Analysis of the Québec Case UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 79

Lilia I. Stubrin

High-Tech Activities in Emerging Countries: A Network perspective on the Argentinean Biotech Activity UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 78

Kristine Farla

Empirical Studies on Institutions, Policies and Economic Development MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 38

Marina Petrovic

Social Assistance and Activation in the Pursuit of Happiness: Shedding New Light on Old Policy Solutions to Social Exclusion MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 37

Laura Torvinen

Assessing Governance Assessments: The Case of Mozambique: Governance Assessments in the Context of Aid Effectiveness Discourse MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 36

Biniam Egu Bedasso

Institutional Change in the Long Shadow of Elite: Essays on Institutions, Human Capital and Ethnicity in Developing Countries MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 35

Sepideh Yousefzadeh Faal Deghati

Childhoods Embargoed: Constructing and Reconstructing Multidimensional Child Poverty in Iran 1984-2009 MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 34

Robert Bauchmüller

Investing in Early Childhood Care and Education: The Impact of Quality on Inequality MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 33

Martin Rehm

Unified Yet Separated: Empirical Study on the Impact of Hierarchical Positions within Communities of Learning MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 32

2012

Abdul Waheed

Innovation Determinants and Innovation as a Determinant: Evidence from Developing Countries UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 77

Bilal Mirza

Energy Poverty and Rural Energy Markets in Pakistan UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 76

Benjamin Engelstätter

Enterprise Software and Video Games: An Empirical Analysis UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 75

Fulvia Farinelli

Natural Resources, Innovation and Export Growth: The Wine Industry in Chili and Argentina UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series

Rodolfo Lauterbach

Innovation in Manufacturing: From Product Variety and Labor Productivity Growth to Economic Development in Chile UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series

Kirsten Wiebe

Quantitative Assessment of Sustainable Development and Growth in Sub-Saharan Africa UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 74

Julio Miguel Rosa

Organizational Strategies, Firms' Performance and Spatial Spillovers: The Canadian Case in Research and Development. UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 73

Johannes Wilhelmus Marie Boels

Joseph Schumpeter, Honderd Jaar Economische Ontwikkeling: Een Historisch-theoretische Beschouwing. UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series

Dorcas Mbuvi

Utility Reforms and Performance of the Urban Water Sector in Africa MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 31

Lina Salanauskaite

Distributional Impacts of Public Policies: Essays in Ex-Ante and Ex-Post Evaluation MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 30

Esther Schüring

To Condition or not – is that the Question? An Analysis of the Effectiveness of Ex-Ante and Ex-Post Conditionality in Social Cash Transfer Programs MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 29

Joe Abah

Strong Organisations in Weak States: A typical Public Sector Performance in Dysfunctional Environments MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 28

Zina Samih Nimeh Social Citizenship Rights: Inequality and Exclusion MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 27

2011

Daniel Vertesy Interrupted Innovation: Emerging Economies in the Structure of the Global Aerospace Industry UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 72

Tina Saebi Successfully Managing Alliance Portfolios: An Alliance Capability View UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 71

Nora Engel

Tuberculosis in India: A Case of Innovation and Control UNU-MERIT/MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 70

Evans Mupela

Connectivity and growth in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Role of Communication Satellites UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 69

Nantawan Kwanjai

Cross Cultural Intelligence amid Intricate Cultural Webs: A Tale of the UnDutchables in the Land of 1002 Smiles UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 68

Lina Sonne

Innovation in Finance to Finance Innovation: Supporting Pro-poor Entrepreneur-based Innovation UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 67

Lenka Eisenhamerová Legitimacy of 'Humanitarian Military Intervention' MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 26 Sonila Tomini Informal Payments for Health Care Services in Albania MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 25

Jinjing Li Dynamic Microsimulation in Public Policy Evaluation MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 24

Aziz Atamanov Rural Nonfarm Employment and International Migration as Alternatives to Agricultural Employment: The Case of Kyrgyzstan MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 23

Frieda Vandeninden Poverty Alleviation: Aid and Social Pensions MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 22

Juliana Nyasha Tirivayi

The Welfare Effects of Integrating AIDS Treatment with Food Transfers: Evidence from Zambia MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 21

Agnieska Ewa Sowa

Who's Left Behind? Social Dimensions of Health Transition and Utilization of Medical Care in Poland MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 20

Emmanaouil Sfakianakis

The Role of Private Actors in the Provision of Public Goods with Applications to Infrastructure and Financial Stability MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 19
Siu Hing Lo

White Collars Green Sleeves: An Interorganizational Comparison of Determinants of Energy-Related Behaviors among Office Workers MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 18

Treena Wu

Constraints to Human Capital Investment in Developing Countries: Using the Asian Financial Crisis in Indonesia as a Natural Experiment MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 17

Henry Espinoza Peña

Impact Evaluation of a Job-Training Programme for Disadvantaged Youths: The Case of Projoven MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 16

2010

Fernando Santiago

Human Resources Management Practices and Learning for Innovation in Developing Countries Pharmaceutical Firms in Mexico UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 66

Zakaria Babutsidze

Essays on Economies with Heterogeneous Interacting Consumers UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 65

Bertha Vallejo *Learning and Innovation Under Changing Market Conditions: The Auto Parts Industry in Mexico* UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 64

Donatus Ayitey

Technical Change, Competitiveness and Poverty Reduction: A Study of the Ghanaian Apparel Industry UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 63

Sergey Filippov

Multinational Subsidiary Evolution: Corporate Change in New EU Member States UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 62

Asel Doranova

Technology Transfer and Learning under the Kyoto Regime: Exploring the Technological Impact of CDM Projects in Developing Countries UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 61

Florian Tomini

Between Family and Friend: Understanding the Interdependency of Private Transfers MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 15

Michał Polalowski

The Institutional Transformation of Social Policy in East Central Europe: Poland and Hungary in Comparative and Historical Perspective MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 14

Maha Ahmed

Defining, Measuring and Addressing Vulnerability: The Case of Post Conflict Environments MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 13

Pascal Beckers

Local Space and Economic Success: The Role of Spatial Segregation of Migrants in the Netherlands MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 12

Victor Cebotari

Conflicting Demands in Ethnically Diverse Societies: Ethno political Contention and Identity Values in Europe MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 11

Dennis Gyllensporre

Competing and Complementary Perspectives on the EU as a Crisis Management Actor: An Examination of the Common Security and Defence Policy through the Lenses of Idealism and Realism MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 10

Judit Vall Castello

Business Cycle and Policy Effects on Labour Market Transitions of Older and Disabled Workers in Spain MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 9

Keetie Roelen

False Positives or Hidden Dimensions: The Definition and Measurement of Child Poverty MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 8

Denisa Maria Sologon

Earning Dynamics in Europe MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 7

Melissa Siegel

Money and Mobility: Migration and Remittances MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 6

Jessica S. Hagen-Zanker Modest Expectations: Causes and Effects of Migration on Migrant Households in Source Countries MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 5

2009

Alexis Habiyaremye

From Primary Commodity Dependence to Diversification and Growth: Absorptive Capacity and Technological Catch Up in Botswana and Mauritius. UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 60

Yoseph Getachew

The Role of Public Capital in Economic Development UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 59

Sandra Leitner

Embodied Technological Change and Patterns of Investment in Austrian Manufacturing UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 58

Semih Akçomak The Impact of Social Capital on Economic and Social Outcomes UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 57

Abraham Garcia *The Role of Demand in Technical Change* UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 56

Saurabh Arora Coherence in Socio-technical Systems: A Network Perspective on the Innovation Process UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 55

Mirtha R. Muniz Castillo

Human Development and Autonomy in Project Aid: Experiences from four bilateral projects in Nicaragua and El Salvador MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 4

Christiane Arndt

Governance Indicators MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 3

Britta Augsburg

Microfinance: Greater Good or Lesser Evil? MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 2

2008

Rutger Daems

Medicines for the Developing World UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 54

Johannes Hanel

Assessing Induced Technology: Sombart's Understanding of Technical Change in the History of Economics UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 53

Rifka Weehuizen

Mental Capital: the Economic Significance of Mental Health UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 52

Danielle Cloodt

The Relationship between R&D Partnership Formation, Social Embeddedness and Innovative Performance UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 51

Sabine Fuss

Sustainable Energy Development under Uncertainty UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 50

Geranda Notten

Measuring and Managing Poverty Risks MGSoG Dissertation Series, № 1

2007

Tobias Kronenberg

Reconciling Environmental Conservation with Economic Prosperity: The Feasibility of Double Dividends in the Short and Long Run UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 49

Viktoria Kravtsova

Assessing the Impact of Foreign Direct Investment in Transition Economies UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 48

Suhail Sultan

The Competitive Advantage of Small and Medium Sized Enterprises: The Case of Jordan's Natural Stone Industry UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 47

2006

Bulat Sanditov

Essays on Social Learning and Imitation UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 46

Mamata Parhi

Dynamics of New Technology Diffusion: A Study of the Indian Automotive Industry UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 45

Andreas Reinstaller

Social Structures and the Innovation Process: Their Role in the Demand of Firms and Consumers UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 44

Rose Kiggundu

Innovation systems and Development: The Journey of a Beleaguered Nile Perch Fishery in Uganda UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 43

Thomas Pogue

The Evolution of Research Collaboration in South African Gold Mining: 1886-1933 UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 42

Geoffrey Gachino

Foreign Direct Investment, Spillovers and Innovation: The Case of Kenyan Manufacturing Industry UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 41

Önder Nomaler

Technological Change, International Trade and Growth: An Evolutionary, Multi-Agents-Based Modelling Approach UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 40

2005

Samia Satti Osman Mohamed-Nour

Change and Skill Development in the Arab Gulf Countries UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 39

Elad Harison

Intellectual Property Rights: Economics and Policy Analysis UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 38

Daniel Dalohoun

Learning to innovate: agricultural innovation and entrepreneurship: the case of Songhaï farmers in Benin UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 37

Müge Ozman

Networks, Organizations and Knowledge UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 36

Bas Straathof

Product Variety and Economic Growth: The Counteracting Effects of Scale and Idiosyncrasy UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 35

Wilfred Schoenmakers

Knowledge Flows between Multinational Companies: A Patent Data Analysis UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 34

Myriam Cloodt

Mergers and Acquisitions (M and As) in High-Tech Industries: Measuring the Post-M and A Innovative Performance of Companies UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 33

2004

Paola Criscuolo

R&D Internationalisation and Knowledge *Transfer: Impact on MNEs and their Home Countries* UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 32

Maarten Verkerk

Trust and Power on the Shop Floor UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 31

Gottfried Leibbrandt

Adoption, Harmonization and Succession of Network Technologies across Countries UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 30

Mark Sanders

Skill Biased Technical change: Its Origins, the Interaction with the Labour Market and Policy Implications UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 29

2003

Nadine Roijakkers

Inter-firm Cooperation in High-tech Industries: a Study of R&D Partnerships in Pharmaceutical Biotechnology UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 28

Viki Sonntag

Speed, Scale and Sustainability UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 27

Masaru Yarime

From End-of-Pipe Technology to Clean Technology UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 26

Stéphane Malo

The Combinatorial Chemistry Revolution: Sustaining a Superior Performance Position through Technological Learning UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 25

2002

Annelies Hogenbirk

Determinants of Inward Foreign Direct Investment: the Case of the Netherlands UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 24

Bastiaan Johan ter Weel

The Computerization of the Labour Market UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series

2001

John Adeoti

Technology Investment in Pollution Control in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Case of the Nigerian Manufacturing Industry UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 23

Edward Huizenga

Innovation Management: How Frontrunners Stay Ahead: An Empirical Study on Key Success Factors in the ICT sector UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 22

2000

Machiel van Dijk

Technological Change and the Dynamics of Industries: Theoretical Issues and Empirical evidence from Dutch Manufacturing UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 21

1999

Jan Cobbenhagen

Managing Innovation at the Company Level: A Study on Non-Sector-Specific Success Factors UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 20

Marjolein Caniëls

Regional Growth Differentials: The Impact of Locally Bounded Knowledge Spillovers UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 19

1998

Aldo Geuna

Resource Allocation and Knowledge production: Studies in the Economics of University Research UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 18

1996

Reinoud Joosten

Dynamics, Equilibria, and Values UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 17

Hugo Kruiniger

Investment, R&D, and the Financing Decisions of the Firm UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 16

1995

Hans van Meijl Endogenous Technological Change: The Case of Information Technology, Theoretical Considerations and Empirical Results UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 15

René Kemp

Environmental Policy and Technical Change: A Comparison of the Technological Impact of Policy Instruments UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 14

Rohini Acharya

The Impact of New Technologies on Economic Growth and Trade: A Case Study of Biotechnology UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 13

Geert Duysters

The Evolution of Complex Industrial Systems: The Dynamics of Major IT Sectors UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 12

Marjan Groen

Technology, Work and Organisation: A Study of the Nursing Process in Intensive Care Units UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 11

1994

Huub Meijers

On the Diffusion of Technologies in a Vintage Framework: Theoretical Considerations and Empirical Results UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 10

Theon van Dijk

The Limits of Patent Protection: Essays on the Economics of Intellectual Property Rights UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 9

Hans Voordijk

Naar Integrale Logistiek in Bedrijfsketens: Ontwikkelingen in de Bouw UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 8

1993

Paul Diederen

Technological Progress in Enterprises and Diffusion of Innovation: Theoretical Reflections and Empirical Evidence UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 7

Ben Dankbaar

Economic Crisis and Institutional Change: The Crisis of Fordism from the Perspective of the Automobile Industry UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 6

Hanno Roberts

Accountability and Responsibility: The Influence of Organisation Design on Management Accounting UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 5

1992

Bart Verspagen

Uneven Growth between Interdependent Economies: An Evolutionary View on Technology Gaps, Trade and Growth UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 4

Sjoerd Romme

A Self-organization Perspective on Strategy Formation UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 3

1989

John Spangenberg

Economies of Scale, and Atmosphere in Research Organisations UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 2

1988

John Hagedoorn

Evolutionary and Heterodox Innovation Analysis: A Study of Industrial and Technological Development in Process Control and Information Technology UNU-MERIT Dissertation Series, № 1